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UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549  

FORM 10-K  
   

OR  
   

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER      000-21250  

THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

   

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (415) 278-7000  

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OF THE ACT: NONE  

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) OF THE ACT: NONE  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  
Yes [  ]      No [X] 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  
Yes [X]      No [  ] 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been 
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes [  ]      No [  ]*  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data 
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or 
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).  Yes [X ]      No [  ]  
   

   

*          The Registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, but is 
not required to file such reports under such sections.  

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained 
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference 
in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [X]  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting 
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act.  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes [  ]      No [X]  

As of April 26, 2012, the registrant had 1,000 shares of common stock outstanding, par value $0.001 per share, all of which are owned by 
Giraffe Holding, Inc., the registrant’s indirect parent holding company, and are not publicly traded.  
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This annual report contains forward-looking statements. You can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such 
as “believe,” “expect,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “seek,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” or “anticipate” or similar expressions that concern 
our strategy, plans or intentions. All statements we make relating to: future sales, costs and expenses and gross profit percentages; the 
continuation of historical trends; our ability to operate our business under our capital and operating structure; and the sufficiency of our cash 
balances and cash generated from operating and financing activities for future liquidity and capital resource needs are forward-looking 
statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may change at any time, and, therefore, our actual results 
may differ materially from those that we had expected. We derive many of our forward-looking statements from our operating budgets and 
forecasts, which are based upon many detailed assumptions. While we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that it is very 
difficult to predict the impact of known factors, and it is impossible for us to anticipate all factors that could affect our actual results.  

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations (“cautionary statements”) are disclosed under 
“Item 1A, Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this annual report. We encourage you to carefully read these risk factor disclosures. We caution 
investors not to place substantial reliance on the forward-looking statements contained in this annual report. These statements, like all statements 
in this annual report, speak only as of the date of this annual report (unless another date is indicated), and we undertake no obligation to update 
or revise the statements in light of future developments, except as otherwise required by law.  

NOTE REGARDING TRADEMARKS AND SERVICE MARKS  

In the United States, we are the owner of a number of trademarks and service marks, including the trademarks and service marks “
Gymboree ,” “ Janie and Jack ,” “ Crazy 8 ” and “ Gymboree Play & Music ,” and the trademarks “ Gymbo ” and “ Gymbucks .” The mark “
Gymboree ” is also registered, or is subject to pending applications, in approximately 94 foreign countries. All other trademarks or service marks 
appearing in this annual report that are not identified as marks owned by us are the property of their respective owners.  

PART 1  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

General  

The Gymboree Corporation (“we,” “us,” “our,” Gymboree” and “Company”) is one of the largest children’s apparel specialty retailers 
in North America, offering collections of high-quality apparel and accessories. As of January 28, 2012, we operated a total of 1,149 retail stores 
and online stores at www.gymboree.com , www.janieandjack.com and www.crazy8.com . We also offered directed parent-child developmental 
play programs under the Gymboree Play & Music® brand at 703 franchised and Company-operated centers in the United States and 36 other 
countries. In addition, as of January 28, 2012, third-party overseas partners operated 24 Gymboree® retail stores in the Middle East and South 
Korea, and a joint venture with Gymboree (China) Commercial and Trading Co. Ltd., and Gymboree (Tianjin) Educational Information 
Consultation Co. Ltd. (collectively, the “Joint Venture”) operated one Gymboree retail store in China.  

Gymboree : As of January 28, 2012, we operated a total of 785 Gymboree stores (including 153 Gymboree Outlet stores), consisting of 
738 stores (including 151 Gymboree Outlet stores) in the United States, 41 stores in Canada, three stores in Puerto Rico (including two 
Gymboree Outlet store), and three stores in Australia. Gymboree stores offer fashionable, age-appropriate apparel and accessories for boys and 
girls characterized by mix and match colors, patterns and graphics, complex embellishments, comfort, functionality and durability in sizes 
newborn through 12. Gymboree Outlet stores provide similar high-quality mix-and-match children’s apparel and accessories in the same size 
ranges but at outlet prices.  

Janie and Jack : As of January 28, 2012, we operated a total of 127 Janie and Jack® shops in the United States. Janie and Jack shops 
offer distinctive, finely crafted clothing and accessories for boys and girls in sizes newborn through 12. Lush fabrics, a hand-made quality and 
details such as hand-embroidery, smocking and vintage prints are utilized to create classic looks. Shops have a European style reminiscent of a 
small Parisian boutique.  

Crazy 8 : As of January 28, 2012, we operated a total of 237 Crazy 8® stores in the United States. Crazy 8 stores provide wholesome 
age-appropriate fashion for boys and girls at price points approximately 25% to 30% lower than Gymboree. Through merchandise design, 
product presentation, store environment, customer service and packaging, Crazy 8 stores reflect an upscale store experience at value prices. 
Crazy 8 apparel is offered in sizes newborn through 14 and is intended to address a broader customer base than Gymboree.  
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Gymboree Play & Music : Gymboree Play & Music offers children ages newborn through five the opportunity to explore, learn and 
play in an innovative parent-child program. Gymboree Play & Music offers an array of classes developed by early childhood experts as well as 
birthday parties and developmental toys, books and music.  

Our online stores at www.gymboree.com , www.janieandjack.com and www.crazy8.com offer the entire Gymboree, Janie and Jack and 
Crazy 8 product offerings, respectively. We fully integrate online stores with retail stores by offering the same products, pricing and promotions. 
We also have a policy whereby retail stores order merchandise for customers from the online stores and we allow customers to return 
merchandise purchased online at traditional retail stores and vice versa.  

Gymboree was organized in October 1979 as a California corporation and re-incorporated as a Delaware corporation in June 1992.  

Retail Stores  

The following table summarizes store openings and closures by brand and country for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2012 (“fiscal 
2011”). Note that (i) all Janie and Jack and Crazy 8 stores are in the United States, and (ii) retail stores operated by third-party overseas partners 
and the Joint Venture are excluded.  
   

Suppliers  

The majority of our apparel is manufactured to our specifications by over 300 independent manufacturers located primarily in Asia 
(principally China (36%), Indonesia (20%), Thailand (9%), India (8%) and Bangladesh (8%) for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2012). We 
purchase all products in U.S. dollars. One buying agent manages a substantial portion of our inventory purchases (approximately 80% for the 
fiscal year ended January 28, 2012). We have no long-term contracts with suppliers and typically transact business on an order-by-order basis. 
Factories undergo annual audits for social accountability by independent third parties. In addition, all of our products undergo a quality audit 
performed by independent third parties.  

Seasonality and Competition  

Our operations are seasonal in nature, with sales from retail operations peaking during the fourth quarter, primarily during the holiday 
season in November and December. During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, the fourth quarter accounted for approximately 30% of net sales from 
retail operations.  

Our Gymboree, Janie and Jack and Crazy 8 brands compete on a national level with BabyGap and GapKids (divisions of Gap Inc.), 
certain leading department stores operating in malls, outlet centers or street locations, certain discount  
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     Store Count as of    Store    Store    Store Count as of 
       January 29, 2011            Openings             Closures          January 28, 2012    
Gymboree US     594      1      (8)     587   
Gymboree Canada     37      4      -         41   
Gymboree Australia     2      1      -         3   
Gymboree Puerto Rico     2      -         (1)     1   

                        

Total Gymboree     635      6      (9)     632   

Gymboree Outlet     149      2      -         151   
Gymboree Outlet Puerto Rico     1      1      -         2   

                        

Total Gymboree Outlet     150      3      -         153   

Janie and Jack     123      7      (3)     127   
Crazy 8     157      83      (3)     237   

                        

Total     1,065      99      (15)     1,149   
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retail chains such as Old Navy (a division of Gap Inc.), The Children’s Place, Wal-Mart, Target and Carter’s, as well as with a wide variety of 
local and regional specialty stores, with certain other retail chains, and with children’s retailers that sell their products by mail order, online or 
through outlet malls. The principal factors affecting competition for retail sales are product design, product quality, brand image, customer 
service and pricing. Our goal is to provide our customers with high-quality apparel at a price that reflects excellent value. We design and produce 
apparel exclusively for sale at our retail and online stores.  

Trademark and Service Marks  

In the United States, we are the owner of a number of trademarks and service marks, including the trademarks and service marks “
Gymboree ,” “ Janie and Jack ,” “ Crazy 8 ” and “ Gymboree Play & Music ,” and the trademarks “ Gymbo ” and “ Gymbucks .” These marks 
and certain other of our marks are registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. The mark “ Gymboree ” is also registered, or is 
the subject of pending applications, in approximately 94 foreign countries. Each federal registration is renewable indefinitely if the mark is still 
in use at the time of renewal. The Company’s rights in the “ Gymboree ,” “ Janie and Jack ” and “ Crazy 8 ” marks and other marks are a 
significant part of its business. Accordingly, we intend to maintain the marks and the related registrations. We are not aware of any material 
claims of infringement or other material challenges to our right to use the “ Gymboree ,” “ Janie and Jack ” and “ Crazy 8 ” marks in the United 
States.  

We use a number of other trademarks, certain of which have been registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and in certain 
foreign countries. We believe that our registered and common-law trademarks have significant value and that some of our trademarks are 
instrumental to our ability to both market our products and create and sustain demand for our products.  

Employees  

As of January 28, 2012, we had approximately 13,754 full-time and part-time employees or 5,470 full-time equivalents. In addition, a 
significant number of seasonal employees are hired during each holiday selling season. None of our employees are represented by a labor union.  

Segment and International Financial Information  

Financial information for our four reportable segments (retail stores, Gymboree Play & Music, retail franchise, and one reportable 
segment related to the activities of the two entities that make up the Joint Venture, which we have determined to be variable interest entities 
(“VIEs”) and the results of which we have consolidated into our financial statements (see Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this annual report), and for our Canadian and Australian subsidiaries, for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2012, the period 
from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, and from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010, and for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2010 
is contained in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. Due to the growth of our Retail Franchise 
segment, we have recast our reportable segments to include Retail Franchise. Additionally, as discussed in Notes 2 and 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements included in this annual report, we have completed the allocation of goodwill to our reporting units and segments.  

Less than 5% of our revenues were derived from outside the United States, and less than 3% of our long-lived assets were located 
outside the United States in the year ended January 28, 2012, in the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, and from January 31, 
2010 to November 22, 2010, and in the year ended January 30, 2010.  

Regulation  

Our products are subject to consumer product safety, environmental, health and safety, consumer protection and labor laws, as well as 
regulations and standards with respect to product quality and safety set by various governmental authorities, including the Consumer Product 
Safety Commission. Such laws include the Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act of 2008, which imposes significant requirements relating 
to the presence of lead and other substances in apparel and accessories, and enhances the penalties for noncompliance. In addition, our 
manufacturers are subject to labor laws. Our sourcing personnel periodically visit and monitor the operations of our independent manufacturers, 
and we rely on independent third parties to audit factories for compliance with safety and labor laws on an annual basis. We believe that we are 
in substantial compliance with such laws and regulations.  
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Available Information  

We currently make available on our website at www.gymboree.com, under “Company Information—Financial Resources & SEC 
filings,” free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such 
documents as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such materials to the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”). We also currently make available under “Company Information—Corporate Governance,” our code of ethics as well as 
other documents and materials relating to corporate governance. References to the Company’s website address do not constitute incorporation by 
reference of the information contained on the website, and the information contained on the website is not part of this annual report.  

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  

Our financial performance is subject to various risks and uncertainties. The risks described below are those which we believe are the 
material risks we face. Any of the risk factors described below could significantly and adversely affect our business, prospects, sales, revenues, 
gross profit, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.  

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Certain Other Obligations  

Our substantial leverage could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations, limit our ability to react to 
changes in the economy or our industry, expose us to interest rate risk to the extent of our variable rate debt and prevent us from meeting our 
obligations.  

As a result of the Transactions (as defined under “Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data”), we are highly leveraged. The 
following chart shows our level of indebtedness as of January 28, 2012:  
   

   

Our high degree of leverage could have important consequences. For example, it could:  
   

Despite current indebtedness levels and restrictive covenants, we and our subsidiaries may incur additional indebtedness in the future. This 
could further exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial financial leverage.  

The terms of the indenture governing the Notes and the Senior Credit Facilities permit us to incur a substantial amount of additional 
debt, including secured debt. Any additional borrowings under the Senior Credit Facilities, and any other  
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     January 28, 2012   
     ($ in millions)   

Term Loan(1)     $ 812                
ABL Facility(1)       —                
9.125% senior notes due 2018 (“Notes” )       400                

         
  

Total indebtedness     $           1,212                
         

  

(1) The Company’s senior credit facilities (collectively, the “Senior Credit Facilities” ) are comprised of an $820 million secured term loan 
agreement (“Term Loan”) and a $225 million asset backed revolving credit facility (“ABL Facility”). Amounts available under the ABL 
Facility are subject to customary borrowing base limitations and are reduced by letter of credit utilization. The Senior Credit Facilities also 
allow an aggregate of $200 million in uncommitted incremental facilities, the availability of which is subject to our meeting certain 
conditions. No incremental facilities are currently in effect.  

  —   make it more difficult for us to make payments on our indebtedness;  
  —   increase our vulnerability to general economic and industry conditions;  

  
—   require a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our 

indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations, capital expenditures and future business 
opportunities;  

  
—   expose us to the risk of increased interest rates as the borrowings under our Senior Credit Facilities will be at variable rates of 

interest;  
  —   restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or cause us to make non-strategic divestitures;  
  

—   limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, research and development, debt service 
requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; and  

  
—   limit our ability to adjust to changing market conditions and place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors 

who are less highly leveraged.  
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secured debt, would be effectively senior to the Notes and any guarantees thereof to the extent of the value of the assets securing such 
indebtedness. If new debt is added to our and our subsidiaries’ current debt levels, the risks that we now face as a result of our leverage would 
intensify.  

Our debt agreements contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.  

Our Senior Credit Facilities and the indenture governing the Notes contain various covenants that limit our and our restricted 
subsidiaries’ ability to engage in specified types of transactions. These covenants limit our and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other 
things, incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, pay dividends on, or redeem or repurchase, our capital stock, make certain acquisitions or 
investments, enter into sale-leaseback transactions, materially change our business, incur or permit to exist certain liens, enter into transactions 
with affiliates or sell our assets to, or merge or consolidate with or into, another company. Further, our ability to comply with such covenants 
under the indenture may be affected by actions taken by the variable interest entities which we do not control, but the results of which we have 
consolidated into our financial statements and which are treated as restricted subsidiaries under the indenture (see Note 21 to the consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report). In addition to the foregoing covenants, under certain circumstances, the ABL 
Facility requires us to satisfy a financial test. Our ability to satisfy this test may be affected by events outside of our control.  

Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Senior Credit Facilities, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding 
under the Senior Credit Facilities to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If we were unable 
to repay those amounts, the lenders under the Senior Credit Facilities could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that 
indebtedness. We have pledged substantially all of our assets as collateral under the Senior Credit Facilities. If the lenders under the Senior 
Credit Facilities accelerate the repayment of borrowings, we cannot assure you that we will have sufficient assets to repay the Senior Credit 
Facilities, as well as our other secured and unsecured indebtedness, including the Notes.  

To service our indebtedness, we require a significant amount of cash and our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our 
control.  

Our ability to make cash payments on and to refinance our indebtedness and to fund planned capital expenditures depend on our ability 
to generate significant operating cash flow in the future. This ability is, to a significant extent, subject to general economic, financial, 
competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.  

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, and future borrowings may not be available under our Senior 
Credit Facilities, in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness, including the Notes, or to fund our other liquidity needs. In any 
such circumstance, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. We may not be able to refinance any of 
our indebtedness, including the Senior Credit Facilities and the Notes, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we cannot service our 
indebtedness, we may have to take actions such as selling assets, seeking additional equity or reducing or delaying capital expenditures, strategic 
acquisitions and investments. Any such action, if necessary, may not be effected on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our Senior Credit 
Facilities and the indenture governing the Notes restrict our ability to sell assets and use the proceeds from such sales.  

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or are otherwise unable to obtain funds necessary to meet required payments of 
principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness, or if we otherwise fail to comply with the various covenants in the instruments 
governing our indebtedness (including covenants in our Senior Credit Facilities and the indenture governing the Notes), we could be in default 
under the terms of the agreements governing such indebtedness. In the event of such default, the holders of such indebtedness could elect to 
declare all the funds borrowed thereunder to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest, the lenders under our Senior Credit 
Facilities could elect to terminate their commitments thereunder, cease making further loans and institute foreclosure proceedings against our 
assets, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation. If our operating performance declines, we may in the future need to obtain waivers 
from the required lenders under our Senior Credit Facilities to avoid being in default. If we breach our covenants under our Senior Credit 
Facilities and seek a waiver, we may not be able to obtain a waiver from the required lenders. If this occurs, we would be in default under our 
Senior Credit Facilities, the lenders could exercise their rights, as described above, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.  
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Risks Related to the Business  

Global economic conditions may adversely affect our financial performance.  

During the recent economic recession, global financial markets experienced extreme volatility, disruption and credit contraction. The 
volatility and disruption to the capital markets significantly and adversely affected global economic conditions, resulting in additional significant 
recessionary pressures and declines in employment levels, consumer and business confidence, disposable income and actual and perceived 
wealth. Although there have been some recent improvements, continuing or worsened adverse economic conditions, including higher 
unemployment, gasoline, energy and health care costs, taxes and tighter credit, could continue to affect consumer confidence and discretionary 
consumer spending adversely and may adversely affect our sales, cash flows and results of operations. Additionally, renewed financial turmoil in 
the financial and credit markets could adversely affect our costs of capital and the sources of liquidity available to us.  

Further, we work with a large number of small vendors, some of whom have been or may be significantly impacted by any of the 
factors described above. If a number of these vendors fail, the delays and costs that we would likely incur in replacing them and in finding 
replacement goods and services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.  

Our results may be adversely affected by our failure to anticipate and respond to changes in consumer preferences in a timely manner.  

Our sales and profitability depend upon the continued demand by customers for our apparel and accessories. We believe that our 
success depends in large part upon our ability to anticipate, gauge and respond in a timely manner to changing consumer demands and 
preferences and upon the appeal of our products. Further, current economic conditions and levels of discretionary spending also affect consumer 
preferences. We may not be able to anticipate, gauge and respond effectively to changes in consumer preferences, and the demand for our 
apparel or accessories may decline as a result. In addition, since much of our inventory is sourced from vendors located outside the United 
States, we usually must order merchandise and enter into contracts for the purchase and manufacture of such merchandise, up to nine months in 
advance of the applicable selling season and frequently before trends are known. A decline in demand for our apparel and accessories or a 
misjudgment could, among other things, lead to lower sales, excess inventories and higher markdowns, each of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.  

Increased production costs may adversely affect our results.  

We are affected by inflation and changing prices primarily through purchasing products from our global suppliers, increased operating 
costs and expenses, and fluctuations in interest rates. Commodity costs and, in some cases, labor costs have increased from historic levels in the 
countries where our products are manufactured. For example, in the past year, prices for cotton, a key input of our apparel products, reached a 
level significantly higher than the long-term average. We anticipate the impact of these increases to continue for at least the first two quarters of 
fiscal 2012. If our customers are resistant to paying higher prices for our products, and if we are unable to absorb increased costs of goods by 
reducing our manufacturing or supply chain costs or lowering our overall cost structure, our profitability may be materially adversely affected.  

Our business may be negatively impacted by consumer product safety laws, regulations or related legal actions.  

Our products are subject to consumer product safety laws, as well as regulations and standards with respect to product quality and safety 
set by various governmental authorities, including the Consumer Product Safety Commission. New consumer product safety laws or changes to 
existing laws and regulations may make certain products unsalable or require us to incur significant compliance costs, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our earnings. Our inability, or that of our vendors or manufacturers, to comply on a timely basis with such laws and 
regulatory requirements could result in significant fines or penalties, which could adversely affect our reputation and earnings.  

Although we currently test products sold in our stores and at our Gymboree Play & Music sites, we have in the past and may in the 
future need to recall products that we may later determine may present safety issues. If we or the Consumer Product Safety Commission recall a 
product sold in our stores, we could experience negative publicity and product liability lawsuits, which could have a material adverse effect on 
our reputation, financial position and earnings.  
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Our business may be harmed by additional U.S. regulation of foreign trade or delays caused by additional U.S. customs requirements.  

Our business is subject to the risk that the United States may adopt additional regulations relating to imported apparel products, 
including quotas, duties, taxes and other charges or restrictions on imported apparel. We cannot predict whether additional U.S. quotas, duties, 
taxes or other charges or restrictions will be imposed upon the importation of our products in the future, or what effect any such actions would 
have on our business, financial position and operating results. If the U.S. government imposes any such charges or restrictions, our supply of 
products could be disrupted and their cost could substantially increase, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our operating 
results. Unforeseen delays in customs clearance of any goods could have a material adverse effect on our ability to deliver complete shipments to 
our stores in a timely manner, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.  

Competition and the strength of our competitors may impair our ability to maintain or grow our sales and adversely affect our operating 
results.  

The apparel segment of the specialty retail industry is highly competitive. The principal factors of competition for retail sales are 
product design, product quality, brand image, customer service and pricing. Our Gymboree, Janie and Jack and Crazy 8 brands compete on a 
national level with BabyGap and GapKids (divisions of Gap Inc.), certain leading department stores operating in malls, outlet centers or street 
locations, certain discount retail chains such as Old Navy (a division of Gap Inc.), The Children’s Place, Wal-Mart, Target and Carter’s, as well 
as a wide variety of local and regional specialty stores, certain other retail chains, and children’s retailers that sell their products by mail order, 
online or through outlet malls. Many of these competitors are larger than us and have substantially greater financial, marketing and other 
resources. Increased competition may reduce sales and gross margins, and increase operating expenses, each of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our operating results.  

Because we purchase our products abroad, our business is sensitive to risks associated with international business.  

Our products are currently manufactured to our specifications by independent factories located primarily in Asia. As a result, our 
business is subject to the risks generally associated with doing business abroad, such as foreign governmental regulations, currency fluctuations, 
adverse conditions such as epidemics, natural disasters, wars, acts of terrorism, social or political unrest, disruptions or delays in transportation 
or customs clearance, local business practices and changes in economic conditions in countries in which our suppliers are located. We cannot 
predict the effect of such factors on our business relationships with foreign suppliers or on our ability to deliver products into our stores in a 
timely manner. If even a small portion of our current foreign manufacturing sources or textile mills were to cease doing business with us for any 
reason, such actions could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial position. If we experience significant increases in 
demand or need to replace an existing vendor, there can be no assurance that additional manufacturing capacity will be available when required 
on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, or that any vendor would allocate sufficient capacity to us in order to meet our requirements.  

In addition, even if we are able to expand existing or find new manufacturing sources, we may encounter delays in production and 
added costs as a result of the time it takes to train our vendors in our methods, products, quality control standards, and environmental, labor, 
health, and safety standards. Moreover, in the event of a significant disruption in the supply of the fabrics or raw materials used by our vendors 
in the manufacture of our products, our vendors might not be able to locate alternative suppliers of materials of comparable quality at an 
acceptable price, or at all. Any delays, interruption, or increased costs in the manufacture of our products could have an adverse effect on our 
ability to meet consumer demand for our products and result in lower sales and net income. In addition, we are currently pursuing strategies to 
reduce product costs. These strategies may result in sourcing products from factories from which we have not previously purchased products and 
which may be in countries in which we have not done business before and may subject us to additional risk.  

Currency exchange rate fluctuations may adversely affect our business and operating results.  

There has been significant volatility in the value of the U.S. dollar against other foreign currencies in the recent past. While our business 
is primarily conducted in U.S. dollars, we purchase substantially all of our products overseas (primarily from China, Indonesia, Thailand, India 
and Bangladesh). Cost increases caused by currency exchange rate fluctuations could make our products less competitive or have an adverse 
effect on our profitability. Currency exchange rate fluctuations could also disrupt the business of the third-party manufacturers that produce our 
apparel by making their purchases of raw materials more expensive and more difficult to finance. Such fluctuations could have a material 
adverse effect on our business and earnings as a result.  
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We are dependent on one facility for distribution of all of our merchandise.  

We handle merchandise distribution for all of our stores (including our three online stores) from a single facility in Dixon, California. 
Any significant interruption in the operation of this distribution facility due to natural disasters, accidents, system failures or other events beyond 
our control or unforeseen causes could delay or impair our ability to distribute merchandise to our stores or customers, which could cause sales 
to decline and have a material adverse effect on our earnings and financial position. In addition, if the capacity of our distribution facility is 
exceeded (such as due to a high level of demand during peak periods), we may not be able to timely fulfill store and customer orders, which may 
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and our reputation.  

In addition, we use an automated unit sortation system to manage the order processing for all of our direct-to-consumer businesses. In 
the event that this unit sortation system becomes inoperable for any reason, we would not be able to ship all direct-to-consumer orders in the 
timely manner that our customers expect. As a result, we could experience a reduction in our direct-to-consumer business, which could 
negatively impact sales and profitability.  

We may be subject to negative publicity or legal action if our manufacturers violate labor laws or engage in practices that our customers 
believe are unethical.  

We require our independent manufacturers to operate their businesses in compliance with the laws and regulations that apply to them. 
Our sourcing personnel periodically visit and monitor the operations of our independent manufacturers, but we cannot control their business or 
labor practices. We also rely on independent third parties to audit factories annually for compliance with safety and labor laws. If one of our 
independent manufacturers violates or is suspected of violating labor laws or other applicable regulations, or if such manufacturer engages in 
labor or other practices that diverge from those typically acceptable in the United States or any of the other countries in which we operate, we 
could in turn experience negative publicity or be subject to legal action. Negative publicity or legal actions regarding our manufacturers or the 
production of our products could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, sales, business, financial position and operating results.  

The loss of a key buying agent could disrupt our ability to deliver our inventory supply in a timely fashion, impacting its value.  

One buying agent manages a substantial portion of our inventory purchases (approximately 80% in fiscal year 2011). Although we 
believe that other buying agents could be identified and retained to place our required foreign production, the loss of this buying agent could 
result in delays in procuring inventory, which could result in a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.  

We are dependent on third parties for critical business functions, and their failure to provide services to us, or our inability to timely replace 
them when necessary, could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.  

We rely on third parties for critical functions involving credit card processing and store communications. These third parties may 
experience financial difficulties and unforeseen business disruptions that could adversely affect their ability to perform their contractual 
obligations to us, including their obligations to comply with Payment Card Industry (“PCI”) data security standards. Any such failure to provide 
services to us or to comply with PCI security requirements could impact our internal communications systems, including our ability to accept 
payment cards, which could have an adverse impact on business operations and lead to lower sales. Although we believe that other vendors 
could be identified and retained to provide these services, we may not find an adequate replacement timely, which could result in a material 
adverse effect on our business and operating results and adverse publicity.  

Damage to our computer systems could severely impair our ability to manage our business.  

Our operations depend on our ability to maintain and protect the computer systems we use to manage our purchase orders, store 
inventory levels, web applications, accounting functions and other critical aspects of our business. Our systems are vulnerable to damage from 
fire, floods, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures and similar events. We have computer systems in each of our stores, with the 
main database servers for our systems located in San Francisco, California, and additional web site support systems located in Redwood City, 
California, which are located on or near known earthquake fault zones. An earthquake or other disaster could have a material adverse impact on 
our business and operating results not only by damaging our stores or corporate headquarters, but also by damaging our main servers, which 
could disrupt our business for an indeterminate length of time.  
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Our business may be harmed if our or our vendors’ computer network security or any of the databases containing customer or other 
personal information maintained by us or our third-party providers is compromised.  

The protection of customer, employee and company data in the information technology systems we utilize (including those maintained 
by third-party providers) is critical. Despite the efforts by us and our vendors to secure computer networks utilized for our business, security 
could be compromised, confidential information, such as customer credit card numbers or other personally identifiable customer information we 
or our vendors collect, could be misappropriated, or system disruptions could occur. Improper activities by third parties, advances in technical 
capabilities, new tools and discoveries and other events or developments may facilitate or result in a breach of our or our vendors’ computer 
network security. Any of these events could lead to costly investigations and litigation, as well as potential regulatory or other actions by 
governmental agencies. As a result of any of the foregoing, we may experience adverse publicity, loss of sales, the cost of remedial measures, 
and/or significant expenditures to reimburse third parties for damages, which could adversely impact our results of operations.  

We believe that we are currently compliant with PCI data security standards, which require annual audits by independent qualified 
security assessors to assess compliance. Failure by us or our vendors to comply with the security requirements or rectify a security issue may 
result in fines and the imposition of restrictions on our ability to accept payment cards, which could adversely affect our operations. There can be 
no assurance that we will be able to continue to satisfy PCI security standards. In addition, PCI is controlled by a limited number of vendors who 
have the ability to impose changes in PCI’s fee structure and operational requirements without negotiation. Such changes in fees and operational 
requirements may result in our failure to comply with PCI security standards, as well as significant unanticipated expenses.  

Our ability to successfully implement significant information technology systems is critical to our business.  

Our information technology infrastructure is in regular need of upgrades, which we plan to continue to implement. Such technology 
systems changes are complex and could cause disruptions that may adversely affect our business, such as when our new or upgraded systems fail 
to perform adequately. While we strive to ensure the orderly implementation of various information technology systems, we may not be able to 
successfully execute these changes without potentially incurring a significant disruption to our business. Even if we are successful with 
implementation, we may not achieve the expected benefits from these initiatives, despite having expended significant capital. We may also 
determine that additional investment is required to bring our systems to their desired state, which could result in a significant investment of 
additional time and money and increased implementation risk. Furthermore, we intend to rely on third parties to fulfill contractual obligations 
related to some of these system upgrades. Failure of these third parties to fulfill their contractual obligations could lead to significant expenses or 
losses due to a disruption in business operations.  

We must timely and effectively deliver merchandise to our stores and customers.  

We cannot control all of the various factors that might affect our fulfillment rates for online sales and timely and effective merchandise 
delivery to our stores. We rely upon third-party carriers for our merchandise shipments to and from stores and reliable data regarding the timing 
of those shipments. In addition, we are heavily dependent upon two carriers for the delivery of our merchandise to online customers. Labor 
disputes, union organizing activity, inclement weather, natural disasters and acts of terrorism could affect those carriers’ ability to provide 
delivery services to meet our shipping needs. Failure to deliver merchandise in a timely and effective manner could damage our reputation and 
sales.  

Our online businesses face distinct operating risks.  

The successful operation of our online businesses depends on efficient and uninterrupted operation of our order-taking and fulfillment 
operations. Disruptions or slowdowns in these areas could result from disruptions in telephone service or power outages, inadequate system 
capacity, system issues, computer viruses, human error, changes in programming, natural disasters or adverse weather conditions. Our online 
businesses are generally vulnerable to additional risks and uncertainties associated with the Internet, including changes in required technology 
and other technical failures, as well as changes in applicable federal and state regulations, security breaches, and consumer privacy concerns. 
Problems in any of these areas could result in a reduction in sales, increased costs and damage to our reputation and brands.  

We may not be able to successfully operate if we lose key personnel, are unable to hire qualified additional personnel, or experience turnover 
of our management team.  

Our continued success is largely dependent on the individual efforts and abilities of our senior management team and certain other key 
personnel and on our ability to retain current management and to attract and retain qualified key personnel in the future. The loss of certain key 
employees or our inability to continue to attract and retain other qualified key employees could have a material adverse effect on our growth, 
operations and financial position.  
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Our growth would be hampered if we are unable to locate new stores and relocate existing stores in appropriate retail venues and shopping 
areas.  

Our stores must be located in appropriate retail spaces in areas with demographic characteristics consistent with our customer base. 
These locations tend to be limited to malls and similar venues where the market for available space has historically been very competitive. The 
location of acceptable store sites and the negotiation of acceptable lease arrangements require considerable time, effort and expense. Our ability 
to lease desirable retail space for expansion and relocation of stores, and to renew our existing store leases, on favorable economic terms is 
essential to our revenue and earnings growth. Approximately 90, 108 and 90 store leases will come up for renewal during fiscal 2012, fiscal 
2013 and fiscal 2014, respectively. We are also in the process of negotiating lease terms for approximately 69 stores, which are currently 
operating under month-to-month terms. There can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve our store expansion goals, effectively manage 
our growth, successfully integrate the planned new stores into our operations, or profitably operate our new and remodeled stores. Failure to 
obtain and renew leases for a sufficient number of stores on acceptable terms could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and operating 
results.  

We may be unable to protect our trademarks and other intellectual property rights.  

We believe that our trademarks and service marks are important to our success and our competitive position due to their name 
recognition with our customers. We devote substantial resources to the establishment and protection of our trademarks and service marks on a 
worldwide basis. We are not aware of any material claims of infringement or material challenges to our right to use any of our trademarks and 
service marks in the United States or abroad. Nevertheless, the actions we have taken to establish and protect our trademarks and service marks 
may not be adequate to prevent imitation of our products by others or to prevent others from seeking to block sales of our products as a violation 
of the trademarks, service marks and proprietary rights of others, particularly as we continue to expand our business outside the United States. 
Also, others may assert rights in, or ownership of, trademarks and other proprietary rights of ours and we may not be able to successfully resolve 
these types of conflicts to our satisfaction. In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect proprietary rights to the same extent 
as do the laws of the United States.  

We are, and may continue to be in the future, a party to legal proceedings that could result in unexpected adverse outcomes.  

From time to time, we are a party to legal proceedings, including matters involving personnel and employment issues, personal injury 
and other proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. In addition, there are an increasing number of cases being filed in the retail 
industry generally that contain class action allegations, such as such those relating to privacy and wage and hour laws. We evaluate our exposure 
to these legal proceedings and establish reserves for the estimated liabilities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
Assessing and predicting the outcome of these matters involves substantial uncertainties. Although not currently anticipated by management, 
unexpected outcomes in these legal proceedings, or changes in management’s evaluations or predictions and accompanying changes in 
established reserves, could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.  

We may experience fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate.  

We are subject to income taxes in federal and applicable state and local tax jurisdictions in the United States, Canada, China, Australia, 
Puerto Rico, and South Korea. We record tax expense based on our estimates of future payments, which include reserves for estimates of 
uncertain tax positions. At any time, many tax years are subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. The results of these audits and 
negotiations with taxing authorities may impact the ultimate settlement of these tax positions. As a result, we expect that there could be ongoing 
variability in our quarterly tax rates as taxable events occur and exposures are re-evaluated. Further, our effective tax rate in a given financial 
statement period may be materially impacted by changes in the mix and level of earnings.  

We are also subject to sales and use taxes, as well as other local taxes, in applicable jurisdictions in the United States, Canada, China, 
Australia, Puerto Rico, and South Korea. At any time, many tax years are subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. The results of these 
audits and negotiations with taxing authorities may adversely impact the ultimate settlement of these tax positions and our financial results.  

Our performance is dependent on attracting and retaining a large and growing number of qualified team members.  

Many of those team members are in entry-level or part-time positions with historically high rates of turnover. Our ability to meet our 
labor needs while controlling our costs is subject to external factors such as unemployment levels,  
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minimum wage legislation, health care legislation and changing demographics. In addition, our labor costs are influenced by health care and 
workers’ compensation costs, both of which have been rising in recent years. If we cannot hire enough qualified employees, or if there is a 
disruption in the supply of personnel we hire from third-party providers, especially during our peak season or certain high-volume events, our 
customer service levels and our operations could be negatively impacted.  

Changes in seasonal consumer spending patterns that are beyond our control could harm our business.  

Historically, a significant portion of our retail sales have been realized during the holiday season in November and December. We have 
also experienced periods of increased sales activity in the early spring, during the period leading up to the Easter holiday, and in the early fall, in 
connection with back-to-school sales. Changes in seasonal consumer spending patterns for reasons beyond our control could result in lower-
than-expected sales during these periods. For example, the nature and pace of the recovery from the global economic downturn may have 
unanticipated effects on consumer spending patterns. Such circumstances could cause us to have excess inventory, necessitating markdowns to 
dispose of these excess inventories, which would reduce our profitability. Any failure by us to meet our business plan for, in particular, the third 
or fourth quarter of any fiscal year could have a material adverse effect on our earnings, which in all likelihood would not be offset by 
satisfactory results achieved in other quarters of the same fiscal year in which sales are less concentrated. Also, because we typically spend more 
in labor costs during the holiday season to hire temporary store employees in anticipation of increased holiday business volume, a shortfall in 
expected sales during that period could result in a disproportionate decrease in our net income.  

Our growth could be hampered if we are unable to successfully open new stores.  

Our growth depends in large part on our ability to successfully open new stores in both the United States and abroad, which in turn is 
dependent on a number of factors, including our ability to hire and train skilled store operating and management teams, secure appropriate retail 
space, and complete construction within planned timelines and budgets. There can be no assurance that we will successfully open the number of 
stores we plan, and the resulting impact on our growth rate could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.  

Our performance is dependent on customer traffic in shopping malls.  

We are dependent upon the continued popularity of malls as a shopping destination and the ability of shopping mall anchor tenants and 
other attractions to generate customer traffic. A sluggish recovery of the United States economy or an uncertain economic outlook could 
continue to lower consumer spending levels and cause a decrease in shopping mall traffic, each of which could adversely affect our growth, 
sales, and profitability. Further, any terrorist act, natural disaster, or public health concern, including infectious diseases, that decreases the level 
of mall traffic or other shopping traffic, or that affects our ability to open and operate stores in affected areas, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business.  

In addition, we lease a large number of our stores in malls owned and operated by highly leveraged real estate development companies. 
The inability of any one of these companies to refinance its debt when it comes due could result in mall closures or in foreclosures and distress 
sales of the mall properties. The closure of a mall or a change of ownership that results in changes or disruptions in mall operations, changes in 
tenant mix, or that otherwise impacts the character of the mall could affect the performance of our stores in those malls and could in turn have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.  

Our efforts to expand internationally through franchising and similar arrangements may not be successful and could impair the value of our 
brands.  

We have entered into franchise agreements with unaffiliated third parties to operate stores in certain countries in the Middle East and in 
South Korea and with an affiliate of the Company (that we do not control) to operate stores in China. Under these agreements, third parties 
operate stores that sell apparel, purchased from us, under the Gymboree name. We have limited experience managing apparel retail franchise 
relationships and these arrangements may ultimately not be successful. While we expect that this will be a small part of our business in the near 
future, we plan to continue to increase these types of arrangements over time as part of our international expansion efforts. The effect of these 
arrangements on our business and operating results is uncertain and will depend upon various factors, including the demand for our products in 
new markets and our ability to successfully identify appropriate third parties to act as franchisees, distributors, or in a similar capacity. In 
addition, certain aspects of these arrangements are not directly within our control. Other risks that may affect these third parties include general 
economic conditions in specific countries or markets, changes in diplomatic and trade relationships, and political instability. Moreover, while the 
agreements we have entered into and plan to enter into in the future provide us with certain termination rights, to the extent that these parties do 
not operate their stores in a manner consistent with our requirements regarding our Gymboree brand identity and customer experience standards, 
the value of our Gymboree brand could be impaired. A failure to protect the value of our Gymboree brand or any other harmful acts or omissions 
by a franchisee could have an adverse effect on our operating results and our reputation.  
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We may acquire businesses in the future to support long-term growth. We have limited experience acquiring and integrating businesses into 
our organization and we may not be successful.  

We regularly evaluate businesses as potential acquisition targets to support our long-term growth. We have not acquired significant 
businesses in the past and we have limited experience acquiring, integrating and growing existing businesses. The acquisition of a business could 
divert management’s attention from our existing brands and operations, require significant operational support and increase demands on systems 
and staffing. All of these effects could negatively impact our existing business. In addition, the acquisition and integration of an acquired 
business could result in significant additional costs that could negatively impact our working capital position, cash flow and operating results.  

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  

None.  

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

We lease approximately 162,400 square feet of office space in a building in San Francisco, California, for our corporate offices. The 
lease expires in April 2018.  

We own a 444,000 square-foot distribution center on approximately 31 acres in Dixon, California. All of our products are distributed 
from this facility. We also lease an additional 200,000 square feet of warehouse space in Dixon to supplement the Company-owned distribution 
center’s storage and processing capacity. This lease expires in July 2014.  

As of January 28, 2012, our 1,149 stores included an aggregate of approximately 2,332,000 square feet of space. Store leases typically 
have 10-year terms and include a termination clause if minimum revenue levels are not achieved during a specified 12-month period during the 
lease term. Some leases are structured with a minimum rent component plus a percentage rent based on the store’s net sales in excess of a certain 
threshold. Substantially all of the leases require us to pay insurance, utilities, real estate taxes, and common area repair and maintenance 
expenses. Approximately 90, 108 and 90 store leases will come up for renewal during fiscal 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. We are also in 
the process of negotiating lease terms for approximately 69 stores currently operating under month-to-month terms. As of January 28, 2012, we 
also operated 7 Gymboree Play & Music corporate-owned sites in California, Florida and Arizona under leases that expire between fiscal 2012 
and fiscal 2016. See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Our management does not 
expect that the results of any of these legal proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, could have a material effect on our financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows.  

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  

None.  
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PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT ’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

Gymboree Holding, Ltd., domiciled in the Cayman Islands, through Giraffe Holding, Inc. (“Parent”), and other direct and indirect 
subsidiaries, indirectly owns all of our outstanding equity interests. Shares of our common stock are not registered on any national securities 
exchange or otherwise publicly traded, there is no established public trading market for our common stock and none of the shares of our 
common stock are convertible into shares of any other class of stock or other securities.  

We paid cash dividends of $12.2 million in the aggregate on our common stock in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 to Parent. We do not 
have an established annual dividend policy. We may issue dividends to our shareholders in the future, but are under no obligation to do so, and 
would do so only to the extent permitted under financing documents and approved by our Board of Directors.  
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA  

The following table sets forth selected historical consolidated financial data at the dates and for the periods indicated below. Our 
selected financial data as of February 2, 2008 (Predecessor), January 31, 2009 (Predecessor), January 30, 2010 (Predecessor), and January 28, 
2012 (Successor) and for the years then ended, and our selected financial data as of January 29, 2011 (Successor) and for the periods from 
January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 (Successor), presented in this table have 
been derived from our historical audited consolidated financial statements  

On October 11, 2010, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Giraffe Holding, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation (“Parent”), and Giraffe Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent 
(“Acquisition Sub”), pursuant to which Acquisition Sub merged with and into the Company in accordance with the “short-form” merger 
provisions available under Delaware law (the “Merger”) on November 23, 2010 (the “Transaction Date”), with the Merger funded through a 
combination of debt and equity financing (collectively, “the Transactions”). We are continuing as the surviving corporation and 100%-owned 
indirect subsidiary of Parent. Investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital Partners, LLC (“Bain Capital”) own a controlling interest in Parent. 
The following selected historical consolidated financial data are presented for the Predecessor and Successor periods, which relate to the periods 
preceding and succeeding the Transaction Date, respectively.  

In deriving the unaudited pro forma fiscal 2010 financial statement data, operating results for the year ended January 29, 2011 were 
calculated as the mathematical addition of our operating results for the predecessor period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and the 
successor period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, and include pro forma adjustments. As a result of the Merger on the Transaction 
Date and the application of purchase accounting, a new basis of accounting began on the Transaction Date. This addition of the predecessor and 
successor amounts is not consistent with GAAP and may yield results that are not strictly comparable on a period-to-period basis due to the 
changes of accounting basis during these periods. For further information on the adjustments made to calculate the pro forma fiscal 2010 results, 
please refer to the section titled “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Information” in the Company’s prospectus filed with 
the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) of the Securities Act on June 14, 2011.  

The following information should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in this annual report.  
   

17  



Table of Contents  

    Successor           Successor     Predecessor   

    Fiscal Year Ended     Pro Forma                 Fiscal Year Ended   

    January 28,     Fiscal Year Ended     November 23, 2010 to     January 31, 2010 to        January 30,         January 31,          February 2,   

    2012     January 29, 2011     January 29, 2011     November 22, 2010     2010     2009       2008   

          (unaudited)                                 

Statement of operations data:                  

Net sales:                  

Retail     $ 1,164,171            $ 1,054,018        $ 244,287        $ 814,863        $ 1,001,527        $ 987,859        $ 909,410      

Gymboree Play & Music      13,885              13,661          2,814          10,847          13,384          12,819          11,404      

Retail Franchise      10,232              1,372          447          925          -              -              -          

Other                     -                                       248                                      -                                     248                         -                             -                            -          

Total net sales      1,188,288              1,069,299          247,548          826,883          1,014,911          1,000,678          920,814      

Cost of goods sold, including buying and 
occupancy expenses            (728,346)                         (570,326)                          (184,483)                       (431,675)               (535,005)               (524,477)             (478,020)     

Gross profit      459,942              498,973          63,065          395,208          479,906          476,201          442,794      

Selling, general and administrative expenses      (380,141)             (345,453)         (78,843)         (307,361)         (316,268)         (327,893)         (312,549)     

Goodwill impairment              (28,300)                                  -                                          -                                      -                              -                             -                           -          

Operating income (loss)      51,501              153,520          (15,778)         87,847          163,638          148,308          130,245      

Interest income      168              -              36           295          728          1,690          2,609      

Interest expense      (89,807)             (91,375)         (17,387)         (248)         (243)         (208)         (179)     

Loss on extinguishment of debt      (19,563)             -              -              -              -              -              `      

Other (expense) income, net                   (109)                                  172                                       53                                  119                        610                       (151)                      769      

(Loss) income before income taxes      (57,810)             62,317          (33,076)         88,013          164,733          149,639          133,444      

Income tax benefit (expense)                  6,626                            (29,295)                              10,032                           (36,449)                 (62,814)                 (56,159)                (53,113)     

Net (loss) income      (51,184)             33,022          (23,044)         51,564          101,919          93,480          80,331      

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling 
interest                  5,839                                    -                                          -                                      -                              -                              -                            -          

Net (loss) income attributable to The 
Gymboree Corporation     $         (45,345)            $ 

                   
33,022        $                     (23,044)       $ 

                   
  51,564        $        101,919        $           93,480        $         80,331      

  
Cash flows:                  

Net cash provided by operating activities     $ 91,545            $ 68,839         $ 21,080         $ 90,951         $ 176,595         $ 155,024         $ 107,867      

Net cash (used in) provided by investing 
activities      (38,212)             (1,876,860)         (1,833,408)         (43,452)         (39,579)         (56,114)         60,531      

Net cash (used in) provided by financing 
activities      (7,723)             1,538,035          1,648,690          (110,655)         (21,535)         9,728          (164,346)     

Capital expenditures      (36,565)             (47,268)         (5,054)         (42,214)         (39,579)         (56,114)         (68,794)     

  
Balance sheet data:                  

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 77,910            $ *         $ 32,124         $ *         $ 257,672         $ 140,472         $ 33,313      

Accounts receivable, net      27,277              *          13,669          *          9,911          18,735          12,640      

Working capital      169,879              *          113,936          *          287,348          180,040          58,038      

Property and equipment, net      202,152              *          212,491          *          205,461          204,227          185,357      

Total assets      2,113,787              *          2,088,125          *          636,130          520,581          397,184      

Total debt      1,211,800              *          1,215,991          *          -              -              -          

Total equity      448,639              *          485,811          *          438,753          334,275          208,295      

  
Operating data:                  

Number of stores at end of period      1,149              1,065          1,065          1,062          953          886          786      

Net sales per gross square foot at period-end 
(a)     $ 499            $ 493         $ 114         $ 380         $ 529         $ 564         $ 595      

Net sales per average store (b)     $ 1,011,940            $ 990,000         $ 229,000         $ 762,000         $ 1,043,000         $ 1,105,000         $ 1,146,000      

Comparable store net sales increase 
(decrease) (c)      4%             (2%)          *          *          (4%)          0%         7%     

  
Other financial data:                  

Adjusted EBITDA (d)     $ 192,585            $ 236,953         $ 57,912         $ 179,040         $ 221,348         $ 203,309          179,233      
   

* Information not available for this period  
(a) Equals net sales from the Company’s retail stores and online stores, divided by total square feet of store space as of each date presented.  
(b) Equals net sales from the Company’s retail stores and online stores, divided by stores open as of each date presented.  
(c) A comparable store is one that has been open for a full 14 months. Stores that are relocated or expanded by more than 15% of their 

original square footage become comparable 14 months after final relocation or the completion of the expansion project. Comparable 
stores net sales include net sales from the Company’s online stores. Comparable store net sales were calculated on a 52 week basis for all 
periods presented.  

(d) Refer to the table in the section titled ‘Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) (Non-GAAP 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes 
included elsewhere in this report. Except for historical information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Our actual results could differ materially from results that may be anticipated 
by such forward-looking statements. The principal factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those 
discussed in “Item 1A.Risk Factors,” and those discussed elsewhere in this report. We do not intend to revise any forward-looking statements in 
order to reflect events or circumstances that may subsequently arise.  

Overview  

We are one of the largest children’s apparel specialty retailers in North America, offering collections of high-quality apparel and 
accessories. As of January 28, 2012, we operated a total of 1,149 retail stores and online stores at www.gymboree.com , www.janieandjack.com 
and www.crazy8.com . We also offered directed parent-child developmental play programs under the Gymboree Play & Music brand at 703 
franchised and Company-operated centers in the United States and 36 other countries. In addition, as of January 28, 2012, third-party overseas 
partners operated 24 Gymboree retail stores in the Middle East and South Korea and the Joint Venture operated one Gymboree retail store in 
China.  

The following table summarizes store openings and closures by brand and country for fiscal year ended January 28, 2012 (“fiscal 
2011”). Note that (i) all Janie and Jack and Crazy 8 stores are in the United States, and (ii) retail stores operated by third-party overseas partners 
and the Joint Venture are excluded.  
   

In fiscal 2012, we plan to continue to execute on our vision to reach every mom in America and moms around the world with our multi-
tiered portfolio of brands. As part of our strategy, we plan to open approximately 80 new Crazy 8 stores in fiscal 2012 to reach our more cost-
conscious customers. We also plan to continue to roll out additional Company-operated stores with the core Gymboree and Janie and Jack 
brands and to evaluate other territories that might be appropriate for international expansion with our brand portfolio.  

Though commodity prices (including that of cotton) have fallen from highs reached earlier in 2011, due to our production cycle and 
continued cost pressures, we expect relatively high prices paid for merchandise inventories and to a lesser extent, higher wages in developing 
countries, to continue to keep pressure on costs and our margins in the first half of fiscal 2012. In light of these likely cost pressures and 
continued price sensitivity of our customers in the foreseeable future, we plan to build upon cost saving measures successfully implemented in 
fiscal 2011, including direct sourcing of merchandise and strategies to better optimize our markdown and promotional plans, and leveraging our 
corporate infrastructure across our multi-brand portfolio of stores in order to maximize the benefits from our selling, general and administrative 
expenses. Despite these continued efforts, we anticipate some degree of downward pressure on our gross margins for at least the first two 
quarters of fiscal 2012.  
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Store Count as of  
    January 29, 2011       

Store  
    Openings         

Store  
  Closures        

Store Count as of   
  January 28, 2012      

Gymboree US      594         1         (8)        587     
Gymboree Canada      37         4         -             41     
Gymboree Australia      2         1         -             3     
Gymboree Puerto Rico      2         -             (1)        1     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total Gymboree      635         6         (9)        632     

Gymboree Outlet      149         2         -             151     
Gymboree Outlet Puerto Rico      1         1         -             2     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total Gymboree Outlet      150         3         -             153     

Janie and Jack      123         7         (3)        127     
Crazy 8      157         83         (3)        237     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total      1,065         99         (15)        1,149     
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Critical Accounting Policies  

Critical accounting policies are those accounting policies and estimates that management believes are important to the portrayal of the 
Company’s financial condition and results of operations and require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a 
result of the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. Management has discussed the development and 
selection of the critical accounting policies and estimates applicable to the Company as of the date of the completion of the audit for the fiscal 
year ended January 28, 2012 with the Company’s Audit Committee.  

Goodwill Impairment . As of January 28, 2012, we had goodwill of $899 million related to the Merger. Goodwill represents the excess 
of the acquisition cost over the estimated fair value of assets acquired, less liabilities assumed. At the date of the Merger, we preliminarily 
allocated goodwill to our reporting units, which we concluded were the same as our operating segments (see Note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report): Gymboree (including an online store), Gymboree Outlet, Janie and Jack 
(including an online store), Crazy 8 (including an online store), Gymboree Play & Music and Retail Franchise. We have since finalized our 
allocation of goodwill to reporting units (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report). We 
allocated goodwill to the reporting units by calculating the fair value of each reporting unit and deriving the implied fair value of each reporting 
unit’s goodwill on the date of the Merger.  

Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested annually for impairment in the fourth quarter. We update our impairment tests between annual 
tests if events or circumstances occur that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. A 
significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of impairment has occurred. Such indicators may include, among 
others: a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate; and 
unanticipated competition. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill and could have 
a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. The impairment test compares the carrying value of the assets and liabilities 
associated with a reporting unit, including goodwill, with the fair value of the reporting unit. If the carrying value of the assets and liabilities 
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, we calculate the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill as compared with the carrying value 
of the reporting unit goodwill to determine the appropriate impairment charge. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we recorded approximately 
$28.3 million in goodwill impairment related to the Gymboree Outlet reporting unit (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this annual report). The impairment charge is preliminary and subject to finalization of fair values which we will complete in fiscal 
2012. We believe that the preliminary estimate of impairment is reasonable and represents our best estimate of the impairment charge to be 
incurred; however, it is possible that material adjustments to the preliminary estimate may be required as the analysis is finalized  

Calculating the fair value of a reporting unit and the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill requires significant judgment. The use 
of different assumptions, estimates or judgments in either step of the goodwill impairment testing process, such as the estimated future cash 
flows of reporting units, the discount rate used to discount such cash flows, or the estimated fair value of the reporting units’ tangible and 
intangible assets and liabilities, could significantly increase or decrease the estimated fair value of a reporting unit or its net assets. At the fiscal 
2011 annual impairment test date, the conclusion that no indication of goodwill impairment existed for any reporting unit other than Gymboree 
Outlet would not have changed had the impairment test been conducted assuming: 1) a 100 basis point increase in the discount rate used to 
discount the aggregate estimated cash flows of reporting units to their net present value (without any change in the aggregate estimated cash 
flows), or 2) a 100 basis point decrease in the estimated revenue growth rate or terminal period growth rate without a change in the discount rate 
of each reporting unit. Based on this sensitivity analysis, we do not believe that the recorded goodwill balance is at risk of further impairment at 
any reporting unit other than Gymboree Outlet at the end of fiscal 2011. However, goodwill impairment charges may be recognized in future 
periods in one or more of the reporting units to the extent changes in factors or circumstances occur, including deterioration in the 
macroeconomic environment, deterioration in our performance or future projections, or changes in the our plans for one or more reporting units.  

Intangible Assets and Liabilities .    Intangible assets, which amounted to $599 million as of January 28, 2012, primarily represent 
trade names for each of our brands, contractual customer relationships, and below market leases. Intangible liabilities, which amounted to $12.5 
million as of January 28, 2012, represent above market leases and are included in deferred liabilities. Trade names have been assigned an 
indefinite life and are reviewed for impairment annually in the fourth quarter. We update our impairment tests between annual tests if events or 
circumstances occur that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of our trade names below their carrying amount. A significant amount 
of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of impairment has occurred. Such indicators may include, among others: a significant 
decline in expected future cash flows; a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate; and unanticipated  
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competition. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of these intangible assets and could have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements. The impairment test compares the fair value of trade names with their carrying 
amounts. Calculating the fair value of trade names requires significant judgment. The use of different assumptions, estimates or judgments in the 
intangible asset impairment testing process, such as the estimated future cash flows of assets, the royalty rate and the discount and terminal 
growth rates used to discount such cash flows, could significantly increase or decrease the estimated fair value of an asset, and therefore, impact 
the related impairment charge.  

In fiscal 2011, our conclusion regarding impairment of our trade names would not have changed had the test been conducted assuming: 1) 
a 100 basis point increase in the discount rate used to discount the aggregate estimated cash flows of the assets to their net present value (without 
any change in the aggregate estimated cash flows of reporting units) or 2) a 50 basis point decrease in the royalty rate applied to the forecasted 
net sales stream of the assets. Actual results could vary significantly from these estimates and could result in material impairment charges in the 
future. All other intangible assets and liabilities are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives (see Note 5 to the 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report). Intangible assets and liabilities with finite lives are evaluated for 
impairment using a process similar to that used for store asset impairment as described below. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
by which the carrying value exceeds fair value.  

Inventory Valuation. Merchandise inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or market (“LCM”), determined on a weighted-average 
basis. We review our inventory levels to identify slow-moving merchandise and broken assortments (items no longer in stock in a sufficient 
range of sizes) and record an adjustment when the future estimated selling price is less than cost. We take a physical count of inventories in all 
stores once a year and in some stores twice a year, and perform cycle counts throughout the year in our distribution center. We record an 
inventory shrink adjustment based upon physical counts and also provide for estimated shrink adjustments for the period between the last 
physical inventory count and each balance sheet date. Our inventory shrink estimate can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes 
in actual shrink trends. Our LCM estimate can be affected by changes in consumer demand and the promotional environment. We do not believe 
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our LCM or 
inventory shortage adjustments. However, if estimates regarding consumer demand are inaccurate or our actual physical inventory shortage 
differs significantly from our estimates, our operating results could be affected.  

Store Asset Impairment. We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. If the undiscounted future cash flows from the asset group are less than the carrying value, we 
recognize a loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of the asset group and its fair value. The fair value of the asset group is 
estimated based on discounted future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with the risk. The asset group is determined at the store 
level, which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are available. Decisions to close a store or facility can also result in accelerated 
depreciation over the revised useful life. For locations to be closed that are under long-term leases, we record a charge for lease buyout expense, 
or the difference between our rent and the rate at which we expect to be able to sublease the properties and related cost, as appropriate. Most 
closures occur upon the lease expiration. Our estimate of future cash flows is based on historical experience and typically third-party advice or 
market data. These estimates can be affected by factors that are difficult to predict, such as future store profitability, real estate demand and 
economic conditions. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the estimates or assumptions we 
use to calculate impairment losses of long-lived assets. Our recorded asset impairment charges have not been and are not expected to be material. 
However, if actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions used in the calculations, we may be exposed to losses that could 
be material.  

Income Taxes. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. We maintain valuation allowances when it is more likely than 
not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances from period to period are included in the tax 
provision in the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, we take into account such factors as prior earnings 
history, expected future earnings, carryback and carryforward periods, and tax strategies that could potentially enhance the likelihood of 
realization of a deferred tax asset. We are subject to periodic audits by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and other taxing authorities. 
These audits may challenge certain of our tax positions, such as the timing and amount of deductions and allocation of taxable income to the 
various tax jurisdictions. Determining income tax expense for tax contingencies requires us to make assumptions that are subject to factors such 
as proposed assessments by tax authorities, changes in facts and circumstances, issuance of new regulations, and resolution of tax audits. Actual 
results could materially differ from these estimates and could significantly affect the effective tax rate and cash flows in future years.  

Revenue Recognition. While revenue recognition does not involve significant judgment, it represents an important accounting policy for 
us. Revenue is recognized at the point of sale in retail stores. Online revenue is recorded when we  
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estimate merchandise is delivered to the customer. Online customers generally receive merchandise within three to six days of shipment. 
Shipping fees received from customers are included in net sales and the associated shipping costs are included in cost of goods sold. We also sell 
gift cards in our retail store locations, through our online stores and through third parties. Revenue is recognized in the period that the gift card is 
redeemed. We recognize unredeemed gift card and merchandise credit balances when we can determine the portion of the liability for which 
redemption is remote (generally three years after issuance). These amounts are recorded as other income within selling, general and 
administrative expenses. Sales are presented net of a sales return reserve, which is estimated based on historical return trends. We do not believe 
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our sales return 
reserve. However, if the actual rate of sales returns significantly increases, our operating results could be adversely affected.  

Effect of the Merger  

On October 11, 2010, we entered into a Merger Agreement with Parent and Acquisition Sub, pursuant to which Acquisition Sub merged 
with and into the Company in accordance with the “short-form” merger provisions available under Delaware law (the “Merger”) on 
November 23, 2010 (the “Transaction Date”), with the Merger funded through a combination of debt and equity financing (collectively, “the 
Transactions”). The application of purchase accounting as a result of the Merger required the adjustment of our assets and liabilities to their fair 
value, which resulted in an increase in amortization expense related to intangible assets acquired as a result of the Merger. Also, as a result of the 
Transactions, our borrowings and interest expense significantly increased. The excess of purchase price over the estimated fair value of our net 
assets and identified intangible assets was allocated to goodwill. Our indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill are subject to periodic tests 
for impairment. The subsection “Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) (Non-GAAP Measure)” below 
shows other purchase accounting adjustments that affected fiscal 2011 and 2010, as well as a reconciliation of such measures to net income 
(loss).  

Results of Operations  

Fiscal 2011 compared to Pro Forma Fiscal 2010  

In presenting a comparison of our results of operations for fiscal 2011 to our results of operations for the fiscal year ended January 29, 
2011, we have presented unaudited pro forma results for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2011 (“fiscal 2010”). This presentation does not 
comply with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  

Net Sales  

Net retail sales for fiscal 2011 increased to $1.2 billion from pro forma net retail sales of $1.1 billion in fiscal 2010, an increase of 
$110.2 million, or 10.5%. This increase was primarily due to net store and square footage growth of 84 stores and approximately 194,000 square 
feet. Comparable store sales increased by 4% in fiscal 2011.  

Retail franchise sales for fiscal 2011 increased to $10.2 million from pro forma sales of $1.4 million in fiscal 2010, an increase of $8.8 
million. This increase was the direct result of international expansion, with 22 new Gymboree stores opened by third-party overseas partners in 
fiscal 2011. There were 24 franchised Gymboree stores in the Middle East and South Korea at the end of fiscal 2011, compared to 2 franchised 
Gymboree stores in the Middle East at the end of fiscal 2010.  

Gross Profit  

Gross profit for fiscal 2011 decreased to $459.9 million from pro forma gross profit of $499.0 million in fiscal 2010. As a percentage of 
net sales, gross profit decreased 8.0 percentage points to 38.7% from pro forma gross profit of 46.7% last year. The decrease in gross profit was 
primarily due to higher average unit costs in fiscal 2011 resulting from higher commodity prices (primarily cotton) and a higher level of 
markdown selling.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses, which principally consist of non-occupancy store expenses, corporate overhead 
and distribution expenses, increased to $380.1 million in fiscal 2011 from pro forma SG&A of $345.5 million in fiscal 2010, an increase of 
$34.6 million, or 10.0%. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A decreased 0.3 percentage points to 32% in fiscal 2011 from pro forma SG&A 
32.3% in fiscal 2010. The SG&A decrease as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2011 was primarily due to lower stock-based and incentive 
compensation costs partially offset by a one-time charge related to the termination of our master franchise relationship in China (see Note 20 to 
the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report) and increased costs related to the operations of the Joint Venture 
(see Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report).  
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Goodwill Impairment  

In the fourth quarter of 2011, due to higher average unit costs resulting from higher commodity prices (primarily cotton) and a higher 
level of markdown selling, we concluded that there was impairment related to goodwill allocated to Gymboree Outlet, one of our reporting units. 
Although our analysis has not been completed due to its complexity, based on the work we performed to date, we have recorded a preliminary 
estimate of the impairment charge for goodwill of $28.3 million.  

Interest Expense  

Interest expense decreased to $89.8 million in fiscal 2011 from pro forma interest expense of $91.4 million in fiscal 2010 due to a fiscal 
2011 refinance of our Term Loan (in February 2011), which, among other things, lowered the interest rate.  

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt  

Loss on extinguishment of debt was approximately $19.6 million for fiscal 2011 and was due to the refinancing of our Term Loan. In 
February 2011, we refinanced our Term Loan through an amendment and restatement of our existing credit agreement to lower the interest rate, 
remove certain financial covenants and extend the maturity date from November 2017 to February 2018.  

Income Taxes  

Income tax benefit for fiscal 2011 and pro forma income tax expense for fiscal 2010 resulted in effective tax rates of approximately 
11.5% and 47.0%, respectively. The fiscal 2011 rate is comparatively low as a percentage of pre-tax loss due primarily to the non-deductible 
goodwill impairment charge and non-deductible costs associated with the VIEs. The fiscal 2010 rate is comparatively high as a percentage of pro 
forma pre-tax income due primarily to one-time non-deductible costs associated with the Merger.  

Pro Forma Fiscal 2010 Compared to Fiscal 2009  

Net Sales  

Pro forma net retail sales for fiscal 2010 increased to $1.1 billion from net retail sales of $1.0 billion in fiscal 2009, an increase of $52.5 
million, or 5.2%. This increase was largely due to net store growth of 112 stores and an aggregate square footage growth of approximately 
259,000 square feet. Comparable store sales decreased by 2% in fiscal 2010, primarily due to the continuing difficult retail environment and 
slow economic recovery. We operated a total of 1,065 retail stores at the end of fiscal 2010 compared to 953 at the end of fiscal 2009.  

Pro forma Gymboree Play & Music net sales for fiscal 2010 increased to $13.7 million from $13.4 million in fiscal 2009. The increase 
was primarily due to an increase in royalties from international franchisees, as well as an increase in revenues from our corporate-owned sites. 
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in equipment sales. There were 688 Gymboree Play & Music sites (including 8 corporate-
owned sites) at the end of fiscal 2010 compared to 650 sites at the end of fiscal 2009 (including 8 Company-operated sites).  

Pro forma retail franchise net sales for fiscal 2010 were $1.4 million. The franchise business was launched August 2010. As of 
January 29, 2011, a franchisee operated 2 Gymboree stores in the Middle East.  

Gross Profit  

Pro forma gross profit for fiscal 2010 increased to $499.0 million from a gross profit of $479.9 million in fiscal 2009. As a percentage 
of net sales, pro forma gross profit decreased 0.6 percentage points to 46.7% from a gross profit of 47.3% in fiscal 2009. This decrease was 
primarily due to deleveraging of occupancy costs. In the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, cost of goods sold included $45.5 
million of amortization expense resulting from an increase in the net book value of inventory that was eliminated in the pro forma results for 
fiscal 2010.  
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  

Pro forma SG&A increased to $345.5 million in fiscal 2010 from SG&A of $316.3 million in fiscal 2009, an increase of $29.2 million, 
or 9.2%. Pro forma SG&A as a percentage of net sales increased 1.1 percentage points to 32.3% in fiscal 2010 from SG&A of 31.2% in fiscal 
2009. This increase was primarily due to amortization expense related to intangible assets recognized as a result of the Merger, and was partially 
offset by a decrease in stock-based and incentive compensation. The pro forma results for fiscal 2010 include a full year of amortization expense 
for intangible assets. In the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, as a result of the Transactions, we incurred $13.5 million of 
transaction expenses and a $27.7 million stock-based compensation charge that are not included in the pro forma results for fiscal 2010.  

Interest Income  

Pro forma interest income decreased to zero in fiscal 2010 from $0.7 million in fiscal 2009 mainly due to lower interest rates and lower 
average cash balances. In addition, the pro forma results for fiscal 2010 eliminated our interest income to reflect our capitalization after the 
Merger.  

Interest Expense  

Interest expense increased to $91.4 million in fiscal 2010 from $0.2 million in fiscal 2009, primarily due to interest on the Senior Credit 
Facilities entered into, and the Notes issued in connection with the Merger, as well as amortization of deferred financing costs related to the 
Merger and accretion of the original issue discount on our new senior secured Term Loan.  

Income Taxes  

Pro forma income tax expense for fiscal 2010 and income tax expense for fiscal 2009 resulted in effective tax rates of approximately 
47.0% and 38.1%, respectively. The effective tax rate increased in fiscal 2010 due to non-deductible costs associated with the Merger.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $77.9 million as of January 28, 2012, $4.9 million of which is held by the two entities that make up 
the Joint Venture, which we have determined to be VIEs of which we are the primary beneficiary, and the results of which we have consolidated 
into our financial statements (see Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report) and $32.1 million as 
of January 29, 2011. The assets of the VIEs cannot be used by us. Working capital as of January 28, 2012 totaled $169.9 million as compared to 
$113.9 million as of January 29, 2011.  

Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2011 was $91.5 million compared to $21.1 million for the period from November 23, 
2010 to January 29, 2011 and $91.0 million for the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010. The decrease in cash provided by 
operating activities in fiscal 2011 was primarily due to interest payments on our Senior Credit Facilities entered into, and Notes issued, in 
connection with the Merger as well as increased average unit costs for inventory. The Senior Credit Facilities are comprised of an $820 million 
senior secured Term Loan and a $225 million ABL Facility.  

Net cash provided by operating activities was $21.1 million for the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 and $91.0 
million for the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010, compared to $176.6 million in fiscal 2009. The decrease in cash provided 
by operating activities in fiscal 2010 was primarily due to:  
   

   

The factors above were partially offset by:  
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—   a decrease in operating income during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and an operating loss during the 

period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011; and  
  —   an increase in prepaid income taxes due to tax deductions related to the Transactions.  

  
—   an increase in accrued liabilities due to costs related to the Transactions and interest accrued on our new Senior Credit Facilities; 

and  
  —   an increase in accounts payable due to costs related to the Transactions and timing of payments.  
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Net cash used in investing activities was $38.2 million in fiscal 2011 compared to $1.8 billion during the period from November 23, 
2010 to January 29, 2011 and $43.5 million during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010. The $38.2 million used in fiscal 
2011 primarily consisted of $36.6 million in capital expenditures related to the opening of new stores, relocation, remodeling and/or expansion 
of existing stores, information technology improvements, and investments in our distribution center (see the table below for further information 
on store openings in fiscal 2011). In the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and in fiscal 2009, net cash used in investing 
activities was $43.5 and $39.6 million, respectively, and was comparable in composition to the aforementioned components of capital 
expenditures for fiscal 2011. Net cash used in investing activities during the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 primarily 
related to acquisition costs related to the Merger.  

We estimate capital expenditures for fiscal 2012 will approximate $45 million and will be used to open approximately 105 new stores 
(shown in table below), as well as to continue investment in our distribution center and systems infrastructure. Our current plans for Gymboree, 
Gymboree Outlet, Janie and Jack, and Crazy 8 will require increasing capital expenditures for new stores for the next several years. The 
following table summarizes store openings for 2011 and planned openings for 2012 (excluding activity from our VIEs and third-party overseas 
partners):  
   

Net cash used in financing activities in fiscal 2011 was $7.7 million compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $1.6 
billion during the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $110.7 million 
during the period from January 31, 2010 and November 22, 2010. The net cash used in fiscal 2011 was primarily due to a $12.2 million cash 
dividend on our common stock paid to Parent, which was used by the shareholders of Parent to fund their equity investment in the Joint Venture 
(see Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report), $8.2 million in quarterly principal payments on 
our Term Loan and $6.7 million in deferred financing costs paid in connection with the February 2011 refinancing of our Term Loan, partially 
offset by capital contributions made by Parent to us of $14.9 million and to the VIEs by their immediate corporate parent of $4.5 million. The 
change during the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 was primarily due to $1.2 billion in borrowings on our Senior Credit 
Facilities and the Notes in connection with the Transactions, as well as a $508 million equity investment made by Parent, partially offset by 
deferred financing costs of $63.3 million paid in connection with the Transactions and $12.1 million paid for the purchase of four interest rate 
cap contracts. Net cash used in financing activities during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 was primarily for stock 
repurchases. Net cash used by financing activities was $21.5 million in fiscal 2009 and was primarily related to stock repurchases.  

We have an $820 million Term Loan and a $225 million ABL Facility. As of January 28, 2012, $811.8 million was outstanding under 
the Term Loan. Amounts available under the ABL are subject to customary borrowing base limitations and are reduced by letter of credit 
utilization. No amounts were outstanding and there was approximately $127.8 million of undrawn availability under the ABL as of January 28, 
2012. The Term Loan and ABL also allow an aggregate of $200 million in uncommitted incremental facilities, the availability of which is 
subject to our meeting certain conditions. No incremental facilities are currently in effect. The Term Loan and ABL contain covenants that, 
among other things, restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness and pay dividends. The ABL also contains financial covenants. As of 
January 28, 2012, we were in compliance with these covenants. In March 2012, we amended and restated the terms of our ABL Facility to, 
among other things, lower the interest rate and extend the maturity date from November 2015 to March 2017.  
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    New Stores in     
 

fiscal 2011      

  New Stores in   
 

fiscal 2012   

Gymboree US       1           5     
Gymboree Canada       4           1     
Gymboree Australia       1           2     

         
  

         
  

Total Gymboree       6           8     

Gymboree Outlet       2           7     
Gymboree Outlet Puerto Rico      1           -         

         
  

         
  

     3           7     

Janie and Jack       7           10     
Crazy 8       83           80     

         
  

         
  

     99           105      
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The Term Loan requires us to make quarterly payments each equal to 0.25% of the original $820 million principal amount of the Term 
Loan made on the closing date plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, with the balance due in February 2018. The Term Loan also has 
mandatory and voluntary pre-payment provisions, including a requirement that we prepay the Term Loan with a certain percentage of our annual 
excess cash flow beginning with the excess cash flow for fiscal 2011. In fiscal 2012, we expect to prepay approximately $15.7 million of the 
Term Loan with a portion of our excess cash flow for fiscal 2011. We may (but are not required to) apply a portion of this prepayment toward 
our quarterly amortization payments payable under the Term Loan in fiscal 2012.  

Pursuant to authorization from the Board of Directors, we repurchased and retired 2,613,375 shares of our common stock at an 
aggregate cost of approximately $113.6 million, or approximately $43.49 per share, during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 
2010 and 627,156 shares of our common stock at an aggregate cost of approximately $26.4 million, or approximately $42.02 per share, in fiscal 
2009. We did not repurchase and retire any shares of our stock during fiscal 2011.  

Subject to certain limitations imposed on business combinations under the agreements governing our indebtedness, the Company’s 
capital resources allow us to consider business acquisitions as an alternative means of growth. We review acquisition opportunities from time to 
time and, while we do not have significant experience in acquiring an existing business, we would consider doing so in the future with respect to 
an appropriate opportunity.  

We believe that cash and cash equivalents generated by operations, the remaining funds available under our Senior Credit Facilities and 
existing cash and equivalents will be sufficient to meet working capital requirements, service our debt and finance capital expenditures over the 
next twelve months. We cannot assure you, however, that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future 
borrowings will be available to us under the Senior Credit Facilities in amounts sufficient to enable us to repay our indebtedness, including the 
Notes, or to fund other liquidity needs. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Certain Other Obligations”.  

Summary Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments  

The following table reflects a summary of our contractual obligations as of January 28, 2012:  
   
    Payments due by period   

($ in thousands)   

  Less than   
1 year          1-3 years              3-5 years             After 5 years           Total     

Standby-by letters of credit    $ 5,893        $ -            $ -            $ -            $ 5,893      
Operating leases (1)      87,006          155,729          133,318          140,958          517,011      
Inventory purchase obligations (2)      223,148          -          -          -          223,148      
Other purchase obligations (3)      13,890          4,471            -          18,361      
Senior Credit Facilities (4)      17,698          6,902          16,400          770,800          811,800      
Notes (5)                      -                          -                            -                     400,000                   400,000      
Total contractual cash obligations    $      347,635        $      167,102        $        149,718        $         1,311,758        $       1,976,213      
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(1) Other lease-required expenses such as utilities, real estate taxes and common area repairs and maintenance are excluded. See Note 3 to 
the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report for discussion of the Company’s operating leases.  

(2) Inventory purchase obligations include outstanding purchase orders for merchandise inventories that are enforceable and legally binding 
on the Company and that specify all significant terms (including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased), fixed, minimum or 
variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the transaction.  

(3) Other purchase obligations include commitments for fixtures and equipment, information technology and professional services.  

(4) The Senior Credit Facilities are comprised of an $811.8 million Term Loan and a $225 million ABL Facility. The amounts presented in 
the table above do not include interest on the Senior Credit Facilities.  

(5) Represents an aggregate principal amount of $400 million of our Notes. The amounts presented in the table above do not include 
interest on the Notes.  
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As of January 28, 2012, we had unrecognized tax benefits of $5.7 million, accrued interest of $1.7 million, and accrued penalties of $0.7 
million. These amounts have been excluded from the contractual obligations table because a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of future 
tax settlements cannot be determined.  

The expected timing of payment of the obligations discussed above is estimated based on current information. The timing of payments 
and actual amounts paid may differ depending on the timing of receipt of services, or, for some obligations, changes to agreed-upon amounts.  

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“ EBITDA ” ) (Non-GAAP Measure)  

In the table below, we present Adjusted EBITDA (which is defined as net income (loss) attributable to The Gymboree Corporation 
before interest expense, interest income, income tax expense/benefit, and depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) adjusted for the other items 
described below), which is considered a non-GAAP financial measure. We present Adjusted EBITDA in this annual report because we consider 
it an important supplemental measure of performance used by management and we believe it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors 
and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in the retail industry. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated in substantially the same 
manner as “EBITDA” under the indenture governing the Notes and “Consolidated EBITDA” under the agreement governing our Senior Credit 
Facilities. We believe that the inclusion of supplementary adjustments applied to EBITDA in presenting Adjusted EBITDA is appropriate to 
provide additional information to investors about certain non-cash items and unusual or non-recurring items that we do not expect to continue in 
the future and to provide additional information with respect to our ability to meet our future debt service and to comply with various covenants 
in documents governing our indebtedness. However, Adjusted EBITDA is not a presentation made in accordance with GAAP, and our 
computation of Adjusted EBITDA may vary from others in the retail industry. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to 
operating income or net income (loss), as a measure of operating performance or cash flow, or as a measure of liquidity. Adjusted EBITDA has 
important limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported 
under GAAP. For example, Adjusted EBITDA:  
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  —   does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;  
  —   does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;  
  

—   does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our 
debt;  

  —   excludes income tax payments that represent a reduction in cash available to us; and  
  —   does not reflect the impact of earnings or charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of ongoing operations.  
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The following table is a reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to The Gymboree Corporation to Adjusted EBITDA for the 
periods indicated (in thousands):  
   

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK  

We enter into forward foreign exchange contracts with respect to certain purchases in United States dollars of inventory to be sold in 
our retail stores in Canada. The purpose of these contracts is to protect our margins on the eventual sale of the inventory from fluctuations in the 
exchange rate for Canadian and United States dollars. The term of the forward exchange contracts is generally less than one year.  

The table below summarizes the notional amounts and fair values of our forward foreign exchange contracts in United States dollars (in 
thousands except weighted-average rate data):  
   

Interest Rate Risk  

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with our long-term debt. Our principal interest rate risk relates to the Term Loan 
outstanding under the Senior Credit Facilities. We have $811.8 million outstanding under our Senior Credit Facilities, bearing interest at variable 
rates. A 0.125% increase in these floating rates applicable to the indebtedness outstanding under the Senior Credit Facilities would have 
increased annual interest expense by approximately $1.0 million. The Senior Credit Facilities also allow an aggregate of $200 million in 
uncommitted incremental facilities, bearing interest at variable rates. No incremental facilities are currently in effect.  

In December 2010, we purchased four interest rate caps to hedge against rising interest rates associated with our senior secured term 
loan above the 5% strike rate of the caps through December 23, 2016, the maturity date of the caps. The notional amount of these caps is $700 
million. As of January 28, 2012, accumulated other comprehensive income included approximately $10.7 million in unrealized losses related to 
the interest rate caps. Additional information relating to our derivative instruments is presented in Note 17 to the consolidated financial 

    
   

Successor      
   

Predecessor    
    52 Weeks Ended     November 23, 2010 to     January 31, 2010 to     52 Weeks Ended   
      January 28, 2012           January 29, 2011           November 22, 2010         January 30, 2010        January 31, 2009       February 2, 2008    
Net (loss) income attributable to The Gymboree 

Corporation     $ (45,345)        $ (23,044)        $ 51,564        $ 101,919        $ 93,480        $ 80,331     
Interest expense     89,807         17,387         248         243         208         179     
Interest income     (168)         (36)         (295)         (728)         (1,690)         (2,609)     
Income tax (benefit) expense     (6,626)         (10,032)         36,449         62,814         56,159         53,113     
Depreciation and amortization (a)     57,930         10,250         32,550         37,302         34,854         31,151     
Non-cash share-based compensation expense     5,907         482         41,042         18,462         19,850         16,381     
Loss on disposal/impairment on assets     4,339         1,150         880         1,336         448         687     
Loss on extinguishment of debt     19,563         -             -             -             -             -         
Gymboree Play & Music franchise transition     7,200         -             -             -             -             -         
Goodwill impairment     28,300         -             -             -             -             -         
Acquisition-related adjustments (b)     31,678         61,755         16,602         -             -             -         

        
  

                  
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Adjusted EBITDA     $ 192,585        $ 57,912         $ 179,040        $ 221,348        $ 203,309        $ 179,233     
        

  

                  

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

  
(a) Includes the following purchase accounting 
adjustments (in thousands):               

Amortization of intangible assets (impacts 
SG&A)     $ 17,500        $ 3,011        $ -            $ -            $ -            $ -         
Amortization of below and above market leases 
(impacts COGS)      (2,090)         (387)         -             -             -             -         

        
  

                  
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

   $ 15,410        $ 2,624        $ -          $ -          $ -          $ -       
        

  

                  

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

  
(b) Includes the following adjustments (in 
thousands):               

Adjustment to cost of goods sold from an 
increase in the net book value of inventory as a 
result of purchase accounting (impacts COGS)     $ 10,731        $ 45,508        $ -            $ -            $ -            $ -         
Additional rent expense recognized due to the 
elimination of deferred rent and construction 
allowances in purchase accounting (impacts 
COGS)      9,699         1,628         -             -             -             -         
Legal, accounting and other costs incurred as a 
result of the Merger (impacts SG&A)      5,607         13,624         16,602         -             -             -         
Decrease in net sales due to the elimination of 
deferred revenue related to the Company’s co-
branded credit card program in purchase 
accounting (impacts net sales)      5,641         995         -             -             -             -         

        
  

                  
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

   $ 31,678        $ 61,755        $ 16,602        $ -          $ -          $ -       
        

  

                  

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

     
Notional  
Amount      

Fair Value  
Gain (Loss)      

Weighted-  
Average  

Rate   

   January 28, 2012       $       14,154           $         (13)          $       0.99      
   January 29, 2011       $ 4,505           $ (33)          $ 1.00      



statements included in this annual report.  
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Impact of Inflation  

Except for the impact of increased cotton prices and higher wages in developing countries as described under “Overview” above, the 
impact of inflation on results of operations has not been significant in any of the last three fiscal years.  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards  

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance which amends and clarifies existing guidance related to fair value measurements and 
disclosures. This guidance requires new disclosures for (1) transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 and reasons for such transfers; and (2) the 
separate presentation of purchases, sales, issuances and settlement in the Level 3 reconciliation. It also clarifies guidance around disaggregation 
and disclosures of inputs and valuation techniques for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements. We adopted this guidance as of January 31, 
2010, except for the new disclosures in the Level 3 reconciliation, which were adopted during the first quarter of fiscal 2011. The adoption of 
this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the accounting and disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. The new 
guidance limits the highest-and-best-use measure to nonfinancial assets, permits certain financial assets and liabilities with offsetting positions in 
market or counterparty credit risks to be measured at a net basis, and provides guidance on the applicability of premiums and 
discounts. Additionally, this guidance requires entities to disclose the categorization by level of the fair value hierarchy for items that are not 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position but for which the fair value is required to be disclosed. This new guidance will be 
effective for us as of January 29, 2012. We anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements.  

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the presentation of comprehensive income. This new guidance requires that all non-
owner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but 
consecutive statements. We early adopted this guidance effective for our fiscal year ended January 28, 2012, as permitted under the standard, and 
applied retrospectively to all periods presented as required to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the 
components of other comprehensive income in two separate consecutive statements. The adoption of this guidance did not result in a material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the testing of goodwill for impairment. This new guidance permits an entity to 
first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 
amount, as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. This accounting standards update is 
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. This new guidance will be effective for us 
as of January 29, 2012. We anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the disclosure requirements regarding the offsetting of assets and liabilities 
related to financial and derivative instruments. This new guidance requires an entity to disclose quantitative information in a tabular format to 
allow users of their financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect on the entity’s financial position of netting arrangements. This 
new guidance will be effective for us as of February 3, 2013. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our financial statement 
presentation of our derivative and financial instruments.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
The Gymboree Corporation:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Gymboree Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 
January 28, 2012 (Successor) and January 29, 2011 (Successor), and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income 
(loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor), the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 
2011 (Successor), the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and the year ended January 30, 2010 (Predecessor). 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Gymboree 
Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 28, 2012 (Successor) and January 29, 2011 (Successor), and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for the year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor), the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 (Successor), the period 
from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and the year ended January 30, 2010 (Predecessor), in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of presenting comprehensive income 
for the year ended January 28, 2012, due to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Update No. 2011-05, 
Presentation of Comprehensive Income . The change in presentation has been applied retrospectively to all periods presented.  

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
San Francisco, California  
April 26, 2012  
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Successor   

ASSETS         January 28,                 January 29,         

    2012     2011   

Current Assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 77,910         $ 32,124      
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $114 and $-      27,277          13,669      
Merchandise inventories      210,212          184,268      
Prepaid income taxes      3,736          16,116      
Prepaid expenses      5,532          4,856      
Deferred income taxes      36,115          6,697      

        
  

        
  

Total current assets      360,782          257,730      
        

  
        

  

Property and Equipment:      

Land and buildings      22,428          22,397      
Leasehold improvements      146,497          125,153      
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment      82,606          71,286      

        
  

        
  

    251,531          218,836      
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization      (49,379)         (6,345)     

        
  

        
  

    202,152          212,491      
Goodwill      899,097          927,397      
Other Intangible Assets      599,195          617,810      
Deferred Financing Costs      47,915          61,983      
Other Assets      4,646          15,072      

        
  

        
  

Total Assets     $ 2,113,787         $ 2,092,483      
        

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’  EQUITY     

Current Liabilities:      

Accounts payable      $ 79,027         $ 54,494      
Accrued liabilities      94,178          81,100      
Current portion of long-term debt      17,698          8,200      

        
  

        
  

Total current liabilities      190,903          143,794      
Long-Term Liabilities:      

Long-term debt      1,192,171          1,207,791      
Lease incentives and other deferred liabilities      28,681          18,352      
Unrecognized tax benefits      7,898          7,779      
Deferred income taxes      245,495          228,956      

        
  

        
  

Total Liabilities      1,665,148          1,606,672      
        

  
        

  

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 3)      -              -          
Stockholders’  Equity:      

Common stock, including additional paid-in capital  
($.001 par value: 1,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding)      519,589          508,617      

Accumulated deficit      (68,389)         (23,044)     
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income      (5,825)         238      

        
  

        
  

Total Stockholders’  Equity      445,375          485,811      
Noncontrolling interest      3,264          -          

        
  

        
  

Total Equity      448,639          485,811      
        

  
        

  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity     $ 2,113,787         $ 2,092,483      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(In thousands)  
   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Successor      Predecessor   
     Year Ended                   Year Ended   
             January 28,                November 23, 2010 to     January 31, 2010 to        January 30,     
     2012        January 29, 2011     November 22, 2010      2010   
Net sales:               

Retail      $ 1,164,171          $ 244,287         $ 814,863         $ 1,001,527      
Gymboree Play & Music       13,885           2,814          10,847           13,384      
Retail Franchise       10,232           447          925           -          
Other       -               -              248           -          

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Total net sales       1,188,288           247,548          826,883           1,014,911      
Cost of goods sold, including buying and occupancy expenses       (728,346)          (184,483)         (431,675)          (535,005)     

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Gross profit       459,942           63,065          395,208           479,906      
Selling, general and administrative expenses       (380,141)          (78,843)         (307,361)          (316,268)     
Goodwill impairment       (28,300)          -              -               -          

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Operating income (loss)       51,501           (15,778)         87,847           163,638      
Interest income       168           36           295           728      
Interest expense       (89,807)          (17,387)         (248)          (243)     
Loss on extinguishment of debt       (19,563)          -              -               -          
Other (expense) income, net       (109)          53          119           610      

         
  

                   
  

         
  

(Loss) income before income taxes       (57,810)          (33,076)         88,013           164,733      
Income tax benefit (expense)       6,626           10,032          (36,449)          (62,814)     

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Net (loss) income       (51,184)          (23,044)         51,564           101,919      
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest       5,839           -              -               -          

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Net (loss) income attributable to The Gymboree Corporation       $ (45,345)         $ (23,044)        $ 51,564          $ 101,919      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)  

(In thousands)  
   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Successor      Predecessor   
           Year Ended                         Year Ended   
           January 28,        November 23, 2010 to         January 31, 2010 to            January 30,   
           2012        January 29, 2011         November 22, 2010            2010   

  
Net (loss) income       $ (51,184)          $ (23,044)         $ 51,564           $ 101,919      

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:               

Foreign currency translation adjustments       308           446          (897)          1,740      
Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $3,915, $-, 

$(83) and $54       (6,371)          (208)         (297)          25      
         

  
                   

  
         

  

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax       (6,063)          238           (1,194)          1,765      
         

  
                   

  
         

  

Comprehensive (loss) income       (57,247)          (22,806)         50,370           103,684      
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest       5,839           -              -               -          

         
  

                   
  

         
  

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to The Gymboree Corporation       $ (51,408)          $ (22,806)         $ 50,370           $ 103,684      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Successor      Predecessor    

    

        Year Ended         
         January 28,         

 
        2012              

    November 23, 2010 to     
    January 29,  2011          

  January 31, 2010 to   
  November 22, 2010         

Year Ended 
January 30,  

2010    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                       
Net (loss) income    $      (51,184)       $      (23,044)       $      51,564         $      101,919      
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:                       

Write-off of deferred financing costs and original issue discount         15,860             -                 -                  -          
Depreciation and amortization         57,930             10,250             32,550              37,302      
Goodwill impairment         28,300             -                 -                  -          
Amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of original issue discount         6,830             1,357             -                  -          
Interest rate cap contracts - adjustment to market         51             -                 -                  -          
(Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes         (8,946)            (11,246)            4,128              2,727      
Share-based compensation expense         5,907             482             41,042              18,462      
Loss on disposal/impairment of assets         4,339             1,150             880              1,336      
Other non-cash expense         4,608             -                 -                  -          
Excess tax benefits from exercise and vesting of share-based awards         -                 -                 (12,584)             (3,750)     
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock awards and 

units         -                 -                 12,254              2,629      
Change in assets and liabilities:                       

Accounts receivable         (11,209)            7,035             (10,791)             8,831      
Merchandise inventories         (25,646)            48,607             (55,512)             (6,046)     
Prepaid income taxes         12,385             (345)            (27,312)             6,659      
Prepaid expenses and other assets         (743)            1,295             (1,346)             (3,865)     
Accounts payable         24,533             (11,782)            19,749              1,854      
Accrued liabilities         14,515             (4,820)            32,959              4,843      
Lease incentives and other deferred liabilities         14,015             2,141             3,370              3,694      

           
  

           
  

           
  

            
  

Net cash provided by operating activities         91,545             21,080             90,951              176,595      
           

  
           

  
           

  
            

  

   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                       
Capital expenditures         (36,565)            (5,054)            (42,214)             (39,579)     
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired         (1,352)            (1,828,308)            -                  -          
Other         (295)            (46)            (1,238)             -          

           
  

           
  

           
  

            
  

Net cash used in investing activities         (38,212)            (1,833,408)            (43,452)             (39,579)     
           

  
           

  
           

  
            

  

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                       
Proceeds from Term Loan         820,000             815,900             -                  -          
Payments on Term Loan         (828,200)            -                 -                  -          
Proceeds from senior notes         -                 400,000             -                  -          
Proceeds from ABL facility         60,656             30,000             -                  -          
Payments on ABL facility         (60,656)            (30,000)            -                  -          
Deferred financing costs         (6,665)            (63,266)            -                  -          
Investment by Parent         14,865             -                 -                  -          
Dividend payment to Parent         (12,200)            -                 -                  -          
Purchase of interest rate cap contracts         -                 (12,079)            -                  -          
Proceeds from issuance of common stock         -                 508,135             1,371              6,055      
Excess tax benefits from exercise and vesting of share-based awards         -                 -                 12,584              3,750      
Repurchases of common stock         -                 -                 (124,610)             (31,340)     
Capital contribution to noncontrolling interest         4,477             -                 -                  -          

           
  

           
  

           
  

            
  

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities         (7,723)            1,648,690             (110,655)             (21,535)     
           

  
           

  
           

  
            

  

   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents         45,610             (163,638)            (63,156)             115,481      
   

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash         176             852             394              1,719      
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:                       
Beginning of Period         32,124             194,910             257,672              140,472      

           
  

           
  

           
  

            
  

End of Period    $      77,910        $      32,124        $      194,910         $      257,672      
           

  

           

  

           

  

            

  

   

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                       
Capital expenditures incurred, but not yet paid    $      3,438        $      3,737        $      5,817         $      3,047      
Non-cash capital contribution to noncontrolling interest    $      4,626        $      -            $      -             $      -          
Capital contribution receivable from affiliate of Parent, but not yet paid    $      2,400        $      -            $      -             $      -          
Acquisition costs incurred, but not yet paid    $      -            $      1,352        $      -             $      -          
Deferred financing costs incurred, but not yet paid    $      -            $      -            $      1,306         $      -          
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION:                       
Cash paid (refunds received) during the year for income taxes, net    $      (10,785)       $      966        $      46,888         $      53,747      
Cash paid during the year for interest    $      82,021        $      3,818        $      77         $      64      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(dollars in thousands)  
   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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                    Additional               
Accumulated  

Other     Total                       
    Common Stock     Paid In     Retained     Comprehensive     Stockholders’     Noncontrolling             
        Shares           Amount           Capital           Earnings (Deficit)       Income / (Loss)     Equity      Interest      Total Equity   
PREDECESSOR:                                
BALANCE AT JANUARY 31, 2009      29,077,446        $     29        $     175,490        $     160,178        $     (1,422)       $     334,275        $     -            $     334,275      
Issuance of common stock under equity 

incentive plan      918,836            1            6,054                    6,055                6,055      
Share-based compensation              18,462                    18,462                18,462      
Stock repurchases      (627,156)           (1)           (3,785)           (22,566)               (26,352)               (26,352)     
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and 

vesting of restricted stock awards and units             2,629                    2,629                2,629      
Translation adjustments and unrealized net 

gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax of 
$54                      1,765            1,765                1,765      

Net income                  101,919                101,919                101,919      
        

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  

BALANCE AT JANUARY 30, 2010      29,369,126            29            198,850            239,531            343            438,753            -                438,753      
Issuance of common stock under equity 

incentive plan      619,280            1            1,371                    1,372                1,372      
Share-based compensation              41,042                    41,042                41,042      
Stock repurchases      (2,613,375)           (3)           (17,512)           (96,132)               (113,647)               (113,647)     
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and 

vesting of restricted stock awards and units             12,254                    12,254                12,254      
Translation adjustments and unrealized net 

loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax of 
$(83)                      (1,194)           (1,194)               (1,194)     

Net income                  51,564                51,564                51,564      
        

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  

BALANCE AT NOVEMBER 22, 2010      27,375,031        $     27        $     236,005        $     194,963        $     (851)           430,144        $     -            $     430,144      
        

  

          

  

          

  

          

  

          

  

          

  

          

  

          

  

   
  

SUCCESSOR:                                
BALANCE AT NOVEMBER 23, 2010      -            $     -            $     -            $     -            $     -            $     -            $     -            $     -          
Issuance of common stock      1,000                508,000                    508,000                508,000      
Investment by Parent              135                    135                135      
Share-based compensation              482                    482                482      
Translation adjustments and unrealized net 

gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $-                      238            238                238      
Net loss                  (23,044)               (23,044)               (23,044)     

        
  

          
  

          
  

          
  

          
  

          
  

          
  

          
  

BALANCE AT JANUARY 29, 2011      1,000            -                508,617            (23,044)           238            485,811            -                485,811      
Share-based compensation              5,907                    5,907                5,907      
Investment by Parent              14,865                    14,865                14,865      
Capital contribution to noncontrolling interest              -                        -                9,103            9,103      
Investment by affiliate of Parent              2,400                    2,400                2,400      
Dividend payment to Parent              (12,200)                   (12,200)               (12,200)     
Translation adjustments and unrealized net 

loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax of 
$3,915                      (6,063)           (6,063)               (6,063)     

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest                          -                (5,839)           (5,839)     
Net loss attributable to The Gymboree 

Corporation                  (45,345)               (45,345)               (45,345)     
        

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  
          

  

BALANCE AT JANUARY 28, 2012      1,000        $     -            $     519,589        $     (68,389)       $     (5,825)       $     445,375        $     3,264        $     448,639      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Nature of the Business  
The Gymboree Corporation (the “Company,” “we” or “us”) is a specialty retailer, offering collections of high-quality apparel and 

accessories for children. As of January 28, 2012, we operated a total of 1,149 retail stores (785 Gymboree stores (including 153 Gymboree 
Outlet stores), 127 Janie and Jack shops and 237 Crazy 8 stores) and online stores at www.gymboree.com , www.janieandjack.com and 
www.crazy8.com . We also offered directed parent-child developmental play programs under the Gymboree Play & Music® brand at 703 
franchised and Company-operated centers in the United States and 36 other countries. In addition, as of January 28, 2012, third-party overseas 
partners operated 24 Gymboree® retail stores in the Middle East and South Korea and the Joint Venture (as defined under “Basis of 
Presentation” below) operated 1 Gymboree retail store in China.  

Basis of Presentation  
On October 11, 2010, The Gymboree Corporation, a Delaware corporation, entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger 

Agreement”) with Giraffe Holding, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), and Giraffe Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Acquisition Sub”), pursuant to which Acquisition Sub merged with and into the Company in accordance 
with the “short-form” merger provisions available under Delaware law on November 23, 2010 (the “Transaction Date”). The Company is 
continuing as the surviving corporation and a 100%-owned indirect subsidiary of the Parent (the “Merger” or “Transaction”). At the Transaction 
Date, investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital Partners, LLC (“Bain Capital”) indirectly owned a controlling interest in Parent.  

The following principal equity capitalization and financing transactions occurred in connection with the Transaction:  
   

The proceeds from the equity capitalization and financing transactions, together with approximately $164.9 million of our cash, were 
used to fund the:  
   

In December 2011, pursuant to a contribution, exchange and subscription agreement, the shareholders of Parent contributed in the 
aggregate 104,600,007 shares of Class A Common Stock and 11,622,223 shares of Class L Common Stock of Parent, representing all of Parent’s 
outstanding Common Stock, and approximately $12.2 million in cash to Gymboree Holding, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company, in 
exchange for 104,600,007 Class A Common Shares, 11,622,223 Class L Common Shares and 1,220,003 Class C Common Shares of Gymboree 
Holding, Ltd., representing all of the outstanding Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, Ltd. (the “Asia Transaction”). Following the 
consummation of the Asia Transaction, Gymboree Holding, Ltd. became indirectly a 60% owner of Gymboree (China) Commercial and Trading 
Co. Ltd. (“Gymboree China”), and Gymboree (Tianjin) Educational Information Consultation Co. Ltd (“Gymboree Tianjin”) (collectively, the 
“Joint Venture”). While we do not control these two entities, they have been determined to be variable interest entities (“VIEs”), as discussed 
further below in Note 21, and have been consolidated by the Company. Investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital own a controlling interest in 
Gymboree Holding, Ltd., which indirectly controls Parent.  
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—   Immediately prior to the closing of the Transaction, Acquisition Sub exercised the Top-Up Option in the Merger Agreement and 
irrevocably elected to purchase from the Predecessor Company a total of 30,713,523 Top-Up Option shares at an aggregate price 
of approximately $2 billion. Acquisition Sub executed a promissory note as payment for the Top-Up Option shares. The Top-Up 
Option shares and the promissory note were cancelled upon the closing of the Transaction;  

  —   Aggregate cash equity contributions of approximately $508 million were made by Parent; and  

  

—   The Successor Company (1) entered into a new $225 million asset based revolving credit facility (“ABL”), of which $30 million 
was drawn at closing, (2) entered into a new $820 million secured term loan agreement (“Term Loan”), of which all but the 
original issue discount of $4.1 million was drawn at closing, and (3) issued $400 million face amount 9.125% senior notes 
(“Notes”) due 2018. These financing transactions are described in more detail in Notes 6 and 7.  

  
—   Purchase of Predecessor Company common stock outstanding of approximately $1.8 billion (the former holders of the Company’s 

common stock, par value $.001 per share, received $65.40 per share);  
  

—   Settlement of all unvested stock options and restricted stock units of the Predecessor Company of approximately $39.3 million; 
and  

  
—   Fees and expenses related to the Transaction and the related financing transactions of approximately $17.9 million in the period 

from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and $71.2 million in the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011.  
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To fund the Asia Transaction and the indirect investment in the Joint Venture, on November 3, 2011, (i) the Company declared and 
distributed an aggregate amount of $12.2 million in cash to its sole shareholder, Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., a Delaware corporation and 
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Giraffe B”), (ii) Giraffe B declared and distributed an aggregate amount of $12.2 million in cash 
to its sole shareholder, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., a Delaware corporation and indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Giraffe A”) and 
(iii) Giraffe A declared and distributed an aggregate amount of $12.2 million in cash to its sole shareholder, Parent, Parent then declared a 
dividend in the aggregate amount of $12.2 million to the holders of the Common Stock of Parent (the “Dividend”). The Dividend was then 
contributed to Gymboree Holding, Ltd. to fund the investment in the Joint Venture in return for Class C Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, 
Ltd.  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements, which include The Gymboree Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries and 
VIEs (Gymboree China and Gymboree Tianjin) have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. The accompanying consolidated statements of operations, statements of comprehensive income (loss), statements of cash flows, 
and statements of stockholders’ equity, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements are presented for the Predecessor and Successor 
periods, which relate to the periods preceding the Transaction Date (periods prior to November 23, 2010) and the periods succeeding the 
Transaction Date (periods subsequent to November 23, 2010), respectively.  

Principles of Consolidation  
We consolidate entities in which we retain a controlling financial interest or entities that meet the definition of a VIE for which we are 

deemed to be the primary beneficiary. In performing our analysis of whether we are the primary beneficiary, at initial investment and at each 
quarterly reporting period, we consider whether we individually have the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly affect 
the entity’s performance and also have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be 
significant to the VIE. We also consider whether we are a member of a related party group that collectively meets the power and benefits criteria 
and, if so, whether we are most closely associated with the VIE. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation.  

Reclassifications  
Retail Franchise net sales, previously reported in Other net sales in the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period 

from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and in fiscal 2009, have been separately disclosed to conform to the current year presentation.  

Correction of Merger Purchase Price Allocation  
In the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of January 29, 2011, we made adjustments to goodwill and to certain of our other 

intangible assets and deferred tax liabilities as a result of correcting the final purchase price allocation related to the Merger. Amounts previously 
reported as of January 29, 2011 have been restated to reflect these adjustments, as summarized in the following table (in thousands):  
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    As of January 29, 2011   

    

          Balance as       
      

Previously  
Reported     

          Adjustments       
       

          Corrected        
   

Balance   

Goodwill     $ 934,639         $ (7,242)        $ 927,397      
        

  

        

  

        

  

Trade names     $ 560,127         $ 6,900         $ 567,027      
Franchise agreements      1,875          4,700          6,575      
Customer relationships, below market leases, and co-branded credit 

card agreement      44,208          -              44,208      
        

  
        

  
        

  

Other Intangible Assets     $ 606,210         $ 11,600         $ 617,810      
        

  

        

  

        

  

Total Assets     $ 2,088,125         $ 4,358         $ 2,092,483      
        

  

        

  

        

  

Long-term deferred income tax liability     $ (224,598)        $ (4,358)        $ (228,956)     
        

  

        

  

        

  

Total Liabilities     $ (1,602,314)        $ (4,358)        $ (1,606,672)     
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Additionally, the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 includes a $0.9 million charge for the additional prior period amortization related to the 
increased book value of amortizable intangible assets resulting from the aforementioned adjustments. Due to immateriality, this charge was 
recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, rather than in the applicable prior periods.  

Correction of Other Classifications  
In the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of January 29, 2011, we reclassified approximately $4.4 million of leasehold 

improvement costs previously reported within “land and buildings” to be reported within “leasehold improvements” to properly classify such 
costs. Our net property and equipment balance as of January 29, 2011 did not change from such reclassifications.  

In addition, in the detail of the components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of January 29, 2011 in Note 9, we 
reclassified approximately $10.1 million previously reported as the reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets, to be reported 
as a deferred tax asset related to state income taxes, in order to correct such classification. This reclassification did not change the total net 
deferred tax liability previously reported as of January 29, 2011.  

Fiscal Year  
Our year end is on the Saturday closest to January 31. The Predecessor and Successor periods presented relate to the period preceding 

the Transaction Date (fiscal 2009 and January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010) and the periods succeeding the Transaction Date (November 23, 
2010 to January 29, 2011 and fiscal 2011, which included 52 weeks and ended on January 28, 2012), respectively. Fiscal 2009, which included 
52 weeks, ended on January 30, 2010.  

Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.  

Cost of Goods Sold  
Cost of goods sold (“COGS”) includes cost of goods, buying expenses, occupancy expenses and shipping costs. Cost of goods consists 

of cost of merchandise, inbound freight and other inventory-related costs, such as shrink and lower of cost or market adjustments. Buying 
expenses include costs incurred to design, produce and allocate merchandise. Occupancy expenses consist of rent and other occupancy costs, 
including common area maintenance and utilities. Shipping costs consist of third-party delivery services to customers.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses consist of non-occupancy-related costs associated with our retail stores, 

distribution center and shared corporate services. These costs include payroll and benefits, depreciation and amortization, credit card fees, 
advertising and other general expenses. SG&A also includes fees and expenses related to the Transaction.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  
Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investment instruments with a maturity of three months or less at date of purchase. Our cash 

equivalents are placed primarily in money market funds. We value these investments at their original purchase prices plus interest that has 
accrued at the stated rate. Income related to these securities is recorded in interest income in the consolidated statements of operations.  
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Accounts Receivable  
Accounts receivable primarily include amounts due from major credit card companies, amounts due from affiliated entities, amounts 

due from Gymboree Play & Music franchisees for royalties and consumer product sales, and amounts due from landlord construction 
allowances. Construction allowance receivable due dates vary. Royalties are due within 30 days of each calendar quarter end and receivables 
from consumer product sales are generally due upon shipment. Amounts due from major credit card companies are generally collected within 
five days. We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts by considering a number of factors, including the length of time accounts receivable 
are past due and our previous loss history. The provision for doubtful accounts receivable is included in SG&A expenses. A summary of activity 
in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows (in thousands):  
   

Concentrations  
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents. At 

times, cash balances held at financial institutions are in excess of federally insured limits.  

In fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and 
fiscal 2009, one company acting as our buying agent managed approximately 80%, 90%, 80% and 90%, respectively, of our inventory 
purchases, which may potentially subject us to risks of concentration related to sourcing of our inventory.  

Fair Value Measurements  
The accounting guidance for fair value measurements and disclosure defines and establishes a framework for measuring fair value and 

expands related disclosures (see Note 18).  

Merchandise Inventories  
Merchandise inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or market (“LCM”), determined on a weighted-average basis. We review our 

inventory levels to identify slow-moving merchandise and broken assortments (items no longer in stock in a sufficient range of sizes) and record 
an adjustment when the future estimated selling price is less than cost. We take a physical count of inventories in all stores once a year and in 
some stores twice a year, and perform cycle counts throughout the year in our distribution center. We record an inventory shrink adjustment 
based upon physical counts and also provide for estimated shrink adjustments for the period between the last physical inventory count and each 
balance sheet date. Our inventory shrink estimate can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shrink trends. Our LCM 
estimate can be affected by changes in consumer demand and the promotional environment.  

Property and Equipment  
Property and equipment acquired in the Transaction are stated at estimated fair value as of the Transaction Date, less accumulated 

depreciation and amortization recorded subsequent to the Transaction. Property and equipment acquired subsequent to the Transaction Date are 
recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 
approximately 3 to 25 years, except for our distribution center in Dixon, California, which has a useful life of 39 years. Leasehold improvements, 
which include an allocation of directly-related internal payroll costs for employees dedicated to real estate construction projects, are amortized 
over the lesser of the applicable lease term, which ranges from 5 to 13 years, or the estimated useful life of the improvements. Software costs are 
amortized using the straight-line method based on an estimated useful life of three to seven years. Construction in progress was $2.7 million and 
$3.7 million as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011, respectively. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.  

Deferred Financing Costs  
As a result of the Transaction, we recorded approximately $63.3 million of deferred financing costs related to the financing transactions 

described in Notes 6 and 7. In February 2011, we refinanced the Term Loan through an amendment and restatement of our existing credit 
agreement and, as a result of the refinancing, approximately $14.1 million of deferred financing costs were written off. Deferred financing costs 
allocated to the Term Loan and Notes are amortized over the term of the related financing agreements using the effective interest method. 
Deferred financing costs allocated to the asset-based revolving credit facility are amortized on a straight-line basis. The weighted-average 
remaining amortization period is approximately 6.33 years. Amortization of deferred financing costs is recorded in interest expense and was 
approximately $6.5 million for fiscal 2011 and $1.4 million during the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011.  
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           Successor     
  
         Predecessor  

                    Fiscal 2011                
November 23, 2010  

  to January 29, 2011      
  
         

January 31, 2010  
  to November 22, 2010                Fiscal 2009 

Balance at beginning of period         $   -            $   -                 $   434       $   388  
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable         180       287             (7)       110  
Accounts written off         (66)       (287)            -           (64)  
                                          

Balance at end of period         $   114       $   -                 $   427       $   434  
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Amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years is estimated below (in thousands):  
   

Goodwill Impairment.  
As of January 28, 2012, we had goodwill of $899 million related to the Merger. Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost 

over the estimated fair value of assets acquired, less liabilities assumed. At the date of the Merger, we allocated goodwill to our reporting units, 
which we concluded were the same as our operating segments (see Note 13): Gymboree (including an online store), Gymboree Outlet, Janie and 
Jack (including an online store), Crazy 8 (including an online store), Gymboree Play & Music and Retail Franchise. We allocated goodwill to the 
reporting units by calculating the fair value of each reporting unit and deriving the implied fair value of each reporting unit’s goodwill on the 
date of the Merger.  

Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested annually for impairment in the fourth quarter. We update our impairment tests between annual 
tests if events or circumstances occur that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below our carrying amount. A 
significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of impairment has occurred. Such indicators may include, among 
others: a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate; and 
unanticipated competition. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill and could have 
a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. The impairment test compares the carrying value of the assets and liabilities 
associated with a reporting unit, including goodwill, with the fair value of the reporting unit.  

If the carrying value of the assets and liabilities exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, we calculate the implied fair value of the 
reporting unit goodwill as compared with the carrying value of the reporting unit goodwill to determine the appropriate impairment charge. 
Calculating the fair value of a reporting unit and the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill requires significant judgment. The use of 
different assumptions, estimates or judgments in either step of the goodwill impairment testing process, such as the estimated future cash flows 
of reporting units, the discount rate used to discount such cash flows, or the estimated fair value of the reporting units’ tangible and intangible 
assets and liabilities, could significantly increase or decrease the estimated fair value of a reporting unit or its net assets. In the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2011, we recorded an impairment charge of $28.3 million related to goodwill that was allocated to our Gymboree Outlet reporting unit (see 
Note 5).  

Intangible Assets and Liabilities.  
Intangible assets primarily represent trade names for each of our brands, contractual customer relationships, and below market leases. 

We also capitalize the legal costs incurred in registering and renewing trademarks and service marks. Intangible liabilities represent above 
market leases and are included in deferred liabilities. Trade names have been assigned an indefinite life and are reviewed for impairment 
annually in the fourth quarter. We update our impairment tests between annual tests if events or circumstances occur that would more likely than 
not reduce the fair value of our trade names below their carrying amount. A significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an 
indicator of impairment has occurred. Such indicators may include, among others: a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a 
significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate; and unanticipated competition. Any adverse change in these factors could 
have a significant impact on the recoverability of these intangible assets and could have a material impact on our consolidated financial 
statements. The impairment test compares the fair value of trade names with their carrying amounts. Calculating the fair value of trade names 
requires significant judgment. The use of different assumptions, estimates or judgments in the intangible asset impairment testing process, such 
as the estimated future cash flows of assets, the royalty rate and the discount and terminal growth rates used to discount such cash flows, could 
significantly increase or decrease the estimated fair value of an asset, and therefore, impact the related impairment charge. All other intangible 
assets and liabilities are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite lives are evaluated for 
impairment using a process similar to that used to evaluate store assets.  
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Fiscal                        

2012        $              6,901      
2013       7,267      
2014       7,666      
2015       7,799      
2016       6,980      

         
  

Total        $            36,613      
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Store Asset Impairment  
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset 

may not be recoverable. If the undiscounted future cash flows from the asset group are less than the carrying value, a loss is recognized equal to 
the difference between the carrying value of the asset group and its fair value. The fair value of the asset group is estimated based on discounted 
future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with the risk. The asset group is determined at the store level, which is the lowest level for 
which identifiable cash flows are available. Decisions to close a store or facility can also result in accelerated depreciation over the revised useful 
life. For locations to be closed that are under long-term leases, we record a charge for lease buyout expense or the difference between our rent 
and the rate at which we expect to be able to sublease the properties and related costs, as appropriate. Most closures occur upon the lease 
expiration. The estimate of future cash flows is based on historical experience and typically third-party advice or market data. These estimates 
can be affected by factors such as future store profitability, real estate demand and economic conditions that can be difficult to predict.  

Income Taxes  
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial 

statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. We maintain valuation allowances when it is more likely than not that all or 
a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances from period to period are included in the tax provision in 
the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, we take into account such factors as prior earnings history, 
expected future earnings, carryback and carryforward periods, and tax planning strategies that could potentially enhance the likelihood of 
realization of a deferred tax asset. We are subject to periodic audits by the Internal Revenue Service and other taxing authorities. These audits 
may challenge certain of our tax positions such as the timing and amount of deductions and allocation of taxable income to the various tax 
jurisdictions. Determining income tax expense for tax contingencies requires management to make assumptions that are subject to factors such 
as proposed assessments by tax authorities, changes in facts and circumstances, issuance of new regulations, and resolution of tax audits. Actual 
results could materially differ from these estimates and could significantly affect the effective tax rate and cash flows in future years.  

Rent Expense  
Many of our operating leases contain free rent periods and predetermined fixed increases of the minimum rental rate during the initial 

lease term. For these leases, we recognize the related rental expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, starting at the time we take 
physical possession of the property. Certain leases provide for contingent rents that are not measurable at inception. These amounts are excluded 
from minimum rent and are included in the determination of rent expense when it is probable that an expense has been incurred and the amount 
is reasonably estimable.  

Construction Allowance  
As part of many lease agreements, we may receive construction allowances from landlords. The construction allowances are included in 

lease incentives and other deferred liabilities and are amortized as a reduction of rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, 
starting at the time we take physical possession of the property. Construction allowances of $7.8 million, $1.0 million, $8.8 million and $8.7 
million were granted during fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to 
November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively.  

Workers’  Compensation Liabilities  
We are partially self-insured for workers’ compensation insurance. We record a liability based on claims filed and an actuarially 

determined amount of claims incurred, but not yet reported. This liability approximated $4.2 million and $3.0 million as of January 28, 2012 and 
January 29, 2011, respectively. Any actuarial projection of losses is subject to a high degree of variability due to external factors, including 
future inflation rates, litigation trends, legal interpretations, benefit level changes and claim settlement patterns. If the actual amount of claims 
filed exceeds our estimates, reserves recorded may not be sufficient and additional accruals may be required in future periods.  

Foreign Currency Translation  
Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rates effective on the balance sheet 

date. Revenues, costs of sales, expenses and other income are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Translation 
adjustments resulting from this process are recorded as other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity.  

Store Pre-opening Costs  
Store pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.  
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Advertising  
We capitalize direct costs for the development, production, and circulation of direct response advertising and amortize such costs over 

the expected sales realization cycle, typically four to six weeks. Deferred direct response costs, included in prepaid expenses, were $0.7 million 
as of January 28, 2012 and $0.6 million as of January 29, 2011.  

All other advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense, including costs related to direct mail campaigns, totaled 
approximately $18.6 million, $2.7 million, $14.5 million and $16.7 million for fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 
2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively.  

Revenue Recognition  
Revenue is recognized at the point of sale in retail stores. Online revenue is recorded when we estimate merchandise is delivered to the 

customer. Online customers generally receive merchandise within three to six days of shipment. Shipping fees received from customers are 
included in net sales and the associated shipping costs are included in cost of goods sold. We also sell gift cards in our retail store locations, 
through our online stores and through third parties. Revenue is recognized in the period that the gift card is redeemed. We recognize unredeemed 
gift card and merchandise credit balances when we can determine the portion of the liability for which redemption is remote (generally three 
years after issuance). These amounts are recorded as other income within SG&A expenses and totaled $1.3 million, $0.4 million, $1.2 million 
and $1.5 million in fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 
2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively. From time to time, customers may earn Gymbucks or Rise and Shine coupons and redeem them for 
merchandise at a discount during the redemption period. A liability is recorded for coupons earned, but not redeemed, within an accounting 
period. Sales are presented net of sales return reserve, which is estimated based on historical return trends. Net retail sales also include revenue 
from our co-branded credit card (see Note 14). We present taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities on a net 
basis (excluded from revenues).  

A summary of activities in the sales return reserve is as follows (in thousands):  

For the Gymboree Play & Music operations, initial franchise and transfer fees for all sites sold in a territory are recognized as revenue 
when the franchisee has paid the initial franchise or transfer fee, in the form of cash and/or a note payable, the franchisee has fully executed a 
franchise agreement and we have substantially completed our obligations under such agreement. We receive royalties based on each franchisee’s 
gross receipts from operations. Such royalty fees are recorded when earned. We also recognize revenues from consumer products and equipment 
sold to franchisees at the time title transfers to the franchisees.  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2011, we terminated our agreement with a Gymboree Play & Music master franchisee in China and 
assumed the role of master franchisor upon this termination (see Note 20). We subsequently entered into a Master Service Agreement with 
Gymboree Tianjin (see Note 12) to service all of the unit franchises in China and to provide us certain services in connection with such unit 
franchises. Gymboree Tianjin has been determined to be a VIE, and the results have been consolidated into our financial statements for the year 
ended January 28, 2012 (see Note 21).  

For our retail franchise business launched in August 2010, revenues may consist of initial franchise fees, royalties and/or sales of 
authorized product. Initial franchise fees relating to area franchise sales are recognized as revenue when the franchisee has met all material 
services and conditions and we have substantially completed our obligations under such agreement, typically upon store opening. Royalties are 
based on each franchisee’s gross receipts from operations and are recorded when earned. Revenues from consumer products sold to franchisees 
are recorded at the time title transfers to the franchisees, subject to an annual minimum purchase commitment.  

We present taxes withheld by international franchises and remitted to governmental authorities on a gross basis (included in revenues), 
except for taxes withheld by the Joint Venture, which are reported on a net basis (excluded from revenues).  
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           Successor     
  
         Predecessor  

                    Fiscal 2011                
November 23, 2010  

  to January 29, 2011       
  
         

January 31, 2010  
  to November 22, 2010                Fiscal 2009  

Balance at beginning of period         $   2,224       $   4,763             $   2,608        $   3,202   
Provision for sales returns         30,804       6,015             25,867        29,712   
Actual sales returns         (30,665)       (8,554)            (23,712)       (30,306)  
                                          

Balance at end of period         $   2,363       $   2,224             $   4,763        $   2,608   
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In December 2011, we entered into an exclusive franchise agreement with Gymboree China to operate branded retail stores in the China 
market (see Note 12). This entity has been determined to be a VIE, and the results have been consolidated into our financial statements for the 
year ended January 28, 2012 (see Note 21).  

Loyalty Program  
Customers who enroll in the Gymboree Rewards program earn points with every purchase at Gymboree and Gymboree Outlet stores. 

Those customers who reach a cumulative purchase threshold receive a coupon that can be used towards the future purchase of goods at 
Gymboree and Gymboree Outlet stores. We estimate the cost of rewards that will ultimately be redeemed and record this cost in net retail sales 
as reward points are accumulated. This liability was approximately $1.8 million and $1.1 million at January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011, 
respectively.  

Comprehensive Income (Loss)  
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss), foreign currency translation adjustments and fluctuations in the fair market 

value of certain derivative financial instruments and is shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).  

Derivative Instruments  
We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the 

intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and 
whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge 
of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. All of our 
derivatives are cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting for cash flow hedges generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss 
recognition on the hedging instrument with the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions (see Note 17).  

Share-Based Compensation  
We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis for options and awards with time-based service conditions and on an 

accelerated basis for awards with performance conditions (see Note 10).  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards  
In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance which amends and clarifies existing guidance 

related to fair value measurements and disclosures. This guidance requires new disclosures for (1) transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 and 
reasons for such transfers; and (2) the separate presentation of purchases, sales, issuances and settlement in the Level 3 reconciliation. It also 
clarifies guidance around disaggregation and disclosures of inputs and valuation techniques for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements. We 
adopted this guidance as of January 31, 2010, except for the new disclosures in the Level 3 reconciliation, which were adopted during the first 
quarter of fiscal 2011. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the accounting and disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. The new 
guidance limits the highest-and-best-use measure to nonfinancial assets, permits certain financial assets and liabilities with offsetting positions in 
market or counterparty credit risks to be measured at a net basis, and provides guidance on the applicability of premiums and 
discounts. Additionally, this guidance requires entities to disclose the categorization by level of the fair value hierarchy for items that are not 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position but for which the fair value is required to be disclosed. This new guidance will be 
effective for us as of January 29, 2012. We anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements.  

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the presentation of comprehensive income. This new guidance requires that all non-
owner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but 
consecutive statements. We early adopted this guidance effective for our fiscal year ended January 28, 2012, as permitted under the standard, and 
applied retrospectively to all periods presented as required to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the 
components of other comprehensive income in two separate consecutive statements. The adoption of this guidance did not result in a material 
impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the testing of goodwill for impairment. This new guidance permits an entity to 
first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 
amount, as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. This accounting standards update is 
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. This new guidance will be effective for us 
as of January 29, 2012. We anticipate that the adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
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In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the disclosure requirements regarding the offsetting of assets and liabilities 
related to financial and derivative instruments. This new guidance requires an entity to disclose quantitative information in a tabular format to 
allow users of their financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect on the entity’s financial position of netting arrangements. This 
new guidance will be effective for us as of February 3, 2013. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our financial statement 
presentation of our derivative and financial instruments.  

2.  Acquisition  

As described in Note 1, on November 23, 2010, investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital, consummated the Merger, whereby we 
became a 100%-owned indirect subsidiary of Parent. The Transaction was funded as follows on the Transaction Date (in thousands):  
   

The terms of the Term Loan, ABL and Notes are described in detail in Notes 6 and 7. The funds in the table above were used as follows 
(in thousands):  
   

Equity holders received $65.40 per share of Company common stock owned on November 23, 2010. Option holders received $65.40 
per option held as of November 23, 2010, less the option exercise price. Transaction costs include legal and accounting fees and other external 
costs directly related to the Transaction and to the issuance of debt. Approximately $74.4 million in transaction costs were incurred in the period 
from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, and $17.9 million were incurred in the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010. 
Approximately $63.3 million of these costs were determined to be related to the issuance of debt and were deferred initially, though $14.1 
million of this was subsequently written off when the Term Loan was refinanced in February 2011 (see Note 1).  

Our acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed based upon their estimated fair values as of the Transaction Date. The excess of the purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable 
intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill. Goodwill was preliminarily allocated to our reporting units at the 
Transaction Date. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.  

During the measurement period (which is not to exceed one year from the acquisition date), we are required to retrospectively adjust the 
provisional assets or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, 
would have resulted in the recognition of those assets or liabilities as of that date. We corrected the final purchase price allocation in the fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2011. The related adjustments made to goodwill, other intangible assets and long-term deferred tax liability are summarized in 
Note 1.We have also completed our allocation of goodwill to our reporting units, segments (see Note 13), and guarantor/non-guarantor 
subsidiaries (see Note 21).  
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Term Loan       $          815,900    
ABL          30,000     
Notes          400,000     
Cash equity contributions          508,000     
Cash from Company’s balance sheet                      164,917     

            
  

     $         1,918,817     
            

  

Consideration paid to equity holders     $           1,829,660     

Transaction costs                        89,157     
            

  

   $           1,918,817     
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the Transaction Date 
and includes the effect of the purchase price adjustments explained in Note 1 (in thousands):  
   

Inventory – We determined the fair value of inventory as of the Transaction Date using the cost approach. Under this approach, the fair 
value of an asset is determined by adjusting the asset’s reproduction or replacement cost by losses in value attributable to physical and functional 
depreciation, and economic obsolescence. As a result of its valuation, we recorded an increase in inventory of approximately $56.2 million as of 
November 23, 2010. This adjustment was expensed to COGS over a three month period.  

Property and equipment – We determined the fair value of property and equipment as of the Transaction Date using the cost approach. 
As a result of our valuation, we recorded an increase in property and equipment of approximately $1.9 million and a decrease in land of 
approximately $0.8 million as of November 23, 2010. The increase in property and equipment is amortized over the remaining useful lives of the 
related assets, which approximates 25 years.  

Trade names – We determined the fair value of our trade names to be approximately $567 million as of the Transaction Date using the 
relief from royalty method of the income approach, which is based on the projected cost savings attributable to the ownership of the trade names. 
We assigned indefinite lives to our trade names because these assets are expected to generate cash flows indefinitely.  

Franchise agreements – We determined the fair value of our franchise agreements to be approximately $6.6 million as of the 
Transaction Date using the multi-period excess earnings (“MPEE”) method of the income approach. Under the MPEE method, the value of an 
intangible asset is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows attributable only to the subject intangible asset after 
deducting contributory asset charges. We assigned the Gymboree Play & Music franchise agreements intangible asset a useful life of 14 years 
based on the average life of a franchise relationship and the retail franchise agreement intangible asset a useful life of six years based on the 
estimated economic life of the contract.  

Below and above market leases – The intangible asset and liability recorded were determined as the difference between market rent and 
the contract rent for the remainder of the lease term, discounted back to a net present value. The below market lease asset of approximately $7.0 
million and above market lease liability of approximately $16.6 million are amortized over the remaining term of the related leases.  

Customer relationships – We determined the fair value of our contractual customer relationships to be approximately $36.4 million as of 
the Transaction Date using the MPEE method. We concluded that we have contractual customer relationships with customers that enrolled in the 
Gymboree Rewards program. The customer relationship intangible asset is amortized over 2.3 years, which is estimated to be the average length 
of a customer relationship based on customer attrition data.  

Co-branded credit card agreement – We determined the fair value of our co-branded credit card agreement (see Note 14) to be 
approximately $4.0 million as of the Transaction Date using the MPEE method. This intangible asset is amortized over 6.5 years, which is the 
estimated remaining contract term.  
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Inventory         $                232,839      
Other current assets       222,094      
Property and equipment       218,179      
Goodwill       927,397      
Trade names       567,000      
Franchise agreements       6,600      
Below market leases       7,049      
Customer relationships       36,400      
Co-branded credit card agreement       4,000      
Other long-term assets       4,515      
Gift card and merchandise credit liability       (15,981)     
Current deferred income tax liability       (8,983)     
Other current liabilities       (122,532)     
Above market leases       (16,623)     
Long-term deferred income tax liability       (224,379)     
Other long-term liabilities       (7,915)     

         
  

Total purchase price         $              1,829,660     
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Gift card and merchandise credit liability – We determined the fair value of our gift card and merchandise credit liability as of the 
Transaction Date using the discounted cash flow method of the income approach, whereby expected cash flows are directly assigned to the asset 
and discounted with an appropriate discount rate. As a result of our valuation, we reduced our gift card and merchandise credit liability by 
approximately $1.6 million. This adjustment is amortized over three years, which is the estimated life of a gift card or merchandise credit based 
on historical redemption trends.  

Deferred revenue – As of the Transaction Date, we had deferred revenue of approximately $13.7 million related to our co-branded credit 
card agreement. These amounts were assigned a fair value of zero in purchase accounting because they do not represent a performance 
obligation as of the Transaction Date.  

Deferred rent and lease incentives – As of the Transaction Date, we had deferred rent and lease incentives of approximately $65.2 
million. These amounts were assigned a fair value of zero in purchase accounting because they do not represent a performance obligation as of 
the Transaction Date.  

Deferred income taxes – Because the purchase price allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed differs for financial reporting 
and tax purposes, we have recognized deferred tax assets or liabilities for the deferred tax effects of those temporary differences. As a result, we 
have recognized net deferred tax liabilities of $233.4 million on the Transaction Date.  

The following table reflects supplemental pro-forma net sales and net income as though the Transaction had taken place on February 1, 
2009 (in thousands):  
   

3.  Commitments and Contingencies  

We lease our retail store locations, corporate headquarters, certain warehouse space and certain fixtures and equipment under operating 
leases. The leases expire at various dates through fiscal 2023. Store leases typically have 10-year terms and include a cancellation clause if 
minimum revenue levels are not achieved during a specified 12-month period during the lease term. Some leases are structured with a minimum 
rent component plus a percentage rent based on the store’s net sales in excess of a certain threshold. Substantially all of the leases require us to 
pay insurance, utilities, real estate taxes, and common area repair and maintenance expenses.  

Future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases at January 28, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):  
   

Rent expense for all operating leases totaled $138.3 million, $24.6 million, $99.7 million and $112.8 million in fiscal 2011, the period 
from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively, and 
includes common area maintenance expenses, real estate taxes, utilities, percentage rent expense and other lease required expenses of $46.8 
million, $8.2 million, $35.1 million and $40.4 million in fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from 
January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively. Percentage rent expense was approximately $0.5 million, $0.1 million, 
$0.5 million and $0.5 million in fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to 
November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively. Rent expense for fiscal 2011 and the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 
includes approximately $2.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in income related to amortization of below and above market leases.  
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    Year Ended   

    

     January 29,  
 

2011     

     January 30,  
 

2010   

Supplemental pro-forma net sales     $ 1,069,299        $ 1,008,608     
Supplemental pro-forma net income     $ 32,586        $ 28,622     

Fiscal                  

2012        $              87,006      
2013       80,676      
2014       75,053      
2015       69,224      
2016       64,094      
Later years       140,958      

         
  

Total        $            517,011      
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Contingencies  
Between October 12 and October 18, 2010, three purported class action complaints were filed in the Superior Court of the State of 

California, County of San Francisco, captioned Halliday v. The Gymboree Corporation, et al. , Case No. CGC-10-504544, Himmel v. Gymboree 
Corp., et al. , Case No. CGC-10-504550, and Harris v. The Gymboree Corporation, et al. , Case No. CGC-10-504693. The complaints 
challenged the transaction pursuant to which investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital commenced a tender offer for the outstanding shares of 
the Company, which was followed by a merger of a subsidiary of investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital with and into the Company (as 
described in Notes 1 and 2). The various complaints named as defendants the Company, the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company’s 
former Chief Financial Officer (collectively, the “Individual Defendants”), Bain Capital and the two subsidiaries of the investment funds 
sponsored by Bain Capital that were created to consummate the Merger (collectively, the “Bain Defendants”). The suits alleged generally that 
the Individual Defendants breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the Transaction and that the Company and the Bain Defendants 
aided and abetted those alleged breaches. The complaints sought, among other things, to (i) enjoin the Transaction unless and until the Company 
adopted and implemented a procedure to obtain the highest possible value for stockholders, and (ii) rescinded the Merger Agreement between 
entities controlled by investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital and the Company.  

While the Individual Defendants and the Bain Defendants (collectively, “Defendants”) believed that the complaints were without merit 
and that the Defendants had valid defenses to all claims, in an effort to minimize the burden and expense of further litigation relating to such 
complaints, on November 12, 2010, the Defendants reached an agreement in principle with the plaintiffs in these actions (collectively, the 
“Plaintiffs”) to settle the litigation in its entirety and resolve all allegations by the Plaintiffs against the Defendants in connection with the 
Transaction. The settlement provided for a settlement and release by the purported class of the Company’s stockholders of all claims against the 
Defendants in connection with the Transaction. In exchange for such settlement and release, and after arm’s length discussions between and 
among the Defendants and the Plaintiffs, the Company provided certain additional supplemental disclosures to its Schedule 14D-9, although the 
Company did not make any admission that such additional supplemental disclosures were material or otherwise required. After reaching 
agreement on the substantive terms of the settlement, the Plaintiffs applied to the court for an award of attorneys’ fees and reimbursement of 
expenses up to $0.8 million, which Defendants agreed not to oppose. The settlement, including the award of attorneys’ fees and expenses, was 
approved by the court and an Order for Final Judgment was entered on January 10, 2012. As of January 29, 2011, we had accrued $0.8 million 
that was paid out in January 2012.  

The Company is subject to various other legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Our management does 
not expect that the results of any of these other legal proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, would have a material effect on our 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

4.  Investment by Parent  

On or about January 31, 2011, Parent entered into subscription agreements with certain members of our management team. Under the 
subscription agreements, such members of the management team purchased an aggregate of 1,580,769 Class A Shares and 175,641 Class L 
Shares of Parent. The aggregate cash consideration paid for the shares was $7.9 million (see Note 12). This amount was indirectly contributed to 
us by Parent.  

In February 2011, investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital purchased an aggregate of 419,231 Class A Shares and 46,581 Class L 
Shares of Parent for $2.1 million. In addition, an unrelated party purchased an aggregate of 1,000,000 Class A Shares and 111,111 Class L 
Shares of Parent for $5.0 million. These amounts were indirectly contributed to us by Parent.  

In December 2011, the shareholders of Parent exchanged their shares of Parent for shares of Gymboree Holding, Ltd. (see Note 1).  
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5.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets and Liabilities  

Intangible Assets and Liabilities:  

Intangible assets and liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):  
   

We had intangible assets of approximately $2.4 million prior to the Transaction Date, which were assigned a fair value of zero in 
purchase accounting. We had goodwill of approximately $0.2 million prior to the Transaction Date, which was assigned a fair value of zero in 
purchase accounting.  
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    January 28, 2012   

    

Gross  
      Carrying       

 
Amount     

Accumulated  
  Amortization         Net Amount     

Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization:    

Trade names      $ 567,288            $ 567,288      
        

  
          

  

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization:        

Customer relationships      36,400          (18,699)         17,701      
Below market leases      7,055          (1,637)         5,418      
Co-branded credit card agreement      4,000          (727)         3,273      
Franchise agreements      6,600          (1,085)         5,515      

        
  

        
  

        
  

    54,055          (22,148)         31,907      
        

  
        

  
        

  

Total other intangible assets      $ 621,343          $ (22,148)         $ 599,195      
        

  

        

  

        

  

Intangible Liabilities Subject to Amortization:        

Above market leases (included in Lease Incentives and Other Deferred 
Liabilities)     $ (16,631)         $ 4,114          $ (12,517)     

        

  

        

  

        

  

    January 29, 2011   

    

Gross  
      

 Carrying        
Amount     

Accumulated  
  Amortization         Net Amount     

Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization:    

Trade names (see Note 1)      $ 567,027            $ 567,027      
        

  
          

  

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization:        

Customer relationships      36,400          (2,874)         33,526      
Below market leases      7,049          (255)         6,794      
Co-branded credit card agreement      4,000          (112)         3,888      
Franchise agreements (see Note 1)      6,600          (25)         6,575      

        
  

        
  

        
  

    54,049          (3,266)         50,783      
        

  
        

  
        

  

Total other intangible assets      $ 621,076          $ (3,266)         $ 617,810      
        

  

        

  

        

  

Intangible Liabilities Subject to Amortization:        

Above market leases (included in Lease Incentives and Other Deferred 
Liabilities)     $ (16,623)         $ 642          $ (15,981)     
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The Company assigned the following useful lives to its intangible assets:  
   

During fiscal 2011 and the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, we recorded amortization income of approximately 
$2.1 million and $0.4 million in COGS, respectively, and amortization expense of approximately $17.5 and $3.0 million in SG&A, respectively. 
We estimate that amortization expense (income) related to intangible assets and liabilities will be as follows in each of the next five fiscal years 
(in thousands):  
   

Goodwill:  

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2011 are as follows (in thousands):  
   

As discussed in Note 2, we completed our allocation of goodwill and certain other intangible assets to our reporting units, our segments 
and our guarantor/non-guarantor subsidiaries in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011. The table above shows the final allocation of goodwill to our 
segments. The retail stores segment above includes approximately $39.8 million in goodwill allocated to our Canada and Australia geographical 
segments. As of January 29, 2011, all of our goodwill had been allocated to the retail stores segment in the United States. The segment 
disclosures in Note 13 have been restated to reflect the final allocation of goodwill and certain other intangible assets for all periods presented. 
As of January 29, 2011, all of our goodwill and certain other intangible assets had been allocated to The Gymboree Corporation for the purposes 
of our guarantor/non-guarantor subsidiaries disclosure. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we finalized our allocation of goodwill and certain 
other intangible assets to these subsidiaries, which resulted in $887.6 million and $39.8 million of goodwill being allocated to guarantor and non-
guarantor subsidiaries, respectively and $3.9 million of other intangible assets being allocated to our guarantor subsidiaries. Our guarantor and 
non-guarantor subsidiaries disclosure has been restated to reflect the final allocation of goodwill and certain other intangible assets for all periods 
presented (see Note 22).  

We test goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter, or whenever events occur or circumstances change that would more 
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount, by initially comparing the fair value of each of our six 
reporting units to their related carrying values. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, we perform an additional step 
to determine the implied fair value of goodwill associated with that reporting unit. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by first 
allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities and then computing the excess of the reporting unit’s fair value over 
the amounts assigned to the assets and liabilities. If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, such excess 
represents the amount of goodwill impairment, and, accordingly, we recognize such impairment.  

The goodwill impairment analysis for the Gymboree Outlet reporting unit was based on our projection of revenues, gross margin, 
operating costs and cash flows considering historical and estimated future results, general economic and market  
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    Useful Life   

Location of  
Amortization Expense 

Trade names    Indefinite   - 
Customer relationships    2.3 years   SG&A 
Below market leases    Remaining lease term   COGS 
Co-branded credit card agreement    6.5 years   SG&A 
Retail franchise agreement    6 years   SG&A 
Gymboree Play & Music franchise agreements    14 years   SG&A 
Above market leases    Remaining lease term   COGS 

Fiscal                   

  Below Market   
 

Leases         

Above Market 
 

Leases         

Other  
  Intangibles                 Total            

    

2012    $     1,376        $     (3,253)       $     17,361        $     15,484         
2013        1,162            (2,651)           3,409            1,920         
2014        1,066            (2,071)           1,534            529         
2015        843            (1,612)           1,534            765         
2016        485            (1,460)           1,393            418         

    

      Retail Stores   
 

Segment     
Gymboree Play  

      & Music Segment       

      Retail Franchise   
 

Segment             Total         
Balance as of January 29, 2011 (see Note 1)      $ 887,372          $ 16,389          $ 23,636          $ 927,397      
Impairment - Gymboree Outlet reporting unit      (28,300)         -              -              (28,300)     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Balance as of January 28, 2012      $ 859,072          $ 16,389          $ 23,636          $ 899,097      
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conditions as well as the impact of planned business and operational strategies. We based our fair value estimates on assumptions we believed to 
be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The 
valuations employed present value techniques to measure fair value and considered market factors. We primarily used an income approach to 
value the Gymboree Outlet reporting unit. The discount rate used in the income approach was 11.0%. We also considered a market approach. 
Assumptions used in the market approach include valuation multiples based on actual transactions which have occurred in the marketplace and 
valuation multiples based on publicly traded companies which have similar characteristics to us. Finally, specific weights were applied to the 
components of each approach to estimate the total implied fair value. These weights are estimates by management and are developed based on 
the specific risks and uncertainties of the reporting unit.  

As of the fourth quarter of 2011, due to higher average unit costs resulting from higher commodity prices (primarily cotton) and a 
higher level of markdown selling, we concluded that there was goodwill impairment in the Gymboree Outlet reporting unit. Although this 
analysis has not been completed due to its complexity, based on the work we performed to date, we have recorded a preliminary estimate of 
impairment for goodwill of $28.3 million. The impairment charge is subject to finalization of fair values, which we will complete in fiscal 2012. 
We believe that the preliminary estimate of impairment is reasonable and represents our best estimate of the impairment charge to be incurred; 
however, it is possible that material adjustments to the preliminary estimate may be required as the analysis is finalized. The non-cash charge of 
$28.3 million relates entirely to Gymboree Outlet, a component of our Retail Stores segment.  

The Company will need to assess goodwill for further impairment in the future if indicators are present.  

6.  Line of Credit  

Predecessor Company  
Prior to the Transaction Date, we had an unsecured revolving credit facility for borrowings of up to $90 million (subject to an option to 

increase the borrowing limit up to $100 million with the approval of the lender). This credit facility could be used for the issuance of 
documentary and standby letters of credit, working capital, and capital expenditure needs. This credit facility was terminated in connection with 
the Transaction.  

Successor Company  
In connection with the Transaction, we entered into a senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility, which was amended and 

restated in March 2012 to, among other things, lower the interest rate and extend the maturity date (as so amended and restated, the “ABL”). The 
ABL provides senior secured financing of up to $225 million, subject to a borrowing base. Availability under the ABL is subject to the assets of 
the Company, any subsidiary co-borrowers and any subsidiary guarantors that are available to collateralize the borrowings thereunder, and is 
reduced by the level of outstanding letters of credit. As of January 28, 2012, availability under the ABL was approximately $127.8 million. The 
ABL provides us with the right to request up to $125 million of additional commitments under this facility (or, if less, the amount permitted 
under our senior secured term loan facility described in Note 7), subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions Principal amounts outstanding 
under the ABL are due and payable in full in March 2017. Borrowings under the ABL bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at our option, 
either (a) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (1) the prime rate of Bank of America, N.A., (2) the federal funds effective rate 
plus 0.50% and (3) a LIBOR rate determined by reference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for an interest period of one month 
adjusted for certain additional costs, plus 1.00% or (b) a LIBOR rate determined by reference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the 
interest period relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs (“Adjusted LIBOR”), in each case plus an applicable margin. In 
addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the ABL, we are required to pay a commitment fee on unutilized commitments 
thereunder, which was 0.5% per annum as of January 28, 2012. In connection with the amendment and restatement referred to above, this 
commitment fee was reduced. The current level of the commitment fee is 0.375% per annum. If at any time the aggregate amount of outstanding 
loans, unreimbursed letter of credit drawings and undrawn letters of credit under the ABL exceeds the lesser of (a) the commitment amount and 
(b) the borrowing base, we will be required to repay outstanding loans and/or cash collateralize letters of credit in an aggregate amount equal to 
such excess, with no reduction of the commitment amount. The ABL contains financial and other covenants that, among other things, restrict our 
ability to incur additional indebtedness and pay dividends. As of January 28, 2012, we were in compliance with these covenants. As of 
January 28, 2012, there was $21.1 million of commercial and standby letters of credit outstanding and no borrowings outstanding. The 
obligations under the ABL are secured, subject to certain exceptions, by substantially all of our assets. The Company and our 100%-owned 
domestic subsidiaries have fully and unconditionally guaranteed our obligations under the ABL.  
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7.   Long-Term Debt  

Long-term debt consists of (in thousands):  
   

In connection with the Merger, we entered into an agreement with several lenders to establish an $820 million senior secured term loan 
facility (“Term Loan”). The Term Loan allows us to request additional tranches of term loans in an aggregate amount not to exceed $200 
million, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, provided that such amount will be subject to reduction by the amount of any additional 
commitments incurred under the ABL described in Note 6. The interest rate for borrowings under the Term Loan is, at our option, a base rate 
plus an additional marginal rate of 2.5% (reduced from 3.0% as a result of the refinancing discussed below) or the Adjusted LIBOR rate (with a 
1.5% floor) plus an additional rate of 3.5% (reduced from 4.0% as a result of the refinancing discussed below). The Term Loan requires us to 
make quarterly payments each equal to 0.25% of the original $820 million principal amount of the Term Loan made on the closing date plus 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, with the balance due in February 2018. The Term Loan also has mandatory and voluntary pre-payment 
provisions, including a requirement that we prepay the Term Loan with a certain percentage of our annual excess cash flow beginning with the 
excess cash flow for fiscal 2011. No prepayments (other than the quarterly amortization payments referred to above) were made in fiscal 2011. 
In fiscal 2012, we expect to prepay approximately $15.7 million of the Term Loan with a portion of our excess cash flow for fiscal 2011. We 
may (but are not required to) apply a portion of this prepayment toward our quarterly amortization payments payable under the Term Loan in 
fiscal 2012. The Term Loan is presented net of the related original issue discount (“OID”), which was $4.1 million on the Transaction Date. 
Accretion of OID is included in interest expense and was $0.3 million for fiscal 2011 and $0.1 million for period from November 23, 2010 to 
January 29, 2011. In February 2011, we refinanced the Term Loan through an amendment and restatement of our existing credit agreement to 
lower the interest rate, remove certain financial covenants and extend the maturity date from November 2017 to February 2018. In the first 
quarter of fiscal 2011, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $19.6 million as a result of the refinancing, which 
included the write-off of approximately $14.1 million in deferred financing costs and $1.8 million of OID related to the original Term Loan. The 
obligations under the Term Loan are secured, subject to certain exceptions, by substantially all of our assets and those of our 100%-owned 
domestic subsidiaries. The Company and our 100%-owned domestic subsidiaries also have fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Company’s 
obligations under the Term Loan.  

In connection with the Merger, we issued $400 million aggregate principal amount of 9.125% senior notes (the “Notes”) due in 
December 2018. Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually beginning June 1, 2011. If the Company or our subsidiaries sell certain assets, 
we generally must either invest the net cash proceeds from such sale in our business within a certain period of time, use the proceeds to prepay 
senior secured debt or make an offer to purchase a principal amount of the Notes equal to the excess net cash proceeds at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest. Upon a change in control, we may also be 
required to make an offer to purchase all of the Notes at a redemption price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus 
accrued and unpaid interest. The Notes also contain optional redemption provisions, but subject to certain exceptions, we will not be entitled to 
redeem the Notes at our option prior to December 1, 2014. The Notes are unsecured senior obligations of the Company. The Company and our 
100%-owned domestic subsidiaries have fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Company’s obligations under the Notes (see Note 22).  
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      January 28,       
 

2012     

      January 29,       
 

2011   

Senior secured term loan facility, net of discount of $1,931 and $4,010       $ 809,869         $ 815,991      
9.125% senior notes       400,000          400,000      

         
  

        
  

Subtotal       1,209,869          1,215,991      
Less current portion       (17,698)         (8,200)     

         
  

        
  

Long-term debt - less current portion       $ 1,192,171         $ 1,207,791      
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Interest expense was $89.8 million and $17.4 million for fiscal 2011 and the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, 
respectively, including $6.8 million and $1.4 million, respectively, of amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of OID. Scheduled 
future minimum principal payments on long-term debt as of January 28, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):  
   

8.   Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):  
   

9.   Income Taxes  

The table below presents the amount of pre-tax (loss) income attributable to foreign and domestic operations (in thousands):  
   

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):  
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Fiscal                  

2012    $      17,698    
2013         -        
2014         6,902    
2015         8,200    
2016         8,200    
Thereafter        1,170,800    

           
  

Total    $              1,211,800    
           

  

    

      January 28,       
 

2012     

      January 29,       
 

2011   

Store operating expenses and other corporate expenses     $ 40,669         $ 27,381      
Accrued interest      10,701          12,226      
Employee compensation      14,444          14,749      
Gift card liabilities and merchandise credits      19,487          17,903      
Customer deposits      6,448          4,733      
Sales taxes      2,429          4,108      

        
  

        
  

Total     $ 94,178         $ 81,100      
        

  

        

  

    Successor      Predecessor   

    

Year Ended  
    January 28, 2012         

  November 23, 2010 to   
 

January 29, 2011      

January 31, 2010 to  
  November 22, 2010       

Year Ended  
    January 30, 2010       

Foreign     $ (1,847)        $ 721          $ 2,660         $ 2,656      
United States      (55,963)         (33,797)          85,353           162,077      

        
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Total     $ (57,810)        $ (33,076)         $ 88,013         $ 164,733      
        

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

    Successor      Predecessor   

    
Year Ended  

    January 28, 2012         

  November 23, 2010 to   
 

January 29, 2011      

January 31, 2010 to  
    November 22, 2010    

      
Year Ended  

      January 30, 2010     
Current:           

Federal     $ (2,104)        $ 45          $ 25,853        $ 51,750      
State      1,621          364           4,070          8,833      
Foreign      2,803          805           2,398          (496)     

        
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Total current      2,320          1,214           32,321          60,087      
        

  
        

  
         

  
        

  

  
Deferred:           

Federal      (7,342)         (9,335)          3,583          1,140      
State      (1,409)         (1,923)          248          538      
Foreign      (195)         12           297          1,049      

        
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Total deferred      (8,946)         (11,246)          4,128          2,727      
        

  
        

  
         

  
        

  

Total provision (benefit)     $ (6,626)        $ (10,032)         $ 36,449         $ 62,814      
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate with our effective income tax rate is as follows:  
   

In the detail of the components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of January 29, 2011 below, we reclassified approximately $10.1 
million previously reported as the reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets, to be reported as a deferred tax asset related to 
state income taxes, in order to correct such classification. This reclassification did not change the total deferred tax liability previously reported 
as of January 29, 2011. In addition, we increased the deferred tax liability related to intangible assets as of January 29, 2011 by $4.4 million as a 
result of adjustments made to goodwill and other intangible assets (see Note 1).  

Temporary differences and carryforwards, which give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities, are as follows (in thousands):  
   

As of January 28, 2012, we have federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $61.4 million for tax purposes. These net 
operating loss carryforwards will expire in 2030. As of January 28, 2012, we have state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $37.5 
million for tax purposes. These net operating loss carryforwards will expire between 2012 and 2031. As of January 28, 2012, we have foreign tax 
credit carryforwards of approximately $1.7 million. These credit  
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    Successor      Predecessor   

    

Year Ended  
      January 28, 2012     

       

    November 23, 2010 to     
 

January 29, 2011      

January 31, 2010 to  
    November 22, 2010    

      
Year Ended  

    January 30, 2010       
Statutory federal rate      35.0  %         35.0  %          35.0  %        35.0  %    
State income taxes, net of income tax benefit      0.4              3.2               2.9              3.7          
Non-deductible Transaction costs      -                 (5.9)              2.6              -             
Decrease in valuation allowances      (1.1)             -                  -                 (0.2)         
Other impact of foreign operations (net of foreign tax deductions/credit)      (2.7)             (0.6)              0.5              -             
Goodwill impairment      (17.1)             -                  -                 -             
Other      0.6              (1.4)              0.4              (0.4)         

        
  

        
  

         
  

        
  

Effective tax rate      15.1              30.3               41.4              38.1          
        

  
        

  
         

  
        

  

Noncontrolling interest      (3.6)             -                  -                 -             
        

  
        

  
         

  
        

  

Total Effective tax rate      11.5  %         30.3  %          41.4  %        38.1  %    
        

  

        

  

         

  

        

  

     

     January 28,      
 

2012      

     January 29,      
 

2011   

Deferred tax assets:        

Inventory valuation      $ 6,345           $ 1,809      
Deferred revenue       1,063           2,546      
State taxes       7,490           7,105      
Reserves       7,520           4,710      
Stock compensation       2,446           185      
Deferred rent       5,636           4,231      
Net operating loss carryforwards       24,353           24,577      
Foreign tax credits       1,959           1,723      
Other       8,451           1,162      

         
  

         
  

     65,263           48,048      
         

  
         

  

Deferred tax liabilities:        

Prepaid expenses       (1,935)          (1,614)     
Fixed asset basis differences       (34,793)          (30,523)     
Intangibles       (229,808)          (236,682)     
Other       (5,818)          (143)     

         
  

         
  

     (272,354)          (268,962)     
         

  
         

  

Total       (207,091)          (220,914)     
Valuation allowance       (2,289)          (1,345)     

         
  

         
  

Net deferred tax liabilities      $ (209,380)         $ (222,259)     
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carryforwards will expire between 2014 and 2019. Using our best estimates, we have recorded a valuation allowance of $2.3 million and $1.3 
million as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011, respectively, on certain deferred tax assets, primarily net operating losses and credit 
carryforwards, as it is more likely than not that they will not be realized. The utilization of net operating losses and foreign tax credits may be 
subject to a substantial annual limitation due to any future “changes in ownership” as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. Should we become subject to this annual limitation, the net operating loss and foreign tax credit 
carryforwards may expire before utilization.  

We have unrecognized tax benefits of $7.3 million, $7.3 million and $6.4 million as of January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011 and 
January 30, 2010, respectively. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits follows (in thousands):  
   

At January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011 and January 30, 2010, $6.1 million, $6.0 million and $5.3 million, respectively, of unrecognized 
tax benefits would affect the effective tax rate if recognized. Additionally, at January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011 and January 30, 2010, $1.2 
million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily 
deferred taxes, if recognized.  

We recognize interest and penalties on income tax contingencies in income tax expense. Income tax (benefit) expense included charges 
of $46,000, $46,000, $298,000 and $374,000 in fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from 
January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010, and fiscal 2009, respectively, related to interest expense on income taxes. Income tax (benefit) expense 
also included a benefit of $39,000 and charges of $19,000, $26,000 and $111,000 in fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to 
January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively, related to penalties on income taxes. As 
of January 28, 2012, we had a liability for interest on income taxes of $1.7 million and a liability for penalties on income taxes of $726,000. As 
of January 29, 2011, we had a liability for interest on income taxes of $1.6 million and a liability for penalties on income taxes of $764,000.  

We do not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change within the next 12 months.  

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries file income tax returns with federal, state and local tax authorities within the United States. 
Our foreign affiliates file income tax returns in various foreign jurisdictions, the most significant of which is Canada. With few exceptions, we 
are no longer subject to United States federal, state, or local examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2007 and are no longer subject 
to foreign examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2003.  

10. Stockholders’ Equity  

Equity Incentive Plan – Successor  

Parent maintains the Giraffe Holding, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”) under which non-qualified stock options and 
other equity-based awards may be granted to eligible employees and directors of, and consultants and advisors to, Parent and its subsidiaries. A 
maximum of 11,622,231 shares of Parent’s Class A common stock (“Class A common stock”) and 1,291,359 shares of Parent’s Class L common 
stock (“Class L common stock”) may be delivered in satisfaction of awards granted under the 2010 Plan. As of January 28, 2012, there were 
2,558,331 shares of Class A common stock and 284,259 shares of Class L common stock available for the grant of future awards under the 2010 
Plan. Shares of stock delivered under the 2010 Plan may be authorized but unissued shares of stock or previously issued shares of stock acquired 
by Parent.  
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       Successor     Predecessor   
       Year Ended  

     January 28, 2012       
  November 23, 2010 to 

  January 29, 2011     
  January 31, 2010 to  
  November 22, 2010     

  Year Ended  
     January 30, 2010                    

Balance at beginning of period        $ 7,324        $ 6,976        $ 6,439        $ 6,667     
Gross increases - tax positions in current period         714         356         793         766     
Gross increases - tax positions in prior period         140         -             2,111         771     
Gross decreases - tax positions in prior period         (52)        -             (161)        (970)    
Settlements         -             -             (1,086)        (1,014)    
Lapsed statutes of limitations         (806)        (73)        (1,227)        -         
Increases (decreases) based on currency translation adjustments         (4)        65         107         219     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Balance at end of period        $ 7,316        $ 7,324        $ 6,976        $ 6,439     
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Class L common stock is a combination of preferred stock and common stock. Each share of Class L common stock, whenever issued, 
has a “liquidation preference” that initially equals $36.00 and will grow at a rate equal to fifteen percent (15%) per year, compounded quarterly. 
Each share of Class L common stock also includes all of the economic rights included in one share of Class A common stock.  

Class A common stock behaves like standard common stock. Class A common stock does not have a specified liquidation preference 
like the Class L common stock described above. The shares of Class A common stock will participate in all future appreciation of the value of 
Parent after the Class L common stock liquidation preference has been satisfied. The holders of Class A common stock and Class L common 
stock generally vote as a single class.  

Upon liquidation, after the payment of all required distributions to the holders of Class L common stock, the holders of all of the 
common shares (both Class A and Class L) will receive all remaining distributions ratably as a single class. The Class A and Class L common 
stock will share ratably in any non-liquidating distributions. Class L common stock will convert into Class A common stock if Parent is taken 
public in the future. Upon a sale of all or substantially all of the business or assets of Parent and its subsidiaries, holders of a majority of the 
shares of Class L common stock may elect to convert the Class L common stock into Class A common stock.  

Stock Options (Successor)  

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for fiscal 2011:  

   

(1) The expected to vest options are the result of applying the pre-vesting forfeiture rate assumptions to total unvested options outstanding.  

The outstanding options granted by Parent to employees of the Company allow each grantee to purchase units of shares of Parent’s 
Class A and Class L common stock. Each unit consists of nine shares of Parent’s Class A and one share of Class L common stock. Options 
granted pursuant to the 2010 Plan were granted with an exercise price equal to the fair value of a unit. The fair value of a unit was determined to 
be $45 by the Company using the Option Pricing Method, which considers the various equity securities as call options on the total equity value, 
giving consideration to the rights and preferences of each class of equity. The various classes of equity are modeled as call options that give their 
owners the right, but not the obligation, to buy the underlying equity value at a predetermined (or exercise) price. The exercise price of all 
options granted under the 2010 Plan was $45. The options each have a term of ten years and vest over a five-year period based only on time-
based service conditions. There were 194,940 exercisable stock options as of January 28, 2012.  

The weighted-average fair value of options granted under the 2010 Plan was estimated to be $29.17 and $29.57 per unit on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model for fiscal 2011 and during the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, 
respectively. For purposes of this model, no dividends have been assumed. Expected stock price volatility was determined based on the historical 
and implied volatilities of comparable companies and based on each of the guideline company’s longest term traded options, where available. 
The risk-free interest rate was based on United States Treasury yields in effect at the time of the grant for notes with comparable terms as the 
awards. The expected term of options granted was based on the “simplified” method described in Accounting Standards Codification 718-10-
S99-1. The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation model are presented below:  
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Number of shares  

      (in thousands)            

      Weighted-  
      average  exercise  
      price per share       

  Weighted-average   
remaining  

contractual life  
(in years)      

Aggregate  
  intrinsic value   
(in thousands)   

Outstanding at January 29, 2011         1,052         $ 45.00            
Granted         81         45.00            
Forfeited         (126)         45.00            

           
  

        

Outstanding at January 28, 2012         1,007       $ 45.00           8.9        $ -        
           

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Vested and expected to vest at January 28, 2012 (1)         856       $ 45.00          8.8        $ -        
           

  
        

  
         

  
         

  

Exercisable at January 28, 2012         195         $ 45.00           8.4        $ -        
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As of January 28, 2012, there was approximately $20.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost, which is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average period of 4.0 years.  

Application of alternative assumptions could produce significantly different estimates of the fair value of share-based compensation and 
consequently, significantly affect the related amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.  

Equity Incentive Plan - Predecessor  

Prior to the consummation of the Transaction, our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), provided for grants to employees of 
incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, for grants of non-statutory stock options to employees, 
consultants and non-employee directors of the Company, and for grants of other types of equity incentive compensation, such as restricted stock 
and restricted stock units. Options granted pursuant to the 2004 Plan were granted at exercise prices equal to the closing price of our common 
stock on the date of grant.  

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009 was $16.2 
million and $13.0 million, respectively.  

Restricted Stock Awards (Predecessor)  

The fair value of restricted stock awards that vested during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010, and fiscal 2009 
was $81.2 million and $9.8 million, respectively. There were no restricted stock awards granted subsequent to November 22, 2010.  

Restricted Stock Units (Predecessor)  

The fair value of restricted stock units that vested during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009 was 
$31.7 million and $2.5 million, respectively. There were no restricted stock units granted subsequent to November 22, 2010.  

Share-based compensation expense is included as a component of SG&A expenses and consists of the following (in thousands):  
   

Share-based compensation expense for the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010, includes $27.7 million related to the 
accelerated vesting of options, restricted stock and restricted stock units awarded to management and employees that vested upon the closing of 
the Transaction. We include an estimate of forfeitures in determining share-based compensation expense. We recognized $2.4 million of income 
tax benefits related to share-based compensation expense for fiscal 2011 and no income tax benefits for the period from November 23, 2010 to 
January 29, 2011. We recognized income tax benefits related to share-based compensation expense of approximately $24.9 million (of which 
$12.3 million affected stockholders’ equity and $12.6 million affected net income) and $9.2 million (of which $2.9 million affected 
stockholders’ equity and $6.3 million affected net income) for the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, 
respectively.  
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       Year Ended  
       January 28, 2012         

  November 23, 2010 to 
January 29, 2011            

Expected dividend rate         0.0%         0.0%     
Expected volatility         70.0%         70.0%     
Risk-free interest rate         1.7%         2.5%     
Expected lives (years)         6.50         6.50     

       Successor     Predecessor   
       Year Ended  

         January 28, 2012           
      November 23, 2010 to     

January 29, 2011   
  January 31, 2010 to  
    November 22, 2010       

  Year Ended  
   January 30, 2010                    

Stock options         $ 5,907         $ 482          $ -              $ 327      
Restricted stock awards and units         -              -              41,042          18,135      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total         $ 5,907         $ 482          $ 41,042          $ 18,462      
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For fiscal 2011 and the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, we reported no excess tax benefits as financing cash 
inflows. For the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, we reported $12.6 million and $3.8 million, respectively, 
in excess tax benefits as financing cash inflows.  

11.  401(k) Plan  

We maintain a voluntary defined contribution 401(k) profit-sharing plan (the “Plan”) covering employees who have met certain service 
and eligibility requirements. Employees may elect to contribute up to 100% of their compensation to the Plan, not to exceed the dollar limit set 
by law. Prior to March 1, 2009, we contributed $1.00 to the plan for each $1.00 contributed by an employee, up to 4% of the employee’s salary. 
Matching contributions to the Plan totaled approximately $0.1 million in fiscal 2009. The matching contributions were suspended effective 
March 1, 2009.  

12.  Related Party Transactions  

Arrangements with Investors  
Simultaneously with and following the consummation of the Transaction, and the contribution and exchange (see Note 1), we and 

certain of our parent entities entered into equityholder agreements with those persons and entities that became equityholders of the Company or 
Parent after the completion of the Transaction. These equityholder agreements contain agreements among the parties with respect to election of 
directors, participation rights, right of first refusal upon disposition of shares, permitted transferees, registration rights and other actions requiring 
the approval of equityholders.  

Management Agreement  
On October 23, 2010, Acquisition Sub and Parent entered into a management agreement with Bain Capital pursuant to which Bain 

Capital agreed to provide certain management services to Acquisition Sub and Parent until December 31, 2020 (unless terminated earlier), with 
evergreen one-year extensions thereafter. We have assumed the obligations of Acquisition Sub under this agreement by operation of law as a 
result of the Transaction. In April 2012, Parent, Bain Capital and the Company entered into a first amended and restated management agreement. 
Pursuant to such agreement (as amended and restated), Bain Capital is entitled to receive an aggregate annual management fee equal to $3 
million, which fee will be reduced by $270,000 until such time as Bain notifies the Company in writing, and reimbursement for out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred by it or its affiliates in connection with the provision of services pursuant to the agreement or otherwise related to its 
investment. We paid Bain Capital approximately $3.3 million and $1.1 million in management fees and reimbursement of out-of-pocket 
expenses during fiscal 2011 and the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, respectively. In addition, in the period from 
November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, pursuant to such agreement, we paid Bain Capital aggregate transaction fees of approximately $17 
million in connection with services it provided related to the Transaction.  

The management agreement provides that Bain Capital is entitled to receive fees in connection with certain subsequent financing, 
acquisition, disposition and change of control transactions of 1% of the gross transaction value of any such transaction. The management 
agreement includes customary exculpation and indemnification provisions in favor of Bain Capital and its affiliates. The management agreement 
may be terminated by Bain Capital at any time and will terminate automatically upon an initial public offering or a change of control unless the 
Company and the counterparty to the management agreement determine otherwise. Upon termination, each provider of management services 
will be entitled to a termination fee calculated based on the present value of the annual fees due during the remaining period from the date of 
termination to December 31, 2020, or the then-applicable scheduled date for termination of the management agreement.  

Stockholders Agreement  
On November 23, 2010, Parent, the Company, certain investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital (collectively the “Bain Funds”), 

Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. and certain co-investors entered into a stockholders agreement. The agreement, among 
other things, creates certain rights and restrictions on the shares of Parent’s common stock held by the parties thereto, including transfer 
restrictions, tag-along and drag-along rights, and put and call rights.  

On December 23, 2011, Parent, the Company, Bain Funds, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. and Gymboree 
Investment Holdings, LLC amended and restated this stockholders agreement to, among other things; include Gymboree Investment Holdings, 
LLC as a party thereto and to reflect the changed ownership structure discussed in Note 1 (Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC is owned 
directly by Gymboree Holding, Ltd.). The material terms of the agreement were left unchanged.  

Registration and Participation Rights Agreement  
On November 23, 2010, Parent, the Company, the Bain Funds, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. and certain co-

investors entered into a registration and participation rights agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, the Bain Funds have a right to participate in 
any future issuances or sales of the capital stock of Parent or any of its subsidiaries or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any 
such securities, including options. The agreement also gives certain investors demand and piggyback registration rights with respect to their and 
certain other persons’ interests in Parent.  
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On December 23, 2011, Parent, the Company, Bain Funds, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., and Gymboree 
Investment Holdings, LLC amended and restated this agreement to, among other things, include Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC as a party 
thereto and to reflect the changed ownership structure discussed in Note 1 (Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC is owned directly by 
Gymboree Holding, Ltd.). The material terms of the agreement were left unchanged.  

Indemnification of Directors and Officers; Directors’  and Officers’  Insurance  
Under the Merger Agreement relating to the Transaction, the directors and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries who served as 

such prior to the consummation of the Transaction are entitled to continued indemnification and insurance coverage.  

Franchise Agreements  
In November 2011, Gymboree Play Programs, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a five-year Master Service 

Agreement with Gymboree Tianjin, an affiliate of the Company and indirect subsidiary of Gymboree Holding, Ltd., to service all of the unit 
franchises in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) Territory and provide certain services to the Company in connection with such unit 
franchises. Under the terms of the agreement, Gymboree Tianjin will purchase product and equipment from us and collect royalties and franchise 
fees from unit franchises within the PRC Territory on our behalf. As consideration for Gymboree Tianjin’s obligations under this agreement, 
Tianjin will be entitled to retain a fee from the payment due to us. These intercompany revenues and charges have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  

In December 2011, we entered into a ten-year Retail Store Franchise Agreement with Gymboree China, an affiliate of the Company and 
indirect subsidiary of Gymboree Holding, Ltd., to develop, own and operate Gymboree branded retail stores and website(s) to market and sell 
Gymboree branded products in the PRC Territory under the Gymboree license and trademarks. Under the terms of the agreement, Gymboree 
China will purchase inventory from us and pay us royalties on retail sales within the PRC Territory. All intercompany revenues and charges have 
been eliminated in consolidation.  

While we do not control Gymboree Tianjin and Gymboree China, they have been determined to be VIEs, as discussed further below in 
Note 21, and have been consolidated by us.  

Receivable from Bain Capital Asia Integral Investors, L.P.  
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we recorded a receivable of $2.4 million due from Bain Capital Asia Integral Investors, L.P. (“Bain 

Asia”) in consideration for our having provided services, including due diligence in the PRC, relating to Bain Asia’s investment in Gymboree 
Tianjin. This was treated as an increase to additional paid-in capital as of January 28, 2012.  

Receivable from Gymboree Hong Kong, Ltd.  
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we recorded a receivable of $3.8 million due from Gymboree Hong Kong, Ltd., the unconsolidated 

direct parent of the VIEs for expenses paid on behalf of Gymboree Hong Kong, Ltd. by us.  

13.  Segments  

We have four reportable segments: retail stores, Gymboree Play & Music, retail franchise, and one reportable segment related to the 
activities of our consolidated VIEs. These reportable segments were identified based on how our business is managed and evaluated. The retail 
stores segment includes four operating segments (brands) which sell high-quality apparel for children: Gymboree (including an online store), 
Gymboree Outlet, Janie and Jack (including an online store), and Crazy 8 (including an online store). These four operating segments have been 
aggregated into one reportable segment because, in our judgment, these operating segments have similar historical economic characteristics 
and/or are expected to have similar economic characteristics and similar long-term financial performance in the future. Gross margin is the 
principal measure we consider in determining whether the economic characteristics are similar. In addition, each operating segment has similar 
products, production processes and type or class of customer. We believe that disaggregating our operating segments would not provide material 
additional information. Corporate overhead (costs related to our distribution center and shared corporate services) is included in the retail stores 
segment. Amounts previously reported have been restated to conform to the addition of the Retail Franchise reportable segment to the current 
year presentation. Additionally, as discussed in Note 5, we have completed the allocation of goodwill to our reporting units and segments, and 
have reflected this in the segment disclosures below for current and prior periods.  
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The following table provides the summary financial data of each reportable segment (in thousands):  
   

Interest expense, depreciation and amortization expense and capital expenditures have not been separately disclosed above as the 
amounts primarily relate to the retail segment. The VIE reportable segment recorded $1.2 million in intersegment revenues for the year ended 
January 28, 2012. There were no other material intersegment revenues.  

We attribute retail store revenues to individual countries based on selling location. For Gymboree Play & Music and retail franchise, all 
sales were attributed to the United States. The following table provides the summary financial data of each geographical segment (in thousands):  
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    Year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor)   

    

Retail  
        Stores        

      

Gymboree  
    Play & Music       

Retail  
      Franchise                  VIE       

    Intersegment 
 

Elimination             Total           

Net sales     $ 1,164,163         $ 13,881         $ 10,232         $ 1,195          $ (1,183)        $ 1,188,288      
Operating income (loss)      55,695          (1,779)         3,397          (5,812)         -              51,501      
Total assets      2,014,343          64,155          28,878          7,394          (983)         2,113,787      

    

   
Period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 (Successor)      

    

    

Retail  
      Stores             

Gymboree  
    Play & Music       

Retail  
      Franchise                  Other               Total           

Net sales     $ 244,287         $ 2,814         $ 447         $ -              $ 247,548        
Operating (loss) income      (17,378)         1,416          184          -              (15,778)       
Total assets      2,003,845          59,233          28,775          630          2,092,483        

    

   
Period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor)      

    

Retail  
      Stores             

Gymboree  
    Play & Music       

Retail  
      Franchise                  Other               Total           

Net sales     $ 814,863         $ 10,847         $ 925          $ 248          $ 826,883        
Operating income      82,777          4,518          436          116          87,847        

    

   
Year ended January 30, 2010 (Predecessor)      

    

    

Retail  
        Stores        

      

Gymboree  
    Play & Music               Total           

Net sales     $ 1,001,527         $ 13,384          $ 1,014,911        
Operating income      158,243          5,395          163,638        
Total assets      630,979          5,151          636,130        

    Year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor)   

          Canada                 Australia                   China           Total International   
Net sales     $ 47,240         $ 2,180         $ 12          $ 49,432      
Long-lived assets      45,095          6,467          702          52,264      

    

   
Period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 (Successor)      

    

            Canada                   Australia                 Total International     
Net sales     $ 9,890         $ 364         $ 10,254        
Long-lived assets      40,561          5,965          46,526        

    

Period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010  
(Predecessor)   

            Canada                 Australia                 Total International   
Net sales     $ 31,636         $ 737        $ 32,373      
Long-lived assets      5,771          734          6,505      
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14.  Co-Branded Credit Card  

We have co-branded credit card agreements (the “Agreements”) with a third-party bank and Visa U.S.A. Inc. for the issuance of a Visa 
credit card bearing the Gymboree brand and administration of an associated incentive program for cardholders. These Agreements expire in 
fiscal 2014. We recognize revenues related to the Agreements as follows:  

Successor  

Predecessor  

During fiscal 2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 
and fiscal 2009, we recognized approximately $1.5 million, $0.3 million, $6.1 million and $7.6 million in revenue from these Agreements, 
respectively. These amounts are included in net retail sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Upon consummation of 
the Transaction, deferred revenue from the Agreements was adjusted to its estimated fair value of zero (see Note 2).  

15. Common Stock Repurchases  

Pursuant to authorization from the Board of Directors, we repurchased and retired 2,613,375 shares of Company stock at an aggregate 
cost of approximately $113.6 million, or approximately $43.49 per share, during the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and 
627,156 shares of Company stock at an aggregate cost of approximately $26.4 million, or approximately $42.02 per share in fiscal 2009.  

16. Lease Incentives and Other Deferred Liabilities  

Lease incentives and other deferred liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):  
   

17.  Derivative Instruments  

We enter into forward foreign exchange contracts with respect to certain purchases in United States dollars of inventory to be sold in 
our retail stores in Canada. The purpose of these contracts is to protect our margins on the eventual sale of the inventory from fluctuations in the 
exchange rate for Canadian and United States dollars. The term of the forward  
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        Year ended January 30, 2010 (Predecessor)   

                Canada                   Total International     
Net sales    $     39,921        $     39,921      
Long-lived assets        5,035            5,035      

  —   New account fees are recognized as retail revenues as earned.  
  —   Credit card usage fees are recognized as retail revenues as actual credit card usage occurs.  
  —   Rewards earned are recorded as gift card liabilities and recognized as retail revenues when the gift cards are redeemed.  

  —   New account fees are recognized as retail revenues on a straight-line basis over the estimated life of the credit card relationship.  
  —   Credit card usage fees are recognized as retail revenues as actual credit card usage occurs.  

  
—   Minimum guaranteed annual payments received under our original credit card agreement executed in fiscal 2003 that exceeded 

amounts earned based on the number of accounts opened and card usage are recognized as retail revenues on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated life of the credit card relationship.  

  —   Rewards earned are recorded as gift card liabilities and recognized as retail revenues when the gift cards are redeemed.  

           January 28,                  January 29,         

     2012      2011   

Above market leases (see Note 5)      $ 12,517          $ 15,981      
Deferred rent       6,423           937      
Construction allowances       8,171           976      
Other       1,570           458      

         
  

         
  

Total      $ 28,681          $ 18,352      
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exchange contracts is generally less than one year. These contracts are treated as cash flow hedges. Amounts reported in accumulated other 
comprehensive income related to our forward foreign exchange contracts will be reclassified to cost of goods sold over a three-month period.  

We have four purchased interest rate caps to hedge against rising interest rates associated with our Term Loan (see Note 7) above the 
strike rate of the cap through December 23, 2016, the maturity date of the caps. All four caps were designated on the date of execution as cash 
flow hedges. In December 2010, we paid approximately $12.1 million to enter into these caps. This premium, and any related amounts reported 
in accumulated other comprehensive income, will be amortized to interest expense through December 23, 2016, as interest payments are made 
on the underlying Term Loan. During fiscal 2011, we reclassified approximately $51,000 from other comprehensive income to interest expense. 
During fiscal 2012, we expect to reclassify approximately $0.3 million from other comprehensive income to interest expense.  

For a derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss is initially reported as a 
component of other comprehensive income and is subsequently recognized in earnings when the hedged exposure is recognized in earnings. 
Gains or losses on the derivative representing either hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness or hedge ineffectiveness 
are recognized in earnings.  

We had the following outstanding derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (dollars in thousands):  
   

The table below presents the fair value of our derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the balance sheet (in 
thousands).  
   

The tables below present the effect of our derivative financial instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. No amounts 
were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings as a result of forecasted transactions that failed to occur or as a 
result of hedge ineffectiveness.  
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     January 28, 2012      January 29, 2011   

     

  Number of  
  Instruments    

Notional     
 

(USD)          
Number of  

Instruments    

Notional     
 

(USD)       
      

  
      

  

Interest rate derivatives              

Purchased Caps     4      $ 700,000        4    $ 700,000     

Foreign exchange derivatives              

Forward foreign exchange contracts     12      14,154        6      4,505     
               

  
               

  

Total     16      $ 714,154        10    $ 704,505     
               

  

               

  

     January 28, 2012      January 29, 2011   

     
     

Derivatives Assets       
Derivative Liabilities 

       
     

Derivatives Assets       
Derivative Liabilities 

     
Interest rate derivatives              

Balance Sheet Location       Other Assets               Other Assets        
Purchased Caps       $ 1,361             $ 11,863        

Foreign exchange derivatives              
Balance Sheet Location            Accrued liabilities             Accrued liabilities    
Forward foreign exchange contracts          $ 13             $ 33     

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total       $ 1,361          $ 13          $ 11,863          $ 33     
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The amount of gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and reclassified from accumulated OCI into income was 
not significant for any periods prior to November 23, 2010.  

18. Fair Value Measurements  

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value into the following hierarchy:  

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly.  

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which reflect our own assumptions about the assumptions that market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk).  

In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, 
the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety is classified is based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in 
its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.  
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    Year Ended January 28, 2012 (Successor)   

    

 Amount of Gain or   
 (Loss) Recognized in   
 OCI on Derivative   
 (Effective Portion)      

  Location of Gain (Loss)   
 

  Reclassified from    
  Accumulated OCI into   

  Income (Effective    
  Portion)     

  Amount of Loss    
  Reclassified from   

  
 Accumulated OCI   

  into Income    
  (Effective Portion)     

    (in thousands)   

Interest rate derivatives        

Purchased Caps      $ (10,667)       Interest expense     $ (51)     

Foreign exchange derivatives        

Forward foreign exchange contracts      173        Cost of goods sold     (71)     
        

  
          

  

Total      $ (10,494)           $ (122)     
        

  

          

  

    Period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011 (Successor)   

    

 Amount of Loss   
 Recognized in OCI on  

 
 Derivative (Effective   

 Portion)      

  Location of Loss    
  Reclassified from    

  Accumulated OCI into   
  Income (Effective    

  Portion)     

  Amount of Loss    
  Reclassified from   
  Accumulated OCI   

 
  into Income    

  (Effective Portion)     
    (in thousands)   

Interest rate derivatives        

Purchased Caps      $ (216)       Interest expense     $ -          

Foreign exchange derivatives        

Forward foreign exchange contracts      (7)       Cost of goods sold     (52)     
        

  
          

  

Total      $ (223)           $ (52)     
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis  
The tables below present our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 

2011, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall.  
   

   

Our cash equivalents, which are primarily placed in money market funds, are valued at their original purchase prices plus interest that 
has accrued at the stated rate. The carrying value of these funds is considered to approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these 
instruments.  

The fair value of our interest rate caps was determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed 
cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) were 
based on the expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observed market interest rate curves. In addition, credit valuation 
adjustments, which consider the impact of any credit enhancements to the contracts, were incorporated in the fair values to account for potential 
nonperformance risk. In adjusting the fair value of these contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, we have considered any applicable 
credit enhancements such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.  

Although we have determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our interest rate caps fall within Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with these derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to 
evaluate the likelihood of default by us and our counterparties. However, as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011, we assessed the 
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our interest rate cap positions and determined that the 
credit valuation adjustment was not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, we classified our interest rate caps derivative valuations in 
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  
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    As of January 28, 2012   

    

Quoted Prices in  
Active Markets for 

 
  Identical Assets  

and    
Liabilities  
(Level 1)     

Significant Other  
 Observable Inputs  

 
(Level 2)     

Significant  
      Unobservable       

 
Inputs (Level 3)     

  Total Fair Value   
     

    (in thousands)   

Assets          

Money market funds     $ 57,365           $ -             $ -            $ 57,365      
Interest rate caps      -            1,361          -            1,361      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total      $ 57,365           $ 1,361           $ -            $ 58,726      
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Liabilities          

Forward foreign exchange contracts     $ -             $ 13           $ -            $ 13      
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

    As of January 29, 2011   

    

Quoted Prices in  
Active Markets for 

 
  Identical Assets  

and    
Liabilities  
(Level 1)     

Significant Other  
 Observable Inputs  

 
(Level 2)     

Significant  
      Unobservable       

 
Inputs  

(Level 3)     
  Total Fair Value   
     

    (in thousands)   

Assets          

Money market funds      $ 18,438           $ -             $ -            $ 18,438      
Interest rate caps      -            11,863          -            11,863      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total      $ 18,438          $ 11,863           $ -            $ 30,301      
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Liabilities          

Forward foreign exchange contracts     $ -            $ 33           $ -            $ 33      
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The fair value of our forward foreign exchange contracts was determined using the market approach and Level 2 inputs. The market 
approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets and liabilities. We 
had no other financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011.  

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and payables approximates their estimated fair values due to the short 
maturities of these instruments. We estimate the fair value of our long-term debt using interest rates currently available to us for issuance of 
notes payable and long-term debt (including current maturities). These interest rates are considered Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair value of 
long-term debt is as follows (in thousands):  
   

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis  
We measure certain non-financial assets and liabilities, including long-lived assets, at fair value on a non-recurring basis. During fiscal 

2011, the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, the period from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 and fiscal 2009, we 
recorded charges related to the impairment of assets at under-performing stores. These impairment charges amounted to $3.7 million, $1.1 
million, $0.2 million and $0.5 million and reduced the carrying amount of the assets to their fair value as of January 28, 2012, January 29, 
2011, November 22, 2010 and January 30, 2010, respectively. The fair market value of these assets was determined using the income approach 
and Level 3 inputs, which required management to make significant estimates about future cash flows. Management estimates the amount and 
timing of future cash flows based on its experience and knowledge of the retail market in which each store operates. These impairment charges 
are included in SG&A expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we recorded $28.3 million of goodwill impairment related to our Gymboree Outlet reporting unit 
(see Note 5).  

19.  Dividend Payment to Parent  

In November 2011, we distributed $12.2 million in the form of a dividend to Parent, which was used by Parent’s shareholders to fund 
their equity investment in the Joint Venture (see Note 21).  

20. Gymboree Play & Music Franchisee Termination  

In the third quarter of fiscal 2011, we terminated our agreement with a Gymboree Play & Music master franchisee in China. Costs 
associated with the termination of this master franchise relationship resulted in a $7.2 million charge to operating expenses in the third quarter of 
fiscal 2011. We assumed the role of master franchisor in China upon this termination. We subsequently entered into a Master Service Agreement 
with Gymboree Tianjin to service all of the unit franchises in the PRC Territory and provide us certain services in connection with such unit 
franchises (see Note 12). Gymboree Tianjin has been determined to be a VIE, and has been consolidated into our financial statements for the 
year ended January 28, 2012 (see Note 21).  

21. Variable Interest Entity  

As discussed in Note 1, Gymboree China, Gymboree Tianjin and the Company are indirectly controlled by Gymboree Holding, Ltd. and 
investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital and Bain Asia. As discussed in Note 19, we made a dividend payment to Parent, which was 
subsequently used in part to fund the Joint Venture. Gymboree China and Gymboree Tianjin have been determined to be VIEs, and we are a 
member of a related party group that controls the VIEs and absorbs the economics of the VIEs. Based on our relationship with the VIEs, we 
determined that we are most closely associated with the VIEs, and therefore, consolidate them as the primary beneficiary. However, as we have a 
0% ownership interest in the VIEs, 100% of the results of operations of the VIEs are recorded as noncontrolling interest. The assets of the VIEs 
cannot be used by us. The liabilities of the VIEs are comprised mainly of short-term accrued expenses, and have no recourse to our general credit 
or assets.  
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    As of January 28, 2012     As of January 29, 2011   

      Carrying Amount            Fair Value             Carrying Amount           Fair Value        
Term loan      $ 809,869          $ 721,609         $ 815,991          $ 831,275     
Notes      400,000          358,000         400,000          420,500     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

    $ 1,209,869          $ 1,079,609         $ 1,215,991          $ 1,251,775     
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The following tables reflect the impact of the VIEs on the consolidated balance sheet as of January 28, 2012 and the consolidated 
statement of operations for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2012 (in thousands):  

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet  
   

22.  Condensed Consolidating Financial Information  

In connection with the Transaction, we issued Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $400 million (see Note 7) under an 
indenture dated November 23, 2010. The Company and our 100%-owned domestic subsidiaries have fully and unconditionally guaranteed the 
Notes. The following condensed consolidating financial information presents the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of The 
Gymboree Corporation and the guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries. The VIEs financial results are included in the non-guarantor 
subsidiaries. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we completed the allocation of goodwill and certain other intangible assets to our guarantor 
and non-guarantor subsidiaries (see Note 5). These adjustments have been reflected in the tables below for current and prior periods. 
Intercompany transactions are eliminated.  
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     January 28, 2012   

     

      Balance Before   
 

       Consolidation   
      of VIEs                VIEs                  Eliminations          

As  
      Reported      

Current assets       $ 355,073            $ 6,692           $ (983)          $ 360,782      
Non-current assets       1,752,303           702           -               1,753,005      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total assets       $ 2,107,376            $ 7,394           $ (983)          $ 2,113,787      
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Current liabilities       $ 187,812            $ 4,074           $ (983)          $ 190,903      
Non-current liabilities       1,474,189           56           -               1,474,245      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total liabilities       1,662,001           4,130           (983)          1,665,148      
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Total stockholders’  equity       445,375           -               -               445,375      
Noncontrolling interest       -               3,264           -               3,264      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity       $ 2,107,376            $ 7,394           $ (983)          $ 2,113,787      

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

   
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations  
   

   

     For the year ended January 28, 2012   

     

      Balance Before   
 

       Consolidation   
      of VIEs                VIEs                  Eliminations          

As  
      Reported      

Net sales       $ 1,188,276            $ 1,195           $ (1,183)          $ 1,188,288      
Cost of goods sold       (728,169)          (177)          -               (728,346)     
Operating expenses       (402,794)          (6,830)          1,183           (408,441)     

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Operating income (loss)       57,313           (5,812)          -               51,501      
Other non-operating expense       (109,303)          (8)          -               (109,311)     

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Loss before income taxes       (51,990)          (5,820)          -               (57,810)     
Income tax benefit (expense)       6,645           (19)          -               6,626      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net loss       (45,345)          (5,839)          -               (51,184)     
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling 

interest       -               5,839           -               5,839      
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Net loss attributable to The Gymboree 
Corporation       $ (45,345)           $ -               $ -               $ (45,345)     

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  



Table of Contents  

THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  

(In thousands)  
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       As of January 28, 2012 (Successor)   
ASSETS 

     

  The Gymboree   
 

Corporation     
Guarantor  

  Subsidiaries       
  Non-guarantor   

Subsidiaries         Eliminations           Consolidated     
Current Assets:               

Cash and cash equivalents        $ 58,910         $ 6,387         $ 12,613         $ -               $ 77,910      
Accounts receivable, net of allowance         4,676          20,886          1,715          -               27,277      
Merchandise inventories           206,661          3,389          162           210,212      
Prepaid income taxes         3,605          263          -              (132)          3,736      
Prepaid expenses         3,689          1,538          305          -               5,532      
Deferred income taxes         22,163          14,426          -              (474)          36,115      
Intercompany receivable         -              413,415          -              (413,415)          -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total current assets         93,043          663,576          18,022          (413,859)          360,782      
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Property and Equipment, net         18,794          174,573          8,785          -               202,152      
Deferred income taxes         12,623          -              1,784          (14,407)          -          
Goodwill         -              859,297          39,800          -               899,097      
Other Intangible Assets         -              599,000          195          -               599,195      
Deferred Financing Costs         47,915          -              -              -               47,915      
Other Assets         1,361          813          2,472          -               4,646      
Investment in subsidiaries         1,927,724          -              -              (1,927,724)          -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total Assets        $ 2,101,460         $ 2,297,259         $ 71,058         $ (2,355,990)          $ 2,113,787      
           

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY              

Current Liabilities:               
Accounts payable         $ 6,412          $ 71,510          $ 1,105         $ -               $ 79,027      
Accrued liabilities         32,892          57,432          3,854          -               94,178      
Income tax payable         -              -              132          (132)          -          
Current portion of long-term debt         17,698          -              -              -           17,698      
Deferred income taxes         -              -              474          (474)          -          
Intercompany payable         402,815          -              10,116          (412,931)          -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total current liabilities         459,817          128,942          15,681          (413,537)          190,903      
Long-Term Liabilities:               

Long-term debt         1,192,171          -              -              -               1,192,171      
Lease incentives and other liabilities         4,097          27,743          4,739          -               36,579      
Deferred income taxes         -              259,902          -              (14,407)          245,495      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total Liabilities         1,656,085          416,587          20,420          (427,944)          1,665,148      
Commitments and Contingencies         -              -              -              -               -          
Total Stockholders’  Equity         445,375          1,880,672          47,374          (1,928,046)          445,375      

Noncontrolling interest         -              -              3,264          -               3,264      
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity        $ 2,101,460          $ 2,297,259          $ 71,058          $ (2,355,990)          $ 2,113,787      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  

(In thousands)  
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     As of January 29, 2011 (Successor)   

ASSETS    

  The Gymboree   
 

  Corporation        
  Guarantor    

  Subsidiaries        
  Non-guarantor   

  Subsidiaries          Eliminations          Consolidated     
Current Assets:                 

Cash and cash equivalents      $ 19,157           $ 6,530           $ 6,437           $ -                $ 32,124      
Accounts receivable, net of allowance       620           12,960           89           -                13,669      
Merchandise inventories       -               181,544           2,955           (231)           184,268      
Prepaid income taxes       15,404           -               712           -                16,116      
Prepaid expenses       3,149           1,658           49           -                4,856      
Deferred income taxes       -               7,805           28           (1,136)           6,697      
Intercompany receivable       -               333,845           -               (333,845)           -          

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total current assets       38,330           544,342           10,270           (335,212)           257,730      
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Property and Equipment, net       21,411           184,203           6,877           -                212,491      
Deferred income taxes       37,573           -               828           (38,401)           -          
Goodwill       -               887,597           39,800           -                927,397      
Other Intangible Assets       -               617,569           241           -                617,810      
Deferred Financing Costs       61,983           -               -               -                61,983      
Other Assets       11,867           802           2,403           -                15,072      
Investment in subsidiaries       1,900,824           -               -               (1,900,824)           -          

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total Assets      $ 2,071,988           $ 2,234,513           $ 60,419         $ (2,274,437)           $ 2,092,483      
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                

Current Liabilities:                 
Accounts payable       $ 4,235           $ 50,040           $ 219           $ -                $ 54,494      
Accrued liabilities       36,197           43,538           1,365           -                81,100      
Current portion of long-term debt       8,200           -               -               -                8,200      
Deferred income taxes       1,136           -               -               (1,136)           -          
Intercompany payable       323,911           -               9,846           (333,757)           -          

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total current liabilities       373,679           93,578           11,430           (334,893)           143,794      
Long-Term Liabilities:                 

Long-term debt       1,207,791           -               -               -                1,207,791      
Lease incentives and other liabilities       4,707           17,990           3,434           -                26,131      
Deferred income taxes       -               267,357           -               (38,401)           228,956      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total Liabilities       1,586,177           378,925           14,864           (373,294)           1,606,672      
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Commitments and Contingencies       -               -               -               -                -          
Stockholders’  Equity       485,811           1,855,588           45,555           (1,901,143)           485,811      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity      $ 2,071,988           $ 2,234,513           $ 60,419           $ (2,274,437)           $ 2,092,483      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 28, 2012 (SUCCESSOR)  
(In thousands)  

   

       

  The Gymboree   
 

  Corporation       

  Guarantor    
  Subsidiaries       

  Non-guarantor   
  Subsidiaries         Eliminations         Consolidated     

Net sales:               

Retail        $ 1,457         $ 1,132,806         $ 52,453         $ (22,545)        $ 1,164,171      
Gymboree Play & Music         -              13,881          4          -              13,885      
Retail Franchise         -              10,232          -              -              10,232      
Intercompany revenue         44,274          1,976          1,829          (48,079)         -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total net sales         45,731          1,158,895          54,286          (70,624)         1,188,288      
Cost of goods sold, including buying and 

occupancy expenses         (5,315)         (714,243)         (35,430)         26,642          (728,346)     
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Gross profit         40,416          444,652          18,856          (43,982)         459,942      
Selling, general and administrative expenses         (49,418)         (353,894)         (20,776)         43,947          (380,141)     
Goodwill impairment         -              (28,300)         -               -               (28,300)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Operating (loss) income         (9,002)         62,458          (1,920)         (35)         51,501      
Interest income         54          26          88          -              168      
Interest expense         (89,807)         -              -              -              (89,807)     
Loss on extinguishment of debt         (19,563)         -              -              -              (19,563)     
Other (expense) income, net         (92)         (2)         (15)          -              (109)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

(Loss) income before income taxes         (118,410)         62,482          (1,847)         (35)         (57,810)      
Income tax benefit (expense)         46,122         (36,941)         (2,555)         -               6,626      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net (loss) income         (72,288)         25,541          (4,402)         (35)         (51,184)      
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest         -              -              5,839          -              5,839      

Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax         26,943          -              -              (26,943)         -          
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Net (loss) income attributable to The 
Gymboree Corporation        $ (45,345)        $ 25,541         $ 1,437         $ (26,978)        $ (45,345)     

           

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  



THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

FOR THE PERIOD FROM NOVEMBER 23, 2010 TO JANUARY 29, 2011 (SUCCESSOR)  
(In thousands)  

   

   
69  

       

  The Gymboree   
 

  Corporation       

  Guarantor    
  Subsidiaries       

  Non-guarantor   
  Subsidiaries         Eliminations         Consolidated     

Net sales:               

Retail         $ 300         $ 236,588         $ 10,821         $ (3,422)        $ 244,287      
Gymboree Play & Music         -              2,814          -              -              2,814      
Retail Franchise         -              447          -              -              447      
Intercompany revenue         19,564          1,147          132          (20,843)         -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total net sales         19,864          240,996          10,953          (24,265)         247,548      
Cost of goods sold, including buying and 

occupancy expenses         (3,260)         (186,398)         (7,621)         12,796          (184,483)     
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Gross profit         16,604          54,598          3,332          (11,469)         63,065      
Selling, general and administrative expenses         (21,061)         (66,774)         (2,578)         11,570          (78,843)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Operating (loss) income         (4,457)         (12,176)         754          101          (15,778)     
Interest income         21          -              15          -              36      
Interest expense         (17,387)         -              -              -              (17,387)     
Other income (expense), net         60          -              (7)          -              53      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

(Loss) income before income taxes and equity 
in losses of affiliates         (21,763)         (12,176)         762          101          (33,076)     

Income tax benefit (expense)         6,551          4,049          (568)         -              10,032      
Equity in losses of affiliates, net of tax         (7,832)         -              -              7,832          -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net (loss) income        $ (23,044)        $ (8,127)        $ 194         $ 7,933         $ (23,044)      
           

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  



Table of Contents  

THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

FOR THE PERIOD FROM JANUARY 31, 2010 TO NOVEMBER 22, 2010 (PREDECESSOR)  
(In thousands)  

   

THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 30, 2010 (PREDECESSOR)  
(In thousands)  
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      The Gymboree       
 

Corporation     
Guarantor  

  Subsidiaries       
Non-guarantor 

Subsidiaries       Eliminations         Consolidated     
Net sales:               

Retail        $ 6,148         $ 790,806         $ 34,256         $ (16,347)        $ 814,863      
Gymboree Play & Music         -              10,847          -              -              10,847      
Retail Franchise         -              925          -              -              925      
Other         -              248          -              -              248      
Intercompany revenue         60,558          1,924          620          (63,102)         -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total net sales         66,706          804,750          34,876          (79,449)          826,883      
Cost of goods sold, including buying and occupancy expenses         (898)         (452,301)         (22,714)         44,238          (431,675)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit         65,808          352,449          12,162          (35,211)         395,208      
Selling, general and administrative expenses         (95,235)         (237,435)         (9,726)         35,035          (307,361)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Operating (loss) income         (29,427)         115,014          2,436          (176)         87,847      
Interest income         259          -              36          -              295      
Interest expense         (248)         -              -              -              (248)     
Other income (expense), net         79          (1)         41          -              119      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

(Loss) income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates         (29,337)         115,013          2,513          (176)         88,013      
Income tax benefit (expense)         3,879          (40,086)         (242)         -              (36,449)     
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax         77,022          -              -              (77,022)         -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net income (loss)        $ 51,564         $ 74,927         $ 2,271         $ (77,198)        $ 51,564      
           

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

       

      The Gymboree       
 

Corporation     
Guarantor  

  Subsidiaries       
Non-guarantor 

Subsidiaries       Eliminations         Consolidated     
Net sales:               

Retail        $ 7,651         $ 970,789         $ 42,302         $ (19,215)        $ 1,001,527      
Gymboree Play & Music         -              13,384          -              -              13,384      
Intercompany revenue         82,158          3,162          569          (85,889)         -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Total net sales         89,809          987,335          42,871          (105,104)         1,014,911      
Cost of goods sold, including buying and occupancy expenses         (3,957)         (555,790)         (29,097)         53,839          (535,005)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit         85,852          431,545          13,774          (51,265)         479,906      
Selling, general and administrative expenses         (66,230)         (289,853)         (11,279)         51,094          (316,268)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Operating income         19,622          141,692          2,495          (171)         163,638      
Interest income         1,286          -              15          (573)         728      
Interest expense         (243)         -              (573)         573          (243)     
Other income (expense), net         595          (1)         16          -              610      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates         21,260          141,691          1,953          (171)         164,733      
Income tax expense         (4,480)         (56,696)         (1,638)         -              (62,814)     
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax         85,139          -              -              (85,139)         -          

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net income        $ 101,919         $ 84,995         $ 315         $ (85,310)        $ 101,919      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 28, 2012 (SUCCESSOR)  
(In thousands)  
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    The Gymboree     
 

Corporation     

      Guarantor       
 

     
  Subsidiaries           

 Non-guarantor  
 Subsidiaries          Eliminations               Consolidated         

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:               
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities        $ (19,793)        $ 107,443         $ 3,895         $ -             $ 91,545      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:               
Capital expenditures         (3,400)         (30,259)         (2,906)         -              (36,565)     
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired         (1,352)         -              -              -              (1,352)     
Investment in subsidiaries         (110)         -              -              110          -          
Other         4          (267)         (32)         -              (295)     

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash used in investing activities         (4,858)         (30,526)         (2,938)         110          (38,212)     
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:               
Intercompany transfers         76,604          (77,060)         456          -              -          
Proceeds from Term Loan         820,000          -              -              -              820,000      
Payments on Term Loan         (828,200)         -              -              -              (828,200)     
Proceeds from ABL Facility         60,656          -              -              -              60,656      
Payments on ABL Facility         (60,656)         -              -              -              (60,656)     
Deferred financing costs         (6,665)         -              -              -              (6,665)     
Investment by Parent         14,865          -              110          (110)         14,865      
Dividend Payment to Parent         (12,200)         -              -              -              (12,200)     
Capital contribution to noncontrolling interest         -              -              4,477          -              4,477      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities         64,404          (77,060)         5,043          (110)         (7,723)     
           

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents         39,753          (143)         6,000          -              45,610      

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash         -              -              176          -              176      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:               
Beginning of Period         19,157          6,530          6,437          -              32,124      

           
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

End of Period        $ 58,910         $ 6,387         $ 12,613         $ -             $ 77,910      
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THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE PERIOD FROM NOVEMBER 23, 2010 TO JANUARY 29, 2011 (SUCCESSOR)  
(In thousands)  
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      The Gymboree       
 

Corporation     
Guarantor  

    Subsidiaries         
Non-guarantor 

Subsidiaries       Eliminations         Consolidated     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:            
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities     $ (11,140)        $ 30,604         $ 1,616         $ -             $ 21,080      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:            
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired      (1,828,308)         -              -              -              (1,828,308)     
Capital expenditures      (275)         (4,402)         (377)         -              (5,054)     
Other      (17)         (27)         (2)         -              (46)     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash used in investing activities      (1,828,600)         (4,429)         (379)         -              (1,833,408)     
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:            
Intercompany transfers      30,758          (26,451)         (4,307)          -              -          
Proceeds from Term Loan      815,900          -              -              -              815,900      
Proceeds from senior notes      400,000          -              -              -              400,000      
Proceeds from ABL Facility      30,000          -              -              -              30,000      
Payments on ABL facility      (30,000)         -              -              -              (30,000)     
Deferred financing costs      (63,266)         -              -              -              (63,266)     
Purchase of interest rate cap contracts      (12,079)         -              -              -              (12,079)     
Proceeds from issuance of common stock      508,135          -              -              -              508,135      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities      1,679,448          (26,451)         (4,307)         -              1,648,690      
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents      (160,292)         (276)         (3,070)         -              (163,638)     

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash      -              -              852          -              852      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:            
Beginning of Period      179,449          6,806          8,655          -              194,910      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

End of Period     $ 19,157         $ 6,530         $ 6,437         $ -             $ 32,124      
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  



Table of Contents  

THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE PERIOD FROM JANUARY 31, 2010 TO NOVEMBER 22, 2010 (PREDECESSOR)  
(In thousands)  

   

THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 30, 2010 (PREDECESSOR)  
(In thousands)  

   

The Gymboree Corporation and its guarantor subsidiaries participate in a cash pooling program. As part of this program, cash balances 
are generally swept on a daily basis between the guarantor subsidiary bank accounts and those of The Gymboree Corporation. In addition, The 
Gymboree Corporation pays expenses on behalf of its guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries on a regular basis. These types of transactions 
have been accounted for as intercompany transfers within financing activities.  
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  The Gymboree   
 

Corporation     
Guarantor  

    Subsidiaries         
Non-guarantor 

Subsidiaries       Eliminations           Consolidated     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:            
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     $ 19,541         $ 73,003         $ (1,593)        $ -             $ 90,951      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:            
Capital expenditures      (3,087)         (37,253)         (1,874)         -              (42,214)     
Investment in subsidiaries      (1,981)         -              -              1,981          -          
Other      -              (1,156)         (82)         -              (1,238)     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash used in investing activities      (5,068)         (38,409)         (1,956)         1,981          (43,452)     
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:            
Intercompany transfers      35,464          (37,069)         1,605          -              -          
Investment by parent      -              -              1,981          (1,981)         -          
Proceeds from issuance of common stock      1,371          -              -              -              1,371      
Excess tax benefits from exercise and vesting of share-based awards      7,225          5,359          -              -              12,584      
Repurchases of common stock      (124,610)         -              -              -              (124,610)     

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities      (80,550)         (31,710)         3,586          (1,981)         (110,655)     
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents      (66,077)         2,884          37          -              (63,156)      

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash      -              -              394          -              394      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:            
Beginning of Period      245,526          3,922          8,224          -              257,672      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

End of Period     $ 179,449         $ 6,806         $ 8,655         $ -             $ 194,910      
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

       The Gymboree        Guarantor      Non-guarantor                 
     Corporation          Subsidiaries          Subsidiaries        Eliminations            Consolidated     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities      $ 58,698          $ 123,317          $ (5,420)         $ -              $ 176,595      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                 
Capital expenditures       (3,162)          (33,908)          (2,509)          -               (39,579)     

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net cash used in investing activities       (3,162)          (33,908)          (2,509)          -               (39,579)     
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                 
Intercompany transfers       84,586           (88,416)          3,830           -               -          
Proceeds from issuance of common stock       6,055           -               -               -               6,055      
Excess tax benefits from exercise and vesting of share-based awards       2,633           1,117           -               -               3,750      
Repurchases of common stock       (31,340)          -               -               -               (31,340)     

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities       61,934           (87,299)           3,830           -               (21,535)     
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       117,470           2,110           (4,099)          -               115,481      

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash       -               -               1,719           -               1,719      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:                 
Beginning of Period       128,056           1,812           10,604           -               140,472      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

End of Period      $ 245,526          $ 3,922          $ 8,224          $ -              $ 257,672      
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The Gymboree Corporation’s transactions include interest, tax payments and intercompany sales transactions related to administrative 
costs incurred by the Gymboree Corporation, which are billed to guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries on a cost plus basis. All intercompany 
transactions are presumed to be settled in cash and therefore are included in operating activities. Non-operating cash flow changes have been 
classified as financing activities.  

23. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

The quarterly financial information presented below is derived from the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2011, we recorded a non-cash charge related to goodwill impairment of $28.3 million (see Note 5) and a $0.9 million charge related to 
amortization of the increased fair value of an intangible asset (see Note 1).  
   

   

ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  
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     Successor          
     Fiscal 2011 Quarter Ended          

     

      April 30,       
 

2011      

        July 30,         
 

2011      

      October 29,       
 

2011      

         January 28,       
     

2012      

2011  
               Total  

                 

Net sales                 
Retail      $ 265,882          $ 253,407          $ 296,445          $ 348,437          $ 1,164,171      
Gymboree Play & Music       2,925           3,349           3,195           4,416           13,885      
Retail Franchise       1,449           2,280           3,508           2,995           10,232      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total net sales       270,256           259,036           303,148           355,848           1,188,288      

Gross profit       110,860           92,032           130,845           126,205           459,942      
Operating income       26,294           3,151           31,397           (9,341)          51,501      

Net loss       (10,440)          (6,931)          (3,048)          (30,765)          (51,184)     
Net loss attributable to The Gymboree Corporation       (10,440)          (6,931)          (3,048)          (24,926)          (45,345)     

     Predecessor          Successor   
     Fiscal 2010 Quarter Ended             Total from              

     

        May 1,         
 

2010      

       July 31,        
 

2010      

      October 30,       
 

2010      

  October 31, 2010 to   
 

November 22, 2010      

  January 31, 2010 to   
 

November 22, 2010          

 November 23, 2010 to  
 

January 29, 2011   

  
Net sales                      

Retail      $ 249,992          $ 219,293          $ 275,693          $ 69,885          $ 814,863            $ 244,287      
Gymboree Play & Music       2,834           3,252           4,266           495           10,847             2,814      
Retail Franchise       -               204           643           78           925             447      
Other       -               -               248           -               248             -          

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

           
  

Total net sales       252,826           222,749           280,850           70,458           826,883             247,548      

  
Gross profit       130,174           96,896           138,804           29,334           395,208             63,065      
Operating income (loss)       48,659           18,999           56,702           (36,513)          87,847             (15,778)     

  
Net income (loss)       29,186           12,254           34,396           (24,272)          51,564             (23,044)     
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ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

The Company conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and 
procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls 
and procedures, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even 
effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Based on the 
Company’s evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to ensure that information relating to the Company (including its 
consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms. In addition, the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded as of the period covered by this report that the Company’s disclosure controls 
and procedures are also effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the 
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial 
Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

The management of The Gymboree Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2012. In 
making this assessment, management used the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management believes that, as of January 28, 2012, the Company maintained effective 
internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

During the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter, there was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION  

None.  

PART III  

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE  

Directors and Executive Officers  

Our current directors serve until their successors are duly elected and qualified or until the earlier of their resignation, death or removal. 
Directors are elected at an annual meeting of stockholders. Our Board is not required to, and has not determined, whether any of our directors is 
independent under the standards adopted by the NASDAQ, which do not apply to us as we are a privately held corporation.  
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Below is a list of the names, ages as of March 31, 2012 and positions, and a brief account of the business experience, of the individuals 
who serve as our executive officers and directors:  
   

Matthew K. McCauley has served as our Chief Executive Officer since January 2006 and a director of the Board since October 2005. 
Mr. McCauley joined The Gymboree Corporation in July 2001 as Director of Allocation and was named Vice President of Planning and 
Allocation in 2003, Senior Vice President and General Manager in February 2005, President in June 2005 and Chief Executive Officer in 
January 2006. Mr. McCauley also served as Chairman of the Board from July 2006 to November 2010. Mr. McCauley also serves as a director 
of Parent. Prior to joining The Gymboree Corporation, Mr. McCauley served in a variety of positions at Gap Inc., a clothing retailer, including 
Planning Manager from 2000 to 2001 and Manager of Business Solutions in 2001.  

Kip M. Garcia joined The Gymboree Corporation in May 2004 as Senior Vice President of Merchandising—Kids and was named 
President in January 2006. Prior to joining The Gymboree Corporation, Mr. Garcia served as Senior Vice President for GapKids, a division of 
Gap Inc., a children’s clothing retailer, from April 2002 to February 2003 and Senior Vice President for DFS Merchandising Ltd., a travel retail 
company, from February 1992 to February 2002.  

Marina Armstrong has served as our Senior Vice President, General Manager since April 2010 and Secretary since December 2004. 
Ms. Armstrong joined The Gymboree Corporation in May 1997 as a District Manager and became a Human Resources Staffing Manager at the 
corporate office in 1998. Later that year she was promoted to Director, Recruiting and Staffing. Ms. Armstrong was named Vice President, 
Human Resources in 1999, Senior Vice President, Stores, Human Resources and Loss Prevention in February 2005, and Senior Vice President, 
Stores, Human Resources, and Play & Music in January 2006. Ms. Armstrong was named Assistant Secretary in March 2002 and Secretary in 
December 2004. Prior to joining The Gymboree Corporation, Ms. Armstrong held several human resources and store operations positions with 
other retailers including Saks Fifth Avenue, Robinsons-May and The Bon Marche.  

Lynda G. Gustafson has served as our Vice President, Corporate Controller since February 2005. Following the resignation of our 
former Chief Financial Officer, Jeffrey P. Harris, effective January 2012, Ms. Gustafson has also served as our principal financial officer. 
Ms. Gustafson joined The Gymboree Corporation in August 2001 as the Corporate Controller and was promoted to Vice President, Corporate 
Controller in February 2005. Ms. Gustafson was a business consultant for various companies from September 2000 to July 2001. From 
November 1993 to August 2000, Ms. Gustafson was at US Home & Garden, Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of lawn and garden products, 
and was the Vice President, Finance and Principal Accounting Officer when she departed. Ms. Gustafson is a Certified Public Accountant.  

Michael K. Baldwin has served as our Vice President, Planning & Allocation since March 2008. Mr. Baldwin joined The Gymboree 
Corporation in March 2001 as a Merchandise Planner. He was promoted to a Planning Manager in March of 2002, Director of Planning in 
December 2004 and to Senior Director of Planning in September 2005. Mr. Baldwin was promoted to Vice President, Planning in March 2007 
and named Vice President, Planning & Allocation in March 2008. Prior to joining The Gymboree Corporation, Mr. Baldwin was a Distribution 
Analyst for Gap Inc., a clothing retailer, from 2000 to 2001.  
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Name 
      

Age 
      

Position  
      

Committee Membership  
   

Matthew K. McCauley     38    Chief Executive Officer; Director    

Kip M. Garcia     61    President    

Marina Armstrong     49    Senior Vice President, General Manager and Secretary    

Lynda G. Gustafson     47    Vice President, Corporate Controller    

Michael K. Baldwin     38    Vice President, Planning & Allocation    

Joshua Bekenstein     53    Director    Compensation Committee 

Robert C. Gay     60    Director    

Jordan Hitch     45    Director    Audit & Compensation Committees 

Marko Kivisto     36    Director    Audit Committee 

J. Steven Young     50    Director    
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Joshua Bekenstein has been a director on our Board and a director of Parent since November 2010. Mr. Bekenstein joined Bain Capital 
at its inception in 1984. He has been a Managing Director since 1986. Prior to joining Bain Capital, Mr. Bekenstein spent several years at Bain & 
Company where he was involved with companies in a variety of industries. Mr. Bekenstein serves as a director of retailers Toys “R” Us, Inc., 
Burlington Coat Factory Warehouse Corporation, Michaels Stores, Inc. and of Waters Corporation, a laboratory analytical instrument and 
software company.  

Robert C. Gay has been a director on our Board and a director of Parent since February 2011. Mr. Gay   is a Managing Director, Co-
founder, and the Chief Executive Officer of the private equity firm Huntsman Gay Global Capital. He is also a member of Huntsman Gay’s 
Policy and Investment Committee. Mr. Gay has been involved in the private equity business since 1986. From 1989 - 2004, he served as a 
Managing Director of Bain Capital. He was one of the firm’s senior partners and served as a member of its Management and Business Policy 
committees. He also led many of the firm’s investments and oversaw Bain Capital Europe where he opened the firm’s London and Munich 
offices. Mr. Gay started in private equity when he joined GE Capital from McKinsey & Co. where he was an Engagement Manager. At GE he 
was Executive Vice President of the GECC Capital Markets group. He also formed and organized Sorenson Capital, a middle-market private 
equity firm, and was a member of its Advisory Board.  

Jordan Hitch has been a director on our Board and a director of Parent since November 2010. Mr. Hitch joined Bain Capital in 1997. 
Prior to joining Bain Capital, Mr. Hitch was a consultant at the consulting firm Bain & Company where he worked in the financial services, 
healthcare and utility industries. Previously, Mr. Hitch worked for Nalco Chemical Co., a water treatment and process improvement company, as 
an Area Manager. Mr. Hitch serves as a director of retailers Burlington Coat Factory Warehouse Corporation and Bombardier Recreational 
Products Inc.  

Marko Kivisto has been a director on our Board since February 2011 and a director of Parent since December 2010. Mr. Kivisto joined 
Bain Capital in 2007. Prior to joining Bain Capital, Mr. Kivisto was a Manager at Bain & Company where he advised technology, retail, 
healthcare, and financial services clients on corporate strategy, M&A, turnaround management, and operations improvement. Mr. Kivisto was 
also a member of Bain & Company’s Private Equity Practice.  

J. Steven Young has been a director on our Board and a director of Parent since February 2011. Mr. Young is a Managing Director and 
Co-founder of the private equity firm Huntsman Gay Global Capital. He is also a member of Huntsman Gay’s Policy and Investment Committee. 
Prior to his tenure at Huntsman Gay, Mr. Young was a co-founder and Managing Director of Sorenson Capital, a private equity fund which 
focused on middle market leveraged buyouts in the Western United States. Previously, Mr. Young was a member in Northgate Capital, LLC, the 
general partner of Northgate Capital Partners, L.P., a fund of funds.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

Our Board is responsible for governing the Company’s business and affairs. Highlights of the Company’s corporate governance 
practices are described below.  

Board Committees  

Currently, our Board has two active standing committees, each of which is required by its charter to consist of no fewer than two 
directors. The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Hitch and Kivisto. The members of the Compensation Committee are Messrs. Hitch 
and Bekenstein.  

Compensation Committee  

Our Board of Directors has a separately designated Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee consists of two members: 
Messrs. Hitch and Bekenstein.  

Under its charter, the Compensation Committee assists the Board in developing and evaluating potential candidates for executive 
positions. The Compensation Committee also reviews and recommends to the Board for approval the compensation for all executive positions.  

Audit Committee  

Our Board of Directors has a separately designated Audit Committee. The Audit Committee consists of two members: Messrs. Hitch 
and Kivisto.  

Our Board has determined that each member of the Audit Committee is financially literate and has sufficient business and financial 
expertise to effectively perform his duties as a member of the Audit Committee. As the Company is privately held, our Board has determined 
that it is not necessary to designate one or more of our Audit Committee members as an “audit committee financial expert” at this time. Our 
Board has not determined whether any of our Audit Committee members is an independent director due to their affiliations with Bain Capital.  
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Under its charter, the Audit Committee is generally responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process and assists the 
Board in fulfilling the Board’s oversight responsibilities with respect to: (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial statements; (ii) the 
Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iii) the qualifications and independence of the Company’s independent 
registered public accounting firm; and (iv) the performance of the independent registered public accounting firm and of the Company’s internal 
audit function.  

Business & Ethics Code of Conduct  

We adopted a Business & Ethics Code of Conduct that applies to, among others, our principal executive officer, principal financial 
officer, and principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy of our Business & Ethics Code of 
Conduct is available on our Internet website at www.gymboree.com under “Company Information - Corporate Governance.”  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

Introduction  

In general, this section focuses on, and provides a description of, our executive compensation philosophy and objectives and a 
discussion of each of the key elements of our compensation programs for fiscal 2011 as they applied to the individuals identified in the Summary 
Compensation Table, referred to in this report as the “named executive officers.”  

Compensation Discussion and Analysis  

General Philosophy and Objectives  

During fiscal 2011, the Compensation Committees of each of Gymboree and Parent (together, the “Compensation Committees”) were 
responsible for determining the compensation of our named executive officers, including base salary, cash bonus opportunities and long-term 
incentive awards. The philosophy of the Compensation Committees was that executive compensation should be used to attract, reward and retain 
highly-qualified executives in a performance-oriented environment that recognizes individual performance as well as achievement of specific 
Company goals. Consistent with this philosophy, we tied a significant portion of senior executive compensation during fiscal 2011 to our 
financial and business performance.  

Our compensation program for our named executive officers, which principally consists of a mix of base salary, cash bonus 
opportunities and long-term incentives, is designed to provide total compensation at levels competitive with those at comparable companies with 
which we compete for executive talent. We have not adopted any formal policies or guidelines for allocating compensation between short-term 
and long-term compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation or among different forms of cash and non-cash compensation.  

Targeted Total Compensation and Benchmarking  

As a starting point for establishing targeted total compensation for our Chief Executive Officer in fiscal 2011, we evaluated our overall 
compensation levels against compensation levels among a peer group of companies in the retail apparel sector with annual sales, market 
capitalizations and/or ownership profiles comparable to ours. The companies in our peer group for fiscal 2011 were Aeropostale, American 
Eagle, Buckle, Chico’s, Children’s Place, Coldwater Creek, Dress Barn, Guess, Hot Topic, J. Crew, Stein Mart, Men’s Wearhouse, New York & 
Company, Pacific Sunwear, Talbots, Urban Outfitters, Wet Seal and Williams-Sonoma. This peer group consisted of retail companies that 
generally had comparable business models within complex organizations, in addition to companies with revenues ranging from approximately 
$580 million to $3.5 billion in fiscal 2010, which we used as a proxy for business complexity. The peer group was selected by us based in part 
on consultations in fiscal 2010 with compensation consultant Radford, an Aon Consulting Company (“Radford”). While we did not engage 
Radford in fiscal 2011, we determined that it was appropriate to use a peer group in fiscal 2011 that consisted of a similar group as in fiscal 
2010.  

In addition to the peer group information, our review of compensation generally relied on both quantitative and qualitative indicators of 
individual and Company performance in determining total compensation, including the achievement of pre-established earnings targets and other 
performance metrics, expense ratios, store openings, customer acquisition and loyalty, performance relative to certain competitors, the 
achievement of business objectives and strategic initiatives (particularly with respect to our more recently established operating divisions such as 
Crazy 8), succession planning and retention.  
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In fiscal 2011, we followed a similar process with respect to establishing targeted total compensation for our other named executive 
officers. In determining the compensation of other named executive officers other than Mr. Baldwin, the Compensation Committees also 
consulted with our Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Baldwin’s compensation was determined by our Chief Executive Officer.  

Components of Executive Compensation  

During fiscal 2011, we compensated our named executive officers principally through a combination of base salary and cash bonus 
opportunities. Our named executive officers were not granted long-term incentive awards in fiscal 2011, but continued to vest in long-term 
incentives granted in fiscal 2010. We believe that offering executive officers a total compensation package that included a significant portion of 
at-risk, performance-based awards aligns the interests of the officers with those of our stockholders.  

Base Salaries  

The first key component of executive compensation is base salary. Base salaries for our named executive officers were reduced in 
December 2008 as part of an overall Company strategy to reduce costs, including compensation costs, in light of deteriorating economic 
conditions and the challenging retail environment at that time. Those reduced base salaries remained in effect through the end of fiscal 2010 
(other than with respect to Mr. Harris, whose base salary had been increased to $285,000 in fiscal 2010). In fiscal 2011, after considering, among 
other things, base salary levels at companies comprising the peer group described above, the Compensation Committees determined that it was 
appropriate to increase the base salaries for certain of our named executive officers. The Compensation Committees approved the following 
increases in base salary:  
   

On March 27, 2011, we approved a reduction in Mr. Baldwin’s base salary from $225,000 to $205,000. Mr. Baldwin had requested that his base 
salary be so reduced and that the amount previously allocated to his base salary be reallocated to the base salaries of employees supervised by 
him. On October 9, 2011, as part of an overall evaluation of the compensation levels of our executives, we raised Mr. Baldwin’s base salary to 
$250,000. We determined that this increase was appropriate after evaluating Mr. Baldwin’s compensation compared to the compensation of 
similar executives at our retail competitors in the San Francisco Bay Area.  

Cash Bonuses  

The second key component of executive compensation for fiscal 2011 was our cash bonus program. We have also, on occasion, 
provided discretionary cash bonuses in recognition of outstanding performance by an executive or group of executives. The Gymboree 
Compensation Committee granted award opportunities to our named executive officers with respect to fiscal 2011 under the Gymboree 
Corporation Executive Bonus Plan (the “Executive Bonus Plan”). The Compensation Committees determined that the goals for fiscal 2011 cash 
bonus opportunities should be based on Adjusted EBITDA targets. Adjusted EBITDA targets for 2011 were set by starting with the Company’s 
Adjusted EBITDA for fiscal 2010 and increasing it by approximately 15.7%, 11.5%, 7.2% and 3%, in order to determine the bonus target 
payouts at 100%, 75%, 50% and 25% of the Adjusted EBITDA target, respectively. The target payout for fiscal 2011 for each named executive 
officer is described below. However, as we did not meet the applicable Adjusted EBITDA threshold for fiscal 2011, none of the named executive 
officers received a payout under the program.  
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  —   Mr. Garcia’s base salary was increased from $374,000 to $425,000, effective as of October 9, 2011.  
  

—   Mr. Harris’s base salary was increased from $285,000 to $300,000, effective from October 9, 2011 through January 21, 2012 (the date 
Mr. Harris’s employment with the Company terminated).  

  
—   Ms. Gustafson’s base salary was increased from $207,000 to $230,000 effective from March 27, 2011 until October 8, 2011, and then 

from $230,000 to $250,000 effective from October 9, 2011 until January 23, 2012.  

  

—   Ms. Gustafson’s base salary was increased from $250,000 to $300,000 effective as of January 23, 2012. Following Mr. Harris’s 
termination of employment as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Ms. Gustafson was appointed as the Company’s acting principal 
financial officer. The foregoing increase in base salary related to her promotion to that position and is expected to remain in effect for so 
long as she remains in that position.  



Table of Contents  

No discretionary bonuses were paid to named executive officers in fiscal 2011. As a result, none of our named executive officers 
received an annual bonus payout for fiscal 2011.  

Equity Compensation  

The third key component of our executive compensation program is long-term incentive compensation. We believe that the use of stock 
options serves to align the interests of our named executive officers with those of the Company and its stockholders by directly linking 
individual compensation to the Company’s long-term performance (and the resulting performance of Parent), as reflected in stock price 
appreciation and increased stockholder value.  

Following the Transaction, Parent established the Giraffe Holding Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 EIP”). During fiscal 2011, 
no equity or equity-based awards were granted to our named executive officers under the 2010 EIP or otherwise. The Parent Compensation 
Committee, which has been delegated authority to grant awards under the 2010 EIP by the Parent Board, determined not to make additional 
long-term incentive awards to our named executive officers in fiscal 2011 because the stock options granted to our named executive officers in 
fiscal year 2010, which vest over a five-year period, were intended to serve as multi-year incentive awards.  

Other Benefits  

Severance Benefits  

We believe that reasonable severance benefits support employee retention. During fiscal 2011, we maintained two severance plans: The 
Gymboree Corporation Management Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”), and The Gymboree Corporation Management Change of Control 
Plan (the “Change of Control Plan”), each as amended and restated effective April 1, 2008. Only executives who were employed at the time of 
the Transaction were eligible to receive benefits under the Change of Control Plan in fiscal 2011. We evaluated our severance plans in fiscal 
2011 in light of our business needs and the severance benefits provided by members of the peer group described above, and believe that the 
severance benefits we provide are competitive with those offered by our peer companies.  

The Transaction constituted a “change in control” for purpos e s of our Change of Control Plan. All of our named executive officers 
participate in the Change of Control Plan. As a result, until May 23, 2012, if a participating named executive officer’s employment is terminated 
by the Company without cause or by the executive for good reason, he or she will be entitled to severance benefits, if at all, under the Change of 
Control Plan. In such event, such named executive officer would be entitled to receive a lump-sum payment equal to a specified multiple of his 
or her “annual cash compensation” (i.e., his or her base salary in effect as of immediately prior to the change of control plus an amount equal to 
his or her average bonus for the three full fiscal years preceding the change of control), as well as a pro-rated bonus for the year in which the 
termination of employment occurred. Provided that the participating executive timely elects COBRA coverage, such named executive officer 
would also be entitled to Company-paid health and certain other insurance benefits for 18 months following such termination. To the extent that 
benefits under the Change of Control Plan (when aggregated with other payments or benefits to a participant) constitute “parachute payments”
under the Internal Revenue Code that are subject to an excise tax, we are obligated to gross up the change-of-control benefits so that the 
participant receives the benefit promised net of any incremental taxes imposed.  

After May 23, 2012, each of our named executive officers will be entitled to severance benefits, if at all, under the Severance Plan. 
Under the Severance Plan, each of our named executive officers is entitled to receive a severance benefit equal to 100% (50%, in the case of 
Mr. Baldwin) of his or her base salary in the event of a termination by the Company without cause or by the executive for good reason as well 
as, provided that he or she timely elects COBRA coverage, continued Company-paid health and certain other insurance benefits for 18 months 
following such termination.  

During fiscal 2011, we did not have any written employment agreements with our named executive officers. The only contractual 
benefits for a named executive officer in the event of a termination of employment and/or a change of control are under the severance plans 
described above. Please see “Potential Payments upon Termination of Employment or a Change in Control” for additional details regarding our 
severance and change of control benefits.  
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Target payout  

    (% of base salary)       
Actual payout  

  (% of base salary)      
Actual payout  

  (% of target payout)   

Matthew K. McCauley      150%    —     — 
Jeffrey P. Harris      65%    —     — 
Kip M. Garcia      100%    —     — 
Marina Armstrong      85%    —     — 
Lynda G. Gustafson      40%    —     — 
Michael K. Baldwin      40%    —     — 
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On December 30, 2011, Jeffrey Harris, the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer, resigned from this position effective January 21, 
2012. Because he voluntarily terminated employment, he was not entitled to benefits under the Change of Control Plan or the Severance Plan. 
Given Mr. Harris’s knowledge of our business and the role he played at the Company, the Company asked Mr. Harris to continue to provide, and 
Mr. Harris provided, certain consulting services to the Company following his employment termination. Mr. Harris’s consulting arrangement is 
summarized on Exhibit 10.12 (“Summary of Consulting Arrangement for Jeffrey P. Harris”). The Company does not expect Mr. Harris to 
provide additional services under this arrangement.  

Retirement Plans  

In fiscal 2011, we maintained a 401(k) plan in which named executive officers were eligible to participate. We did not provide an 
employer match under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2011.  

Perquisites and Other Benefits  

During fiscal 2011, our named executive officers received certain other benefits and perquisites. The primary perquisite for executives 
at and above the level of Vice President consisted of reimbursement of up to 1% of base salary for tax-related and other financial planning 
services. We also paid all medical, dental and vision insurance premiums for employees at and above the level of Vice President, and we paid 
life and disability insurance premiums for all eligible employees (although Ms. Gustafson is provided with long-term disability benefits that are 
slightly more generous than those provided to other employees). Certain other benefit programs had been made available to eligible employees, 
including our named executive officers, including discounts on our products.  

Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation  

The Company is not subject to the “say on pay” rules under Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and therefore the 
Company’s stockholders were not required to vote on the Company’s executive compensation in fiscal 2011.  

Executive Compensation Tables  

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation for each of our named executive officers for fiscal years 2011, 2010 
and 2009 (to the extent applicable). All numbers are rounded to the nearest dollar.  

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE  
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Name and Principal  
Position       Year        

    Salary     
 

($)(1)      

    Bonus     
 

($)      

Stock  
    Awards     

 
($)(2)      

Non-Equity  
  Incentive Plan   

 
Compensation  

($)(3)      

All Other  
  Compensation   

 
($)(4)          Total ($)         

Matthew K. McCauley       2011         $ 637,500         $ —          $ —         $ —          $ 22,235         $ 659,735     
Chairman and CEO       2010          637,500          —           14,617,802          1,075,781          20,788,922          37,120,005     

     2009          637,500          240,000          3,474,000          —           15,258          4,366,758     

Jeffrey P. Harris       2011          330,577          —           —           —           12,434          343,011     
CFO (resigned effective       2010          285,000          —           2,588,670          208,406          1,276,533          4,358,609     

January 21, 2012                       

Kip M. Garcia       2011          389,692          —           —           —           12,937          402,629     
President       2010          374,000          —           6,857,919          420,750          10,724,312          18,376,981     

     2009          374,000          120,000          2,316,000          —           12,666          2,822,666     

Marina Armstrong       2011          338,800          —           —           —           15,716          354,516     
SVP, General Manager       2010          338,800          —           6,177,749          323,978          9,585,838          16,426,365     

     2009          338,800          120,000          2,316,000          —           18,673          2,793,473     

Lynda G. Gustafson       2011          233,577          —           —           —           13,968          247,545     
VP, Corporate Controller       2010          207,000          102,282          721,768          62,100          848,458          1,941,608     

     2009          207,000          132,100          231,600          —           14,099          584,799     

Michael K. Baldwin       2011          221,923          —           —           —           6,613          228,536     
VP, Planning & Allocation                       
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2011 GRANTS OF PLAN BASED AWARDS TABLE  

The following table provides information regarding grants of plan-based awards for each of our named executive officers for fiscal 
2011.  
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(1) Reflects the dollar amount of base salary paid in the fiscal year, including any salary increases and decreases effective during the year. 
The amount of salary listed for Mr. Harris also includes cash paid to him in lieu of his accrued paid time off in connection with his 
cessation of employment.  

(2) Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options under our equity plans computed in accordance with Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718, Stock Compensation , which is referred to as “FASB 
ASC Topic 718,” rather than an amount paid to or realized by the named executive officer. The fair value of stock options is calculated 
based on the Black-Scholes option valuation model using the assumptions disclosed in Note 10 to the Company’s audited financial 
statements included in this annual report. The fair values in this column exclude the effect of estimated forfeitures.  

(3) None of our named executive officers earned a bonus under the Executive Bonus Plan for fiscal 2011.  
(4) The All Other Compensation column for fiscal 2011 with respect to each of our named executive officers consists of the following 

amounts:  

    

Medical, Life  and  
Disability  
Insurance  

        Premiums (a)           

Financial  
Planning  

      Services (b)       

Matthew K. McCauley     $ 15,860        $ 6,375     
Jeffrey P. Harris      12,434         —     
Kip M. Garcia      12,937         —     
Marina Armstrong      15,716         —     
Lynda G. Gustafson      13,968         —     
Michael K. Baldwin      6,613         —     

  

  
(a) Reflects insurance premiums, the full cost of which is paid by the Company. The amount shown for Mr. Harris reflects premiums 

paid by the Company.  
  

(b) Reflects reimbursement of financial/tax planning services. Each named executive officer is eligible for reimbursement of such 
costs, up to 1% of his or her salary.  

            

Estimated Possible Payouts Under Non-  
Equity Incentive Plan Awards  

(1)    

Name           

    Threshold     
($)       

    Target     
($)       

    Maximum     
($)    

            
  

         
  

Matthew K. McCauley              

Bonus Plan       2011          239,063          956,250          956,250     

Jeffrey P. Harris              

Bonus Plan (2)       2011          47,058          188,231          188,231     

Kip M. Garcia              

Bonus Plan       2011          97,399          389,595          389,595     

Marina Armstrong              

Bonus Plan       2011          71,995          287,980          287,980     

Lynda G. Gustafson              

Bonus Plan       2011          23,326          93,302          93,302     

Michael K. Baldwin              

Bonus Plan       2011          22,185          88,738          88,738     
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(1)        Reflects award opportunities for each named executive officer under the Executive Bonus Plan for fiscal 2011. Based on 
Company performance, none of the named executive officers received a bonus, as described in the Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis section above.  
(2)        Mr. Harris resigned effective prior to our fiscal year-end and therefore would have only been eligible to receive a pro-rated 
bonus payment under the Executive Bonus Plan for fiscal 2011 had a bonus been payable under such plan.  

2011 OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END T ABLE  

The following table provides information regarding the number of Units underlying outstanding equity awards for each named 
executive officer as of January 28, 2012.  
   

   

2011 POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE OF CONTROL TABLE  

The potential payments upon termination of employment or change of control for each of the named executive officers are set forth in 
the table below.  

Amounts payable pursuant to the Change of Control Plan assume a qualifying termination of employment on January 28, 2012, the last 
business day of our 2011 fiscal year. Because each of our named executive officers would be entitled to benefits under the Change of Control 
Plan, no benefits would have been payable to our named executive officers under the Severance Plan in connection with a termination of 
employment on January 28, 2012. The terms of the Change of Control Plan and the Severance Plan are described above under the heading 
“Other Benefits – Severance Benefits.”  

If a change of control (as defined in the 2010 EIP) had occurred on January 28, 2012, the last business day of our 2011 fiscal year, 
outstanding option awards under the 2010 EIP would have vested in full. However, because the per Unit value did not exceed the exercise price 
of outstanding options held by named executive officers as of January 28, 2012, our named executive officers would receive no current cash 
benefit on account of such acceleration (assuming options were cashed out in such change of control transaction).  

None of our named executive officers was entitled to receive any severance payments or benefits upon a voluntary termination or a 
termination due to death, disability or cause on January 28, 2012, other than accrued base salary as of the date of termination. Furthermore, none 
of our named executive officers is entitled to any enhanced severance benefits following a future change of control.  
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Number of Units  Underlying  
Unexercised Options (#)  

(2)                 

Name     

    Grant Date     
 

(1)            Exercisable           Unexercisable       

Option  
    Exercise     

 
Price ($)  

(3)      

Option  
    Expiration     

 
Date  
(4)   

Matthew K. McCauley       12/28/2010        61,300       245,200          45.00          12/28/2020     

Jeffrey P. Harris       12/28/2010        10,800       43,200          45.00          12/28/2020     

Kip M. Garcia       12/28/2010        27,600       110,400          45.00          12/28/2020     

Marina Armstrong       12/28/2010        23,000       92,000          45.00          12/28/2020     

Lynda G. Gustafson       12/28/2010        3,080       12,320          45.00          12/28/2020     

Michael K. Baldwin       12/28/2010        3,080       12,320          45.00          12/28/2020     

     1/27/2011        720       2,880          45.00          1/27/2021     

  (1) All options referenced in this table were granted under the 2010 EIP.  
  

(2) Each option is exercisable (to the extent provided under its terms) for a Unit consisting of nine shares of Class A Common Stock 
and one share of Class L Common Stock of Parent.  

  (3) The exercise price per Unit of each stock option is equal to the fair market value of a Unit on the grant date.  
  

(4) All options have a maximum 10-year term and are subject to a five-year vesting schedule, with 20% vesting each of the first five 
anniversaries of the grant date, subject to the optionee’s continued employment with the Company.  
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Potential Payments upon Involuntary Termination of Employment (1)  
   

   

2011 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION  

None of Messrs. McCauley, Bekenstein, Gay, Hitch, Kivisto or Young were paid for their duties as members of the Board of Directors 
in fiscal 2011.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS  

Gymboree Holding, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company, indirectly owns all of our outstanding equity interests. The following 
table sets forth information with respect to the ownership as of March 31, 2012 for (a) each person known by us to own beneficially more than a 
5% equity interest in Gymboree Holding, Ltd., (b) each member of our Board of Directors (who are also members of the Board of Directors of 
Gymboree Holding, Ltd.), (c) each of our named executive officers, and (d) all of our and Gymboree Holding, Ltd. executive officers and 
directors as a group. The beneficial ownership percentages reflected in the table below are based on 104,600,007 Class A Common Shares, 
11,622,223 Class L Common Shares and 1,220,003 Class C Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, Ltd. outstanding as of March 31, 2012.  

The amounts and percentages of shares beneficially owned are reported on the basis of SEC regulations governing the determination of 
beneficial ownership of securities. Under SEC rules, a person is deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of a security if that person has or shares 
voting power or investment power, which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed 
to be a beneficial owner of any securities of which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Securities that can be 
so acquired are deemed to be outstanding for  
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Name         Severance (2)          

Benefit 
   

    Continuation (3)              Tax Gross-Up (4)                  Total           

Matthew K. McCauley       5,143,290          25,078          5,065,727          10,234,095     
Jeffrey P. Harris (5)       —           —           —           —      
Kip M. Garcia       2,512,943          20,379          2,728,617          5,261,939     
Marina Armstrong       2,229,900          24,863          —           2,254,763     
Lynda G. Gustafson       754,899          22,723          —           777,622     
Michael K. Baldwin       806,248          11,344          —           817,592     

(1) Amounts shown below assume, in each case, an involuntary termination of employment (other than for death, disability or cause) that 
would entitle the executive to benefits under the Change of Control Plan.  

(2) Severance amounts consist of 300% (or, for Ms. Gustafson and Mr. Baldwin, 200%) of the sum of the named executive officer’s base 
salary in effect on November 23, 2010 (the date of the Transaction) and average annual bonus payments for the three completed fiscal 
years prior to the Transaction. These amounts also assume that no pro-rated bonus amount would have been paid under the Change of 
Control Plan.  

(3) Benefit continuation amounts assume 18 months of continued coverage under the Company’s medical, dental, vision, disability and life 
insurance plans. Disability and life insurance costs are estimated based on the Company’s current group plan benefit costs. Medical, 
dental and vision insurance costs are calculated using the current post-termination continued benefit rate prescribed by the applicable 
plan.  

(4) Amounts shown below are estimated tax gross-up payments due under the Change of Control Plan for Transaction-related change-of-
control excise taxes in the case of an assumed termination of employment on January 28, 2012. For purposes of calculating the 
estimated gross-up payments, we assumed that only a portion of the value of certain awards of restricted stock and restricted stock units 
that were cashed out in connection with the Transaction is taken into account, that certain performance goals associated with such 
awards had been met or were substantially certain to have been met as of the Transaction, and that no payment with respect to such 
awards is treated as contingent upon the Transaction under a special presumption applicable to agreements entered into or amendments 
made within one year before the Transaction.  

(5) Mr. Harris voluntarily resigned his employment effective January 21, 2012. Mr. Harris received no amounts in connection with his 
termination of employment, except for earned but unpaid base salary and benefits.  



Table of Contents  

purposes of computing such person’s ownership percentage, but not for purposes of computing any other person’s percentage. Under these rules, 
more than one person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the same securities and a person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of 
securities as to which such person has no economic interest.  

The rights of holders of the Class A Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, Ltd., the Class L Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, 
Ltd. and the Class C Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, Ltd. (referred to collectively in this report as “Common Shares”) are governed by 
certain organizational documents and agreements, including the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of Gymboree 
Holding, Ltd., amended by special resolution dated 23 December 2011, a shareholders agreement by and among Gymboree Holding, Ltd., 
Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC , the Bain Stockholders (as defined in note (1) below), Giraffe Holding, Inc., and certain co-investors, 
entered into on December 23, 2011, and a registration and participation rights agreement by and among Gymboree Holding, Ltd., Gymboree 
Investment Holdings, LLC, the Bain Stockholders (as defined in note (1) below), Giraffe Holding, Inc., and certain co-investors. See “Item 13. 
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.” Except as described in the organizational documents and 
agreements referred to above or as otherwise indicated in a footnote, each of the beneficial owners listed has, to our knowledge, sole voting and 
investment power with respect to the indicated shares.  

Unless otherwise indicated in a footnote, the address for each individual listed below is c/o The Gymboree Corporation, 500 Howard 
Street, San Francisco, CA 94105.  
   

     * Less than one percent  

(1)    Represents 99,162,829.28 shares of Class A Common Shares, 11,018,092.14 Class L Common Shares and 1,153,495 Class C Common 
Shares held by Bain Capital Fund X, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (“Bain Capital Fund X”), 383,045.51 shares of 
Class A Common Shares, 42,560.61 shares of Class L Common Shares and 7,556 Class C Common Shares held by BCIP Associates IV (US), 
L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership (“BCIP IV”), 190,136.39 shares of Class A Common Shares, 21,126.27 shares of Class L 
Common Shares and 2,218 Class C Common Shares held by BCIP T Associates IV (US), L.P. a Cayman Islands limited partnership (“BCIP 
T IV”), 115,692.14 shares of Class A Common Shares, 12,854.68 shares of Class L Common Shares and 1,349 Class C Common Shares held 
by BCIP Associates IV-B (US), L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (“BCIP IV-B”), and 17,534.68 shares of Class A 
Common Shares, 1,948.30 shares of Class L Common Shares and 205 Class C Common Shares held by BCIP T Associates IV-B (US), L.P., a 
Cayman Islands limited partnership (“BCIP T IV-B” and, together with Bain Capital Fund X, BCIP IV, BCIP T IV and BCIP IV-B, the “Bain 
Stockholders”). Bain Capital Partners X, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (“Bain Capital Partners X”), is the general 
partner of Bain Capital Fund X, and Bain Capital Investors, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“BCI”), is the general partner of each 
of Bain Capital Partners X, BCIP IV, BCIP T IV, BCIP IV-B and BCIP T IV-B. By virtue of these relationships, Bain Capital Partners X may 
be deemed to have voting and dispositive power with respect to the 99,162,829.28 shares of Class A Common Shares, 11,018,092.14 shares 
of Class L Common Shares and 1,153,495 Class C Common Shares held by Bain Capital Fund X and BCI may be deemed to have voting and 
dispositive power with respect to the 99,869,238 shares of Class A Common Shares, 11,096,582 shares of Class L Common Shares and 
1,164,823 Class C Common Shares held by the Bain Stockholders. Each of BCI and Bain Capital  
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Name of Beneficial Owner          

Class A  
   

Common Shares    

Class L  
   

Common Shares    

Class C  
   

Common Shares    

Percentage 
   

Ownership   

Bain Stockholders (1)     99,869,238    11,096,582    1,164,823      95.48%    

Matthew K. McCauley     600,003    66,667    6,998      *    

Blair Lambert (2)     250,002    27,778    2,916      *    

Marina Armstrong     200,007    22,223    2,333      *    

Kip M. Garcia     100,008    11,112    1,166      *    

Jeffrey P. Harris (3)     20,250    2,250    236      *    

Jordan Hitch (4)     99,869,238    11,096,582    1,164,823      95.48%    

Joshua Bekenstein (4)     99,869,238    11,096,582    1,164,823      95.48%    

Marko Kivisto     —    —    —      —   

J. Steven Young     —    —    —      —   

Robert C. Gay     —    —    —      —   

All executive officers and directors as a group (11 
people) (5)     1,170,270    130,030    13,649      1.12%    
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Partners X expressly disclaims beneficial ownership of any securities owned beneficially or of record by any person or persons other than 
itself for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) and Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act and expressly disclaims beneficial ownership of any such 
securities except to the extent of its pecuniary interest therein. The business address of each of the Bain Stockholders, Bain Capital Partners X 
and BCI is c/o Bain Capital Partners, LLC, 111 Huntington Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02199.  
(2)    Mr. Lambert resigned as our Chief Operating Officer effective December 1, 2010 and is no longer an officer of the Company.  
(3)    Mr. Harris resigned as our Chief Financial Officer effective January 21, 2012 and is no longer an officer of the Company.  
(4)    Includes all Common Shares of Gymboree Holding, Ltd. held by each of the Bain Stockholders. Each of Messrs. Hitch and Bekenstein 
is a Managing Director of BCI and, by virtue of this and the relationships described in note (1) above, may be deemed to share voting and 
dispositive power with respect to the 99,869,238 shares of Class A Common Shares, 11,096,582 shares of Class L Common Shares and 
1,164,823 Class C Common Shares held by the Bain Stockholders. Each of Messrs. Hitch and Bekenstein expressly disclaims beneficial 
ownership of any securities owned beneficially or of record by any person or persons other than himself for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) and 
Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act and expressly disclaims beneficial ownership of any such securities except to the extent of his pecuniary 
interest therein. The business address of each of Messrs. Hitch and Bekenstein is c/o Bain Capital Partners, LLC, 111 Huntington Avenue, 
Boston, Massachusetts 02199.  
(5)    This number does not include the 99,869,238 shares of Class A Common Shares, 11,096,582 shares of Class L Common Shares and 
1,164,823 Class C Common Shares that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by the Bain Stockholders.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE  

Management Agreement  
On October 23, 2010, Acquisition Sub and Parent entered into a management agreement with Bain Capital Partners, LLC (“Bain 

Capital”), pursuant to which Bain Capital agreed to provide certain management services to Acquisition Sub and Parent until December 31, 2020 
(unless terminated earlier), with evergreen one-year extensions thereafter. We have assumed the obligations of Acquisition Sub under this 
agreement by operation of law as a result of the Transaction. In April 2012, Parent, Bain Capital and the Company entered into a first amended 
and restated management agreement. Pursuant to such agreement (as amended and restated), Bain Capital is entitled to receive an aggregate 
annual management fee equal to $3 million, which fee will be reduced by $270,000 until such time as Bain notifies the Company in writing, and 
reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by it or its affiliates in connection with the provision of services pursuant to the agreement or 
otherwise related to its investment. We paid Bain Capital approximately $3.3 million and $1.1 million in management fees and reimbursement of 
out-of-pocket expenses during fiscal 2011 and the period from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, respectively. In addition, in the period 
from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 2011, pursuant to such agreement, we paid Bain Capital aggregate transaction fees of approximately $17 
million in connection with services it provided related to the Transaction.  

The management agreement provides that Bain Capital is entitled to receive fees in connection with certain subsequent financing, 
acquisition, disposition and change of control transactions of 1% of the gross transaction value of any such transaction. The management 
agreement includes customary exculpation and indemnification provisions in favor of Bain Capital and its affiliates. The management agreement 
may be terminated by Bain Capital at any time and will terminate automatically upon an initial public offering or a change of control unless the 
Company and the counterparty to the management agreement determine otherwise. Upon termination, each provider of management services 
will be entitled to a termination fee calculated based on the present value of the annual fees due during the remaining period from the date of 
termination to December 31, 2020 or the then-applicable scheduled date for termination of the management agreement.  

Stockholders Agreement  
On November 23, 2010, Parent, the Company, certain investment funds sponsored by Bain Capital (collectively the “Bain Funds”), 

Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. and certain co-investors entered into a stockholders agreement. The agreement, among 
other things, creates certain rights and restrictions on the shares of Parent’s Common Stock held by the parties thereto, including transfer 
restrictions, tag-along and drag-along rights, and put and call rights.  

On December 23, 2011, Parent, the Company, Bain Funds, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. and Gymboree 
Investment Holdings, LLC amended and restated this stockholders agreement to, among other things; include Gymboree Investment Holdings, 
LLC as a party thereto and to reflect the changed ownership structure discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in 
this annual report (Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC is owned directly by Gymboree Holding, Ltd.). The material terms of the agreement 
were left unchanged.  
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Registration and Participation Rights Agreement  
On November 23, 2010, Parent, the Company, the Bain Funds, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. and certain co-

investors entered into a registration and participation rights agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, the Bain Funds have a right to participate in 
any future issuances or sales of the capital stock of Parent or any of its subsidiaries or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any 
such securities, including options. The agreement also gives certain investors demand and piggyback registration rights with respect to their and 
certain other persons’ interests in Parent.  

On December 23, 2011, Parent, the Company, Bain Funds, Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., and Gymboree 
Investment Holdings, LLC amended and restated this agreement to, among other things, include Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC as a party 
thereto and to reflect the changed ownership structure discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report 
(Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC is owned directly by Gymboree Holding, Ltd.). The material terms of the agreement were left unchanged. 

Indemnification of Directors and Officers; Directors’  and Officers’  Insurance  
Under the Merger Agreement relating to the Transaction, the directors and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries who 

served as such prior to the consummation of the Transaction are entitled to continued indemnification and insurance coverage.  

Franchise Agreements  
In November 2011, Gymboree Play Programs, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a fiveyear Master Service 

Agreement with Gymboree (Tianjin) Educational Information Consultation Co. Ltd, an affiliate of the Company and indirect subsidiary of 
Gymboree Holding, Ltd., to service all of the unit franchises in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) Territory and provide certain services to 
the Company in connection with such unit franchises. Under the terms of the agreement, Tianjin will purchase product and equipment from us 
and collect royalties and franchise fees from unit franchises within the PRC Territory on our behalf. As consideration for Tianjin’s obligations 
under this agreement, Tianjin will be entitled to retain a fee from the payment due to us. These intercompany revenues and charges have been 
eliminated upon consolidation.  

In December 2011, we entered into a ten-year Retail Store Franchise Agreement with Gymboree (China) Commercial and Trading Co. 
Ltd., an affiliate of the Company and indirect subsidiary of Gymboree Holding, Ltd., to develop, own and operate Gymboree branded retail 
stores and website(s) to market and sell Gymboree branded products in the PRC Territory under the Gymboree license and trademarks. Under 
the terms of the agreement, Gymboree China will purchase inventory from us and pay us royalties on retail sales within the PRC Territory. All 
intercompany revenues and charges have been eliminated in consolidation.  

The Audit Committee approved written procedures authorizing the Company’s General Counsel to review and approve or ratify related-
person transactions involving the payment by the Company of amounts of $100,000 or less (unless involving the General Counsel). These 
procedures require the General Counsel to promptly report to the Audit Committee each such related-person transaction reviewed by her and her 
determination. Related-person transactions involving payments by the Company of amounts greater than $100,000 require the approval or 
ratification of the Audit Committee.  

As discussed in Item 10 above, our Board has not determined whether any of our directors are independent. See “Item 10. Directors and 
Executive Officers of the Registrant.”  
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES  

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Services  

The fees billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP for the indicated services performed during fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 were as follows:  
   

   

   

   

   

The Audit Committee has considered the non-audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP as described above and believes that 
they are compatible with maintaining Deloitte & Touche LLP’s independence as the Company’s principal accountants.  

The Audit Committee has established a policy requiring its pre-approval of the retention of the Company’s independent registered 
public accounting firm for all audit, review or attest engagements and all such non-audit services as the independent registered public accounting 
firm is permitted to provide the Company, as well as its approval of all fees, including those listed in the table above, for such services, other 
than de minimis non-audit services allowed by applicable law.  

Our Board has determined that each member of the Audit Committee is financially literate and has sufficient business and financial 
expertise to effectively perform his duties as a member of the Audit Committee. As the Company is privately held and controlled by investment 
funds sponsored by Bain Capital, our Board has determined that it is not necessary to designate one or more of our Audit Committee members as 
an “audit committee financial expert” at this time. Our Board has not determined whether any of our Audit Committee members is an 
independent director.  
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       Fiscal 2011      Fiscal 2010      

  

  Audit Fees (1)      $                952,100         $             1,646,700        
  Audit-Related Fees (2)       4,000          4,000        
  Tax Fees (3)       325,200          398,300        
  All Other Fees (4)       2,500          2,200        
           

  
         

  
   

      $             1,283,800         $             2,051,200        
           

  

         

  

   

(1) Audit Fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company’s consolidated annual financial 
statements and internal control over financial reporting, review of the interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly 
reports and services that are normally provided by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm in connection with 
statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.  

(2) Audit-Related Fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or 
review of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and are not reported under Audit Fees. In fiscal 2011 and 2010, these fees 
were related to consents issued for the Company’s annual franchise disclosure document.  

(3) Tax Fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. In fiscal 2011, these 
fees included $278,500 for tax consultation and $46,700 for tax compliance. In fiscal 2010, these fees included $333,500 for tax 
consultation and $64,800 for tax compliance.  

(4) Other Fees consist of license fees for an online technical research tool.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

(A)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 28, 2012 (Successor) and January 29, 2011 (Successor)  

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor), the periods from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 
2011 (Successor), and from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and the year ended January 30, 2010 (Predecessor)  

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor), the periods from November 23, 
2010 to January 29, 2011 (Successor), and from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and the year ended January 30, 2010 
(Predecessor)  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor), the periods from November 23, 2010 to January 29, 
2011 (Successor), and from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and the year ended January 30, 2010 (Predecessor)  

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the year ended January 28, 2012 (Successor), the periods from November 23, 2010 to 
January 29, 2011 (Successor), and from January 31, 2010 to November 22, 2010 (Predecessor) and the year ended January 30, 2010 
(Predecessor)  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
(A)(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required or are not applicable.  
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(A)(3) EXHIBITS  
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Exhibit  
Number    

Description 
   

  

2.1 
   

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 11, 2010 by and among Giraffe Holding, Inc., Giraffe 
Acquisition Corporation and The Gymboree Corporation. (1)     

3.1    Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Gymboree Corporation. (2)     

3.2    Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Gymboree Corporation. (2)     

3.3    Articles of Organization of Gym-Card, LLC dated November 25, 2008. (3)     

3.4    Operating Agreement of Gym-Card, LLC dated December 8, 2008. (3)     

3.5    Articles of Incorporation of Gym-Mark, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.6    Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gym-Mark, Inc. (3)     

3.7    Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Manufacturing, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.8    Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Manufacturing, Inc. (3)     

3.9    Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Operations, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.10    Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Operations, Inc. (3)     

3.11    Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Play Programs, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.12    Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Play Programs, Inc. (3)     

3.13    Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Retail Stores, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.14    Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Retail Stores, Inc. (3)     

3.15    Articles of Incorporation of S.C.C. Wholesale, Inc. dated August 20, 2010. (3)     

3.16    Amended and Restated Bylaws of S.C.C. Wholesale, Inc. (3)     

4.1 
   

Indenture, dated as of November 23, 2010, among Giraffe Acquisition Corporation as Issuer, the Guarantors 
from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee. (3)     

4.1.1 
   

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 23, 2010, among The Gymboree Corporation, the 
Guarantors named therein and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee. (3)     

4.2    Form of Global Exchange Note (included in Exhibit 4.1). (3)     

10.1*    Amended and Restated Management Change of Control Plan. (4)     

10.2*    Amended and Restated Management Severance Plan. (5)     

10.3*    The Gymboree Corporation Executive Bonus Plan. (3)     

10.4    Form of Indemnification Agreement. (6)     

10.5    Sublease Agreement for 500 Howard Street, San Francisco, CA. (7)     

10.6 

   

Refinancing Amendment, Agreement and Joinder with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch dated as 
of February 11, 2011 in respect of the Credit Agreement with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch 
dated as of November 23, 2010. (3)     

10.7 
   

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch dated as of 
February 11, 2011. (3)     

10.8 

   

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2012, by and among The Gymboree 
Corporation, the other borrowers from time to time party thereto, Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., the other 
facility guarantors from time to time party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent for such lenders (8)     



Table of Contents  

   
91  

10.9  
   

Amended & Restated Management Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2012, by and among Giraffe 
Holding, Inc., The Gymboree Corporation, and Bain Capital Partners, LLC.     

10.10  

   

Amended & Restated Stockholders Agreement dated as of December 23, 2011 by and among Giraffe 
Holding, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., The Gymboree Corporation 
and the Investors, Other Investors and Managers named therein.     

10.11  

   

Amended & Restated Registration and Participation Rights Agreement dated as of December 23, 2011 
by and among Giraffe Holding, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., The 
Gymboree Corporation and certain stockholders of Giraffe Holding, Inc. party thereto.     

10.12     Summary of Consulting Arrangement for Jeffrey P. Harris.     

21.1     Subsidiaries of The Gymboree Corporation.     

31.1     Certification of Matthew K. McCauley Pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     

31.2     Certification of Lynda G. Gustafson Pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     

32.1  
   

Certification of Matthew K. McCauley Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.§1350, as Adopted Pursuant to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     

32.2  
   

Certification of Lynda G. Gustafson Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.§1350, as Adopted Pursuant to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     



Table of Contents  

   

* Indicates management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as exhibits to this report on Form 10-K.  
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101  

   

The following materials from The Gymboree Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
January 28, 2012, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(Loss), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and 
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.     

    

   

(1) 
   

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on October 12, 2010.  

   

(2) 
   

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibits to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on November 23, 2010.  

   

(3) 
   

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibits to The Gymboree Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed 
with the SEC on June 14, 2011.  

   

(4) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
April 7, 2008.  

   

(5) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
April 7, 2008.  

   

(6) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
January 30, 2010 filed with the SEC on March 30, 2010.  

   

(7) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period 
ended May 1, 2004 filed with the SEC on June 9, 2004.  

   

(8) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
April 5, 2012.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
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    THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION 

April 26, 2012                 By:   /s/ Matthew K. McCauley  
(Date)       Matthew K. McCauley 

      Chief Executive Officer; Director 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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NAME    TITLE   DATE 

/s/ Matthew K. McCauley     Chief Executive Officer; Director   April 26, 2012 
Matthew K. McCauley    (Principal Executive Officer)   

/s/ Lynda G. Gustafson     Vice President, Corporate Controller   April 26, 2012 
Lynda G. Gustafson 

   

(Principal Accounting Officer and Principal  
Financial Officer)    

/s/ Joshua Bekenstein     Director   April 26, 2012 
Joshua Bekenstein      

/s/ Robert C. Gay     Director   April 26, 2012 
Robert C. Gay      

/s/ Jordan Hitch     Director   April 26, 2012 
Jordan Hitch      

/s/ Marko Kivisto     Director   April 26, 2012 
Marko Kivisto      

/s/ J. Steven Young     Director   April 26, 2012 
J. Steven Young      
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Exhibit  
Number    

Description 
   

  

2.1  
   

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 11, 2010 by and among Giraffe Holding, Inc., Giraffe 
Acquisition Corporation and The Gymboree Corporation. (1)     

3.1     Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Gymboree Corporation. (2)     

3.2     Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Gymboree Corporation. (2)     

3.3     Articles of Organization of Gym-Card, LLC dated November 25, 2008. (3)     

3.4     Operating Agreement of Gym-Card, LLC dated December 8, 2008. (3)     

3.5     Articles of Incorporation of Gym-Mark, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.6     Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gym-Mark, Inc. (3)     

3.7     Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Manufacturing, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.8     Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Manufacturing, Inc. (3)     

3.9     Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Operations, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.10     Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Operations, Inc. (3)     

3.11     Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Play Programs, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.12     Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Play Programs, Inc. (3)     

3.13     Articles of Incorporation of Gymboree Retail Stores, Inc. dated July 5, 1994. (3)     

3.14     Amended and Restated Bylaws of Gymboree Retail Stores, Inc. (3)     

3.15     Articles of Incorporation of S.C.C. Wholesale, Inc. dated August 20, 2010. (3)     

3.16     Amended and Restated Bylaws of S.C.C. Wholesale, Inc. (3)     

4.1  
   

Indenture, dated as of November 23, 2010, among Giraffe Acquisition Corporation as Issuer, the Guarantors 
from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee. (3)     

4.1.1  
   

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 23, 2010, among The Gymboree Corporation, the Guarantors 
named therein and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee. (3)     

4.2     Form of Global Exchange Note (included in Exhibit 4.1). (3)     

10.1*     Amended and Restated Management Change of Control Plan. (4)     

10.2*     Amended and Restated Management Severance Plan. (5)     

10.3*     The Gymboree Corporation Executive Bonus Plan. (3)     

10.4     Form of Indemnification Agreement. (6)     

10.5     Sublease Agreement for 500 Howard Street, San Francisco, CA. (7)     

10.6  

   

Refinancing Amendment, Agreement and Joinder with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch dated as of 
February 11, 2011 in respect of the Credit Agreement with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch dated as 
of November 23, 2010. (3)     

10.7  
   

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch dated as of 
February 11, 2011. (3)     

10.8     Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2012, by and among The Gymboree     
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Corporation, the other borrowers from time to time party thereto, Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., the other facility 
guarantors from time to time party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, 
N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent for such lenders (8)     

10.9  
   

Amended & Restated Management Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2012, by and among Giraffe Holding, 
Inc., The Gymboree Corporation, and Bain Capital Partners, LLC.     

10.10  

   

Amended & Restated Stockholders Agreement dated as of December 23, 2011 by and among Giraffe Holding, 
Inc., Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., The Gymboree Corporation and the Investors, 
Other Investors and Managers named therein.     

10.11  

   

Amended & Restated Registration and Participation Rights Agreement dated as of December 23, 2011 by and 
among Giraffe Holding, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc., Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc., The Gymboree 
Corporation and certain stockholders of Giraffe Holding, Inc. party thereto.     

10.12     Summary of Consulting Arrangement for Jeffrey P. Harris.     

21.1     Subsidiaries of The Gymboree Corporation.     

31.1     Certification of Matthew K. McCauley Pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     

31.2     Certification of Lynda G. Gustafson Pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     

32.1  
   

Certification of Matthew K. McCauley Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.§1350, as Adopted Pursuant to §906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.     

32.2  
   

Certification of Lynda G. Gustafson Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.§1350, as Adopted Pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.     
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* Indicates management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as exhibits to this report on Form 10-K.  
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101  

   

The following materials from The Gymboree Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
January 28, 2012, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(Loss), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and 
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.     

    

   

(1) 
   

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on October 12, 2010.  

   

(2) 
   

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibits to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on November 23, 2010.  

   

(3) 
   

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibits to The Gymboree Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed 
with the SEC on June 14, 2011.  

   

(4) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
April 7, 2008.  

   

(5) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
April 7, 2008.  

   

(6) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
January 30, 2010 filed with the SEC on March 30, 2010.  

   

(7) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period 
ended May 1, 2004 filed with the SEC on June 9, 2004.  

   

(8) 
   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to The Gymboree Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
April 5, 2012.  
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FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED  

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT  

This F IRST A MENDED AND R ESTATED M ANAGEMENT A GREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is entered into as of 23 day of April, 2012, and 
effective as of December 23, 2011, by and among (i) Giraffe Holding, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Parent ”), (ii) The Gymboree Corporation, 
a Delaware corporation (the “ Gymboree ”) and (iii) Bain Capital Partners, LLC (“ Bain ” or the “ Manager ”). As used herein, “ Company ”
means Gymboree and its subsidiaries.  

RECITALS  

WHEREAS, Parent owned all of the outstanding stock of Acquisition Sub, and Parent and Acquisition Sub entered into an Agreement and 
Plan of Merger, dated as of October 11, 2010 (the “ Merger Agreement ”), among (i) Parent, (ii) Giraffe Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware 
corporation, (“ Acquisition Sub ”) and (iii) Gymboree, pursuant to which Acquisition Sub merged with and into Gymboree (the “ Merger ”) on 
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement with Gymboree continuing as the surviving corporation;  

WHEREAS, in connection with the Merger and related transactions (including the Merger Agreement), the Manager provided advice, 
analysis and assistance, including without limitation with respect to due diligence investigations and the structuring and negotiation of debt 
facilities and other matters; and  

WHEREAS, the parties hereto previously entered into that certain Management and Agreement, dated as of October 22, 2010 (the “
Original Agreement ”), in order for the Company to retain the Manager to provide management, consulting and financial and other advisory 
services (“ Services ”) to the Company; and  

WHEREAS, the parties desire to enter into this Agreement, to amend and restate the Original Agreement in its entirety, effective as of the 
date of this Agreement.  

AGREEMENT  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby 
agree as follows:  

1. Services . The Manager hereby agrees that it will provide the following Services to Parent and/or the Company:  

(a) advice in connection with the negotiation and consummation of agreements, contracts, documents and instruments necessary to 
provide Parent and/or the Company with financing on terms and conditions satisfactory to Parent and/or the Company, as applicable;  

(b) financial, managerial and operational advice in connection with day-to-day operations, including, without limitation, advice with 
respect to the development and implementation of strategies for improving the operating, marketing and financial performance of the 
Company;  



(c) advice in connection with financing, acquisition, disposition, merger, business combination and change of control transactions 
involving Parent and/or the Company (however structured); and  

(d) such other services (which may include financial and strategic planning and analysis, consulting services, human resources and 
executive recruitment services and other services) as the Manager, on the one hand, and Parent and the Company, on the other hand, may 
from time to time agree to in writing.  

The Manager will devote, in its discretion, such time and efforts to the performance of services contemplated hereby as the Manager deems 
reasonably necessary or appropriate; provided, however, that no minimum number of hours is required to be devoted by the Manager on a 
weekly, monthly, annual or other basis. Parent and the Company each acknowledge that the Manager’s services are not exclusive to Parent or the 
Company and that the Manager will render similar services to other Persons. The Manager, Parent and the Company understand that Parent 
and/or the Company may, at times, engage one or more investment bankers or financial advisers to provide services in addition to, but not in lieu 
of, Services provided by the Manager under this Agreement. In providing services to Parent and/or the Company, the Manager will act as an 
independent contractor and it is expressly understood and agreed that this Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create, any 
partnership, agency, joint venture or similar relationship and that no party hereto has the right or ability to contract for or on behalf of any other 
party hereto or to effect any transaction for the account of any other party hereto.  

2. Payment of Fees .  

(a) During the Term (as such term is defined in Section 3 hereof), the Company will pay to the Manager (or such affiliates of the 
Manager as the Manager may designate), the Periodic Fee in exchange for the ongoing Services provided by the Manager under this 
Agreement, such fee being payable by the Company quarterly in advance on or before the start of each calendar quarter. The “ Periodic Fee 
” shall be an aggregate annual periodic fee of $3,000,000; provided , however , that from and after the date hereof the Periodic Fee shall be 
reduced by $270,000 (the “ Credit ”) until such time as the Manager elects to eliminate such Credit by prior written notice to the Company 
and cause the Periodic Fee to be $3,000,000. The Periodic Fee will be prorated for any partial period of less than three months. The 
Manager may elect in its sole discretion to defer the receipt of all or a portion of the Periodic Fee; provided , that any such election to defer 
shall be made in accordance with and subject to the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, and the regulations thereunder.  

(b) During the Term, the Manager will advise the Company in connection with financing, acquisition, disposition and change of 
control transactions involving the Company or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries (however structured), and the Company will pay to 
the Manager (or such affiliates of the Manager as the Manager may designate) an aggregate fee (each a “Subsequent Fee”) in connection 
with each such transaction equal to one percent (1%) of the gross transaction value of such transaction.  



(c) In the case of an Initial Public Offering or a Change of Control (as defined below), the Company shall pay to the Manager (or 
such affiliates of the Manager as the Manager may designate), in addition to the fees payable above, a lump sum amount equal to the net 
present value (using a discount rate equal to the then prevailing yield on U.S. Treasury Securities of like maturity) of the Periodic Fees, 
without taking into account any reductions made pursuant to Section 2(a) above, that would have been payable to the Manager with respect 
to the period from the date of such Initial Public Offering or Change of Control until the end of the Term then in effect (without giving any 
effect to an early termination of the Term as a result of such Change of Control or Initial Public Offering). Such fee to be due and payable 
at the closing of such transaction and in the case of financing transactions, whether or not any such financing is actually committed or 
drawn upon. For purposes of this Agreement, (i) “ Change of Control ” shall mean (a) any change in the ownership of the capital stock of 
Parent or the Company if, immediately after giving effect thereto, any Person (or group of Persons acting in concert) other than the 
Manager and its affiliates will have the direct or indirect power to elect a majority of the members of the board of directors of Parent or the 
Company or (b) any change in the ownership of the capital stock of Parent or the Company if, immediately after giving effect thereto, the 
Manager and its affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, beneficially own less than 50% of the capital stock of Parent or the Company; and 
(ii) “ Initial Public Offering ” shall mean the initial public offering and sale of common stock of Parent or the Company for cash pursuant 
to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as in effect from time to time, registered on Form S-1 (or any 
successor form under the Securities Act of 1933, as in effect from time to time).  

Each payment made pursuant to this Section 2 will be paid by wire transfer of immediately available federal funds to the account specified 
on Schedule 1 hereto, or to such other account(s) as the Manager may specify to the Company in writing prior to such payment.  

3. Term . This Agreement will continue in full force and effect until December 31, 2020; provided that this Agreement shall be 
automatically extended on such date and each December 31 thereafter for an additional year unless the Company or the Manager provides 
written notice of its desire not to automatically extend the term of this Agreement to the other parties hereto at least 90 days prior to such 
December 31; and provided further, however, that (a) the Manager may cause this Agreement to terminate at any time and (b) this Agreement 
will terminate automatically upon an Initial Public Offering or a Change of Control unless the Company and the Manager determine otherwise 
(the period on and after the date hereof through the termination hereof being referred to herein as the “ Term ”); and provided further, however , 
that each of (x) Sections 4, 5 and 8 hereof (whether in respect of or relating to services rendered during or after the Term) will all survive any 
termination of this Agreement to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law and (y) any and all accrued and unpaid obligations of the 
Company owed under Section 2 hereof will be paid promptly upon any termination of this Agreement. At the end of the Term, all obligations of 
the Manager under this Agreement will terminate and any subsequent services rendered by the Manager to the Company will be separately 
compensated.  



4. Expenses; Indemnification .  

(a) Expenses . The Company will pay on demand all Reimbursable Expenses. As used herein, “ Reimbursable Expenses ” means all 
(i) reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred from and after the effective date of the Merger relating to their Affiliated Funds’ (as defined 
below) investment in, the operations of, or the services provided by the Manager to, the Company or any of its affiliates from time to time 
(including, without limitation, all air travel (by first class on a commercial airline or by charter, as determined by the Manager) and other 
reasonable travel related expenses), (ii) reasonable out-of-pocket legal expenses incurred by the Manager or its affiliates from and after the 
date hereof in connection with the enforcement of rights or taking of actions under this Agreement, under Acquisition Sub’s certificate of 
incorporation and bylaws, or under any subscription agreements, stockholders agreements, registration rights agreements, voting 
agreements or similar agreements entered into with the Company in connection with investments in the Company (subject to any 
applicable limitations on expense reimbursement rights expressly set forth in such agreements) and (iii) expenses incurred from and after 
the date hereof by the Manager and its affiliates, which the Manager, in its sole discretion, deems properly allocable to the Company under 
this Agreement.  

(b) Indemnity and Liability . The Company hereby indemnifies and agrees to exonerate and hold the Manager, each Affiliated Fund 
of the Manager, and each of their respective former, current or future, direct or indirect, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors and 
affiliates, each former, current or future, direct or indirect holder of any equity interests or securities of the Manager or any Affiliated Fund 
of the Manager (whether such holder is a limited or general partner, member, stockholder or otherwise), each former, current or future 
assignee of the Manager or any Affiliated Fund of the Manager and each former, current or future director, officer, employee, agent, 
advisor, general or limited partner, manager, management company, member, stockholder, affiliate, controlling person, representative and 
assignee of any of the foregoing (each such person or entity, a “ Related Person ”) (collectively, the “ Indemnitees ”) free and harmless 
from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits, claims, liabilities, damages and costs and expenses in connection therewith 
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by the Indemnitees or any of them before or after the date of this Agreement 
(collectively, the “ Indemnified Liabilities ”), as a result of, arising out of, or in any way relating to (i) this Agreement, the Merger 
Agreement, the Merger, any transaction to which the Company or any of its affiliates is a party, or any other circumstances with respect to 
the Company or any of its affiliates or (ii) operations of, or services provided by the Manager to, the Company or any of its affiliates from 
time to time (including but not limited to any indemnification obligations assumed or incurred by any Indemnitee to or on behalf of the 
Company, or any of its accountants or other representatives, agents or affiliates) except for any such Indemnified Liabilities arising from 
such Indemnitee’s willful misconduct. If and to the extent that the foregoing undertaking may be unavailable or unenforceable for any 
reason, the Company hereby agrees to make the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the Indemnified 
Liabilities that is permissible under applicable law. For purposes of this Section 4(b), “willful misconduct” will be deemed to have 
occurred only if so found in a  



final non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to such effect, in which case to the extent any of the foregoing 
limitations is so determined to apply to any Indemnitee as to any previously advanced indemnity payments made by the Company, then 
such payments shall be promptly repaid by such Indemnitee to the Company. The rights of any Indemnitee to indemnification hereunder 
will be in addition to any other rights any such Person may have under any other agreement or instrument referenced above or any other 
agreement or instrument to which such Indemnitee is or becomes a party or is or otherwise becomes a beneficiary or under law or 
regulation. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provisions hereof, the rights of the Indemnitees (other than the Manager) hereunder 
may only be exercised on their behalf by the Manager. In this Agreement, (i) “ Person ” means any individual or corporation, association, 
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, joint stock or other company, business trust, trust, organization, or other entity of any 
kind and (ii) the term “ Affiliated Funds ” means, with respect to any specified investment fund, any other investment fund that directly or 
indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such specified fund or that has the same general partner or primary 
investment advisor as such specified fund (or a general partner or primary investment advisor that controls, is controlled by or is under 
common control with the general partner or primary investment advisor of such specified fund).  

(c) Indemnification Priority . The Company hereby acknowledges that the rights to indemnification, advancement of expenses and/or 
insurance provided pursuant to this Section 4 may also be provided to certain Indemnitees by Bain Capital Fund X, L.P. and certain of its 
affiliates and Affiliated Funds (other than the Company) (collectively, the “ Affiliate Indemnitors ”) and by insurers providing insurance 
coverage to the Affiliated Indemnitors. The Company hereby agrees that, as between itself and the Affiliate Indemnitors and their insurers 
(i) the Company is the indemnitor of first resort with respect to all such indemnifiable claims against such Indemnitees, whether arising 
under this Agreement or otherwise (i.e., its obligations to such Indemnitees are primary and any obligation of the Affiliate Indemnitors to 
advance expenses or to provide indemnification for the same expenses or liabilities incurred by such Indemnitees are secondary), (ii) the 
Company shall be required to advance the full amount of expenses incurred by such Indemnitees and shall be liable for the full amount of 
all expenses, judgments, penalties, fines and amounts paid in settlement to the extent legally permitted and as required by the terms of this 
Agreement (or any other agreement between the Company and such Indemnitee), without regard to any rights such Indemnitee may have 
against the Affiliate Indemnitors or any of their insurers and (iii) the Company irrevocably waives, relinquishes and releases the Affiliate 
Indemnitors from any and all claims against the Affiliate Indemnitors for contribution, subrogation or any other recovery of any kind in 
respect thereof. The Company agrees to indemnify the Affiliate Indemnitors directly for any amounts that the Affiliate Indemnitors pay as 
indemnification or advancement on behalf of any such Indemnitee and for which such Indemnitee may be entitled to indemnification from 
the Company in connection with serving as a director or officer (or equivalent titles) of the Company. The Company further agrees that no 
advancement or payment by the Affiliate Indemnitors on behalf of any such Indemnitee with respect to any claim for which such 
Indemnitee has sought indemnification from the Company shall affect the foregoing and the Affiliate  



Indemnitors shall be subrogated to the extent of such advancement or payment to all of the rights of recovery of such Indemnitee against 
the Company, and the Company shall cooperate with the Indemnitee in pursuing such rights.  

5. Disclaimer and Limitation of Liability; Opportunities .  

(a) Disclaimer; Standard of Care . The Manager does not make any representations or warranties, express or implied, in respect of the 
Services to be provided by the Manager hereunder. In no event will the Manager or any of the Indemnitees be liable to Parent, the 
Company or any of their respective affiliates for any act, alleged act, omission or alleged omission that does not constitute willful 
misconduct of the Manager as determined by a final, non-appealable determination of a court of competent jurisdiction.  

(b) Freedom to Pursue Opportunities . In recognition that the Manager and its respective Indemnitees currently have, and will in the 
future have or will consider acquiring, investments in numerous companies with respect to which the Manager or its Indemnitees may 
serve as an advisor, a director or in some other capacity, and in recognition that the Manager and its respective Indemnitees have a myriad 
of duties to various investors and partners, and in anticipation that Parent and/or the Company, on the one hand, and the Manager (or one 
or more affiliates, associated investment funds or portfolio companies, or clients of the Manager), on the other hand, may engage in the 
same or similar activities or lines of business and have an interest in the same areas of corporate opportunities, and in recognition of the 
benefits to be derived by Parent and the Company hereunder and in recognition of the difficulties that may confront any advisor who 
desires and endeavors fully to satisfy such advisor’s duties in determining the full scope of such duties in any particular situation, the 
provisions of this Section 5(b) are set forth to regulate, define and guide the conduct of certain affairs of Parent and the Company as they 
may involve the Manager. Except as the Manager may otherwise agree in writing after the date hereof:  

(i) The Manager and its Indemnitees will have the right: (A) to directly or indirectly engage in any business (including, without 
limitation, any business activities or lines of business that are the same as or similar to those pursued by, or competitive with, Parent, 
the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries) or invest, own or deal in securities of any other Person so engaged in any 
business, (B) to directly or indirectly do business with any client or customer of Parent, the Company or any of their respective 
subsidiaries or, (C) to take any other action that the Manager believes in good faith is necessary to or appropriate to fulfill its 
obligations as described in the first sentence of this Section 5(b) and (D) not to present potential transactions, matters or business 
opportunities to Parent, the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries, and to pursue, directly or indirectly, any such 
opportunity for itself, and to direct any such opportunity to another Person.  

(ii) The Manager and its respective Indemnitees will have no duty (contractual or otherwise) to communicate or present any 
corporate opportunities  



to Parent, the Company or any of their respective affiliates or to refrain from any actions specified in Section 5(b)(i) hereof, and 
Parent and the Company, on their own behalf and on behalf of their respective affiliates, each hereby renounces and waives any right 
to require the Manager or any of its Indemnitees to act in a manner inconsistent with the provisions of this Section 5(b).  

(iii) The Manager and its Indemnitees will not be liable to Parent, the Company or any of their respective affiliates for breach 
of any duty (contractual or otherwise) by reason of any activities or omissions of the types referred to in this Section 5(b) or of any 
such Person’s participation therein.  

(c) Limitation of Liability . In no event will the Manager or any of its Indemnitees be liable to Parent, the Company or any of their 
respective affiliates for any indirect, special, punitive, incidental, exemplory or consequential damages, including, without limitation, lost 
profits or savings, whether or not such damages are foreseeable, or for any third party claims (whether based in contract, tort or otherwise), 
relating to the Services to be provided by the Manager hereunder. Additionally, in no event shall the aggregate liability of the Manager and 
all of its Indemnitees with respect to this Agreement or any Services provided hereunder exceed the fees received by the Manager pursuant 
to Section 2 of this Agreement.  

6. Assignment, etc . Except as provided below, no party hereto has the right to assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of 
each of the other parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) the Manager may assign all or part of its rights and obligations hereunder to any 
affiliate of the Manager that provides services similar to those called for by this Agreement, in which event the Manager will be released of all of 
its rights and obligations hereunder and (b) the provisions hereof for the benefit of Indemnitees (other than the Manager itself) or Affiliate 
Indemnitors shall also inure to the benefit of such other Indemnitees, Affiliate Indemnitors and their respective successors and assigns.  

7. Amendments and Waivers . No amendment or waiver of any term, provision or condition of this Agreement will be effective, unless in 
writing and executed by the Manager and Acquisition Sub (or their respective successors); provided , that the Manager may individually agree to 
waive or reduce any fee to which it is entitled pursuant to this Agreement, and, unless otherwise directed by the Manager, such waived portion 
shall revert to the Company. No waiver on any one occasion will extend to or effect or be construed as a waiver of any right or remedy on any 
future occasion. No course of dealing of any Person nor any delay or omission in exercising any right or remedy will constitute an amendment of 
this Agreement or a waiver of any right or remedy of any party hereto.  

8. Governing Law; Jurisdiction .  

(a) Choice of Law . This Agreement and any controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware as to matters within the scope thereof, and as to all 
other matters shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York.  



(b) Consent to Jurisdiction . Each of the parties hereto agrees that all actions, suits or proceedings arising out of, based upon or 
relating to this Agreement or the subject matter hereof will be brought and maintained exclusively in the federal and state courts of the 
State of New York, City of New York, County of New York. Each of the parties hereto by execution hereof (i) hereby irrevocably submits 
to the jurisdiction of the federal and state courts in the State of New York, City of New York, County of New York for the purpose of any 
action, suit or proceeding arising out of or based upon this Agreement or the subject matter hereof and (ii) hereby waives to the extent not 
prohibited by applicable law, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any such action, suit or proceeding, 
any claim that it is not subject personally to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts, that it is immune from extraterritorial injunctive 
relief or other injunctive relief, that its property is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that any such action, suit or 
proceeding may not be brought or maintained in one of the above-named courts, that any such action, suit or proceeding brought or 
maintained in one of the above-named courts should be dismissed on grounds of forum non conveniens , should be transferred to any court 
other than one of the above-named courts, should be stayed by virtue of the pendency of any other action, suit or proceeding in any court 
other than one of the above-named courts, or that this Agreement or the subject matter hereof may not be enforced in or by any of the 
above-named courts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any party hereto is or becomes a party in any litigation in connection 
with which it may assert indemnification rights set forth in this Agreement, the court in which such litigation is being heard will be deemed 
to be included in clause (i) above. Each of the parties hereto hereby consents to service of process in any such suit, action or proceeding in 
any manner permitted by the laws of the State of New York, agrees that service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt 
requested, at the address specified in or pursuant to Section 10 hereof is reasonably calculated to give actual notice and waives and agrees 
not to assert by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any such action, suit or proceeding any claim that service of process made in 
accordance with Section 10 hereof does not constitute good and sufficient service of process. The provisions of this Section 8 will not 
restrict the ability of any party to enforce in any court any judgment obtained in a court included in clause (i) above.  

(c) Waiver of Jury Trial . T O THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW THAT CANNOT BE WAIVED , EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO 

HEREBY WAIVES , AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT ( WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF , DEFENDANT , OR OTHERWISE ), ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY 

JURY IN ANY FORUM IN RESPECT OF ANY ISSUE , CLAIM , DEMAND , CAUSE OF ACTION , ACTION , SUIT OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF , BASED UPON 

OR RELATING TO THIS A GREEMENT OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF , IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING AND 

WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE . E ACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN INFORMED BY EACH OTHER 

PARTY THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS S ECTION  8( C ) CONSTITUTE A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT UPON WHICH SUCH PARTY IS RELYING AND WILL RELY 

IN ENTERING INTO THIS A GREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY . A NY OF THE PARTIES HERETO MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL 

COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS A GREEMENT WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO THE 

WAIVER OF ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY .  



9. Entire Agreement, Etc . This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes any prior communication or agreement with respect thereto. Parent and each of its subsidiaries party shall be jointly and severally 
liable for all obligations of the Company or any other of its subsidiaries hereunder.  

10. Notice . All notices, demands, and communications required or permitted under this Agreement will be in writing and will be effective 
if served upon such other party and such other party’s copied persons as specified below to the address set forth for it below (or to such other 
address as such party will have specified by notice to each other party) if (i) delivered personally, (ii) sent and received by facsimile or (iii) sent 
by certified or registered mail or by Federal Express, DHL, UPS or any other comparably reputable overnight courier service, postage prepaid, to 
the appropriate address as follows:  

If to the Company, to it at:  

c/o The Gymboree Corporation  
500 Howard Street  
San Francisco, CA 94105  

with copies to:  

Bain Capital Partners, LLC  
John Hancock Tower  
200 Clarendon Street  
Boston, MA 02116  

Ropes & Gray LLP  
The Prudential Tower  
800 Boylston Street  
Boston, Massachusetts 02119  

Unless otherwise specified herein, such notices or other communications will be deemed effective, (a) on the date received, if personally 
delivered or sent by facsimile during normal business hours, (b) on the business day after being received if sent by facsimile other than during 
normal business hours, (c) one business day after being sent by Federal Express, DHL or UPS or other comparably reputable delivery service 
and (d) five business days after being sent by registered or certified mail. Each of the parties hereto shall be entitled to specify a different address 
by giving notice as aforesaid to each of the other parties hereto.  

Attention:   General Counsel  
Facsimile:   (415) 278-7562  

Facsimile:   (617) 516-2010  
Attention:   General Counsel  

Facsimile:   (617) 951-7050  
Attention:   R. Newcomb Stillwell  

  Howard S. Glazer 



11. Severability . If in any judicial or arbitral proceedings a court or arbitrator refuses to enforce any provision of this Agreement, then 
such unenforceable provision will be deemed eliminated from this Agreement for the purpose of such proceedings to the extent necessary to 
permit the remaining provisions to be enforced, and the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to seek to enter into substitute provisions 
incorporating, as nearly as possible, the purpose, intent and effect of such unenforceable provision. To the full extent, however, that the 
provisions of any applicable law may be waived, they are hereby waived to the end that this Agreement be deemed to be a valid and binding 
agreement enforceable in accordance with its terms, and in the event that any provision hereof is found to be invalid or unenforceable, such 
provision will be construed by limiting it so as to be valid and enforceable to the maximum extent consistent with and possible under applicable 
law.  

12. Miscellaneous  

(a) Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by each of the parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which when so executed will be deemed to be an original and all of which together will constitute one and the same 
agreement.  

(b) Interpretation . The headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and will not in any way affect the 
meaning or interpretation hereof. As used herein the word “including” shall be deemed to mean “including without limitation”. This 
Agreement reflects the mutual intent of the parties and no rule of construction against the drafting party shall apply.  

(c) No Third Party Beneficiaries . The terms and provisions of this Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each party hereto 
and their respective successors and permitted assigns, and it is not the intention of the parties to confer, and, except for Indemnitees and 
Affiliate Indemnitors, each as defined in Section 4 hereof (but subject to the rights of the Manager to exercise the rights of the same), no 
provision hereof shall confer third party beneficiary rights upon any other Person.  

[ The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. Signatures immediately follow. ]  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the parties has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf as an instrument under seal as of 
the date first above written by its officer or representative thereunto duly authorized.  
   
COMPANY:     THE GYMBOREE CORPORATION 

       
    Name:   Matthew K. McCauley  
    Title:    Chief Executive Officer  

PARENT:      GIRAFFE HOLDING, INC. 

       
    Name:   Jordan Hitch  
    Title:    Secretary & Vice President  

MANAGER:     BAIN CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC 

    By:       
    Name:   Jordan Hitch  
    Title:    Authorized Signatory  
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AMENDED AND RESTATED  

STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT  

This Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement (this “ Agreement ”) is made as of December 23, 2011, by and among:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

RECITALS  

1. The parties hereto entered into that certain Stockholders Agreement, dated as of November 23, 2010 (the “ Original Agreement ”), to 
establish the composition of the Company’s board of directors, to restrict the sale, assignment, transfer, encumbrance or other disposition of the 
Shares (as defined below) and to provide for certain other rights and obligations in respect thereto as hereinafter provided.  

2. On or about the date hereof, the holders of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company contributed their the Class A 
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the Company and their Class L Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the Company (the “
Contributed Shares ”) to Gymboree Holdings, Ltd. , a Cayman Islands exempted company and ultimate parent of the Company (“ Gymboree 
Holdings ”) in exchange for Common Stock of Gymboree Holdings (the “ Contribution ”).  

3. Following the Contribution, Gymboree Holdings contributed all of the Contributed Shares to the Investors in return for Equity Interests 
of the Investors.  

4. Following the Contribution, the Investors hold all of the outstanding Common Stock of the Company.  
   

1  

  (i) Giraffe Holding, Inc. (the “  Company ” );  
  (ii) Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc. (“  Giraffe A ” );  
  (iii) Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. (“  Giraffe B ” );  
  (iv) The Gymboree Corporation (“  Gymboree ” );  

  
(v) Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (together with its Permitted Transferees, the “

Investors ” );  

  
(vi) Persons who from time to time become party hereto by executing a counterpart signature page hereof and are designated by 

the Board as “Other Investors”  (together with their Permitted Transferees, the “  Other Investors ” ); and  

  
(vii) Persons who from time to time become party hereto by executing a counterpart signature page hereof and are designated by 

the Board as “Managers” (together with their Permitted Transferees, the “ Managers ” and together with the Investors and the 
Other Investors, the “  Stockholders ” ).  



5. In connection with the Contribution on the date hereof, the parties hereto wish to amend and restate the Original Agreement as set forth 
herein.  

AGREEMENT  

Therefore, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I  

EFFECTIVENESS; DEFINITIONS.  

1.1. Effectiveness . This Agreement will become effective upon the date hereof (the “ Closing ”).  

1.2. Definitions . Certain terms are used in this Agreement as specifically defined herein. These definitions are set forth or referred to 
in Section ARTICLE IX hereof.  

ARTICLE II  

VOTING AGREEMENT.  

2.1. Election of Directors . Each holder of Shares hereby agrees to cast all votes to which such holder is entitled in respect of the 
Shares, whether at any annual or special meeting, by written consent or otherwise, (a) to fix the number of members of the board of directors of 
the Company (the “ Board ”) at such number as may be specified from time to time by the Majority Investors and (b) to elect as members of the 
Board such individuals as shall have been nominated from time to time by the Investors.  

2.2. Significant Transactions . Each holder of Shares agrees to cast all votes to which such holder is entitled in respect of the Shares, 
whether at any annual or special meeting, by written consent or otherwise, in the same proportion as Investor Shares are voted by the Investor(s) 
to approve any sale, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, reorganization or any other transaction or series of transactions involving the 
Company or its direct or indirect subsidiaries (or all or any portion of their respective assets) in connection with, or in furtherance of, the 
exercise by the Majority Investors of their rights under Section 4.2. .  

2.3. Consent to Amendment . Each holder of Shares agrees to cast all votes to which such holder is entitled in respect of the Shares, 
whether at any annual or special meeting, by written consent or otherwise, in the same proportion as Investor Shares are voted by the Majority 
Investors to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock to the extent necessary to permit the Company to comply with the 
provisions of its Certificate of Incorporation or any agreement to which the Company is a party.  
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2.4. Grant of Proxy . Each holder of Shares other than the Investors hereby grants to the Investors an irrevocable proxy coupled with 
an interest to vote his, her or its Shares in accordance with his, her or its agreements contained in this Section ARTICLE II , which proxy will be 
valid and remain in effect until the provisions of this Section ARTICLE II expire pursuant to Section 2.6. .  

2.5. The Company . The Company agrees not to give effect to any action by any holder of Shares or any other Person which is in 
contravention of this Section ARTICLE II .  

2.6. Period . The foregoing provisions of this Section ARTICLE II will expire on the earliest of (a) the closing of a Change of 
Control, (b) the closing a Qualified Public Offering and (c) the last date permitted by law.  

ARTICLE III  

TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS. NO HOLDER OF SHARES WILL TRA NSFER ANY OF SUCH SHARES TO ANY OTHER PERSON 
EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION ARTICLE III.  

3.1. Permitted Transferees .  

3.1.1 Affiliates . Any holder of Shares may Transfer any or all of such Shares to an Affiliate of such holder or to a Charitable 
Organization.  

3.1.2 Estate Planning . Any holder of Shares who is a natural Person may Transfer any or all of such Shares (i) by gift to, or for 
the benefit of, any Member of the Immediate Family of such holder, (ii) to a trust for the benefit of such holder or any Member of the 
Immediate Family of such holder or (iii) to any other trust in respect of which such holder serves as trustee; provided , however , in 
the case of clause (iii), that the trust instrument governing such trust will provide that such holder, as trustee, will retain sole and 
exclusive control over the voting and disposition of such Shares until the termination of this Agreement.  

3.1.3 Upon Death . Subject to the provisions of Section 5.1. hereof upon the death of any holder of Shares who is a natural 
Person, such Shares may be distributed by the will or other instrument taking effect at death of such holder or by applicable laws of 
descent and distribution to such holder’s estate, executors, administrators and personal representatives, and then to such holder’s 
heirs, legatees or distributees, whether or not such recipients are Members of the Immediate Family of such holder or a Charitable 
Organization.  
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3.1.4 Investors, the Company and Certain Public Offerings . Any holder of Shares may Transfer any or all of such Shares to 
(a) any Investor, (b) with the Board’s approval, the Company or any subsidiary of the Company or (c) in accordance with the terms 
of the Registration Rights Agreement.  

3.1.5 Additional Permitted Transfers by the Investors . Any holder of Investor Shares may Transfer any or all of such Shares 
(a) to an Investor or an Affiliated Fund or (b) to its partners or members or to Affiliates of any of the foregoing.  

3.1.6 Additional Permitted Transfers by the Other Investors . Any holder of Other Investor Shares may Transfer any or all of 
such Shares to its partners or members in connection with the termination of such holder’s legal existence. Any such transfer may be 
made no earlier than six months prior to the termination of the holder’s existence.  

No Transfer permitted under the terms of this Section 3.1. will be effective unless the transferee of such Shares (each, a “ Permitted Transferee ” ) 
has delivered to the Company a written acknowledgment and agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company that such 
Shares to be received by such Permitted Transferee will remain Investor Shares, Other Investor Shares or Management Shares, as the case may 
be, and will be subject to all of the provisions of this Agreement and that such Permitted Transferee will be bound by, and will be a party to, this 
Agreement as the holder of Investor Shares, Other Investor Shares or Management Shares, as the case may be, or as may otherwise be 
determined by the Board, hereunder; provided , however , that Shares Transferred to any director, officer or employee of, or consultant or 
adviser to, the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a holder of Investor Shares will thereafter become Management Shares hereunder; and 
provided further that no Transfer by any holder of Shares to a Permitted Transferee will relieve such holder of any of its obligations hereunder.  

3.2. Tag Alongs, Drag Alongs, Etc . In addition to Transfers permitted under Section 3.1.:  

3.2.1 any holder of Investor Shares may Transfer such Shares if (i) such holder has complied with the “tag along” provisions 
contained in Section 4.1. hereof or (ii) the Majority Investors have exercised their “drag along” rights set forth in Section 4.2. hereof; 
and  

3.2.2 any holder of Shares may Transfer any or all of such Shares in accordance with the provisions, terms and conditions of 
Sections 4.1. and 4.2. hereof solely in their capacity as Participating Sellers thereunder.  
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Any Shares Transferred after compliance with the terms of Sections 4.1. or 4.2. hereof will conclusively be deemed thereafter not to be Shares 
under this Agreement and not to be subject to any of the provisions hereof or entitled to the benefit of any of the provisions hereof.  

3.3. Transfers Pursuant to Section ARTICLE V; Transfers to the Company . Management Shares may be transferred pursuant to the 
terms of Section ARTICLE V . Any Shares Transferred to the Company pursuant to this Agreement will conclusively be deemed thereafter not 
to be Shares under this Agreement and not to be subject to any of the provisions hereof or entitled to the benefit of any of the provisions hereof. 
Any Shares Transferred to the Investors pursuant to this Agreement will be conclusively deemed thereafter to be Investor Shares under this 
Agreement and will be subject to, and entitled to the benefit of, the provisions hereof.  

3.4. Impermissible Transfer . Any attempted Transfer of Shares not permitted under the terms of this Section ARTICLE III will be 
null and void, and the Company will not in any way give effect to any such impermissible Transfer. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Section ARTICLE III or otherwise and except as provided in Section ARTICLE IV :  

3.4.1 In no event will any Manager be entitled to Transfer his or her Shares (i) to any Person (whether or not to an Affiliate) 
that in the reasonable judgment of the Majority Investors, exercised in good faith, is a competitor of, or other Person who is adverse 
to the interests of, the Company or Gymboree or (ii) to any Person who (directly or indirectly) (a) holds an ownership interest in such 
competitor equal to five percent or more, (b) has invested $5,000,000 or more in such competitor or (c) has designated, or has the 
right to designate, a member of the board of directors of such competitor, in each case without the approval of the Majority Investors, 
except, in or following a Qualified Public Offering, in any bona fide underwritten public offering or in any Rule 144 Sale; and  

3.4.2 No Manager will be entitled to Transfer Shares at any time if such Transfer would: (i) violate the Securities Act, or any 
state (or other jurisdiction) securities or “blue sky” laws applicable to the Company or the Shares; (ii) cause the Company to be 
required to register Common Stock under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act; (iii) cause the Company to become subject to the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended from time to time; or (iv) be a non-exempt 
“prohibited transaction” under ERISA or the Code or cause all or any portion of the assets of the Company to constitute “plan assets”
under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.  

3.5. Period . The foregoing provisions of this Section ARTICLE III will expire upon the earlier of the closing of (a) a Change of 
Control and (b) the effectiveness of the Company’s registration statement in connection with a Qualified Public Offering.  
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3.6. Transfers of Options . Any Transfer of Options by a Manager or Permitted Transferee that has become a party hereto will be 
governed by and subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable equity incentive plan to the extent permitted by the terms thereof.  

3.7. Stockholder Lock-Up . In connection with each underwritten Public Offering each Stockholder hereby agrees to be bound by 
and, if requested, to execute and deliver a lock-up agreement with the underwriter(s) of such Public Offering (the “ Principal Lock-Up 
Agreement ”) restricting such Stockholder’s right to (i) Transfer any Shares or (ii) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to 
another any of the economic consequences of ownership of Shares, in each case to the extent that such restrictions are agreed to (A) in the case 
of an Initial Public Offering that is not a demand registration initiated by an Investor, by the Board, (B) in the case of a demand registration 
initiated by an Investor, by the Investors holding a majority of the Shares proposed to be offered and (C) otherwise, by the holders of a majority 
of the Shares participating in the Public Offering; provided , however , that no Stockholder will be required by this Section 3.7 to be bound by a 
lock-up agreement covering a period of greater than 90 days (180 days in the case of the Initial Public Offering) following the effectiveness of 
the related registration statement plus such additional period of up to 17 days as may be required by the underwriters to satisfy FINRA 
regulations and permit the managing underwriters’ analysts to publish research updates; provided , further , that no Stockholder will be required 
by this Section 3.7 to be bound by a lock-up agreement unless the Stockholders that hold a majority of the Shares held by all Stockholders 
execute such a lock-up agreement with the underwriter(s) of the applicable Public Offering. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such lock-up 
agreement will not apply to (i) transactions relating to shares of Common Stock or other securities acquired in (A) open market transactions or 
block purchases after the completion of the Initial Public Offering (or other Public Offering, as applicable) or (B) a Public Offering, 
(ii) Transfers to Permitted Transferees of such Stockholder in accordance with the terms of this Agreement (including the obligations of such 
Permitted Transferee to execute and deliver a Principal Lock-Up Agreement), and (iii) conversions of shares of Common Stock into other classes 
of Common Stock without change of holder.  

ARTICLE IV  

INVESTOR TRANSFER RIGHTS; “TAG ALONG” AND “DRAG ALO NG” RIGHTS.  

4.1. Tag Along . If one or more holders of Investor Shares (each such holder, a “ Prospective Selling Investor ”) proposes to Transfer 
to a Prospective Buyer (other than an Affiliate of the Investors) in a transaction subject to Section 3.2(a)(i) hereof, an amount of Investor Shares 
equal to an aggregate of 20% or more of the Investor Shares then currently outstanding and in connection therewith the Majority Investors have 
not elected to exercise their “drag along” rights under Section 4.2. :  
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4.1.1 Notice . The Prospective Selling Investors will deliver a written notice (the “ Tag Along Notice ”) to each other holder of 
Shares (each, a “ Tag Along Holder ”) at least ten Business Days prior to such proposed Transfer. The Tag Along Notice will 
include:  

(a) The principal terms of the proposed Sale insofar as it relates to such Shares, including (i) the number and class of the 
Shares to be purchased from the Prospective Selling Investors, (ii) with respect to each class of Shares to be purchased from 
the Prospective Selling Investors, the fraction(s) expressed as a percentage, determined by dividing the number of Shares of 
such class to be purchased from the Prospective Selling Investors by the total number of Investor Shares of such class 
purchased by the Investors (the “ Tag Along Sale Percentage ”), (iii) the maximum and minimum per Share purchase price 
and the form of consideration to be paid by the Prospective Purchaser and (iv) the name and address of the Prospective Buyer; 
and  

(b) An invitation to each Tag Along Holder to make an offer to include in the proposed Sale to the applicable 
Prospective Buyer an additional number of Shares, of the applicable class of Shares proposed to be transferred, held by such 
Tag Along Holder (in any event not to exceed in the case of a Tag Along Holder and all of his, her or its Permitted 
Transferees the Tag Along Sale Percentage of the total number of Shares of the applicable class of Shares held by such Tag 
Along Holder excluding for purposes of such calculation all Shares underlying any outstanding Options, Warrants or 
Convertible Securities), on the same terms and conditions (subject to Section 4.3.4 hereof in the case of Options, Warrants 
and Convertible Securities), with respect to each Share Sold, as the Prospective Selling Investors shall Sell each of their 
Shares.  

4.1.2 Exercise . Within ten Business Days after the date of the Tag Along Notice, each Tag Along Holder desiring to make an 
offer to include issued and outstanding Shares in the proposed Sale (each a “ Participating Seller ” and, together with the Prospective 
Selling Investors, collectively, the “ Tag Along Sellers ”) will furnish a written notice (the “ Tag Along Offer ”) to the Prospective 
Selling Investors offering to include an additional number of Shares of the applicable class of Shares (not in any event to exceed the 
Tag Along Sale Percentage of the total number of Shares of the applicable class held by such Participating Seller) that such 
Participating Seller desires to have included in the proposed Sale. Each Tag Along Holder who does not accept the Prospective 
Selling Investors’ invitation to make an offer to include Shares in the proposed Sale will be deemed to have waived all of his, her or 
its rights with respect to such Sale, and the Tag Along Sellers will thereafter be free to Sell to the Prospective Buyer, at a per Share 
price no greater than the maximum per Share price set forth in the Tag Along Notice and on other principal terms which are not 
materially more favorable to the Tag Along Sellers than those set forth in the Tag Along Notice, without any further obligation to 
such non-accepting Tag Along Holder.  

4.1.3 Irrevocable Offer . The offer of each Participating Seller contained in his, her or its Tag Along Offer will be irrevocable, 
and, to the extent such offer is accepted,  
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such Participating Seller will be bound and obligated to Sell in the proposed Sale on the same terms and conditions, with respect to 
each Share Sold (subject to Section 4.3.4 hereof in the case of Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities), as the Prospective 
Selling Investors, up to such number of Shares as such Participating Seller will have specified in his, her or its Tag Along Offer; 
provided , however , that if the principal terms of the proposed Sale change with the result that the per Share price will be less than 
the minimum per Share price set forth in the Tag Along Notice or the other principal terms will be materially less favorable to the 
Tag Along Sellers than those set forth in the Tag Along Notice, each Participating Seller will be permitted to withdraw the offer 
contained in his, her or its Tag Along Offer and will be released from his, her or its obligations thereunder.  

4.1.4 Reduction of Shares Sold . The Prospective Selling Investors shall attempt to obtain the inclusion in the proposed Sale of 
the entire number of Shares that each of the Tag Along Sellers requested to have included in the Sale (as evidenced in the case of the 
Prospective Selling Investors by the Tag Along Notice and in the case of each Participating Seller by such Participating Seller’s Tag 
Along Offer). In the event the Prospective Selling Investors will be unable to obtain the inclusion of such entire number of Shares in 
the proposed Sale, the number of Shares of each class to be sold in the proposed Sale will be allocated among the Tag Along Sellers 
in proportion, as nearly as practicable, to the respective number of Shares of such class held by each Tag Along Seller, excluding for 
purposes of such calculation all Shares underlying any outstanding Options or Warrants.  

4.1.5 Additional Compliance . If prior to consummation of the Sale, the terms of the proposed Sale change with the result that 
the per Share price to be paid in such proposed Sale will be greater than the maximum per Share price set forth in the Tag Along 
Notice or the other principal terms of such proposed Sale will be materially more favorable to the Tag Along Sellers than those set 
forth in the Tag Along Notice, the Tag Along Notice will be null and void, and it will be necessary for a separate Tag Along Notice 
to be furnished, and the terms and provisions of this Section 4.1. separately complied with, in order to consummate such proposed 
Sale pursuant to this Section 4.1. ; provided , however , that in the case of such a separate Tag Along Notice, the applicable period to 
which reference is made in Sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.2 hereof will be five Business Days. If the Prospective Selling Investors have not 
completed the proposed Sale by the end of the 180th day following the date of the Tag Along Notice, each Participating Seller will 
be released from his, her or its obligations under his, her or its Tag Along Offer, the Tag Along Notice will be null and void, and it 
will be necessary for a separate Tag Along Notice to be furnished, and the terms and provisions of this Sections 4.1. separately 
complied with, in order to consummate such proposed Sale pursuant to this Section 4.1. , unless the failure to complete such 
proposed Sale resulted from any failure by any Participating Seller to comply with the terms of this Sections 4.1. .  

4.1.6 Classes of Shares . For the avoidance of doubt, the right of any Tag Along Holder to include Shares in any Sale in 
accordance with this Section 4.1 will be limited to  
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a right to include Shares in such Sale which are of the same class as the Shares to be included in such Sale by the Prospective Selling 
Investors, and all determinations under this Sections 4.1. will be made on the basis of the holdings of Shares of the class of Shares to 
be included in such Sale by the Prospective Selling Investor (including the Tag Along Sale Percentage).  

4.2. Drag Along . If one or more holders of Investor Shares (each such holder, a “Prospective Selling Investor”) proposes to Sell to a 
Prospective Buyer (other than an Affiliate of the Investors) an amount of Investor Shares equal to an aggregate of 20% or more of the Investor 
Shares then currently outstanding, each holder of Shares of a class hereby agrees, if requested by the Majority Investors, to Sell a percentage of 
each class of Shares held by such holder of Shares that is equal to the percentage of Investor Shares owned by the Prospective Selling Investor 
that are proposed to be Sold by the Prospective Selling Investor to the Prospective Buyer (the “ Drag Along Sale Percentage ”), directly or 
indirectly, in the manner and on the terms set forth in this Section 4.2. .  

4.2.1 Exercise . If the Majority Investors elect to exercise their rights under this Section 4.2. , the Prospective Selling Investors 
will furnish a written notice (the “ Drag Along Notice ”) to each other holder of Shares. The Drag Along Notice will set forth the 
principal terms of the proposed Sale insofar as it relates to such Shares including (i) the number and class of Shares to be acquired 
from the Prospective Selling Investors, (ii) the Drag Along Sale Percentage applicable to such class, (iii) the per Share consideration 
(which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be expressed as a formula or otherwise) applicable to such class to be received in the 
proposed Sale of Shares of a class and (iv) the name and address of the Prospective Buyer. If the Prospective Selling Investors 
consummate the proposed Sale to which reference is made in the Drag Along Notice, each other holder of Shares (each a “
Participating Seller ”, and, together with the Prospective Selling Investors, collectively, the “ Drag Along Sellers ”) will be bound 
and obligated to Sell the Drag Along Sale Percentage of his, her or its Shares of such class in the proposed Sale on the same terms 
and conditions, with respect to each Share Sold (subject to Section 4.3.4 hereof in the case of Options, Warrants and Convertible 
Securities), as the Prospective Selling Investors will Sell each Investor Share of such class in the Sale (subject to Section 4.3.4 hereof 
in the case of Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities).  

4.2.2 Waiver of Appraisal Rights . Each Drag Along Seller agrees not to demand or exercise appraisal rights under Section 262 
of the DGCL with respect to a transaction subject to this Section 4.2. as to which such appraisal rights are available.  

4.2.3 Classes of Shares . For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation of any holder of Shares to include Shares in any Sale in 
accordance with this Section 4.2. will be limited to an obligation to include Shares in such Sale which are of the same class as the 
Shares to be included in such Sale by the Prospective Selling Investors, and all determinations under this Section 4.2. will be made 
on the basis of the holdings of Shares of the class of Shares to be included in such Sale by the Prospective Selling Investor (including 
the Drag Along Sale Percentage).  
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4.3. Miscellaneous . The following provisions will apply to any proposed Sale to which Sections 4.1. or 4.2. apply:  

4.3.1 Certain Legal Requirements . In the event the consideration to be paid in exchange for Shares in a proposed Sale pursuant 
to Section 4.1. or Section 4.2. hereof includes any securities, and the receipt thereof by a Participating Seller would require under 
applicable law (a) the registration or qualification of such securities or of any Person as a broker or dealer or agent with respect to 
such securities or (b) the provision to any Tag Along Seller or Drag Along Seller of any information regarding the Company, such 
securities or the issuer thereof, such Participating Seller will not have the right to Sell Shares in such proposed Sale. In such event, 
the Prospective Selling Investors will have the right, but not the obligation, to cause to be paid to such Participating Seller in lieu 
thereof, against surrender of the Shares (in accordance with Section 4.3.6 hereof) which would have otherwise been Sold by such 
Participating Seller to the Prospective Buyer in the proposed Sale, an amount in cash equal to the Fair Market Value of such Shares 
as of the date such securities would have been issued in exchange for such Shares.  

4.3.2 Further Assurances . Each Participating Seller, whether in his, her or its capacity as a Participating Seller, stockholder, 
officer or director of the Company, or otherwise, will take or cause to be taken all such actions as may be necessary or reasonably 
desirable in order to expeditiously consummate each Sale pursuant to Section 4.1. or Section 4.2. hereof and any related transactions, 
including executing, acknowledging and delivering consents, assignments, waivers and other documents or instruments; furnishing 
information and copies of documents; filing applications, reports, returns, filings and other documents or instruments with 
governmental authorities; and otherwise cooperating with the Prospective Selling Investors and the Prospective Buyer; provided , 
however , that Participating Sellers will be obligated to become liable in respect of any representations, warranties, covenants, 
indemnities or otherwise to the Prospective Buyer solely to the extent provided in the immediately following sentence. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Participating Seller agrees to execute and deliver such agreements as may be reasonably 
specified by the Prospective Selling Investors to which such Prospective Selling Investors will also be party on the same terms and 
conditions with respect to each Share sold, including agreements to (a) (i) make individual representations, warranties, covenants and 
other agreements, on a several basis and solely as to themselves, as to the unencumbered title to its Shares and the power, authority 
and legal right to Transfer such Shares and the absence of any Adverse Claim with respect to such Shares and (ii) be liable, on a 
several basis, without limitation as to such representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements, (b) be liable (whether by 
purchase price adjustment, indemnity payments or otherwise) in respect of representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in 
respect of the Company and its subsidiaries; provided , however , that the aggregate amount of liability described in this clause (b) in 
connection with any Sale of Shares will not exceed the  
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lesser of (i) such Participating Seller’s pro rata portion of any such liability, to be determined in accordance with such Participating 
Seller’s portion of the total number of Shares included in such Sale or (ii) the proceeds allocated to such Participating Seller in 
connection with such Sale and (c) be liable in respect of claims for fraud, willful breach and intentional misconduct to the extent such 
claims are not limited against the Prospective Selling Investors.  

4.3.3 Sale Process . The Prospective Selling Investors will, in their sole discretion, decide whether or not to pursue, 
consummate, postpone or abandon any proposed Sale and the terms and conditions thereof. No Investor or any Affiliate of any 
Investor will have any liability to any other holder of Shares arising from, relating to or in connection with the pursuit, 
consummation, postponement, abandonment or terms and conditions of any proposed Sale except to the extent such Investor will 
have failed to comply with the provisions of this Section ARTICLE IV .  

4.3.4 Treatment of Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities . Each Participating Seller agrees that to the extent he, she or 
it desires to include vested and exercisable Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities in any Sale of Shares pursuant to 
Section ARTICLE IV hereof, he, she or it shall be deemed to have exercised, converted or exchanged such vested and exercisable 
Options, Warrants or Convertible Security immediately prior to the closing of such Sale to the extent necessary to Sell Common 
Stock to the Prospective Buyer, except to the extent permitted under the terms of any such Option, Warrant or Convertible Security 
and agreed to by the Board and the Prospective Buyer. If any Participating Seller will Sell Options, Warrants or Convertible 
Securities in any Sale pursuant to Section ARTICLE IV hereof, such Participating Seller will receive in exchange for such Options, 
Warrants or Convertible Securities consideration equal to the amount (if greater than zero) determined by multiplying (a) the 
purchase price per Share of Common Stock received by the holders of the Prospective Selling Investors in such Sale less the unpaid 
exercise or conversion price, if any, per Share of such Option, Warrant or Convertible Security by (b) the number of Shares of 
Common Stock issuable upon exercise, conversion or exchange of such Option, Warrant or Convertible Security (to the extent 
exercisable, convertible or exchangeable at the time of such Sale), subject to reduction for any tax or other amounts required to be 
withheld under applicable law.  

4.3.5 Expenses . All reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Prospective Selling Investors or the Company in connection 
with any proposed Sale pursuant to this Section ARTICLE IV (whether or not consummated), including all attorneys fees and 
charges, all accounting fees and charges and all finders, brokerage or investment banking fees, charges or commissions, will be paid 
by the Company. The reasonable fees and charges of a single legal counsel representing any or all of the other Tag Along Sellers or 
Drag Along Sellers in connection with any proposed Sale pursuant to this Section ARTICLE IV (whether or not consummated) will 
be paid by the Company. Any other costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of any or all of the other Tag Along Seller(s) or Drag 
Along Seller(s) in connection with any proposed Sale pursuant to this Section ARTICLE IV (whether or not consummated) will be 
borne by such Tag Along Seller(s) or Drag Along Seller(s).  
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4.3.6 Closing . The closing of a Sale to which Sections 4.1. or 4.2. hereof apply will take place at such time and place as the 
Prospective Selling Investors will specify by notice to each Participating Seller. At the closing of such Sale, each Participating Seller 
will deliver the certificates evidencing the Shares (or Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities to the extent permitted by this 
Section 4.3 ) to be Sold by such Participating Seller, duly endorsed, or with stock (or equivalent) powers duly endorsed, for transfer 
with signature guaranteed, free and clear of any Adverse Claim, with any stock (or equivalent) transfer tax stamps affixed, against 
delivery of the applicable consideration.  

4.4. Period . The foregoing provisions of this Section ARTICLE IV will expire upon the earlier of the closing of (a) a Change of 
Control and (b) the effectiveness of the Company’s registration statement in connection with an Initial Public Offering.  

ARTICLE V  

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE MANAGEMENT SHARES.  

5.1. Call Options . Except as the Company may otherwise agree in writing with any Manager with respect to Shares held by such 
Manager (or any Person to whom any shares of Common Stock were originally issued at the request of such Manager) or originally issued to 
such Manager (or other Person at the request of such Manager) but held by one or more direct or indirect Permitted Transferees (collectively, the 
“ Management Call Group ”), upon any termination of the employment by the Company and its subsidiaries of any Manager (whether such 
termination is by the Company, by such Manager or otherwise), the Company will have the right to purchase for cash (or a note to the extent 
provided in Section 5.3. below) all or any portion of the Purchased Management Shares held by the Management Call Group on the following 
terms (the “ Management Call Option ”):  

5.1.1 General . For all Purchased Management Shares, the following terms will apply:  

(a) Termination other than for Cause . If a Manager’s employment is terminated for any reason other than for Cause 
(including as a result of death or disability), or if a Manager resigns his or her employment for any reason, the Company (or 
its designated assignee) will have the right, on one or more occasions, at any time up to and including the date that is ninety 
days following the later to occur of (x) the later of termination of such Manager’s employment and the last date on which any 
Option or Warrant is exercisable by any member of such Manager’s Management Call Group, and (y) the date that is six 
months plus  
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one day following the most recent acquisition of Purchased Management Shares from the Company by any member of such 
Manager’s Management Call Group, to purchase from such Management Call Group, and upon the exercise of such call right 
each member of such Management Call Group will sell to the Company (or its designated assignee), all of the Purchased 
Management Shares held by such member of the Management Call Group as of the date as of which such call right is 
exercised at a price equal to the Fair Market Value of the Purchased Management Shares being sold, determined as of the date 
specified in such Management Call Notice (as defined below), which date will be no earlier than the date that is six months 
plus one day following the most recent acquisition from the Company by any member of such Manager’s Management Call 
Group of any such Purchased Management Shares that are to be purchased by the Company pursuant to such exercised call 
right and will be no later than the last date on which the Company is permitted to issue a Management Call Notice in respect 
of such Purchased Management Shares under this Section 5.1.1 (a) .  

(b) Termination for Cause . If a Manager’s employment is terminated for Cause (or the Company reasonably determines 
that it could have terminated such Manager’s employment for Cause at the time such Manager resigned), the Company (or its 
designated assignee) will have the right, on one or more occasions, at any time up to and including the date that is ninety days 
following the later to occur of (x) the later of termination of such Manager’s employment and the last date on which any 
Option or Warrant is exercisable by any member of such Manager’s Management Call Group, and (y) the date that is six 
months plus one day following the most recent acquisition of Purchased Management Shares from the Company by any 
member of such Manager’s Management Call Group, to purchase from such Management Call Group, and upon the exercise 
of such call right each member of such Management Call Group will sell to the Company (or its designated assignee), all of 
the Purchased Management Shares held by such member of the Management Call Group as of the date as of which such call 
right is exercised at a price (the “ Bad Leaver Price ”) equal to the lesser of (i) the Fair Market Value of the Purchased 
Management Shares being sold, determined as of the date specified in such Management Call Notice, which date will be no 
earlier than the date that is six months plus one day following the most recent acquisition from the Company by any member 
of such Manager’s Management Call Group of any such Purchased Management Shares that are to be purchased by the 
Company pursuant to such exercised call right and will be no later than the last date on which the Company is permitted to 
issue a Management Call Notice in respect of such Purchased Management Shares under this Section 5.1.1 (b) , and (ii) the 
price paid, if any, by such Manager for such Purchased Management Shares; provided , that for purposes of the foregoing 
clause (ii), the price paid by a Manager for a share acquired upon exercise of an Option or Warrant will be deemed to be equal 
to the exercise price of such Option or Warrant.  
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(c) Violation of Non-Competition Obligations . If a Manager’s employment is terminated for any reason or if a Manager 
resigns his or her employment for any reason and, within twelve months of such termination or resignation, such Manager 
Competes, the Company (or its designated assignee) will have the right, on one or more occasions, at any time up to and 
including the date that is one hundred eighty (180) days following the later to occur of (x) the later of the first date on which 
the Company receives notice that such Manager Competed and the last date on which any Option or Warrant is exercisable by 
any member of such Manager’s Management Call Group, and (y) the date that is six months plus one day following the most 
recent acquisition of Shares from the Company by any member of such Manager’s Management Call Group, to purchase from 
such Management Call Group, and upon the exercise of such call right each member of such Management Call Group will sell 
to the Company (or its designated assignee), all of the Purchased Management Shares held by such member of the 
Management Call Group as of the date as of which such call right is exercised at a price equal to the Bad Leaver Price.  

5.1.2 Notices, Etc. Any Management Call Option may be exercised by delivery of written notice thereof (the “ Management 
Call Notice ”) to all members of the applicable Management Call Group from whom the Company has elected to purchase Purchased 
Management Shares no later than the end of the applicable 90 or 180 day period specified in Section 5.1.1 . The Management Call 
Notice will state that the Company has elected to exercise the Management Call Option, the number of Purchased Management 
Shares with respect to which the Management Call Option is being exercised and the price or the date for determining the price of 
such shares.  

5.1.3 Vesting . The rights of the Company and the Investors to purchase Management Shares under this Section ARTICLE V 
are in addition to, and do not modify, any vesting or exercisability requirements or forfeiture conditions that may be included in the 
terms of any Management Shares.  

5.2. Closing .  

5.2.1 The closing of any purchase and sale of Management Shares pursuant to this Section ARTICLE V will take place as soon 
as reasonably practicable, and in any event not later than 30 days after delivery of the Management Call Notice or, in the case of 
Option Shares, if later, 30 days after the determination of the applicable purchase price in accordance with Section 5.1.1 hereof 
( provided , that such time will be extended as necessary to comply with requirements of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust 
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, or other applicable legal requirements) at the principal office of the Company, or at such 
other time and location as the parties to such purchase may mutually determine.  

5.2.2 At the closing of any purchase and sale of Management Shares following the exercise of any Management Call Option, 
the holders of Shares to be sold shall  
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deliver to the Company a certificate or certificates representing the Shares to be purchased by the Company, duly endorsed, or with 
stock (or equivalent) powers duly endorsed, for transfer with signature guaranteed, free and clear of any lien or encumbrance, with 
any necessary stock (or equivalent) transfer tax stamps affixed, and the Company will pay to such holder by certified or bank check 
or wire transfer of immediately available federal funds or note, as may be applicable, the purchase price of the Shares being 
purchased by the Company. The delivery of a certificate or certificates for Shares by any Person selling Shares pursuant to any 
Management Call Option will be deemed a representation and warranty by such Person that: (i) such Person has full right, title and 
interest in and to such Shares; (ii) such Person has all necessary power and authority and has taken all necessary action to sell such 
Shares as contemplated; (iii) such Shares are free and clear of any and all liens or encumbrances and (iv) there is no Adverse Claim 
with respect to such Shares.  

5.3. Form of Payment .  

5.3.1 If (i) any payment of cash is required upon the purchase of Management Shares by the Company upon the exercise of any 
Management Call Option or (ii) any payment on a promissory note issued under this Section 5.3.1 comes due, and, in either case, 
such payment (or any dividend to fund such payment) would (or with notice or the lapse of time or both would) constitute, result in 
or give rise to a breach or violation of the terms or provisions of, or result in a default, event of default or right or cause of action 
under, any guarantee, financing or security agreement, indenture or document entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
and in effect on such date in respect of indebtedness for borrowed money or debt security, would be prohibited under Section 160 (“
Section 160 ”) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “ DGCL ”), or would otherwise violate the DGCL (or if 
the Company or any such subsidiary reincorporates in another jurisdiction, the applicable business corporation law of such 
jurisdiction), then, to the extent permitted by Section 160:  

(a) in the case of a cash payment due at a closing of any purchase of Management Shares by the Company upon the 
exercise of any Management Call Option, the Company will issue a promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of 
such payment, the principal amount of which note will be due and payable on demand (subject to subsection 5.3.1 (c) below) 
and interest will accrue thereon at a rate equal to the prime rate (as reported in the Wall Street Journal Eastern Edition);  

(b) in the case of a cash payment in respect of a promissory note issued under this Section 5.3.1 , notwithstanding any of 
the provisions of such note, including the stated maturity of such note and the stated date on which interest payments are due, 
such payment will not become due and payable until such time as such payment can be made without violating any such 
agreement; and  

   
15  



(c) notwithstanding the terms of any promissory note issued pursuant to this Section 5.3.1 , the Company must pay off 
the promissory note at the earliest of (i) a Sale Transaction, (ii) the effectiveness of the Company’s registration statement in 
connection with an Initial Public Offering (but only to the extent of the net proceeds received by the Company in such Initial 
Public Offering) and (iii) the date on which any cash dividend or distribution is made in respect of Shares. At any such time, 
the Company will promptly notify the holder of such promissory note and make a payment on each such promissory note. If 
more than one such promissory note is outstanding at the time of payment, payment will be made to the holders of all such 
promissory notes on a pro rata basis.  

5.3.2 In the event that the Company has exercised its call right pursuant to Section 5.1.1 (a)  with respect to Management 
Shares held by (i) a Manager who (A) Competes within twelve months of such Manager’s termination of employment or resignation 
as described in Section 5.1.1 (c)  or (B) is reasonably determined by the Company to have been eligible for termination for Cause, in 
either case following the Company’s exercise of such call right, and/or (ii) one or more members of such Manager’s Management 
Call Group that held Management Shares, such Manager and/or such members of such Manager’s Management Call Group shall be 
obligated to deliver to the Company, within five (5) days following notice from the Company that such amount is due, an amount 
equal to the product of (x) the number of Management Shares purchased in connection with the exercise of the call right, multiplied 
by (y) the excess, if any, of the price paid for such Management Shares over the Bad Leaver Price for such Management Shares.  

5.4. Investor Call Option . If the Company shall elect not to purchase (pursuant to Section 5.1. hereof) any or all Management Shares 
held by a Manager or one or more members of such Manager’s Management Call Group, the Company shall notify the Investors and the 
Investors may purchase any or all of the remaining Management Shares held by such Persons for the purchase price identified in Section 5.1. 
hereof; provided , that nothing in this Section 5.3. shall operate to extend the time within which the Management Call Notice may be delivered 
pursuant to Section 5.1.2 hereof. The right to purchase such Shares will be allocated pro rata among the Investors (unless the Investors agree 
otherwise).  

5.5. Acknowledgment . Each holder of Management Shares acknowledges and agrees that neither the Company, nor any Person 
directly or indirectly affiliated with the Company (in each case whether as a director, officer, manager, employee, agent or otherwise), will have 
any duty or obligation to affirmatively disclose to him, her or it, and he, she or it will not have any right to be advised of, any material 
information regarding the Company or otherwise at any time prior to, upon, or in connection with any termination of his, her or its employment 
by the Company and its subsidiaries upon the exercise of any Management Call Option or any purchase of the Shares in accordance with the 
terms hereof.  
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5.6. Period . The foregoing provisions of this Section ARTICLE V will expire with respect to any Management Share upon the 
earlier of the closing of (a) a Change of Control and (b) the effectiveness of the Company’s registration statement in connection with a Qualified 
Public Offering.  

ARTICLE VI  

REMEDIES.  

6.1. Generally . The Company and each holder of Shares will have all remedies available at law, in equity or otherwise in the event of 
any breach or violation of this Agreement or any default hereunder by the Company or any holder of Shares. The parties acknowledge and agree 
that in the event of any breach of this Agreement, in addition to any other remedies that may be available, each of the parties hereto will be 
entitled to specific performance of the obligations of the other parties hereto and, in addition, to such other equitable remedies (including 
preliminary or temporary relief) as may be appropriate in the circumstances.  

6.2. Deposit . Without limiting the generality of Section 6.1. hereof, if any holder of Shares fails to deliver to the purchaser thereof 
the certificate or certificates evidencing Shares to be Sold pursuant to Section ARTICLE IV or ARTICLE V hereof, such purchaser may, at its 
option, in addition to all other remedies it may have, deposit the purchase price (including any promissory note constituting all or any portion 
thereof) for such Shares with any national bank or trust company having combined capital, surplus and undivided profits in excess of One 
Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) (the “ Escrow Agent ”) and the Company will cancel on its books the certificate or certificates 
representing such Shares and thereupon all of such holder’s rights in and to such Shares will terminate. Thereafter, upon delivery to such 
purchaser by such holder of the certificate or certificates evidencing such Shares (duly endorsed, or with stock powers duly endorsed, for 
transfer, with signature guaranteed, free and clear of any liens or encumbrances, and with any transfer tax stamps affixed), such purchaser shall 
instruct the Escrow Agent to deliver the purchase price (without any interest from the date of the closing to the date of such delivery, any such 
interest to accrue to such purchaser) to such holder.  

ARTICLE VII  

LEGENDS.  

7.1. Restrictive Legend . Each certificate representing Shares will have the following legend endorsed conspicuously thereupon:  

THE VOTING OF THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE, AND THE SALE, 
ENCUMBRANCE OR OTHER DISPOSITION THEREOF, ARE SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF A STOCKHOLDERS 
AGREEMENT TO WHICH THE ISSUER AND CERTAIN OF ITS STOCKHOLDERS ARE PARTY, A COPY OF WHICH MAY 
BE INSPECTED AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE ISSUER OR OBTAINED FROM THE ISSUER WITHOUT CHARGE.  
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Each certificate representing Investor Shares will also have the following legend endorsed conspicuously thereupon:  

THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ORIGINALLY ISSUED TO, OR ISSUED 
WITH RESPECT TO SHARES ORIGINALLY ISSUED TO, THE FOLLOWING INVESTOR:                     .  

Each certificate representing Other Investor Shares will also have the following legend endorsed conspicuously thereupon:  

THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ORIGINALLY ISSUED TO, OR ISSUED 
WITH RESPECT TO SHARES ORIGINALLY ISSUED TO, THE FOLLOWING OTHER INVESTOR:                     .  

Each certificate representing Management Shares will also have the following legend endorsed conspicuously thereupon:  

THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ORIGINALLY ISSUED TO, OR ISSUED 
WITH RESPECT TO SHARES ORIGINALLY ISSUED TO OR AT THE REQUEST OF, THE FOLLOWING MANAGER: 
                    .  

Any Person who acquires Shares which are not subject to any of the terms of this Agreement will have the right to have such legend 
(or the applicable portion thereof) removed from certificates representing such Shares.  

7.2. 1933 Act Legends . Each certificate representing Shares will have the following legend endorsed conspicuously thereupon:  

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ISSUED IN A PRIVATE PLACEMENT, WITHOUT 
REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ ACT ”), AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, 
ASSIGNED,  
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PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION UNDER THE ACT 
COVERING THE TRANSFER OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER, THAT REGISTRATION 
UNDER THE ACT IS NOT REQUIRED.  

7.3. Stop Transfer Instruction . The Company will instruct any transfer agent not to register the Transfer of any Shares until the 
conditions specified in the foregoing legends are satisfied.  

7.4. Termination of 1933 Act Legend . The requirement imposed by Section 7.2. hereof will cease and terminate as to any particular 
Shares (a) when, in the opinion of Ropes & Gray LLP, or other counsel reasonably acceptable to the Company, such legend is no longer required 
in order to assure compliance by the Company with the Securities Act or (b) when such Shares have been effectively registered under the 
Securities Act or transferred pursuant to Rule 144. Wherever (x) such requirement will cease and terminate as to any Shares or (y) such Shares 
will be transferable under Rule 144 without volume limitation or other restrictions on transfer (including without application of paragraphs (c), 
(e), (f) and (h) of Rule 144), the holder thereof will be entitled to receive from the Company, without expense, new certificates not bearing the 
legend set forth in Section 7.2. hereof.  

ARTICLE VIII  

AMENDMENT, TERMINATION, ETC.  

8.1. Oral Modifications . This Agreement may not be orally amended, modified, extended or terminated, nor will any oral waiver of 
any of its terms be effective.  

8.2. Written Modifications . This Agreement may be amended, modified, extended or terminated, and the provisions hereof may be 
waived, only by an agreement in writing signed by the Majority Investors; provided , however , that (a) the consent of the Majority Other 
Investors will be required for any amendment, modification, extension, termination or waiver that has a materially disproportionate and adverse 
effect on the rights of the holders of Other Investor Shares as such under this Agreement and (b) the consent of the Majority Managers will be 
required for any amendment, modification, extension, termination or waiver that has a materially disproportionate and adverse effect on the 
rights of the holders of Management Shares as such under this Agreement. Each such amendment, modification, extension, termination and 
waiver will be binding upon each party hereto and each holder of Shares subject hereto. In addition, each party hereto and each holder of Shares 
subject hereto may waive any right hereunder by an instrument in writing signed by such party or holder.  
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8.3. Effect of Termination . No termination under this Agreement will relieve any Person of liability for breach prior to termination.  

ARTICLE IX  

DEFINITIONS. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS AGREEMENT:  

9.1. Certain Matters of Construction . In addition to the definitions referred to or set forth below in this Section ARTICLE IX:  

(a) The words “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder” and words of similar import will refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to 
any particular Section or provision of this Agreement, and reference to a particular Section of this Agreement will include all 
subsections thereof;  

(b) The word “including” will be construed as “including without limitation”;  

(c) Definitions will be equally applicable to both nouns and verbs and the singular and plural forms of the terms defined; and  

(d) The masculine, feminine and neuter genders will each include the other.  

9.2. Definitions . The following terms will have the following meanings:  

“ Adverse Claim ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 8-302 of the applicable Uniform Commercial Code.  

“ Affiliate ” will mean (a) with respect to any specified Person that is not a natural Person, any other Person which directly or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person (for the 
purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control 
with”) as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the 
management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise) and (b) with respect to 
any natural Person, any Member of the Immediate Family of such natural Person.  

“ Affiliated Fund ” will mean each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity under 
common control with any Investor or that receives investment advice from the investment adviser to any Investor or an investment adviser 
Affiliated with such investment adviser.  

“ Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  
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“ Bad Leaver Price ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.1(b).  

“ Board ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1. hereof.  

“ Business Day ” shall mean any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banks are required or authorized by law 
to be closed in the City of New York.  

“ Cause ” with respect to any holder of Management Shares, means (i) a material breach by such Manager of the Manager’s duties 
and responsibilities, or (ii) the commission by the Manager of a felony involving moral turpitude, or (iii) the commission by the Manager of 
theft, fraud, embezzlement, material breach of trust or any material act of dishonesty involving the Company or its subsidiaries, or (iv) a 
significant violation by the Manager of the code of conduct of the Company or its subsidiaries or of any statutory or common law duty of loyalty 
to the Company or its subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Manager is party to an employment or severance agreement with the 
Company or any subsidiary of the Company that contains a definition of cause, such definition will apply (in the case of such Manager) in lieu of 
the definition set forth in the preceding sentence.  

“ Change of Control ” will mean (a) any change in the ownership of the capital stock of the Company if, immediately after giving 
effect thereto, any Person (or group of Persons acting in concert) other than the Investors and their Affiliates will have the direct or indirect 
power to elect a majority of the members of the Board or (b) any change in the ownership of the capital stock of the Company if, immediately 
after giving effect thereto, the Investors and their Affiliates will own less than 25% of the Equivalent Shares.  

“ Charitable Organization ” will mean a charitable organization as described by Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  

“ Closing ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1. hereof.  

“ Class A Stock ” will mean the Class A Common Stock, par value $.001 per share of the Company.  

“ Class L Stock ” will mean the Class L Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the Company.  

“ Code ” will mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, reformed or otherwise modified from time to time, and any 
successor statute of similar import, in each case as in effect from time to time. References to sections of the Code also refer to any successor 
sections.  

“ Common Stock ” will mean the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company including the Class A Stock and the 
Class L Stock.  

“ Company ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  
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“ Compete ” will mean, with respect to a Manager, the breach by such Manager of any non-competition, non-solicitation or similar 
restrictive covenant made by such Manager in favor of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company, and “ Competes ” and “ Competed ” will 
each have correlative meaning.  

“ Convertible Securities ” will mean any evidence of indebtedness, shares of stock (other than Common Stock) or other securities 
(other than Options and Warrants) which are directly or indirectly convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Common Stock.  

“ Cost ” will mean, for any security, the price paid to the issuer for such security.  

“ DGCL ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.1 hereof.  

“ Drag Along Notice ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.1 hereof.  

“ Drag Along Sale Percentage ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. hereof.  

“ Drag Along Sellers ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.1 hereof.  

“ Equity Interests ” means the capital stock or equity interests of any Person (and any common stock or equity interests of any Person 
issued or issuable with respect to such capital stock or equity interests, as applicable, by way of a equity dividend or distribution payable thereon 
or split, reverse split, recapitalization, reclassification, reorganization, exchange, subdivision or combination thereof).  

“ Equivalent Shares ” will mean, at any date of determination, (a) as to any outstanding shares of Common Stock, such number of 
shares of Common Stock and (b) as to any outstanding Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities which constitute Shares, the maximum 
number of shares of Common Stock for which or into which such Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities may at the time be exercised, 
converted or exchanged (or which will become exercisable, convertible or exchangeable on or prior to, or by reason of, the transaction or 
circumstance in connection with which the number of Equivalent Shares is to be determined).  

“ ERISA ” will mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and any successor statute of similar 
import, in each case as in effect from time to time.  

“ Escrow Agent ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 6.2. hereof.  

“ Exchange Act ” will mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as in effect from time to time.  

“ Fair Market Value ” will mean, as of any date, as to any share of Common Stock, the Board’s good faith determination of the fair 
value of such shares as of the applicable reference date and, as to any Option or Warrant, such fair value reduced by any applicable exercise 
price.  

“ FINRA ” shall mean the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.  
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“ Gymboree ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Initial Public Offering ” means the initial Public Offering registered on Form S-1 (or any successor form under the Securities Act).  

“ Investor Shares ” will mean (a) all shares of Common Stock originally issued to, or issued with respect to shares originally issued 
to, or held by, an Investor, whenever issued, including all shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of any 
Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities and (b) all Options, Warrants and (except for purposes of Section 4.1. hereof) Convertible Securities 
originally granted or issued to an Investor (treating such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities as a number of shares equal to the number 
of Equivalent Shares represented by such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities for all purposes of this Agreement except as otherwise 
specifically set forth herein).  

“ Investors ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Majority Investors ” will mean, as of any date, the holders of a majority of the Investor Shares outstanding on such date.  

“ Majority Managers ” will mean, as of any date, the holders of a majority of the Management Shares outstanding on such date.  

“ Majority Other Investors ” will mean, as of any date, the holders of a majority of the Other Investor Shares outstanding on such 
date.  

“ Management Call Group ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1. hereof.  

“ Management Call Notice ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.2 hereof.  

“ Management Call Option ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1. hereof.  

“ Management Shares ” will mean (a) all shares of Common Stock originally issued to, or issued with respect to shares originally 
issued to, or held by, a Manager (or a Person to whom such shares of Common Stock were issued at the request of a Manager), whenever issued, 
including all shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of any Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities and 
(b) all Options, Warrants and (except for purposes of Section 4.1. hereof) Convertible Securities originally granted or issued to a Manager 
(treating such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities as a number of shares equal to the number of Equivalent Shares represented by such 
Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities for all purposes of this Agreement except as otherwise specifically set forth herein).  

“ Managers ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Member of the Immediate Family ” will mean, with respect to any individual, each parent, spouse or child or other descendant of 
such individual, each trust created solely for the benefit of one or more of the aforementioned Persons and their spouses and each custodian or 
guardian of any property of one or more of the aforementioned Persons in his, her or its capacity as such custodian or guardian.  
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“ Merger ” will mean the merger of Merger Sub with and into Gymboree as provided in the Merger Agreement.  

“ Merger Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.  

“ Merger Sub ” will have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.  

“ Option Shares ” will mean, with respect to a Manager or direct or indirect Permitted Transferee of a Manager, all or any portion of 
the Management Shares which were issued upon exercise of an Option held by such holder (or Permitted Transferee, if applicable).  

“ Options ” will mean any options to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise directly acquire Common Stock.  

“ Other Investor Shares ” will mean (a) all shares of Common Stock originally issued to, or issued with respect to shares originally 
issued to, or held by, an Other Investor, whenever issued, including all shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise, conversion or 
exchange of any Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities and (b) all Options, Warrants and (except for purposes of Section 4.1. hereof) 
Convertible Securities originally granted or issued to an Other Investor (treating such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities as a number 
of shares equal to the number of Equivalent Shares represented by such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities for all purposes of this 
Agreement except as otherwise specifically set forth herein).  

“ Other Investors ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Participating Seller ” will have the meaning set forth in Sections 4.1.2 and 4.2.1 hereof.  

“ Permitted Transferee ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1. .  

“ Person ” will mean any individual, partnership, corporation, company, association, trust, joint venture, limited liability company, 
unincorporated organization, entity or division, or any government, governmental department or agency or political subdivision thereof.  

“ Principal Lock-Up Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5. hereof.  

“ Prospective Buyer ” will mean any Person proposing to purchase Shares from a Prospective Selling Investor.  

“ Prospective Selling Investor ” will have the meaning set forth in Sections 4.1. and 4.2. hereof.  

“ Public Offering ” will mean a public offering and sale of Common Stock for cash pursuant to an effective registration statement 
under the Securities Act.  
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“ Purchased Management Shares ” will mean, with respect to a Manager (or a Person to whom any shares of Common Stock were 
originally issued at the request of such Manager) or direct or indirect Permitted Transferee of a Manager (or any such Person whom any shares 
of Common Stock were originally issued at the request of such Manager), all of the Management Shares which are not Options or Warrants held 
by such holder (or Permitted Transferee, if applicable).  

“ Qualified Public Offering ” will mean a Public Offering, other than any Public Offering or sale pursuant to a registration statement 
on Form S-8 or comparable form, in which the aggregate price to the public of all such Common Stock sold in such offering will exceed 
$125,000,000.  

“ Registration Rights Agreement ” will mean that certain Registration and Participation Rights Agreement to be dated as of the date 
hereof, among the Company and certain other parties thereto, as may be amended from time to time.  

“ Regulation D ” will mean Regulation D under the Securities Act.  

“ Rule 144 ” will mean Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or any successor Rule).  

“ Rule 145 Transaction ” will mean a registration on Form S-4 pursuant to Rule 145 of the Securities Act (or any successor Form or 
provision, as applicable).  

“ Sale ” will mean a Transfer for value.  

“ Securities Act ” will mean the Securities Act of 1933, as in effect from time to time.  

“ Section 160 ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.1 hereof.  

“ Shares ” will mean all Investor Shares, Other Investor Shares and Management Shares.  

“ Stockholders ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Tag Along Holder ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.1 hereof.  

“ Tag Along Notice ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.1 hereof.  

“ Tag Along Offer ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.1 hereof.  

“ Tag Along Sale Percentage ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.1 hereof.  

“ Tag Along Sellers ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.2 hereof.  

“ Transfer ” will mean any sale, pledge, assignment, encumbrance or other transfer or disposition of any Shares to any other Person, 
whether directly, indirectly, voluntarily, involuntarily, by operation of law, pursuant to judicial process or otherwise.  
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“ Warrants ” will mean any warrants to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise directly acquire Common Stock.  

ARTICLE X  

MISCELLANEOUS.  

10.1. Authority; Effect . Each party hereto represents and warrants to and agrees with each other party that the execution and delivery 
of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized on behalf of such party and do not 
violate any agreement or other instrument applicable to such party or by which its assets are bound. This Agreement does not, and will not be 
construed to, give rise to the creation of a partnership among any of the parties hereto, or to constitute any of such parties members of a joint 
venture or other association. Each of the Company, the Investors and Gymboree will be jointly and severally liable for any payment obligation of 
the Company, the Investors and Gymboree pursuant to this Agreement.  

10.2. Notices . Any notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications required or permitted to be delivered, given or 
otherwise provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be (a) delivered or given personally, (b) sent by facsimile, or (c) sent by 
overnight courier, in each case, to the address (or facsimile number) listed below:  

If to the Company:  

Gymboree Holdings, Ltd.  
500 Howard Street  
San Francisco, California 94105  
Attention: Chief Executive Officer  
Facsimile: (707) 678-1315  

with a copy to:  

c/o Bain Capital Partners, LLC  
John Hancock Tower  
200 Clarendon Street  
Boston, Massachusetts 02116  
Attention: Joshua Bekenstein and Jordan Hitch  
Facsimile: (617) 516-2010  
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If to an Investor:  

c/o Bain Capital Partners, LLC  
John Hancock Tower  
200 Clarendon Street  
Boston, Massachusetts 02116  
Attention: Joshua Bekenstein and Jordan Hitch  
Facsimile: (617) 516-2010  

with a copy to:  

Ropes & Gray LLP  
The Prudential Tower  
800 Boylston Street  
Boston, Massachusetts 02199  
Attention: R. Newcomb Stillwell and C. Todd Boes  
Facsimile: (617) 951-7050  

If to an Other Investor or a Manager, to the most recent address of such Other Investor or such Manager shown on the records of the 
Company.  

Notice to the holder of record of any shares of capital stock will be deemed to be notice to the holder of such shares for all purposes 
hereof.  

Unless otherwise specified herein, such notices or other communications will be deemed effective (a) on the date received, if 
personally delivered, (b) on the date received if delivered by facsimile on a Business Day, or if delivered on other than a Business Day, on the 
first Business Day thereafter and (c) 1 Business Day after being sent by overnight courier. Each of the parties hereto will be entitled to specify a 
different address by giving notice as aforesaid to each of the other parties hereto.  

10.3. Binding Effect, Etc . Except for restrictions on Transfers of Shares set forth in other agreements, plans or other documents, this 
Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its subject matter, supersedes all prior or contemporaneous oral or 
written agreements or discussions with respect to such subject matter, and will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective heirs, representatives, successors and permitted assigns. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no Investor, Manager or 
other party hereto may assign any of its respective rights or delegate any of its respective obligations under this Agreement without the prior 
written consent of the other parties hereto, and any attempted assignment or delegation in violation of the foregoing will be null and void.  

10.4. Descriptive Headings . The descriptive headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, are not to be 
considered a part hereof and will not be construed to define or limit any of the terms or provisions hereof.  

10.5. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of 
which taken together will constitute one instrument.  
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10.6. Severability . In the event that any provision hereof would, under applicable law, be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, 
such provision will be construed by modifying or limiting it so as to be valid and enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with, and 
possible under, applicable law. The provisions hereof are severable, and in the event any provision hereof should be held invalid or 
unenforceable in any respect, it will not invalidate, render unenforceable or otherwise affect any other provision hereof.  

ARTICLE XI  

GOVERNING LAW.  

11.1. Governing Law . This Agreement and any controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement will be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the DGCL as to matters within the scope thereof, and as to all other matters will be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York.  

11.2. Consent to Jurisdiction . Each of the parties agrees that all actions, suits or proceedings arising out of, based upon or relating to 
this Agreement or the subject matter hereof will be brought and maintained exclusively in the federal and state courts of the State of New York, 
City of New York, County of New York. Each of the parties hereto by execution hereof (i) hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the 
federal and state courts in the State of New York, City of New York, County of New York for the purpose of any action, suit or proceeding 
arising out of or based upon this Agreement or the subject matter hereof and (ii) hereby waives to the extent not prohibited by applicable law, 
and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any such action, suit or proceeding, any claim that it is not subject 
personally to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts, that it is immune from extraterritorial injunctive relief or other injunctive relief, that its 
property is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that any such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or maintained in one of 
the above-named courts, that any such action, suit or proceeding brought or maintained in one of the above-named courts should be dismissed on 
grounds of forum non conveniens , should be transferred to any court other than one of the above-named courts, should be stayed by virtue of the 
pendency of any other action, suit or proceeding in any court other than one of the above-named courts, or that this Agreement or the subject 
matter hereof may not be enforced in or by any of the above-named courts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any party hereto is 
or becomes a party in any litigation in connection with which it may assert indemnification rights set forth in this Agreement, the court in which 
such litigation is being heard will be deemed to be included in clause (i) above. Each of the parties hereto hereby consents to service of process 
in any such suit, action or proceeding in any manner permitted by the laws of the State of New York, agrees that service of process by registered 
or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the address specified in or pursuant to Section 10.2. hereof is reasonably calculated to give actual 
notice and waives and agrees not to assert by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any such action, suit or proceeding any claim that 
service of process  
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made in accordance with Section 10.2. hereof does not constitute good and sufficient service of process. The provisions of this Section 11.2. will 
not restrict the ability of any party to enforce in any court any judgment obtained in a court included in clause (i) above.  

11.3. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW WHICH CANNOT BE 
WAIVED, EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT (WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, 
DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE) ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY FORUM IN RESPECT OF ANY ISSUE OR ACTION, 
CLAIM, CAUSE OF ACTION OR SUIT (IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE), INQUIRY, PROCEEDING OR INVESTIGATION 
ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED 
WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW 
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING. EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN INFORMED BY THE 
OTHER PARTIES HERETO THAT THIS SECTION 11.3. CONSTITUTES A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT UPON WHICH THEY ARE 
RELYING AND WILL RELY IN ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. 
ANY PARTY HERETO MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION 11.3. WITH ANY COURT AS 
WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF EACH SUCH PARTY TO THE WAIVER OF ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.  

11.4. Exercise of Rights and Remedies . No delay of or omission in the exercise of any right, power or remedy accruing to any party 
as a result of any breach or default by any other party under this Agreement will impair any such right, power or remedy, nor will it be construed 
as a waiver of or acquiescence in any such breach or default, or of any similar breach or default occurring later; nor will any such delay, 
omission nor waiver of any single breach or default be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default occurring before or after that waiver.  

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has duly executed this Agreement (or caused this Agreement to be executed on 
its behalf by its officer or representative thereunto duly authorized) as of the date and year first above written.  
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THE COMPANY:      G IRAFFE H OLDING , I NC . 

    By:      
      Name:   Matthew K. McCauley  
      Title:    Chief Executive Officer  
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Giraffe A:      G IRAFFE I NTERMEDIATE A, I NC . 

    By:      
      Name:   Matthew K. McCauley  
      Title:    Chief Executive Officer  
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Giraffe B:      G IRAFFE I NTERMEDIATE B, I NC . 

    By:      
      Name:   Matthew K. McCauley  
      Title:    Chief Executive Officer  
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Gymboree:      T HE G YMBOREE C ORPORATION 

    By:      
      Name:   Matthew K. McCauley  
      Title:    Chief Executive Officer  
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THE INVESTORS:      G YMBOREE I NVESTMENT H OLDINGS , LLC 

    By:      
      Name:   Marko Kivisto  
      Title:    Director  
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THE OTHER INVESTORS:        

    By:      
      Name:  
      Title:  
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MANAGER:      

       
    Name:  



Exhibit 10.11 
   
      

AMENDED AND RESTATED  

REGISTRATION AND PARTICIPATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT  

by and among  

Giraffe Holding, Inc.,  

Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc.,  

Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc.,  

The Gymboree Corporation  

and  

Certain Stockholders of Giraffe Holding, Inc.  

Entered into on December 23, 2011  
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AMENDED AND RESTATED  

REGISTRATION AND PARTICIPATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT  

This Amended and Restated Registration and Participation Rights Agreement (this “ Agreement ”) is made as of December 23, 2011, 
by and among:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

RECITALS  

1. The parties hereto entered into that certain Registration and Participation Rights Agreement, dated as of November 23, 2010 (the “
Original Agreement ”), to set forth their agreements regarding registration and participation rights and to provide for certain other rights and 
obligations in respect thereto as hereinafter provided.  

2. On or about the date hereof, the holders of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company contributed their the Class A 
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the Company and their Class L Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the Company (the “
Contributed Shares ”) to Gymboree Holdings, Ltd. , a Cayman Islands exempted company and ultimate parent of the Company (“ Gymboree 
Holdings ”) in exchange for Common Stock of Gymboree Holdings (the “ Contribution ”).  

3. Following the Contribution, Gymboree Holdings contributed all of the Contributed Shares to the Investors in return for Equity Interests 
of the Investors.  
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  (i)  Giraffe Holding, Inc. (the “  Company ” );  
  (ii)  Giraffe Intermediate A, Inc. (“  Giraffe A ” );  
  (iii)  Giraffe Intermediate B, Inc. (“  Giraffe B ” );  
  (iv)  The Gymboree Corporation (“  Gymboree ” );  

  
(v)  Gymboree Investment Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (together with its Permitted Transferees, the “

Investors ” );  

  
(vi)  Persons executing this Agreement and listed as an “Other Investor”  on the signature pages hereto and such other Persons, if 

any, that from time to time become party hereto as “Other Investors” (collectively with their Permitted Transferees, the 
“Other Investors”); and  

  
(iii)  Persons who from time to time be executing this Agreement and listed as a Manager on the signature pages hereto and such 

other Persons, if any, that from time to time become party hereto as Managers (collectively with their Permitted Transferees, 
the “  Managers ” ).  



4. In connection with the foregoing, the Company and the stockholders of the Company are entering into an Amended and Restated 
Stockholders Agreement dated on or about the date hereof (the “ Stockholders Agreement ”).  

5. In connection with the Contribution on the date hereof, the parties hereto wish to amend and restate the Original Agreement as set forth 
herein.  

AGREEMENT  

Therefore, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I  

EFFECTIVENESS; DEFINITIONS.  

1.1. Effectiveness . This Agreement will become effective upon the date hereof (the “ Closing ”).  

1.2. Definitions . Certain terms are used in this Agreement as specifically defined herein. These definitions are set forth or referred to 
in Section ARTICLE VII hereof.  

ARTICLE II  

PARTICIPATION RIGHTS.  

2.1. General . Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries shall issue or sell any shares of any of its capital stock or any securities 
convertible into or exchangeable for any shares of its capital stock, issue or grant any options or warrants for the purchase of, or enter into any 
agreements providing for the issuance (contingent or otherwise) of, any of its capital stock or any stock or securities convertible into or 
exchangeable for any shares of its capital stock, in each case, to any Investor or any Affiliated Fund (each an “ Issuance ” of “ Subject Securities 
”), except in compliance with the provisions of Sections 2.2 or 2.3 hereof.  

2.2. Right of Participation .  

2.2.1 Offer . Not fewer than ten Business Days prior to the consummation of an Issuance, the Company will furnish a notice 
(the “ Participation Notice ”) to each holder of record of Participation Shares (the “ Participation Offerees ”). The Participation 
Notice will include:  

(a) The principal terms of the proposed Issuance, including (i) the amount and kind of Subject Securities to be included 
in the Issuance, (ii) the number of Equivalent Shares represented by such Subject Securities (if applicable), (iii) the percentage 
of the total number of Equivalent Shares outstanding as of immediately prior to giving effect to such Issuance that the number 
of Equivalent Shares held by such Participation Offeree constitutes (the “ Participation Portion ”), (iv) the maximum and 
minimum price (including if applicable, the maximum and minimum Price Per Equivalent Share) per unit of the Subject 
Securities and (v) the name and address of the Investor or Affiliated Fund to whom the Subject Securities will be issued (the “
Prospective Subscriber ”); and  
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(b) An offer by the Company to issue, at the option of each Participation Offeree, to such Participation Offeree such 
portion of the Subject Securities to be included in the Issuance as may be requested by such Participation Offeree (not to 
exceed the Participation Offeree’s Participation Portion of the total amount of Subject Securities to be included in the 
Issuance), on the same economic terms and conditions, with respect to each unit of Subject Securities issued to the 
Participation Offerees, as each of the Prospective Subscribers will receive with respect to issued units of Subject Securities.  

2.2.2 Exercise .  

(a) General . Each Participation Offeree desiring to accept the offer contained in the Participation Notice will send a 
written commitment to the Company within ten Business Days after the date of the Participation Notice specifying the dollar 
amount of Subject Securities (in any event not to exceed the Participation Portion of the total amount of Subject Securities to 
be included in the Issuance) that such Participation Offeree desires to purchase (each a “ Participating Buyer ”). Each 
Participation Offeree who has not so accepted such offer will be deemed to have waived all of his, her or its rights with 
respect to the Issuance, and the Company will thereafter be free to issue Subject Securities in the Issuance to the Prospective 
Subscriber and any Participating Buyers, at a price no less than the minimum price set forth in the Participation Notice and on 
other principal terms not substantially more favorable to the Prospective Subscriber than those set forth in the Participation 
Notice, without any further obligation to such non-accepting Participation Offerees. If, prior to consummation, the terms of 
such proposed Issuance change with the result that the price will be less than the minimum price set forth in the Participation 
Notice or the other principal terms will be substantially more favorable to the Prospective Subscriber than those set forth in 
the Participation Notice, it will be necessary for the Company to furnish a separate Participation Notice, and the terms and 
provisions of this Section 2.2 separately complied with, in order to consummate such Issuance pursuant to this Section 2.2.  

(b) Irrevocable Acceptance . The acceptance of each Participating Buyer will be irrevocable except as hereinafter 
provided, and each such Participating Buyer will be bound and obligated to acquire in the Issuance on the same economic 
terms and conditions, with respect to each unit of Subject Securities issued, as the Prospective Subscriber, such amount of 
Subject Securities as such Participating Buyer shall have specified in such Participating Buyer’s written commitment.  

(c) Time Limitation . If, at the end of the 180th day following the date of the Participation Notice, the Company has not 
completed the Issuance, each Participating Buyer will be released from his, her or its obligations under the  
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written commitment, the Participation Notice will be null and void, and it will be necessary for the Company to furnish a 
separate Participation Notice, and the terms and provisions of this Section 2.2 separately complied with, in order to 
consummate such Issuance pursuant to this Section 2.2.  

2.2.3 Other Securities . The Company may condition the participation of the Participation Offerees in an Issuance upon the 
purchase by such Participation Offerees of any securities (including debt securities) other than Subject Securities (“ Other Securities 
”) in the event that the participation of the Prospective Subscriber in such Issuance is so conditioned. In such case, each Participating 
Buyer will acquire in the Issuance, together with the Subject Securities to be acquired by it, Other Securities in the same proportion 
to the Subject Securities to be acquired by it as the proportion of Other Securities to Subject Securities being acquired by the 
Prospective Subscriber in the Issuance, on the same terms and conditions as the Prospective Subscriber, as to each unit of Subject 
Securities and Other Securities issued to the Participating Buyers.  

2.2.4 Certain Legal Requirements . In the event that the participation in the Issuance by a holder of Shares as a Participating 
Buyer would require under applicable law (i) the registration or qualification of such securities or of any Person as a broker or dealer 
or agent with respect to such securities or (ii) the provision to any participant in the Sale of any information regarding the Company, 
its subsidiaries or any of their respective securities, such holder of Shares will not have the right to participate in the Issuance. 
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that the Company will not be under any obligation to 
effect a registration of such securities under the Securities Act or similar state statutes.  

2.2.5 Further Assurances . Each Participation Offeree and each Stockholder to whom the Shares held by such Participation 
Offeree were originally issued, will, whether in his, her or its capacity as a Participating Buyer, Stockholder, officer or director of the 
Company, or otherwise, take or cause to be taken all such reasonable actions as may be necessary or desirable in order to 
expeditiously consummate each Issuance pursuant to this Section 2.2 and any related transactions, including executing, 
acknowledging and delivering consents, assignments, waivers and other documents or instruments; filing applications, reports, 
returns, filings and other documents or instruments with governmental authorities; and otherwise cooperating with the Company and 
the Prospective Subscriber. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each such Participating Buyer and Stockholder agrees to 
execute and deliver such subscription and other agreements specified by the Company to which the Prospective Subscriber will be 
party.  

2.2.6 Expenses . All reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the holders of Investor Shares or the Company in connection 
with any proposed Issuance of Subject Securities (whether or not consummated), including all attorney’s fees and charges, all 
accounting fees and expenses and all finders, brokerage or investment banking fees, charges or commissions, will be paid by the 
Company or its subsidiaries. The reasonable fees and charges of a single legal counsel representing any or all of the other holders of 
Shares in connection with such proposed Issuance of Subject Securities (whether or not  
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consummated) will be paid by the Company or its subsidiaries. Any other costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of any other 
holder of Shares in connection with such proposed Issuance of Subject Securities (whether or not consummated) will be borne by 
such holder.  

2.2.7 Closing . The closing of an Issuance pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof will take place at such time and place as the Company 
will specify by notice to each Participating Buyer. At the Closing of any Issuance under this Section 2.2.7, each Participating Buyer 
will receive the notes, certificates or other instruments evidencing the Subject Securities (and, if applicable, Other Securities) to be 
issued to such Participating Buyer, registered in the name of such Participating Buyer or his, her or its designated nominee, free and 
clear of any liens or encumbrances, with any transfer tax stamps affixed, against delivery by such Participating Buyer of the 
applicable consideration.  

2.3. Post-Issuance Notice . Notwithstanding the notice requirements of Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 hereof, the Company may proceed 
with any Issuance prior to having complied with the provisions of Section 2.2; provided that the Company will:  

2.3.1 provide to each holder of Shares who would have been a Participation Offeree in connection with such Issuance 
(i) prompt notice of such Issuance and (ii) a notice containing the information that would have been required to be included in a 
Participation Notice pursuant to Section 2.2.1 in which the actual price per unit of Subject Securities (and, if applicable, actual Price 
Per Equivalent Share) shall be set forth; and  

2.3.2 offer to issue to such holder of Shares such number of securities of the type issued in the Issuance as may be requested by 
such holder of Shares (not to exceed the Participation Portion that such holder of Shares would have been entitled to pursuant to 
Section 2.2 hereof multiplied by the sum of (a) the number of Subject Securities included in the Issuance and (b) the aggregate 
number of shares issued pursuant to this Section 2.3 with respect to such Issuance) on the same economic terms and conditions with 
respect to such securities as the subscribers in the Issuance received; and  

2.3.3 keep such offer open for a period of ten Business Days, during which period, each such holder may accept such offer by 
sending a written acceptance to the Issuer committing to purchase an amount of such securities in any event not to exceed the 
Participation Portion that such holder would have been entitled to pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof multiplied by the sum of (a) the 
number of Subject Securities included in such issuance and (b) the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this Section 2.3 
with respect to such Issuance.  

2.4. Excluded Transactions . Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 2, the preceding provisions of this Section 2 
will not apply to the Issuance of Shares to the Investors in connection with the Closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger 
Agreement.  

2.5. Certain Provisions Applicable to Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities . In the event that the Issuance of Subject 
Securities will result in any increase in the number of  
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shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise, conversion or exchange of any Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities, the number of 
shares (or Equivalent Shares, if applicable) of Subject Securities (and Other Securities, if applicable) which the holders of such Options, 
Warrants or Convertible Securities, as the case may be, will be entitled to purchase pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof, if any, will be reduced, share 
for share, by the amount of any such increase.  

2.6. Acquired Shares . Any Subject Securities constituting Common Stock acquired by any holder of Shares pursuant to this 
Section 2 will be deemed for all purposes hereof and under the Stockholders Agreement to be Participation Shares hereunder of like kind with 
the Shares then held by the acquiring holder.  

2.7. Period . The foregoing provisions of this Section 2 will expire upon the earlier of the closing of (a) a Change of Control and 
(b) the effectiveness of the Company’s registration statement in connection with the Initial Public Offering.  

ARTICLE III  

REGISTRATION RIGHTS.  

The Company will perform and comply, and cause each of its subsidiaries to perform and comply, with such of the following 
provisions as are applicable to it. Each Holder will perform and comply with such of the following provisions as are applicable to such Holder.  

3.1. Demand Registration Rights .  

3.1.1 IPO Demand Registration Rights .  

(a) At any time following the Closing, if the Company has not yet completed the Initial Public Offering, any Bain Fund, 
by notice to the Company specifying the intended method or methods of disposition, may request (each such requesting Bain 
Fund, an “ IPO Initiating Holders ”) that the Company effect the registration under the Securities Act for the Initial Public 
Offering of all or a specified part of the Registrable Securities held by such IPO Initiating Holder.  

(b) The Company will use its best efforts to (i) effect the registration under the Securities Act (including by means of a 
shelf registration pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act if so requested by a majority of the IPO Initiating Holders and 
if the Company is then eligible to use such registration) of the Registrable Securities that the Company has been requested to 
register by an IPO Initiating Holder pursuant to this Section 3.1.1 together with all other Registrable Securities that the 
Company has been requested to register pursuant to Section 3.2 by other Holders, all to the extent required to permit the 
disposition of the Registrable Securities that the Company has been so requested to register, and (ii) if requested by an IPO 
Initiating Holder, obtain acceleration of the effective date of the registration statement relating to such registration.  

3.1.2 Post-IPO Demand Registration Rights . At any such time as any Bain Fund which, together with its Affiliates and 
Affiliated Funds, beneficially holds, in the  
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aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding Shares (the “ Initiating Holders ”), by notice to the Company specifying 
the intended method or methods of disposition, may request that the Company effect the registration under the Securities Act for a 
Public Offering of all or a specified part of the Registrable Securities held by such Initiating Holders; provided , however , that the 
value of Registrable Securities that the Initiating Holders propose to sell in such Public Offering is at least Twenty-Five Million 
Dollars ($25,000,000) or such lower amount as agreed by the Board. The Company will then use its best efforts to (i) effect the 
registration under the Securities Act (including by means of a shelf registration pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act if so 
requested by a majority of the Initiating Holders and if the Company is then eligible to use such registration) of the Registrable 
Securities that the Company has been requested to register by such Initiating Holders together with all other Registrable Securities 
that the Company has been requested to register pursuant to Section 3.2 by other Holders, all to the extent required to permit the 
disposition of the Registrable Securities that the Company has been so requested to register, and (ii) if requested by an Initiating 
Holder, obtain acceleration of the effective date of the registration statement relating to such registration; provided , however , that 
the Company will not be obligated to take any action to effect any such registration pursuant to this Section 3.1.2:  

(a) during the effectiveness of any Principal Lock-Up Agreement entered into in connection with any registration 
statement pertaining to an underwritten public offering of securities of the Company for its own account (other than a Rule 
145 Transaction, or a registration relating solely to employee benefit plans); or  

(b) if a registration statement requested under this Section 3.1.2 became effective within the preceding 90 days (unless 
otherwise consented to by the Board).  

3.1.3 Shelf Takedowns . At any time during which the Company has effective a shelf registration pursuant to Rule 415 under 
the Securities Act with respect to such Holder’s Shares, any Bain Fund (the “ Shelf Takedown Holders ”), by notice to the Company 
specifying the intended method or methods of disposition, may request that the Company effect an underwritten offering of the Shelf 
Takedown Holder’s Shares that are subject to such registration statement (an “ Underwritten Shelf Takedown ”) of all or a specified 
part of the Registrable Securities held by such Shelf Takedown Holder; provided , however , that the value of Registrable Securities 
that the Shelf Takedown Holder together with Shares owned by its Affiliated Funds proposes to sell in an Underwritten Shelf 
Takedown is at least Twenty-Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000) or such lower amount as agreed by the Board. The Company will 
not be obligated to take any action to effect any such Underwritten Shelf Takedown pursuant to this Section 3.1.3 if an Underwritten 
Shelf Takedown requested under this Section 3.1.3 was consummated within the preceding 90 days (unless otherwise consented to 
by the Board).  

3.1.4 Form . Except as otherwise provided above or required by law, so long as the Company is eligible and qualified to 
register Registrable Securities on Form S-3 (or any successor or similar short-form registration statement), each registration 
requested  
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pursuant to Section 3.1.2 will be effected by the filing of a registration statement on Form S-3 (or any other form which includes 
substantially the same information as would be required to be included in a registration statement on such form as currently 
constituted); provided that if any registration requested pursuant to this Section 3.1 is proposed to be effected on Form S-3 (or any 
successor or similar short-form registration statement) and is in connection with an underwritten offering, and if the managing 
underwriter will advise the Company in writing that, in its opinion, it is of material importance to the success of such proposed 
offering to file a registration statement on Form S-1 (or any successor or similar registration statement) or to include in such 
registration statement information not required to be included pursuant to Form S-3 (or any successor or similar short-form 
registration statement), then the Company will file a registration statement on Form S-1 or supplement Form S-3 (or any successor or 
similar short-form registration statement) as reasonably requested by such managing underwriter.  

3.1.5 Payment of Expenses . The Company will pay all Registration Expenses in connection with registrations of Registrable 
Securities pursuant to this Section 3.1, including all reasonable expenses (other than fees and disbursements of counsel that do not 
constitute Registration Expenses) that any Holder incurs in connection with each registration of Registrable Securities requested 
pursuant to this Section 3.1.  

3.1.6 Additional Procedures . In the case of a registration pursuant to Section 3.1 hereof, whenever an IPO Initiating Holder or 
an Initiating Holder is entitled to request and so requests that such registration will be effected pursuant to an underwritten offering, 
the Company will include such information in any written notice to Holders required by Section 3.2. In such event, the right of any 
Holder to have securities owned by such Holder included in such registration will be conditioned upon the inclusion of such Holder’s 
Registrable Securities in the underwriting (unless otherwise mutually agreed upon by the IPO Initiating Holder or Initiating Holder 
and such Holder). If requested by the IPO Initiating Holder, Initiating Holder or Shelf Takedown Holder the Company together with 
the Holders proposing to distribute their securities through the underwriting will enter into an underwriting agreement with the 
underwriters for such offering containing such representations and warranties by the Company and such Holders and such other 
terms and provisions as are customarily contained in underwriting agreements with respect to secondary distributions, including 
customary indemnity and contribution provisions (subject, in each case, to the limitations on such liabilities set forth in this 
Agreement).  

3.1.7 Suspension of Registration . If the filing, initial effectiveness or continued use of a registration statement, including a 
shelf registration statement pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act, in respect of a registration pursuant to this Section 3.1 at 
any time would require the Company to make a public disclosure of material non-public information, which disclosure in the good 
faith judgment of the Board (after consultation with external legal counsel) (i) would be required to be made in any registration 
statement so that such registration statement would not be materially misleading, (ii) would not be required to be made at such time 
but for the filing, effectiveness or continued use of such registration statement and (iii) would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company or its business or on the Company’s ability to effect a material proposed  
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acquisition, disposition, financing, reorganization, recapitalization or similar transaction, then the Company may, upon giving prompt 
written notice of such action to the Holders participating in such registration, delay the filing or initial effectiveness of, or suspend 
use of, such registration statement; provided , that the Company will not be permitted to do so (i) for a period exceeding 30 days on 
any one occasion or (ii) for an aggregate period exceeding 60 days in any 12 month period. In the event the Company exercises its 
rights under the preceding sentence, such Holders agree to suspend, promptly upon their receipt of the notice referred to above, their 
use of any prospectus relating to such registration in connection with any sale or offer to sell Registrable Securities. The Company 
will promptly notify such Holders of the expiration of any period during which it exercised its rights under this Section 3.1.7. The 
Company agrees that, in the event it exercises its rights under this Section 3.1.7, it will, within 30 days following such Holders’
receipt of the notice of suspension, update the suspended registration statement as may be necessary to permit the Holders to resume 
use thereof in connection with the offer and sale of their Registrable Securities in accordance with applicable law.  

3.2. Piggyback Registration Rights .  

3.2.1 Piggyback Registration .  

(a) General . Each time the Company proposes to register any shares of Common Stock under the Securities Act on a 
form which would permit registration of Registrable Securities for sale to the public, for its own account and/or for the 
account of any other Person (pursuant to Section 3.1 or otherwise) for sale in a Public Offering, the Company will give notice 
to all Holders of its intention to do so. Any Holder may, by written response delivered to the Company within twenty days 
after the date of delivery of such notice, request that all or a specified part of such Holder’s Registrable Securities be included 
in such registration. A Holder may request in any such response that varying numbers of such Holder’s Registrable Securities 
be included in the registration based on varying prices at which such Registrable Securities are to be sold in the registered 
offering. The Company thereupon will use its best efforts to cause to be included in such registration under the Securities Act 
all Registrable Securities that the Company has been so requested to register by such Holders, to the extent required to permit 
the disposition (in accordance with the methods to be used by the Company or, pursuant to Section 3.1, other Holders in such 
Public Offering) of the Registrable Securities to be so registered; provided that (i) if, at any time after giving written notice of 
its intention to register any securities, the Company will determine for any reason not to proceed with the proposed 
registration of the securities to be sold by it, the Company may, at its election, give written notice of such determination to 
each Holder and, thereupon, will be relieved of its obligation to register any Registrable Securities in connection with such 
registration (but not from its obligation to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith), and (ii) if such registration 
involves an underwritten offering, all Holders requesting to be included in the Company’s registration must sell their 
Registrable Securities to the underwriters selected by the Company on the same terms and conditions as apply to the 
Company (with such differences as  
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may be customary or appropriate in combined primary and secondary offerings and, in any event, without providing for 
indemnification or contribution obligations in excess of what is required by Section 3.4) or, in the case of a registration 
initiated pursuant to Section 3.1.1 or 3.1.2, the Bain Funds. No registration of Registrable Securities effected under this 
Section 3.2 will relieve the Company of any of its obligations to effect registrations of Registrable Securities pursuant to 
Section 3.1 hereof.  

(b) Excluded Transactions . The Company will not be obligated to effect any registration of Registrable Securities under 
this Section 3.2 or give any notice to any Holder of the Company’s intent to register Registrable Securities, in each case 
incidental to the registration of any of its securities in connection with:  

(i) Any Public Offering relating to employee benefit plans or dividend reinvestment plans;  

(ii) Any Public Offering relating to the acquisition or merger after the date hereof by the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries of or with any other businesses except to the extent such Public Offering is for the sale of securities for 
cash; or  

(iii) The Initial Public Offering, unless such offering shall have been initiated pursuant to Section 3.1.1 or the 
Board determines otherwise, provided , that even if such offering is the Initial Public Offering and has been initiated 
pursuant to Section 3.1.1, the Company will not be obligated to effect any registration of Registrable Securities or give 
any notice to Holders under this Section 3.2 if the lead underwriters determine that inclusion of such Registrable 
Securities would materially adversely affect the marketability or pricing of the offering.  

3.2.2 Payment of Expenses . The Company will pay all Registration Expenses in connection with registrations of Registrable 
Securities pursuant to this Section 3.2.  

3.2.3 Additional Procedures . Holders participating in any Public Offering pursuant to this Section 3.2 will take all such actions 
and execute all such documents and instruments that are reasonably requested by the Company to effect the sale of their Registrable 
Securities in such Public Offering, including being parties to the underwriting agreement entered into by the Company and any other 
selling shareholders in connection therewith and being liable in respect of the representations and warranties and the other 
agreements (including customary selling stockholder representations, warranties, indemnifications and “lock-up” agreements) for the 
benefit of the underwriters contained therein; provided , however , that (i) with respect to individual representations, warranties, 
indemnities and agreements of sellers of Registrable Securities in such Public Offering, the aggregate amount of such liability will 
not exceed such holder’s net proceeds from such offering and (ii) to the extent selling stockholders give further representations, 
warranties and indemnities, then with respect to all other representations, warranties and indemnities of sellers of Registrable 
Securities in such Public Offering, the aggregate  
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amount of such liability will not exceed the lesser of (x) such holder’s pro rata portion of any such liability, in accordance with such 
holder’s portion of the total number of Registrable Securities included in the offering, and (y) such holder’s net proceeds from such 
offering.  

3.3. Certain Other Provisions .  

3.3.1 Underwriter’s Cutback . In connection with any registration of shares, the underwriter may determine that marketing 
factors (including an adverse effect on the per share offering price) require a limitation of the number of shares to be underwritten. 
Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Section 3 and subject to the terms of this Section 3.3.1, the underwriter may limit the 
number of shares which would otherwise be included in such registration by excluding any or all Registrable Securities from such 
registration, it being understood that, if the registration in question involves a registration for sale of securities for the Company’s 
own account, then the number of shares which the Company seeks to have registered in such registration will not be subject to 
exclusion, in whole or in part, under this Section 3.3.1. Upon receipt of notice from the underwriter of the need to reduce the number 
of shares to be included in the registration, the Company will advise all holders of the Company’s securities that would otherwise be 
registered and underwritten pursuant hereto, and the number of shares of such securities, including Registrable Securities, that may 
be included in the registration will be allocated in the following manner, unless the underwriter will determine that marketing factors 
require a different allocation: shares, other than Registrable Securities, requested to be included in such registration by other 
stockholders will be excluded unless the Company, with the consent of the parties required to approve any amendment or waiver of 
this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof, has granted registration rights which are to be treated on an equal basis with 
Registrable Securities for the purpose of the exercise of the underwriter cutback (such shares afforded such equal treatment being “
Parity Shares ”); and, if a limitation on the number of shares is still required, the number of Registrable Securities, Parity Shares and 
other shares of Common Stock that may be included in such registration will be allocated among the holders thereof in proportion, as 
nearly as practicable, as follows:  

(a) there will be first allocated to each such holder requesting that its Registrable Securities or Parity Shares be 
registered in such registration a number of such shares to be included in such registration equal to the lesser of (i) the number 
of such shares requested to be registered by such holder, and (ii) a number of such shares equal to such holder’s Pro Rata 
Portion;  

(b) the balance, if any, not allocated pursuant to clause (a) above will be allocated to those holders requesting that their 
Registrable Securities or Parity Shares be registered in such registration that requested to register a number of such shares in 
excess of such holder’s Pro Rata Portion pro rata to each such holder based upon the number of Registrable Securities and 
Parity Shares held by such holder, or in such other manner as the holders requesting that their Registrable Securities or Parity 
Shares be registered in such registration may otherwise agree; and  
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(c) the balance, if any, not allocated pursuant to clause (b) above will be allocated to shares, other than Registrable 
Securities and Parity Shares, requested to be included in such registration by other stockholders.  

For purposes of any underwriter cutback, all Registrable Securities held by any Holder will also include any Registrable Securities 
held by the partners, retired partners, shareholders or Affiliates of such Holder, or the estates and family members of any such Holder or such 
partners and retired partners, any trusts for the benefit of any of the foregoing Persons and, at the election of such Holder or such partners, retired 
partners, trusts or Affiliates, any Charitable Organization to which any of the foregoing shall have contributed Common Stock prior to the 
execution of the underwriting agreement in connection with such underwritten offering, and such Holder and other Persons will be deemed to be 
a single selling Holder, and any pro rata reduction with respect to such selling Holder will be based upon the aggregate amount of Common 
Stock owned by all entities and individuals included with such selling Holder, as defined in this sentence. No securities excluded from the 
underwriting by reason of the underwriter’s marketing limitation will be included in such registration. Upon delivery of a written request 
pursuant to Section 3.1.1, 3.1.2 or 3.2.1(a) that Registrable Securities be sold in an underwritten offering, the Holder thereof may not thereafter 
elect to withdraw therefrom without the written consent of the Bain Funds. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the managing underwriter of any 
underwritten offering will advise the Holders participating in the offering that the Registrable Securities covered by the registration statement 
cannot be sold in such offering within a price range acceptable to the IPO Initiating Holder, Initiating Holder or Shelf Takedown Holder, then the 
IPO Initiating Holder, Initiating Holder or Shelf Takedown Holder will have the right to withdraw from such underwritten offering and, upon 
any such withdrawal, the Bain Funds may elect to terminate any such offering at any time.  

3.3.2 Registration Procedures . If, and in each case when, the Company is required to effect a registration of any Registrable 
Securities as provided in this Section 3, the Company will promptly:  

(a) prepare and, in any event within 45 days (30 days in the case of a Form S-3 registration) after the end of the period 
under Section 3.2.1(a) within which a piggyback request for registration may be given to the Company, file with the 
Commission a registration statement with respect to such Registrable Securities and use its best efforts to cause such 
registration statement to become effective within 90 days of the initial filing;  

(b) prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to such registration statement and the 
prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such registration statement effective for a period not in 
excess of 270 days (or such shorter period which will terminate when all Registrable Securities covered by such registration 
statement have been sold) and to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act with respect to the 
disposition of all securities covered by such registration statement during such period in accordance with the intended 
methods of disposition by the seller or sellers thereof set forth in such registration statement; provided that before filing a 
registration statement or prospectus, or any  
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amendments or supplements thereto in accordance with Sections 3.1 or 3.2, the Company will furnish to counsel selected 
pursuant to Section 3.3.3 hereof copies of all documents proposed to be filed, which documents will be subject to the review 
of such counsel;  

(c) furnish to each seller of such Registrable Securities such number of copies of such registration statement and of each 
amendment and supplement thereto (in each case including all exhibits filed therewith), such number of copies of the 
prospectus included in such registration statement (including each preliminary prospectus and summary prospectus), in 
conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act, and such other documents as such seller may reasonably request in 
order to facilitate the disposition of the Registrable Securities by such seller;  

(d) use its best efforts to register or qualify such Registrable Securities covered by such registration in such jurisdictions 
as each seller will reasonably request, and do any and all other acts and things which may be reasonably necessary or 
advisable to enable such seller to consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities owned by 
such seller, except that the Company will not for any such purpose be required to qualify generally to do business as a foreign 
corporation in any jurisdiction where, but for the requirements of this clause (d), it would not be obligated to be so qualified 
or to consent to general service of process in any such jurisdiction;  

(e) notify each seller of any such Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement, at any time when a 
prospectus relating thereto is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, of the Company’s becoming aware that the 
prospectus included in such registration statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to 
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the 
circumstances then existing, and at the request of any such seller, prepare and furnish to such seller a reasonable number of 
copies of an amended or supplemental prospectus as may be necessary so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of 
such Registrable Securities, such prospectus shall not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances 
then existing;  

(f) otherwise use its best efforts to comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission, and make 
available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable (but not more than 18 months) after the effective date of the 
registration statement, an earnings statement which will satisfy the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act;  

(g) (i) if such Registrable Securities are Common Stock (including Common Stock issuable upon conversion, exchange 
or exercise of another security), use its best efforts to list such Registrable Securities on any securities  
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exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed if such Registrable Securities are not already so listed; and (ii) use its 
best efforts to provide a transfer agent and registrar for such Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement not 
later than the effective date of such registration statement;  

(h) enter into such customary agreements (including an underwriting agreement in customary form), which may include 
indemnification provisions in favor of underwriters and other Persons in addition to the provisions of Section 3.4 hereof, and 
take such other actions as the Bain Funds or the underwriters, if any, reasonably requested in order to expedite or facilitate the 
disposition of such Registrable Securities;  

(i) obtain a “cold comfort” letter or letters from the Company’s independent public accountants in customary form and 
covering matters of the type customarily covered by “cold comfort” letters as the Bain Funds shall reasonably request;  

(j) make available for inspection by any seller of such Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement, by 
any managing underwriter or underwriters participating in any disposition to be effected pursuant to such registration 
statement and by any attorney, accountant or other agent retained by any such seller or any such managing underwriter(s), all 
pertinent financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and properties of the Company, and cause all of the 
Company’s officers, directors and employees to supply all information reasonably requested by any such seller, underwriter, 
attorney, accountant or agent in connection with such registration statement (subject to each party referred to in this clause 
(j) entering into customary confidentiality agreements in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company);  

(k) notify counsel (selected pursuant to Section 3.3.3 hereof) for the Holders of Registrable Securities included in such 
registration statement and the managing underwriter or agent, immediately, and confirm the notice in writing (i) when the 
registration statement, or any post-effective amendment to the registration statement, will have become effective, or any 
supplement to the prospectus or any amendment to the prospectus will have been filed, (ii) of the receipt of any comments 
from the Commission, (iii) of any request of the Commission to amend the registration statement or amend or supplement the 
prospectus or for additional information, and (iv) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the 
effectiveness of the registration statement or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary prospectus, or 
of the suspension of the qualification of the registration statement for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the institution 
or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes;  

(l) use its best efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the registration statement 
or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary prospectus and, if any such order is issued, to obtain the 
withdrawal of any such order as soon as practicable;  
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(m) if requested by the managing underwriter or agent or any Holder of Registrable Securities covered by the 
registration statement, incorporate in a prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment such information as the managing 
underwriter or agent or such Holder reasonably requests to be included therein, including, with respect to the number of 
Registrable Securities being sold by such Holder to such underwriter or agent, the purchase price being paid therefor by such 
underwriter or agent and with respect to any other terms of the underwritten offering of the Registrable Securities to be sold in 
such offering; and make all required filings of such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment as soon as practicable 
after being notified of the matters incorporated in such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment;  

(n) cooperate with the Holders of Registrable Securities covered by the registration statement and the managing 
underwriter or agent, if any, to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates (not bearing any restrictive 
legends) representing securities to be sold under the registration statement, and enable such securities to be in such 
denominations and registered in such names as the managing underwriter or agent, if any, or such Holders may request;  

(o) obtain for delivery to the Holders of Registrable Securities being registered and to the underwriter or agent an 
opinion or opinions from counsel for the Company in customary form and in form, substance and scope reasonably 
satisfactory to the Bain Funds, underwriters or agents and their counsel;  

(p) cooperate with each seller of Registrable Securities and each underwriter or agent participating in the disposition of 
such Registrable Securities and their respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made with the FINRA; 
and  

(q) use its best efforts to make available the executive officers of the Company to participate with the Holders of 
Registrable Securities and any underwriters in any “road shows” that may be reasonably requested by the Holders in 
connection with distribution of the Registrable Securities.  

3.3.3 Selection of Underwriters and Counsel . The underwriters and legal counsel to be retained by the Company in connection 
with any Public Offering will be selected by the Board; provided that, in the case of an offering following a request therefor under 
Section 3.1.1 or 3.1.2, such underwriters and counsel will be reasonably acceptable to the Bain Funds. In connection with any 
registration of Registrable Securities pursuant to Sections 3.1 and 3.2 hereof, the Bain Funds may select one counsel to represent all 
Holders of Registrable Securities covered by such registration; provided , however , that in the event that the counsel selected as 
provided above is also acting as counsel to the Company in connection with such registration, the remaining Holders will be entitled 
to select one additional counsel to represent, at the Company’s expense, all such remaining Holders.  
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3.3.4 Company Lock-Up . If any registration pursuant to Section 3.1 of this Agreement shall be in connection with an 
underwritten Public Offering, the Company agrees not to effect any public sale or distribution of any Common Stock of the Company 
(or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Common Stock) (in each case, other than as part of such 
underwritten public offering and other than pursuant to a registration on Form S-4 or S-8) for its own account, within 90 days (or 
such shorter period as the managing underwriters may require) after, the effective date of such registration (except as part of such 
registration).  

3.3.5 Holder Lock-Up . Each Holder will comply with the provisions of Section 3.7 of the Stockholders Agreement applicable 
to a “Stockholder” as though such Section were set forth herein. No Stockholder will Transfer Common Stock or any securities 
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock pursuant to a waiver from a lock-up agreement described in 
Section 3.7 of the Stockholders Agreement unless the benefit of such waiver is extended in a pro rata manner to all Stockholders.  

3.3.6 Other Agreements . The Company covenants and agrees that, so long as any Person holds any Registrable Securities in 
respect of which any registration rights provided for in Section 3.1 of this Agreement remain in effect, the Company will not, directly 
or indirectly, grant to any Person or agree to or otherwise become obligated in respect of rights of registration in the nature or 
substantially in the nature of those set forth in Section 3.1 or 3.2 of this Agreement without the consent of Stockholders holding a 
majority of the Registrable Securities (plus the consent of any Stockholder who would be disproportionately and adversely affected 
thereby compared to other Stockholders) other than registration rights set forth in Section 3.1 or 3.2 that are provided to Managers, 
Other Investors or Investors that join this Agreement from time to time.  

3.4. Indemnification and Contribution .  

3.4.1 Indemnities of the Company . In the event of any registration of any Registrable Securities or other debt or equity 
securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries under the Securities Act pursuant to this Section 3 or otherwise, and in 
connection with any registration statement or any other disclosure document produced by or on behalf of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries including reports required and other documents filed under the Exchange Act, and other documents pursuant to which 
any debt or equity securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries are sold (whether or not for the account of the Company or its 
subsidiaries), the Company will, and hereby does, and will cause each of its subsidiaries, jointly and severally, to indemnify and hold 
harmless each holder of Registrable Securities, any Person who is or might be deemed to be a controlling Person of the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, their respective 
direct and indirect partners, advisory board members, advisors, directors, officers, employees, trustees, members and shareholders, 
and each other Person, if any, who controls any such  
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holder or any such controlling Person within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act (each 
such Person being referred to herein as a “ Covered Person ”), against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions or 
proceedings in respect thereof), joint or several, to which such Covered Person may be or become subject under the Securities Act, 
the Exchange Act, any other securities or other law of any jurisdiction, the common law or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, 
damages or liabilities (or actions or proceedings in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon (i) any untrue statement or alleged 
untrue statement of any material fact contained or incorporated by reference in any registration statement under the Securities Act, 
any preliminary prospectus or final prospectus included therein, or any related summary prospectus, or any amendment or 
supplement thereto, or any document incorporated by reference therein, or any other such disclosure document (including reports and 
other documents filed under the Exchange Act and any document incorporated by reference therein) or other document or report, 
(ii) any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements 
therein not misleading or (iii) any violation or alleged violation by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of any federal, state, 
foreign or common law rule or regulation applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries and relating to action or inaction in 
connection with any such registration, disclosure document or other document or report, and will reimburse such Covered Person for 
any legal or any other expenses incurred by it in connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability, 
action or proceeding; provided , however , that neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries will be liable to any Covered Person 
in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage, liability, action or proceeding arises out of or is based upon an 
untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in such registration statement, any such 
preliminary prospectus, final prospectus, summary prospectus, amendment or supplement, incorporated document or other such 
disclosure document or other document or report, in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the 
Company or to any of its subsidiaries through an instrument duly executed by such Covered Person specifically stating that it is for 
use in the preparation thereof. The indemnities of the Company and of its subsidiaries contained in this Section 3.4.1 will remain in 
full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of such Covered Person and will survive any transfer of 
securities or any termination of this Agreement.  

3.4.2 Indemnities to the Company . Subject to Section 3.4.4, the Company and any of its subsidiaries may require, as a 
condition to including any securities in any registration statement filed pursuant to this Section 3, that the Company and any of its 
subsidiaries will have received an undertaking satisfactory to it from the prospective seller of such securities, severally and not 
jointly, to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and any of its subsidiaries, each director of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries, each officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who will sign such registration statement and each other Person 
(other than such seller), if any, who controls the Company and any of its subsidiaries within the meaning of Section 15 of the 
Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act and each other prospective seller of such securities with respect to any statement in 
or omission from such registration statement, any preliminary prospectus, final prospectus or summary prospectus included  
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therein, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any other disclosure document (including reports and other documents filed 
under the Exchange Act or any document incorporated therein) or other document or report, if such statement or omission was made 
in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company or any of its subsidiaries through an 
instrument executed by such seller specifically stating that it is for use in the preparation of such registration statement, preliminary 
prospectus, final prospectus, summary prospectus, amendment or supplement, incorporated document or other document or report. 
Such indemnity will remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Company, any of its 
subsidiaries or any such director, officer or controlling Person and will survive any transfer of securities or any termination of this 
Agreement.  

3.4.3 Contribution . If the indemnification provided for in Sections 3.4.1 or 3.4.2 hereof is unavailable to a party that would 
have been entitled to indemnification pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.4 (an “ Indemnitee ”) in respect of any 
losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions or proceedings in respect thereof) referred to therein, then each party that would have 
been an indemnifying party thereunder will, subject to Section 3.4.4 and in lieu of indemnifying such Indemnitee, contribute to the 
amount paid or payable by such Indemnitee as a result of such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions or proceedings in 
respect thereof) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of such indemnifying party on the one hand and such 
Indemnitee on the other in connection with the statements or omissions that resulted in such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or 
actions or proceedings in respect thereof). The relative fault will be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the 
untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information 
supplied by such indemnifying party or such Indemnitee and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The parties agree that it would not be just or equitable if contribution 
pursuant to this Section 3.4.3 were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account 
of the equitable considerations referred to in the preceding sentence. The amount paid or payable by a contributing party as a result of 
the losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions or proceedings in respect thereof) referred to above in this Section 3.4.3 will 
include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with investigating or defending any such 
action or claim. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) will be 
entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.  

3.4.4 Limitation on Liability of Holders of Registrable Securities . The liability of each holder of Registrable Securities in 
respect of any indemnification or contribution obligation of such holder arising under this Section 3.4 will not in any event exceed an 
amount equal to the net proceeds to such holder (after deduction of all underwriters’ discounts and commissions) from the disposition 
of the Registrable Securities disposed of by such holder pursuant to such registration.  
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3.4.5 Indemnification Procedures . Promptly after receipt by an Indemnitee of written notice of the commencement of any 
action or proceeding with respect to which a claim for indemnification may be made pursuant to this Section 3.4, such Indemnitee 
will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against an indemnifying party, give written notice to the latter of the commencement 
of such action or proceeding; provided that the failure of the Indemnitee to give notice as provided herein will not relieve the 
indemnifying party of its obligations under this Section 3.4, except to the extent that the indemnifying party is materially prejudiced 
by such failure to give notice. In case any such action or proceeding is brought against an Indemnitee, the indemnifying party will be 
entitled to participate in and to assume the defense thereof (at its expense), jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly 
notified to the extent that it may wish, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnitee, and after notice from the 
indemnifying party to such Indemnitee of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the indemnifying party will not be liable to 
such Indemnitee for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the latter in connection with the defense thereof other than 
reasonable costs of investigation and will have no liability for any settlement made by the Indemnitee without the consent of the 
indemnifying party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if in such Indemnitee’s reasonable 
judgment a conflict of interest between such Indemnitee and the indemnifying parties may exist in respect of such action or 
proceeding or the indemnifying party does not assume the defense of any such action or proceeding within a reasonable time after 
notice of commencement, the Indemnitee will have the right to assume or continue its own defense and the indemnifying party will 
be liable for any reasonable expenses therefor, but in no event will bear the expenses for more than one firm of counsel for all 
Indemnitees in each jurisdiction who will be approved by the Bain Funds in the registration in respect of which such indemnification 
is sought. No indemnifying party will settle any action or proceeding or consent to the entry of any judgment without the prior 
written consent of the Indemnitee, unless such settlement or judgment (i) includes as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the 
claimant or plaintiff of a release to such Indemnitee from all liability in respect of such action or proceeding and (ii) does not involve 
the imposition of equitable remedies or the imposition of any obligations on such Indemnitee and does not otherwise adversely affect 
such Indemnitee, other than as a result of the imposition of financial obligations for which such Indemnitee will be indemnified 
hereunder.  

ARTICLE IV  

REMEDIES.  

4.1. Generally . The parties will have all remedies available at law, in equity or otherwise in the event of any breach or violation of 
this Agreement or any default hereunder. The parties acknowledge and agree that in the event of any breach of this Agreement, in addition to any 
other remedies that may be available, each of the parties hereto will be entitled to specific performance of the obligations of the other parties 
hereto and, in addition, to such other equitable remedies (including preliminary or temporary relief) as may be appropriate in the circumstances.  
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ARTICLE V  

PERMITTED TRANSFEREES.  

The rights of a Holder hereunder may be assigned (but only with all related obligations as set forth below) in connection with a 
Transfer of Shares effected in accordance with the terms of the Stockholders Agreement and this Agreement to a Permitted Transferee of such 
Holder. Without prejudice to any other or similar conditions imposed hereunder with respect to any such Transfer, no assignment permitted 
under the terms of this Section 5 will be effective unless the Permitted Transferee to which such assignment is being made, if not a Stockholder, 
has delivered to the Company a written acknowledgment and agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company that the 
Shares in respect of which such assignment is made will continue to be deemed Shares and will be subject to all of the provisions of this 
Agreement relating to Shares and that such Permitted Transferee will be bound by, and will be a party to, this Agreement. A Permitted 
Transferee to whom rights are transferred pursuant to this Section 5 may not again transfer such rights to any other Permitted Transferee, other 
than as provided in this Section 5.  

ARTICLE VI  

AMENDMENT, TERMINATION, ETC.  

6.1. Oral Modifications . This Agreement may not be orally amended, modified, extended or terminated, nor will any oral waiver of 
any of its terms be effective.  

6.2. Written Modifications . This Agreement may be amended, modified, extended or terminated, and the provisions hereof may be 
waived, only by an agreement in writing signed by the Company and the Stockholders that hold a majority of the Shares held by all 
Stockholders; provided , however , that any amendment, modification, extension, termination or waiver (an “ Amendment ”) will also require the 
consent of any Stockholder who would be disproportionately and adversely affected thereby. Each such Amendment will be binding upon each 
party hereto and each holder of Shares subject hereto. In addition, each party hereto and each holder of Shares subject hereto may waive any 
right hereunder by an instrument in writing signed by such party or holder.  

6.3. Effect of Termination . No termination under this Agreement will relieve any Person of liability for breach prior to termination. 
In the event this Agreement is terminated, each Covered Person will retain the indemnification rights pursuant to Section 3.4 hereof with respect 
to any matter that (i) may be an indemnified liability thereunder and (ii) occurred prior to such termination.  
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ARTICLE VII  

DEFINITIONS.  

For purposes of this Agreement:  

7.1. Certain Matters of Construction . In addition to the definitions referred to or set forth below in this Section 7:  

(i) The words “hereof’, “herein”, “hereunder” and words of similar import will refer to this Agreement as a whole 
and not to any particular Section or provision of this Agreement, and reference to a particular Section of this Agreement 
will include all subsections thereof;  

(ii) The word “including” will be construed as including, without limitation;  

(iii) Definitions will be equally applicable to both nouns and verbs and the singular and plural forms of the terms 
defined; and  

(iv) The masculine, feminine and neuter genders will each include the other.  

7.2. Definitions . The following terms will have the following meanings:  

“ Affiliate ” will mean (a) with respect to any specified Person that is not a natural Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person (for the purposes of this 
definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”) as used 
with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or 
policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise) and (b) with respect to any natural 
Person, any Member of the Immediate Family of such natural Person.  

“ Affiliated Fund ” means with respect to any Investor, each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited 
partnership or other entity under common control with that Investor (including any such entity with the same general partner or principal 
investment advisor as that Investor or with a general partner or principal investment advisor that is an Affiliate of the general partner or principal 
investment advisor of that Investor).  

“ Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Amendment ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.  

“ Bain Funds ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Board ” will mean the board of directors of the Company.  

“ Business Day ” will mean any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banks are required or authorized by law 
to be closed in the City of New York.  

“ Change of Control ” will mean (a) any change in the ownership of the capital stock of the Company if, immediately after giving 
effect thereto, any Person (or group of Persons acting in  
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concert) other than the Investors and their Affiliates will have the direct or indirect power to elect a majority of the members of the Board or 
(b) any change in the ownership of the capital stock of the Company if, immediately after giving effect thereto, the Investors and their Affiliates 
will own less than 25% of the Equivalent Shares.  

“ Charitable Organization ” means a charitable organization as described by Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 
as in effect from time to time.  

“ Class A Stock ” will mean the Class A Common Stock, par value $.001 per share of the Company.  

“ Class L Stock ” will mean the Class L Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the Company.  

“ Closing ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.  

“ Commission ” will mean the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

“ Common Stock ” will mean the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company, including the Class A Stock and the 
Class L Stock.  

“ Company ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Covered Person ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.1.  

“ Convertible Securities ” will mean any evidence of indebtedness, shares of stock (other than Common Stock) or other securities 
(other than Options and Warrants) which are directly or indirectly convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Common Stock.  

“ Equivalent Shares ” will mean, at any date of determination, (a) as to any outstanding shares of Common Stock, such number of 
shares of Common Stock and (b) as to any outstanding Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities which constitute Shares, the maximum 
number of shares of Common Stock for which or into which such Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities may at the time be exercised, 
converted or exchanged (or which will become exercisable, convertible or exchangeable on or prior to, or by reason of, the transaction or 
circumstance in connection with which the number of Equivalent Shares is to be determined); provided, however, that with respect to any 
Manager only Vested Shares shall be counted in determining the Equivalent Shares held by such Manager.  

“ Exchange Act ” will mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as in effect from time to time.  

“ FINRA ” will mean the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.  

“ Giraffe A ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Giraffe B ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  
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“ Gymboree ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Holders ” will mean the holders of Registrable Securities under this Agreement.  

“ Indemnitee ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.3.  

“ Initial Public Offering ” will mean the initial Public Offering registered on Form S-1 (or any successor form under the Securities 
Act) after the date hereof.  

“ Initiating Holders ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.2.  

“ Investors ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ IPO Initiating Holders ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.1.  

“ Issuance ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.  

“ Management Shares ” will mean all Shares held by a Manager. Any Management Shares that are Transferred by the holder thereof 
to such holder’s Permitted Transferees will remain Management Shares in the hands of such Permitted Transferee.  

“ Managers ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Merger Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.  

“ Options ” will mean any options to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise directly acquire Common Stock, other than any such option 
held by the Company or any right to purchase shares pursuant to this Agreement.  

“ Other Investors ” will have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.  

“ Other Securities ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.3.  

“ Participating Buyer ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.2.  

“ Participation Notice ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.1.  

“ Participation Offeree ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.1.  

“ Participation Portion ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.1.  

“ Parity Shares ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3.1.  

“ Participation Shares ” will mean all Shares held by an Investor, by an Other Investor and all Vested Shares held by a Manager.  

“ Permitted Transferee ” will have the meaning set forth in the Stockholders Agreement.  
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“ Person ” will mean any individual, partnership, corporation, company, association, trust, joint venture, limited liability company, 
unincorporated organization, entity or division, or any government, governmental department or agency or political subdivision thereof.  

“ Price Per Equivalent Share ” will mean the Board’s good faith determination of the price per Equivalent Share of any Convertible 
Securities or Options or Warrants which are the subject of an Issuance pursuant to Section 2 hereof.  

“ Principal Lock-Up Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7 of the Stockholders Agreement.  

“ Pro Rata Portion ” will mean for purposes of Section 3.3, with respect to each holder of Registrable Securities or Parity Shares 
requesting that such shares be registered in such registration statement, a number of such shares equal to the aggregate number of shares of 
Common Stock to be registered in such registration (excluding any shares to be registered for the account of the Company) multiplied by a 
fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number of Registrable Securities and Parity Shares held by such holder, and the denominator of 
which is the aggregate number of Registrable Securities and Parity Shares held by all holders requesting that their Registrable Securities or 
Parity Shares be registered in such registration.  

“ Prospective Subscriber ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.1.  

“ Public Offering ” will mean a public offering and sale of Common Stock for cash pursuant to an effective registration statement 
under the Securities Act.  

“ Purchase Election ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.1(c).  

“ Registrable Securities ” will mean (a) all shares of Class A Stock, (b) all shares of Class A Stock issuable upon conversion of 
Shares of Class L Stock, (c) all shares of Class A Stock issuable upon exercise, conversion or exchange of any Option, Warrant or Convertible 
Security and (d) all shares of Class A Stock directly or indirectly issued or issuable with respect to the securities referred to in clauses (a), (b) or 
(c) above by way of stock dividend or stock split or in connection with a combination of shares, recapitalization, merger, consolidation or other 
reorganization, in each case constituting Shares and, in the case of any Manager, Vested Shares. As to any particular Registrable Securities, such 
shares will cease to be Registrable Securities when (u) such shares will have been Transferred in a Sale to which Sections 4.1 or 4.2 of the 
Stockholders Agreement apply, (v) a registration statement with respect to the sale of such securities will have become effective under the 
Securities Act and such securities will have been disposed of in accordance with such registration statement, (w) such securities will have been 
Transferred pursuant to Rule 144, (x) subject to the provisions of Section 5 hereof, such securities will have been otherwise transferred, new 
certificates for them not bearing a legend restricting further transfer will have been delivered by the Company and subsequent disposition of 
them will not require registration of them under the Securities Act, (y) such securities may be distributed without volume limitation or other 
restrictions on transfer under Rule 144 (including without application of paragraphs (c), (e) (f) and (h) of Rule 144) or (z) such securities will 
have ceased to be outstanding.  
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“ Registration Expenses ” means any and all expenses incident to performance of or compliance with Section 3 of this Agreement 
(other than underwriting discounts and commissions paid to underwriters and transfer taxes, if any), including (a) all Commission and securities 
exchange or FINRA registration and filing fees, (b) all fees and expenses of complying with securities or blue sky laws (including reasonable 
fees and disbursements of counsel for the underwriters in connection with blue sky qualifications of the Registrable Securities), (c) all printing, 
messenger and delivery expenses, (d) all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Registrable Securities on any securities 
exchange or FINRA pursuant to Section 3.3.2(g) and all rating agency fees, (e) the fees and charges of counsel for the Company and of its 
independent public accountants, including the expenses of any special audits and/or “cold comfort” letters required by or incident to such 
performance and compliance, (f) the reasonable fees and charges of one counsel for the Holders selected pursuant to the terms of Section 3 and 
one counsel for certain Holders selected pursuant to the second proviso of Section 3.3.3, if applicable, (g) any fees and disbursements 
customarily paid by the issuers of securities, (h) expenses incurred in connection with any road show (including the reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses of the Holders) and (i) fees and expenses incurred in connection with the distribution or transfer of Registrable Securities to or by a 
Holder or its permitted transferees in connection with a Public Offering.  

“ Rule 144 ” will mean Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or any successor Rule).  

“ Rule 145 ” will mean Rule 145 under the Securities Act (or any successor Rule).  

“ Rule 145 Transaction ” will mean a registration on Form S-4 (or any successor Form) pursuant to Rule 145.  

“ Securities Act ” will mean the Securities Act of 1933, as in effect from time to time.  

“ Shares ” will mean (a) all shares of Common Stock held by a Stockholder, whenever issued, including all shares of Common Stock 
issued upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of any Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities and (b) all Options, Warrants and 
Convertible Securities held by a Stockholder (treating such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities as a number of Shares equal to the 
number of Equivalent Shares represented by such Options, Warrants and Convertible Securities for all purposes of this Agreement except as 
otherwise specifically set forth herein).  

“ Shelf Takedown Holders ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.3.  

“ Stockholders ” will mean the Investors and the Managers.  

“ Stockholders Agreement ” will have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.  

“ Subject Securities ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.  

“ Transfer ” will mean any sale, pledge, assignment, encumbrance or other transfer or disposition of any Shares to any other Person, 
whether directly, indirectly, voluntarily, involuntarily, by operation of law, pursuant to judicial process or otherwise.  
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“ Underwritten Shelf Takedown ” will have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.3.  

“ Vested Shares ” will mean, with respect to a Manager at any time, the Management Shares held by such Manager which are not 
subject to vesting requirements at such time.  

“ Warrants ” will mean any warrants to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise directly acquire Common Stock.  

ARTICLE VIII  

MISCELLANEOUS.  

8.1. Authority: Effect . Each party hereto represents and warrants to and agrees with each other party that the execution and delivery 
of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized on behalf of such party and do not 
violate any agreement or other instrument applicable to such party or by which its assets are bound. This Agreement does not, and will not be 
construed to, give rise to the creation of a partnership among any of the parties hereto, or to constitute any of such parties members of a joint 
venture or other association. Each of the Company, Giraffe A, Giraffe B and Gymboree will be jointly and severally liable for any payment 
obligation of the Company, Giraffe A, Giraffe B and Gymboree pursuant to this Agreement.  

8.2. Notices . Any notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications required or permitted to be delivered, given or 
otherwise provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be (a) delivered or given personally, (b) sent by facsimile, or (c) sent by 
overnight courier, in each case, to the address (or facsimile number) listed below:  

If to the Company:  

Giraffe Holding, Inc.  
500 Howard Street  
San Francisco, California 94105  

with a copy to:  

c/o Bain Capital Partners, LLC  
111 Huntington Avenue  
Boston, Massachusetts 02199  

If to a Bain Fund or an Investor:  

c/o Bain Capital Partners, LLC  
111 Huntington Avenue  
Boston, Massachusetts 02199  
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Attention:   Chief Executive Officer  
Facsimile:   (707) 678-1315  

Attention:   Joshua Bekenstein and Jordan Hitch  
Facsimile:   (617) 516-2010  

Attention:   Joshua Bekenstein and Jordan Hitch  
Facsimile:   (617) 516-2010  



with a copy to:  

Ropes & Gray LLP  
The Prudential Towner  
800 Boylston Street  
Boston, Massachusetts 02199  

If to an Other Investor or a Manager, to the most recent address of such Other Investor or Manager shown on the records of the 
Company.  

Notice to the holder of record of any shares of capital stock will be deemed to be notice to the holder of such shares for all purposes 
hereof.  

Unless otherwise specified herein, such notices or other communications will be deemed effective (a) on the date received, if 
personally delivered, (b) on the date received if delivered by facsimile on a Business Day, or if delivered on other than a Business Day, on the 
first Business Day thereafter and (c) 2 Business Days after being sent by overnight courier. Each of the parties hereto will be entitled to specify a 
different address by giving notice as aforesaid to each of the other parties hereto.  

8.3. Merger; Binding Effect, Etc . This Agreement, together with the Stockholders Agreement, constitute the entire agreement of the 
parties with respect to their subject matter, supersede all prior or contemporaneous oral or written agreements or discussions with respect to such 
subject matter, and will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and thereto and their respective heirs, representatives, 
successors and permitted assigns. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no Stockholder or other party hereto may assign any of its 
respective rights or delegate any of its respective obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, 
and any attempted assignment or delegation in violation of the foregoing will be null and void.  

8.4. Descriptive Headings . The descriptive headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, are not to be 
considered a part hereof and will not be construed to define or limit any of the terms or provisions hereof.  

8.5. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of 
which taken together will constitute one instrument.  

8.6. Severability . In the event that any provision hereof would, under applicable law, be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, such 
provision will be construed by modifying or limiting it so as to be valid and enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with, and possible 
under, applicable law. The provisions hereof are severable, and in the event any provision hereof should be held invalid or unenforceable in any 
respect, it will not invalidate, render unenforceable or otherwise affect any other provision hereof.  
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Attention:   R. Newcomb Stillwell and C. Todd Boes  
Facsimile:   (617) 951-7050  



8.7. No Recourse . Notwithstanding anything that may be expressed or implied in this Agreement, the Company and each 
Stockholder covenant, agree and acknowledge that no recourse under this Agreement or any documents or instruments delivered in connection 
with this Agreement will be had against any current or future director, officer, employee, general or limited partner, member or stockholder of 
any Stockholder or of any Affiliate or assignee thereof, as such, whether by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable 
proceeding, or by virtue of any statute, regulation or other applicable law, it being expressly agreed and acknowledged that no personal liability 
whatsoever will attach to, be imposed on or otherwise be incurred by any current or future director, officer, employee, partner, member or 
stockholder of any Stockholder or of any Affiliate or assignee thereof, as such, for any obligation of any Stockholder under this Agreement or 
any documents or instruments delivered in connection with this Agreement for any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of such obligations 
or their creation.  

ARTICLE IX  

GOVERNING LAW.  

9.1. Governing Law . This Agreement and any controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement will be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware as to matters within the scope thereof, and as to all other 
matters will be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York.  

9.2. Consent to Jurisdiction . Each of the parties agrees that all actions, suits or proceedings arising out of, based upon or relating to 
this Agreement or the subject matter hereof will be brought and maintained exclusively in the federal and state courts of the State of New York, 
City of New York, County of New York. Each of the parties hereto by execution hereof (i) hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the 
federal and state courts in the State of New York, City of New York, County of New York for the purpose of any action, suit or proceeding 
arising out of or based upon this Agreement or the subject matter hereof and (ii) hereby waives to the extent not prohibited by applicable law, 
and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any such action, suit or proceeding, any claim that it is not subject 
personally to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts, that it is immune from extraterritorial injunctive relief or other injunctive relief, that its 
property is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that any such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or maintained in one of 
the above-named courts, that any such action, suit or proceeding brought or maintained in one of the above-named courts should be dismissed on 
grounds of forum non conveniens , should be transferred to any court other than one of the above-named courts, should be stayed by virtue of the 
pendency of any other action, suit or proceeding in any court other than one of the above-named courts, or that this Agreement or the subject 
matter hereof may not be enforced in or by any of the above-named courts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any party hereto is 
or becomes a party in any litigation in connection with which it may assert indemnification rights set forth in this Agreement, the court in which 
such litigation is  
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being heard will be deemed to be included in clause (i) above. Each of the parties hereto hereby consents to service of process in any such suit, 
action or proceeding in any manner permitted by the laws of the State of New York, agrees that service of process by registered or certified mail, 
return receipt requested, at the address specified in or pursuant to Section 8.2 hereof is reasonably calculated to give actual notice and waives and 
agrees not to assert by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, in any such action, suit or proceeding any claim that service of process made in 
accordance with Section 8.2. hereof does not constitute good and sufficient service of process. The provisions of this Section 9.2. will not restrict 
the ability of any party to enforce in any court any judgment obtained in a court included in clause (i) above.  

9.3. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW WHICH CANNOT BE 
WAIVED, EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT (WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, 
DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE) ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY FORUM IN RESPECT OF ANY ISSUE OR ACTION, 
CLAIM, CAUSE OF ACTION OR SUIT (IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE), INQUIRY, PROCEEDING OR INVESTIGATION 
ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED 
WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW 
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING. EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN INFORMED BY THE 
OTHER PARTIES HERETO THAT THIS SECTION 9.3 CONSTITUTES A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT UPON WHICH THEY ARE 
RELYING AND WILL RELY IN ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. 
ANY PARTY HERETO MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION 9.3 WITH ANY COURT AS 
WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF EACH SUCH PARTY TO THE WAIVER OF ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.  

9.4. Exercise of Rights and Remedies . No delay of or omission in the exercise of any right, power or remedy accruing to any party as 
a result of any breach or default by any other party under this Agreement will impair any such right, power or remedy, nor will it be construed as 
a waiver of or acquiescence in any such breach or default, or of any similar breach or default occurring later; nor will any such delay, omission 
nor waiver of any single breach or default be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default occurring before or after that waiver.  

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the undersigned has duly executed this Agreement (or caused this Agreement to be executed on 
its behalf by its officer or representative thereunto duly authorized) as of the date and year first above written.  
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THE COMPANY:    G IRAFFE H OLDING , I NC .  

  By:      
    Name: Matthew K. McCauley  
    Title:   Chief Executive Officer  
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Giraffe A:    G IRAFFE I NTERMEDIATE A, I NC .  

  By:      
    Name: Matthew K. McCauley  
    Title:   Chief Executive Officer  



   
32  

Giraffe B:    G IRAFFE I NTERMEDIATE B, I NC .  

  By:      
    Name: Matthew K. McCauley  
    Title:   Chief Executive Officer  
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Gymboree:    T HE G YMBOREE C ORPORATION  

  By:      
    Name: Matthew K. McCauley  
    Title:   Chief Executive Officer  
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THE INVESTORS:    G YMBOREE I NVESTMENT H OLDINGS , LLC  

  By:      
    Name: Marko Kivisto  
    Title:   Director  
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THE OTHER INVESTORS:      

  By:      
    Name:  
    Title:  
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MANAGER:      

       
    Name:  



Exhibit 10.12 

SUMMARY OF CONSULTING ARRANGEMENT FOR JEFFREY P. HA RRIS  

Jeffrey P. Harris, the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer, provided assistance to the Company and its affiliates with the transition 
of duties following his separation from the Company and was paid for such services $60,000 in the aggregate.  



Exhibit 21.1 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  

Gymboree Manufacturing, Inc., a California corporation.  
Gym-Mark, Inc., a California corporation.  
Gymboree Retail Stores, Inc., a California corporation.  
Gymboree Play Programs, Inc., a California corporation.  
Gymboree Operations, Inc., a California corporation.  
Gymboree, Inc., a Canadian and Delaware corporation.  
Gymboree Island, LLC, a Puerto Rico Limited Liability Company  
Gym-Card, LLC, a Virginia Limited Liability Company  
S.C.C. Wholesale, Inc., a California corporation  
Gymboree Australia Pty. Ltd, an Australian proprietary limited company  
Gymboree Hong Kong Services Ltd., a Hong Kong limited company  
Gymboree Korea, Ltd., a Korean limited liability company  



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Matthew K. McCauley, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1)  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Gymboree Corporation;  
2)  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 
to the period covered by this annual report;  

3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report;  

4)  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

  
a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;  

  
b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

  
c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report based on 
such evaluation; and  

  
d)  Disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5)  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

  
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

  
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting.  

    By:  
April 26, 2012      /s/ Matthew K. McCauley  

Date 
    

Matthew K. McCauley  
Chief Executive Officer; Director  



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Lynda G. Gustafson, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1)  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Gymboree Corporation;  
2)  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 
to the period covered by this annual report;  

3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report;  

4)  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

  
a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;  

  
b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

  
c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report based on 
such evaluation; and  

  
d)  Disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5)  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

  
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

  
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting.  

    By:  
April 26, 2012      /s/ Lynda G. Gustafson  

Date 

    

Lynda G. Gustafson  
Vice President and Corporate Controller  

(Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)  



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of The Gymboree Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended January 28, 2012, 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K”), I, Matthew K. McCauley, Chief Executive Officer 
and Director, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:  

(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m 
or 78o(d)); and  

   

   

  
(2)  The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 

of the Company.  

    By:  
April 26, 2012      /s/ Matthew K. McCauley  

Date 
    

Matthew K. McCauley  
Chief Executive Officer; Director  



Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of The Gymboree Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended January 28, 2012, 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K”), I, Lynda G. Gustafson, Vice President and 
Corporate Controller of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that 
to my knowledge:  
   

   

   

  
(1)  The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 

78m or 78o(d)); and  

  
(2)  The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 

of the Company.  

    By:  
April 26, 2012      /s/ Lynda G. Gustafson  

Date 

    

Lynda G. Gustafson  
Vice President and Corporate Controller  

(Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)  


